
1 July 26, 2021 
 

 BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
JULY 26, 2021 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
APPOINTMENTS 

A. Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
1. Linda Peterson 
2. Laura Schreiner 
3. George Stern 

 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 

B. Museum Board 
1. Alexandra Harris 
2. Bev Erickson 

 
To appoint________ to the Museum Board as a regular member to serve a three-year term to 
expire July 5, 2024.  
 
To appoint________ to the Museum Board as an alternate member to serve the remainder of a 
three-year term to expire July 5, 2023.   
 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
 
 



1 July 26, 2021 
 

 BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
JULY 26, 2021 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
APPOINTMENTS 

A. Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
1. Linda Peterson 
2. Laura Schreiner 
3. George Stern 

 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 

B. Museum Board 
1. Alexandra Harris 
2. Bev Erickson 

 
To appoint________ to the Museum Board as a regular member to serve a three-year term to 
expire July 5, 2024.  
 
To appoint________ to the Museum Board as an alternate member to serve the remainder of a 
three-year term to expire July 5, 2023.   
 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
 
 



2 July 26, 2021 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

 
A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of July 13, 2021. 
 
B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated 

July 14, 2021, in the amount of $792,651.95. 
 
C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated 

July 21, 2021, in the amount of $976,399.27. 
 
D. Resolution to approve the purchase of uniforms with Contractors Clothing Company for an 

expected annual cost not to exceed $12,000 per year for the Teamster contract uniform 
allowance for fiscal years 2021-2022, 2022-2023 and 2023-2024. Funds are available for this 
purchase in the Public Services - Uniform Allowance account #101-441.002-743.0000. 

 
E. Resolution to approve the fertilizer/chemical purchases for Lincoln Hills and Springdale Golf 

Courses from Harrell’s for $22,000, Target Specialty Products for $22,000, and Great Lakes 
Turf for $8,000. The total purchase from all vendors will not exceed a total of $52,000. Funds 
will be charged to account numbers 584/597-753.001-729.0000. 

 
F. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe LS 4WD police package 

from Berger Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing 
contract #071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $45,893.00. Funds for this purchase 
are available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
G. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van from 

Gorno Ford through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $25,690.00. Funds for this purchase are 
available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
H. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe 4 WD police package 

from Berger Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing 
contract #071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $39,885.00. Funds for this purchase 
are available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
I. Resolution to authorize the IT department to purchase the G-Suite license renewal from 

Newmind Group Inc. The cost not to exceed $18,720.00. Using available funds from the 
Computer Maintenance account 636-228.000-993.0600 

 
J. Resolution to approve the outside agency service agreements for services described in 

Attachment A of the agreement for fiscal year 2021-22 with Birmingham Bloomfield 
Community Coalition in the amount of $3,000, Birmingham Youth Assistance in the amount 
of $18,000 and Common Ground in the amount of $1,500 from account number 101-



3 July 26, 2021 
 

301.000-811.0000, further to direct the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreements on 
behalf of the City. 

 
K. Resolution to approve the addendum to extend the contract for 2021-22 handwork pavement 

markings with Hart Pavement Striping Corporation in the amount of $107,000.00 for 
combined fall 2021 and spring 2022 applications; further to approve the addendum to extend 
the contract for pavement marking longlines with PK Contracting, Inc. in the amount of 
$10,027.00 for spring 2022 pavement markings; further authorizing and directing the mayor 
and city clerk to sign the addenda on behalf of the city; further to authorize these budgeted 
expenditures from account number 202-303-001-937.0200. 

 
L. Resolution to approve the Birmingham City Commission 2022 Meeting Schedule as 

submitted. 
 

 
M. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by Piety Hill Chapter, NSDAR to 

hold the Veterans Day Wreath Laying Ceremony in Shain Park November 11, 2021, 
contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all 
fees and, further, pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff leading up to or at the time of the event due to public 
health and safety measures.   

 
   VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Public Hearing of Necessity – Townsend and Peabody Paving Project 
1. See complete resolution in agenda packet 

 
B. Public Hearing 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & 

Design Review 
1. Resolution to approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design 

Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop to allow the operation of a bistro. 
 

C. Public Hearing – Amendments to Section 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of Chapter 126, Zoning – 
Window and Glazing Standards 

1. Resolution to approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 
i. Article 3, Section 3.04 (Specific Standards) to amend the Architectural Standards; 
ii. Article 4, Section 4.90 (Window Standards) to amend storefront window 

requirements; 
iii. Article 9, Section 9.02 (Definitions) to redefine clear glazing and eliminate lightly 

tinted glazing  
 

D. Public Hearing – Zoning Amendments to Sections 4.09 and 4.88 of Chapter 126, Zoning – 
Solar Electric Systems 

1. Resolution to approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 



4 July 26, 2021 
 

i. Article 4, Section 4.09 (Essential Services) to remove Roof Mounted Solar Electric 
Systems and 

ii. Article 4, Section 4.88 (Alternative Energy) to add amended Roof Mounted Solar 
Electric Systems Language 

 
E. Resolution to appoint ______ as the Birmingham City Commission’s official voting delegate, 

and ______ as the alternate voting delegate, at the Michigan Municipal League Annual 
Meeting to be held in Grand Rapids, Michigan on September 22, 2021. 
 

F. Commission discussion on items from prior meeting.  
 

G. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for future 
discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen tonight. 
 

 
VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 
B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. Birmingham Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority (CIA) 

2. City Manager’s Report 
 
INFORMATION ONLY 
  

XI. ADJOURN 
 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.   
 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
 
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 
 
 



2 July 26, 2021 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

 
A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of July 13, 2021. 
 
B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated 

July 14, 2021, in the amount of $792,651.95. 
 
C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated 

July 21, 2021, in the amount of $976,399.27. 
 
D. Resolution to approve the purchase of uniforms with Contractors Clothing Company for an 

expected annual cost not to exceed $12,000 per year for the Teamster contract uniform 
allowance for fiscal years 2021-2022, 2022-2023 and 2023-2024. Funds are available for this 
purchase in the Public Services - Uniform Allowance account #101-441.002-743.0000. 

 
E. Resolution to approve the fertilizer/chemical purchases for Lincoln Hills and Springdale Golf 

Courses from Harrell’s for $22,000, Target Specialty Products for $22,000, and Great Lakes 
Turf for $8,000. The total purchase from all vendors will not exceed a total of $52,000. Funds 
will be charged to account numbers 584/597-753.001-729.0000. 

 
F. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe LS 4WD police package 

from Berger Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing 
contract #071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $45,893.00. Funds for this purchase 
are available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
G. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van from 

Gorno Ford through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $25,690.00. Funds for this purchase are 
available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
H. Resolution to approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe 4 WD police package 

from Berger Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing 
contract #071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $39,885.00. Funds for this purchase 
are available in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 

 
I. Resolution to authorize the IT department to purchase the G-Suite license renewal from 

Newmind Group Inc. The cost not to exceed $18,720.00. Using available funds from the 
Computer Maintenance account 636-228.000-993.0600 

 
J. Resolution to approve the outside agency service agreements for services described in 

Attachment A of the agreement for fiscal year 2021-22 with Birmingham Bloomfield 
Community Coalition in the amount of $3,000, Birmingham Youth Assistance in the amount 
of $18,000 and Common Ground in the amount of $1,500 from account number 101-



3 July 26, 2021 
 

301.000-811.0000, further to direct the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreements on 
behalf of the City. 

 
K. Resolution to approve the addendum to extend the contract for 2021-22 handwork pavement 

markings with Hart Pavement Striping Corporation in the amount of $107,000.00 for 
combined fall 2021 and spring 2022 applications; further to approve the addendum to extend 
the contract for pavement marking longlines with PK Contracting, Inc. in the amount of 
$10,027.00 for spring 2022 pavement markings; further authorizing and directing the mayor 
and city clerk to sign the addenda on behalf of the city; further to authorize these budgeted 
expenditures from account number 202-303-001-937.0200. 

 
L. Resolution to approve the Birmingham City Commission 2022 Meeting Schedule as 

submitted. 
 

 
M. Resolution to approve a special event permit as requested by Piety Hill Chapter, NSDAR to 

hold the Veterans Day Wreath Laying Ceremony in Shain Park November 11, 2021, 
contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all 
fees and, further, pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff leading up to or at the time of the event due to public 
health and safety measures.   

 
   VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Public Hearing of Necessity – Townsend and Peabody Paving Project 
1. See complete resolution in agenda packet 

 
B. Public Hearing 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & 

Design Review 
1. Resolution to approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design 

Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop to allow the operation of a bistro. 
 

C. Public Hearing – Amendments to Section 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of Chapter 126, Zoning – 
Window and Glazing Standards 

1. Resolution to approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 
i. Article 3, Section 3.04 (Specific Standards) to amend the Architectural Standards; 
ii. Article 4, Section 4.90 (Window Standards) to amend storefront window 

requirements; 
iii. Article 9, Section 9.02 (Definitions) to redefine clear glazing and eliminate lightly 

tinted glazing  
 

D. Public Hearing – Zoning Amendments to Sections 4.09 and 4.88 of Chapter 126, Zoning – 
Solar Electric Systems 

1. Resolution to approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 



4 July 26, 2021 
 

i. Article 4, Section 4.09 (Essential Services) to remove Roof Mounted Solar Electric 
Systems and 

ii. Article 4, Section 4.88 (Alternative Energy) to add amended Roof Mounted Solar 
Electric Systems Language 

 
E. Resolution to appoint ______ as the Birmingham City Commission’s official voting delegate, 

and ______ as the alternate voting delegate, at the Michigan Municipal League Annual 
Meeting to be held in Grand Rapids, Michigan on September 22, 2021. 
 

F. Commission discussion on items from prior meeting.  
 

G. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for future 
discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen tonight. 
 

 
VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 
B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. Birmingham Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority (CIA) 

2. City Manager’s Report 
 
INFORMATION ONLY 
  

XI. ADJOURN 
 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.   
 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
 
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 
 
 



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
GREENWOOD CEMETERY ADVISORY BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, July 26, 2021 the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint three regular members to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board to serve three-year 
terms to expire July 6, 2024.   

Members must be chosen from among the citizens of Birmingham and, insofar as 
possible, represent diverse interests, such as persons with family members interred in 
Greenwood Cemetery; owners of burial sites within Greenwood Cemetery intending to be 
interred in Greenwood Cemetery; persons familiar with and interested in the history of 
Birmingham; persons with familiarity and experience in landscape architecture, 
horticulture, law or cemetery or funeral professionals.  

Interested citizens may submit a form available at the City Clerk's Office on or before noon on 
Wednesday, July 21, 2021.  These applications will appear in the public agenda for the regular 
meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss recommendations, and may make 
nominations and vote on the appointments. 

Committee Duties 
In general, it shall be the duty of the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board to provide 
recommendations to the City Commission on: 

1. Modifications. As to modifications of the rules and regulations governing Greenwood
Cemetery. 

2. Capital Improvements.  As to what capital improvements should be made to the
cemetery. Future Demands. As to how to respond to future demands for cemetery 
services. 

3. Day to Day Administration. The day to day administration of the cemetery shall be
under the direction and control of the City, through the City Manager or his/her 
designee. 

4. Reports. The Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board shall make and submit to the City
Commission an annual report of the general activities, operation, and condition of the 
Greenwood Cemetery for the preceding 12 months. The Greenwood Cemetery 
Advisory Board shall, from time to time, as occasion requires, either in the annual 
report, or at any time deemed necessary by the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board, 
advise the City Commission in writing on all matters necessary and proper for and 
pertaining to the proper operation of Greenwood Cemetery and any of its activities or 
properties. 

All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, Article 
IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

3A



Applicant(s) Presented for City Commission Consideration: 

 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 
To appoint_____________ to the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board as a regular member to 
serve a three-year term to expire July 6, 2024. 
 

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
Must be a resident of Birmingham and insofar as possible, 
represent diverse interests, such as persons with family 
members interred in Greenwood Cemetery; owners of 
burial sites within Greenwood Cemetery intending to be 
interred in Greenwood Cemetery; persons familiar with and 
interested in the history of Birmingham; persons with 
familiarity and experience in landscape architecture, 
horticulture, law or cemetery or funeral professionals. 
 

Linda Peterson 
 

Resident 

Laura Schreiner Resident 
 

George Stern 
 

Resident 



        GREENWOOD CEMETERY         
ADVISORY BOARD

 
Resolution No. 10-240-14 October 13, 2014.  
  
The Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board shall consist of seven members who shall serve without compensation.
Members must be chosen from among the citizens of Birmingham and, insofar as possible, represent diverse
interests, such as persons with family members interred in Greenwood Cemetery; owners of burial sites within
Greenwood Cemetery intending to be interred in Greenwood Cemetery; persons familiar with and interested in the
history of Birmingham; persons with familiarity and experience in landscape architecture, horticulture, law or
cemetery or funeral professionals. The City Manager or his/her designee shall serve as ex official, non-voting
members of the Board. 
 
Term: Three years. 
 
In general, it shall be the duty of the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board to provide recommendations to the City 
Commission on: 

1. Modifications. As to modifications of the rules and regulations governing Greenwood Cemetery. 
2. Capital Improvements. As to what capital improvements should be made to the cemetery.

Future Demands. As to how to respond to future demands for cemetery services. 
3. Day to Day Administration. The day to day administration of the cemetery shall be under the direction and

control of the City, through the City Manager or his/her designee. 
4. Reports. The Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board shall make and submit to the City Commission an annual

report of the general activities, operation, and condition of the Greenwood Cemetery for the preceding 12
months. The Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board shall, from time to time, as occasion requires, either in the
annual report, or at any time deemed necessary by the Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board, advise the City
Commission in writing on all matters necessary and proper for and pertaining to the proper operation of
Greenwood Cemetery and any of its activities or properties. 

Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Buchanan Linda

1280 Suffield

(248) 646-3297

lgbfeb23@gmail.com

Chair

Birmingham 48009

7/6/202212/14/2015

DeWeese Pam

932 Purdy Street

(248) 642-4256

pamdeweese@comcast.net

Plot Owner

Birmingham 48009

7/6/20238/24/2020

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 Page 1 of 2



Last Name First Name
Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Peterson Linda

1532 Melton

(248) 203-9010

lpeterson02@comcast.net

11/24/2014 7/6/2024
Vice Chair - Plot Owner - Relative buried in 
Greenwood Cemetery

Birmingham 48009

Schreiner Laura

591 Bird

(248) 593-0335

laschreiner@yahoo.com

11/24/2014 7/6/2024
owner of burial site in Greenwood; person 
familiar with and interested in the history of 
Birmingham.

Birmingham 48009

Stern George

1090 Westwood

(248) 345-2750

sterngeo@aol.com

11/24/2014 7/6/2024
Person familiar with and interested in the 
history of Birmingham; person with experience 
in landscape architecture, horticulture,or law.

Birmingham 48009

Suter Margaret

1795 Yosemite

(248) 644-5925

maasuter@gmail.com

owns a plot, relative buried in Greenwood 
Cemetery

Birmingham 48009

7/6/20225/23/2016

Vercellone Joseph

572 W. Lincoln

(248) 798-0460

jvercellone@gmail.com

Plot Owner

Birmingham 48009

7/6/20238/10/2020

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 Page 2 of 2

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight

abingham
Highlight



Name of Board: Year: 2019
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Linda Buchanan NM P A P NM P P NM NM P P P 7 1 88%
Kevin Desmond NM P P A NM A P NM NM P P P 6 2 75%
Darlene Gehringer NM P P P NM P A NM NM A P P 6 2 75%
Linda Peterson NM P P P NM P P NM NM A P P 7 1 88%
Laura Schreiner NM P P P NM P P NM NM P P P 8 0 100%
George Stern NM P P P NM P P NM NM P P P 8 0 100%
Margaret Suter NM P P P NM P P NM NM P P P 8 0 100%
Reserved 0 0
Reserved 0 0
Present or Available 0 7 6 6 0 6 6 0 0 5 7 7 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria D. Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board



Name of Board: Year: 2020
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Linda Buchanan P NM NM P NM NM P NM P NM P NM 5 0 100%
Kevin Desmond P NM NM A NM NM P NA NA NA NA NA 2 1 67%
Darlene Gehringer A NM NM P NM NM A NA NA NA NA NA 1 2 33%
Linda Peterson P NM NM P NM NM P NM P NM P NM 5 0 100%
Laura Schreiner P NM NM P NM NM P NM P NM A NM 4 1 80%
George Stern P NM NM P NM NM P NM P NM P NM 5 0 100%
Margaret Suter P NM NM P NM NM P NM P NM P NM 5 0 100%
Pam DeWeese NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NM P NM P NM 2 0 100%
Joseph Vercellone NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NM A NM P NM 1 1 50%
Present or Available 6 0 0 6 0 0 6 0 6 0 6 0 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria D. Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board



Name of Board: Year: 2021
Members Required for Quorum: 4

MEMBER NAME JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC
SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absent

Percent 
Attended 
Available

REGULAR MEMBERS
Linda Buchanan P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
Pam DeWeese P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
Joseph Vercellone P P A A P A A 3 4 43%
Linda Peterson P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
Laura Schreiner P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
George Stern P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
Margaret Suter P P P P P P P 7 0 100%
Reserved 0 0
Reserved 0 0
Present or Available 7 7 6 6 7 6 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

KEY: A = Member absent
P = Member present or available

CP = Member available, but meeting canceled  for lack of quorum
CA = Member not available and meeting was canceled for lack of quorum
NA = Member not appointed at that time

NM = No meeting scheduled that month
CM = Meeting canceled for lack of business items

Alexandria D. Bingham
Department Head Signature

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board











 NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
MUSEUM BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, July 26, 2021, the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint one regular member to the Museum Board to serve three-year terms to expire 
July 5, 2024, and one alternate member to serve the remainder of a three-year term to 
expire July 5, 2023.  

Interested parties may submit an application available at the City Clerk's office on or before 
noon on Wednesday, July 21, 2021.  These applications will appear in the public agenda for 
the regular meeting at which time the commission will discuss recommendations, and may 
make nominations and vote on appointments.  

Board Duties 
The Museum Board is charged with collecting, arranging, cataloguing and preserving 
historical material.  The Board may locate and erect plaques or markers at historic sites, 
buildings or properties in the City of Birmingham with the consent of the owner or owners of 
any such property and subject to the approval of the City Commission with respect to 
properties that, in the opinion of the Board, have historic significance. Further, the Board 
shall have the power to develop, operate and maintain the Allen House as a museum and to 
exercise authority, control and management over the Hunter House and John West Hunter 
Memorial Park. 
NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code 
Chapter 2, Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Applicant(s) Presented For City Commission Consideration: 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 

To appoint________ to the Museum Board as a regular member to serve a three-year term 
to expire July 5, 2024. 

To appoint________ to the Museum Board as an alternate member to serve the remainder 
of a three-year term to expire July 5, 2023.  

Applicant Name Criteria/Qualifications 
 Shall be qualified electors of the City and members

of the Birmingham Historical Society 

Alexandra Harris 
2600 Buckingham 

Resident 

Bev Erickson 
1841 Maryland 

Resident 

3B



MUSEUM BOARD
 Chapter 62 - Section 62-26 
 Terms - Three years - expiring first Monday in July 
 Eight Members: Six are electors and appointed by city commission 

One member is an Alternate 
One is owner of a business and appointed by the city manager 

The Museum Board is charged with collecting, arranging, cataloguing and preserving historical material. 
The board may locate and erect plaques or markers at historic sites, buildings or properties in the City of 
Birmingham with the consent of the owner or owners of any such property and subject to the approval 
of the city commission with respect to properties that, in the opinion of the board, have historic 
significance. Further, the board shall have the power to develop, operate and maintain the Allen House 
as a museum and to exercise authority, control and management over the Hunter House and John West 
Hunter Memorial Park.

Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Hughes Patrick J.

915 Kennesaw

(248) 417-0470

phughes@brickstory.com

Business owner member

9/23/2019 7/5/2022

Keefer Judith

505 E. Lincoln, #4

(248) 249-0996

jlwk2014@gmail.com

Retired

7/11/2016 7/5/2022

Logue Marty

2010 Buckingham

(248) 649-4921

gtfieros@comcast.net

Historical Society Member

9/26/2011 7/5/2023

Lutz Carter

Groves High School Student Representative

2/22/2021 12/31/2021

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 Page 1 of 2

BIRMINGHAM HISTORICAL MUSEUM & PARK, 556 West Maple, Birmingham, MI  48009 
phone: 248.530.1928     fax: 248.530.1685  www.bhamgov.org/museum  

Leslie Pielack, Museum Director: lpielack@ci.birmingham.mi.us 



Last Name First Name

Home Address

Home
Business 
E-Mail Appointed Term Expires

Patt Jacqueline

773 Redding Road

(248)561-4052

jlpatt2@gmail.com

Regular Member

3/22/2021 7/5/2023

Rosso Caitlin

355 Columbia

(248) 229-4227

caitlinrosso@maxbroock.com

Historical Society Member

9/21/2015 7/5/2023

Schoener Aidan

Seaholm High School Student Representative

2/22/2021 12/31/2021

VACANT

Alternate

7/5/2023

VACANT 7/5/2024 
Historical Society Member

VACANT 7/5/2024 
Historical Society Member

Wednesday, July 21, 2021 Page 2 of 2

BIRMINGHAM HISTORICAL MUSEUM & PARK, 556 West Maple, Birmingham, MI  48009 
phone: 248.530.1928     fax: 248.530.1685  www.bhamgov.org/museum  

Leslie Pielack, Museum Director: lpielack@ci.birmingham.mi.us 

jschaffner
Highlight

jschaffner
Highlight

jschaffner
Highlight



Year:2020-2021
4

MEMBER NAME
2020 
JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC

2021 
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE

SPEC 
MTG

SPEC 
MTG

Total 
Mtgs. 
Att.

Total 
Absen

t

Percent 
Attend

ed 

REGULAR MEMBERS
Patt, Jacquie NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA P P P 3 0 100%
Dixon, Russ P P P P P P P P P P P P 12 0 100%
Keefer, Judith P P P P P P A P P P A P 10 2 83%
Krizanic, Tina P P P P P P P P P P P P 12 0 100%
Logue, Marty P P P A P P P P P P P P 11 1 92%
Rosso, Caitlin A P A A P P A P P P P A 7 5 58%
Haugen, Dan A P P P A NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 3 2 60%
Hughes, Pat A P P P P P P A P P P P 10 2 83%
Present or Available 4 7 6 5 6 6 4 5 6 7 6 6 0 0

KEY:

CITY BOARD/COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD













Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
July 12, 2021 

7:30 p.m. 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/568732055/ 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Pierre Boutros, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk, called the roll. 

Present: Mayor Boutros 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe   
Commissioner Hoff   
Commissioner Host   
Commissioner Nickita   
Commissioner Sherman 

Absent: Commissioner Baller 

Administration: City Manager Markus, City Clerk Bingham, BSD Operations & Event Manager Brook, 
City Planner Cowan, City Planner Dupuis, Planning Director Ecker, Operations Commander Grewe, City 
Attorney Kucharek, Consulting City Engineer Surhigh 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS.

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The City Commission wishes Mayor Pro Tem Longe a happy birthday! 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

Paul Reagan opined that the Commission agendas tend to focus more on commercial matters than 
residential matters. He encouraged residents to run for elected office in the City if they would like to see 
more of a residential focus at the Commission level. 

Oakland County Commissioner Chuck Moss shared his contact information and provided brief updates. He 
said that as a Birmingham resident he was also pleased with the City’s emergency services response to the 
recent storms and thanked them for their work. 

V. CONSENT AGENDA
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a

5A

https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/568732055/


2  July 12, 2021 

commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

 
07-178-21  Consent Agenda 
 
The following items were pulled from the Consent Agenda: 

Commissioner Hoff: Item E – 2021 Birmingham Cruise 
 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve the Consent Agenda with the exception of Item E. 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Hoff 
    

 Nays, None  
 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission Joint Planning Meeting minutes of June 21, 2021. 
 

B. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of June 28, 2021.  
 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated June 
30, 2021, in the amount of $1,855,327.66.  
 

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated July 
7, 2021, in the amount of $825,847.61. 

 
F. Resolution to approve a request from the City of Birmingham Department of Public Services for a 

special event permit to hold the 2021 In the Park Concert series in Shain Park on the dates as 
presented, contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment 
of all fees and, further pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed necessary by 
administrative staff at the time of the event.  
 

G. Resolution to approve the TouchPrint 5600 cabinet booking station fingerprinting system purchase 
from IDEMIA, a sole source vendor, in the amount of $18,094.00; further to waive normal bidding 
requirements and authorize this expenditure to the general fund police LEIN/CLEMIS expense 
account #101-301-000-731.0000.  
 

H. Resolution to authorize the IT department to purchase the components to upgrade the existing 
Mitel phone system and replace the ESNA Voicemail system as proposed, from BSB 
Communications. With a total cost of the upgrade, parts and labor not to exceed $35,221.25 using 
funds in the network upgrade account 636-228.000-973.0400.  
 

I. Resolution to set a public hearing date for August 9, 2021 to consider the Special Land Use Permit, 
Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 300 - 394 S. Old Woodward and a portion of 294 
E. Brown to allow a new building for Restoration Hardware, including a restaurant operating with 
an Economic Development Liquor License.  



3  July 12, 2021 

 
J. Resolution to authorize the City Manager to cast a vote, on the City’s behalf, for the five (5) 

candidates of the Michigan Municipal League Workers’ Compensation Fund for four year terms, 
beginning October 1, 2021. 

 
07-179-21 2021 Birmingham Cruise 

 
BSD Operations & Event Manager Brook clarified that the whole geographic area described in the memo 
would be used for the event. She also stated that the 2021 Birmingham Cruise event would have a tiered 
teardown with a noon Sunday deadline for completion. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Longe: 
To approve a request from the Birmingham Shopping District to hold the scaled-down 2021 Birmingham 
Cruise special event on Saturday, August 21, 2021, contingent upon compliance with all permit and 
insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further, pursuant to any modifications or event 
cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to or at the time of the 
event, due to health and safety measures.  
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Hoff 
    

 Nays, None 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
07-180-21 Public Hearing for a Rezoning Request for 300 - 394 S. Old 
Woodward and a portion of 294 E. Brown Street from D3 to D4 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 7:47 p.m. 
 
PD Ecker presented the item. 
 

Steve Sebastian, Vice President of Real Estate for RH, Victor Saroki, architect for the project, Paul O’Meara, 
traffic engineer for the project, and Rick Rattner, attorney for the project, spoke on behalf of the request.  
 
Elise Wallace, Director of Gallery Openings for RH, and Michael Avellone, Director, Architecture & Design 
Galleries for RH were also present on behalf of the project. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Hoff, Mr. Sebastian confirmed that RH has built about a dozen new buildings. He 
stated there are also 11 RH buildings with restaurants and an additional seven going through the process 
of being retrofitted with restaurants. He also confirmed that the restaurant is open to the public. 
 
It was noted that RH employees would park in the City parking structures. 
 



4  July 12, 2021 

In reply to Mr. Rattner, CA Kucharek confirmed that a letter had been provided by the applicant team 
voluntarily making the rezoning contingent on limiting the structure to four stories. CA Kucharek read the 
letter into the record. 
 
Commissioner Sherman noted that the peak parking usage times for RH are Saturdays, Sundays, and 
weekdays after 4 p.m., where the parking structures’ peak usages are Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday 
11 a.m. to 2 p.m. He stated that it was unlikely that there would be overflow traffic in the nearby 
neighborhoods as a result. He stated that the issue could be dealt with if it were to occur. He stated that 
excess valet parking would use the parking structures. 
 
PD Ecker confirmed that it was not uncommon for the Commission to approve a rezoning before approving 
a site plan. She cited 420 E. Frank as one example where this occurred, and Commissioner Sherman cited 
Whole Foods as another. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Nickita, PD Ecker confirmed that D3 and D4 allow for the same uses. This rezoning 
seeks to allow a fourth-floor restaurant instead of residential, and for the building to be one foot taller than 
would otherwise be allowed in D3. 
 
Mr. Sebastian told Commissioner Host that Ron Boji is on the applicant team but would not be an owner 
of the development. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Host, Mr. Saroki explained that the applicant team was pursuing the rezoning 
more to allow for the fourth-floor restaurant. He said the height of 69 feet was preferable to 68 feet but 
not as essential. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Host, Mr. O’Meara stated that the traffic study used the standardized numbers 
for a furniture store and a restaurant to calculate impact.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe said she would like the Commission to recommend the APC consider residential 
permit parking and appropriate police enforcement for the residential areas near RH. She said she hoped 
to see RH advertise Birmingham’s parking decks on its website in order to inform out-of-town visitors. 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe noted that when the Chicago location of RH opened there were initially issues 
between the nearby residents and RH. She cautioned the applicant team that she did not want to see the 
same initially contentious dynamic replicated in Birmingham. 
 
Mr. Saroki said that the management of RH is responsive to neighbors’ concerns. He noted that the Chicago 
RH is in a much more residential area than Birmingham’s. 
 
The Mayor Pro Tem said the Commission should also direct the Planning Board to make the rezoning 
process clearer, in terms of whether the preliminary and final site plans should be done before rezoning or 
whether the rezoning should be done before preliminary and final site plans. She said it would benefit the 
City and developers to have clarity of process. 
 
Public Comment 
Don Amalfitano, manager of Caldwell Banker, said he was concerned about traffic, parking and safety 
issues that could result from RH using their drive aisle. He said he would support RH installing gates on 
Caldwell Banker’s parking lot instead to prevent unauthorized use.  
 
Jim Arpin said he was concerned about the Parking Assessment District’s (PAD) capacity and vendor parking 
for RH. He asked the City to consider assessing RH as part of the PAD. 



5  July 12, 2021 

 
Jeff Hockman, Chair of the BSD, spoke on behalf of the BSD in support of the RH development.  
 
Mr. Reagan said he wanted the Commission to take preventative measures so that parking for RH would 
not adversely impact the nearby residential areas. 
 
Andrew Haig expressed concern about sound carrying from the rooftop restaurant into the residential 
areas. He also spoke of the potential parking loss that would occur as part of Phase III of the S. Old 
Woodward project, and said that the RH plans needed to be re-reviewed in light of the Phase III plans. 
 
Mr. Bloom expressed concerns about the development’s potential impact on parking. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 9:29 p.m. 
 
Mr. Saroki stated that if issues arose with using the drive aisle at Caldwell Banker for the valet, the valet 
contingency plan would be to take Hazel, to Woodward, to Maple, to Brown to return vehicles. He noted 
that RH would generate the most vehicular traffic outside of Caldwell Banker’s business hours. He also 
noted that since RH would host no special events the valet traffic would be very incremental. 
 
PD Ecker noted that no gates on parking lots had been approved in her time with the City.  
 
Mr. Amalfitano clarified that he would be hoping to dissuade anyone not visiting Caldwell Banker from 
using its parking lot or drive aisle.  
 
Commissioner Sherman observed that the proposed motion for this item focused only on the proposed 
rezoning. He stated that the other concerns raised during the present discussion, such as parking and 
valet, would be more relevant to the potential future review of the Final Site Plan and SLUP. 
 
Mr. Saroki confirmed that the applicant team would work out any potential valet issues. He reiterated that 
RH’s use of parking would be on Saturdays and Sundays, and then after 4 p.m. on weeknights, which are 
low-demand times for the City’s parking. 
 
PD Ecker noted that the peak utilization of the nearby Pierce and Peabody decks in July 2021 was 65% 
between the hours of 10 a.m. and 2 p.m. on weekdays. She confirmed Commissioner Sherman’s comments 
that this item only regards the rezoning of the parcel, and that the Final Site Plan and SLUP would be 
brought to the Commission in the future for its review if the project proceeds. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve the rezoning of the new parcel encompassing 300 – 394 S. Old Woodward and portions of 294 
E. Brown from B-2 (General Business) and D-3 (Downtown Overlay) to B-2 (General Business) and D-4 
(Downtown Overlay) conditional upon the building being done pursuant to the site plan, as voluntarily 
given by the applicant, pursuant to a letter dated and accepted July 12, 2021 by attorney Richard Rattner. 
 
Commissioner Host said he wanted the applicant to reduce the building’s requested height by a foot. He 
said there was no call for rezoning and that he would be voting against the motion.  
 
Commissioner Nickita cited the recommendations of the Planning Board and Planning Staff, as well as his 
own review, to proceed with this item. He explained the rezoning was thoroughly considered and saw no 
reason to diverge from the recommendation. 
 



6  July 12, 2021 

Commissioner Hoff said she would support the motion, but noted that both this and the next item on the 
agenda arise out of aspects of the RH project. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe concurred with Commissioner Hoff. She said that while she had concerns about 
parking in the neighborhoods, she thought this proposal was the best-case scenario for development on 
the lot since RH’s highest parking demand times occur opposite the parking structures’ busiest periods. 
She asserted that this proposal is better for the area in terms of parking demand than what the developer 
would be able to do by right if the zoning were left as-is. 
 
Mayor Boutros explained the project was a superlative fit to the downtown. He expressed confidence that 
the applicant team would continue working to address any concerns about the project, and said the project 
met the qualifications for rezoning. 
 
Public Comment 
 
David Bloom told the Commission their obligation was to protect the interests of the residents. He 
expressed concern that not enough review and study was going into consideration of this project. 
 
Mr. Reagan reiterated his concerns that this project’s impact on parking was not being sufficiently 
considered. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Hoff 
    

 Nays, Commissioner Host 
 

07-181-21 Public hearing for the application to amend the Economic 
Development License Map in Appendix C; Exhibit 1 of the Zoning 
Ordinance to include 300-394 S. Old Woodward and a portion of 294 E. 
Brown Street 

 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 9:58 p.m. 
 
CP Cowan presented the item. 
 
Kelly Allen, attorney for the project, spoke on behalf of the request.  
 
Commissioner Nickita said it was appropriate to the expand the economic development license (EDL) map 
to include 300-394 S. Old Woodward and a portion of 294 E. Brown Street since the map in general aims 
to activate areas outside of Woodward and south of Brown. He noted that the original map was based on 
best estimates of where that development should be encouraged and not hard and fast rules.  
 
Public Comment 
Mr. Bloom asked that the rooftop restaurant be oriented to the east instead of the west to mitigate the 
potential noise carrying from the rooftop restaurant into the neighborhoods. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 10:18 p.m. 



7  July 12, 2021 

 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Longe, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve an amendment to Chapter 126, Zoning Ordinance, Appendix C, Exhibit 1, Licenses for Economic 
Development to include 300-394 S. Old Woodward and a portion of 294 E. Brown Street to be eligible for 
an Economic Development License. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
    

 Nays, None 
 

The meeting paused at 10:19 p.m. for a brief break. 
 
The meeting reconvened at 10:27 p.m. 

 
07-182-21 Public Hearing for 115 Willits – MARE Mediterranean – 
Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review  
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 10:27 p.m. 
 
PD Ecker reviewed the item. 

 
Nino Cutraro and Jay Feldman, owners, and Kelly Allen, attorney for the project, were present on behalf 
of the request.  
 
In reply to Commissioner Hoff, PD Ecker confirmed that the Engineering Department had reviewed the 
outdoor dining proposal and had no objections to the plans. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Hoff, Ms. Allen explained that the liquor license for this applicant is tied to the 
land through the lease. 
 
PD Ecker confirmed that the hours of operation meet the City’s requirements. 
 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 10:41 p.m. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 115 Willits – 
MARE Mediterranean; 

AND 
To authorize the Chief of Police to sign the MLCC Police Investigation Report (LC-1800) and to approve 
the liquor license request of Hospitality Birmingham, LLC that requests a transfer of interest in a Class C 
License to be issued under MCL 436.1521(A)(1)(B) and SDM License (AM and PM) with Outdoor Service, 
and an Entertainment Permit located at 115 Willits, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 48009. 

 
Furthermore, pursuant to Birmingham City Ordinance, to authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local 
Approval Notice at the request of Hospitality Birmingham, LLC approving the liquor license transfer 



8  July 12, 2021 

request of Hospitality Birmingham, LLC that requested a Class C License be transferred under MCL 
436.1521 (A)(1)(B) & SDM License with Outdoor Service and an Entertainment Permit located at 115 
Willits, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 48009. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
       

 Nays, None 
 

07-183-21 Public Hearing for 176 S. Old Woodward – Sushi Japan – 
Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 10:42 p.m. 
 

PD Ecker presented the item. She noted that the Engineering Department requested changes to the 
outdoor dining plan.  
 
John Gardner, architect for the project, was present on behalf of the application. He stated that plans 
complying with the Engineering Department’s requests were submitted to the Planning Department on July 
9, 2021. He explained that the four-top table to the north would remain, the two-top table to the south 
along the street side would be removed, the fence along the south side would be removed, the 
southernmost planter would be removed, and all outdoor dining items would be moved back an additional 
12 inches from the street. 
 

The Mayor closed the public hearing at 11:00 p.m. 
 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 176 S. Old 
Woodward – Sushi Japan conditioned upon the changes that were stated. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Nickita, PD Ecker explained that the Commission did not receive a copy of the 
updated site plans because the plans were submitted after the Wednesday noon deadline for agenda 
submissions and because she was out-of-office Monday afternoon when the updated plans were submitted. 
 
CM Markus recommended that the approval be conditioned upon the changes that were identified during 
the discussion of the item.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
       

 Nays, None 
 



9  July 12, 2021 

07-184-21 Public Hearing 239 N. Old Woodward – Bloom Bistro – 
Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review  
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 11:01 p.m. 

 
CP Dupuis presented the item. He confirmed that the Planning Board was in favor of locating some of the 
outdoor seating in the via order to activate the via, per the activation overlay district goals. He also noted 
the location of the shared compactor to be used in the rear of the building. 

 
The Mayor closed the public hearing at 11:06 p.m. 
 

MOTION: Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Longe, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 239 N. Old 
Woodward – Bloom Bistro. 
 
Commissioner Nickita spoke positively of the plan to locate some of the outdoor seating in the via, and 
said he would like to see other restaurants follow suit wherever possible. 
 
The Mayor concurred with Commissioner Nickita. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
     

 Nays, None 
 
07-185-21 Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drainage Drainage District 
Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement 
 

Consulting City Engineer Surhigh introduced the item. Carrie Cox, chief engineer from the Oakland County 
Water Resource Commissioner's Office, presented the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Sherman: 
To approve the Chapter 20 Section 471 Agreement with the Evergreen-Farmington Sanitary Drain Drainage 
District, agreeing to pay the City’s share of apportioned costs related to the capital improvements described 
in said agreement. The total amount of the City’s share of the cost is $79,970: to be charged to 590-
536.001-981.0100, Sewer Fund, Public Improvements. Also, to direct the Mayor to sign the agreement on 
behalf of the City. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
     

 Nays, None 



10  July 12, 2021 

 
07-186-21 Parking Structure Repairs 
 
Ops. Cmdr. Grewe presented the item. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the addendum to the Parking Structural Assessment Program with Wiss, Janney, Elstner 
Associates, Inc. (WJE) to include the design and bid documentation preparation of parking structure 
repairs, not to exceed $50,000, to take place during the 2021 construction season. Furthermore, to 
authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the contract on behalf of the city. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe   
     

 Nays, None 
 

07-187-21 Closed Session Pursuant to the OMA at MCL § 15.268 Sec. 
8(h) 

 
(A roll call vote is required and the vote must be approved by a 2/3 majority of the 
commission. The commission will adjourn to closed session after all other business has been 
addressed in open session and reconvene to open session, after the closed session, for 
purposes of taking formal action resulting from the closed session and for purposes of 
adjourning the meeting.) 
 
The Mayor explained that after consultation with the City Attorney he decided to recuse himself from this 
item based on a potential professionally-based conflict of interest.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Hoff: 
To meet in closed session to discuss a written Attorney/Client Privilege communication pursuant to the 
OMA at MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(h). 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe 
   Commissioner Nickita 
     

 Nays, None  
  
 Recused, Mayor Boutros 

 
The Commission, with the exception of Mayor Boutros, went into closed session at 11:35 p.m.  
 
The Commission reconvened into open session at 11:47 p.m. 
 



11  July 12, 2021 

Commission discussion on items from prior meeting. 
 
None. 
 
Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for future discussion at 
the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen tonight. 
 
None. 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
A. Letter from Birmingham Roast 
 
CM Markus explained why he was not be supportive of granting an exception to the City’s requirement that 
all Covid-19 related temporary outdoor dining structures be dismantled by July 14, 2021. 
 
The Mayor echoed CM Markus’ statement that the City no longer had to legal basis for extending the 
temporary outdoor dining regulations. 
 
Commissioner Nickita also reiterated CM Markus’ point that to make any exception could expose the City 
to legal liability.  
 
CA Kucharek confirmed Commissioner Nickita’s comment and added that the City’s ordinances legally 
require the City to follow the ordinances as written. She said that outdoor dining in the City could change 
if and when changes to the ordinances are made. 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports  

1. Notice to Appoint: Advisory Parking Committee  
B. Commissioner Comments  
 
Commissioner Host expressed disappointment with the Commission’s discussion of food trucks at its 
previous meeting. He spoke in favor of requests for proposals for the position of City Attorney and for the 
conduction of the City’s annual audit. He said he hoped future audits would focus more on the 
neighborhoods. 
 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas  
D. Legislation  
E. City Staff 
   

XI. ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Boutros adjourned the meeting at 11:49 p.m. 
 



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/14/2021

07/26/2021

PAPER CHECK

155.007UP DETROIT006965*280215

448.50AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH LLC007266*280217

71.00MIKE ALBRECHT002670*280218

180.00ALL AMERICAN CASH REGISTER000951280219

17,860.93ANDRUS ARCHITECTURE INC009253280220

389.00JOBMATCH LLC DBA APPLICANTPRO008977280221

124.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500*280222

11,274.37AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS INC004027*280223

450.00BARBARA ROGERSMISC*280225

259.41MATTHEW J. BARTALINO003839*280226

652.19BERMUDA SANDS008036280227

70.36BILLINGS LAWN EQUIPMENT INC.002231280228

100.00BLOOMFIELD CONSTRUCTION COMISC280230

1,400.00BLOOMINGDALE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY IMISC280231

10,000.00BLOOMINGDALE HOMES INCMISC280232

370.32BOLYARD LUMBER004244280233

1,560.57BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526280234

300.00BRIAN JAMES BARRICKMISC280235

975.00BRIAN LORENZMISC280236

285.00BRIDGESTONE GOLF, INC006966280237

15.00JACQUELYN BRITO006953*280238

6,300.00BS&A SOFTWARE, INC006520*280239

371,469.60C.E. GLEESON CONSTRUCTORS INC009281*280241

687.75CADILLAC ASPHALT, LLC003907280242

500.00CAMPBELL INDUSTRIAL CONTRACTORSMISC280243

220.47CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078280244

250.00CHET'S CLEANING INC009168280245

25.24CINTAS CORPORATION000605280246

100.00CITI ROOFING COMISC280247

94.01MARK CLEMENCE000912*280248

1,539.00COFINITY004026*280249

331.01COMCAST008955*280250

258.35COMCAST BUSINESS007774*280251

997.85COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512280253

121.95DAPHNE'S HEADCOVERS006104280254

154.80DENTEMAX, LLC006907*280255

550.00Deporre BuildingMISC280256

550.00DETROIT BUILD INCMISC280257

1,000.00DINDO, JOSEPH FMISC280258

1,000.00DPS INCMISC280259

100.00Dr. Louie KhouriMISC280260

32.14DTE ENERGY000179*280261

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/14/2021

07/26/2021

834.49 DTE ENERGY000179*280262

501.10 DTE ENERGY000179*280263

1,063.11 DTE ENERGY000179*280264

63.53 DTE ENERGY000179*280265

35.70 DTE ENERGY000179*280266

41,706.77 DTE ENERGY000180*280267

300.00 E F DEERING COMISC280268

8,001.47 E-Z-GO DIVISION OF TEXTRON INC000274280269

720.00 EGANIX, INC.007538*280270

46.93 ENGLISH GARDENS008581280271

500.00 ENZO WATER SERVICE009100*280272

500.00 ESTHER BOWERSMISC280273

5,843.00 FAIR-WAY TILE & CARPET, INC.004574*280274

25.59 FEDEX000936280275

5,500.00 FIRST CHOICE BUILDING & MAINTENANCEMISC280276

100.00 FIVE STAR PROPERTYMISC280277

48,200.09 FLS PROPERTIES #5, LLC009307*280278

200.00 FOUNDATION SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN INC.MISC280279

100.00 FOUR SEASONS GARDEN CENTERMISC280280

2,500.00 FREDERICK ATWELLMISC280281

200.00 FRESHWATER, BRIAN DMISC280282

200.00 G & M GUTTER COMPANY INCMISC280283

805.35 GOLF EMS INC.MISC280284

2,656.79 GORDON FOOD004604*280285

258.58 GRAINGER008293280286

302.90 GREAT LAKES COCA-COLA DISTRIBUTION009275280287

100.00 GREATER DETROIT LANDSCAPE CO.MISC280288

100.00 GREEN, BLAKE GMISC280289

880.00 GUNNERS METER & PARTS INC001531280290

399.21 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*280291

500.00 HOME DEPOT USA INCMISC280292

100.00 HOME INSPECTION PLUS INCMISC280293

45.00 HUNTINGTON WOODS POOLS & SPAS, INC006416280294

1,123.26 INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL INC003888280295

1,000.00 J & J EXCAVATING LTDMISC280296

5,044.44 J.T. EXPRESS, LTD.000344280297

7.00 JACK D. PESHA009299*280298

922.70 JACK TODD- PETTY CASHMISC*280299

100.00 JOHN C COOK009249280300

500.00 JOHN MCCARTER CONSTRUCTION LLCMISC280301

1,112.00 KGM DISTRIBUTORS INC004088280302

19.90 KROGER COMPANY000362*280303

100.00 KUHN JR, MICHAELMISC280304



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/14/2021

07/26/2021

100.00 LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT INC006817280305

5,900.00 LIVE WELL CUSTOM HOME LLCMISC280307

750.00 LIVONIA BUILDERS GRANDOVER PARMISC280308

2,000.00 LMB PROPERTIES LLCMISC280309

500.00 MB Architecture & Design, LLCMISC280310

125.00 MGSE SECURITY LLC009085280311

100.00 MGSE SECURITY LLC009085*280311

92.85 MICHIGAN BREAD BAKERY007479280312

4,162.00 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL RISK001253*280314

200.00 MILLER LANDSCAPE INCMISC280317

750.00 MOBILE DUELING PIANOS008509280318

23.52 MOHAMED F. CHAMMAA007744*280319

1,255.00 MPARKS008160*280320

2,800.00 NEWTONS SOLUTIONS LLC009276*280323

100.00 NICHOLAS A GUYMISC280324

130.00 NICK REDDIGMISC280325

200.00 NIGHTINGALE COMPANYMISC280326

100.00 NORTHSTAR PAINTINGMISC280327

100.00 OAK CONSTRUCTIONMISC280328

50.00 OAKLAND CO CLERKS ASSOC001686*280329

75.00 OAKLAND CO MEDICAL CONTROL AUTH.001174280330

52.00 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370280331

231.00 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*280331

73.49 OFFICE DEPOT INC000481*280332

100.00 PATTERSON, CRAIGMISC280333

658.16 PEPSI COLA001753*280334

200.00 PROSIGN AND AWNINGMISC280335

211.32 QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.007797280336

211.32 QUADIENT LEASING USA, INC.007797*280336

1,000.00 RACHEL FELONG KELTERMISC280337

25.51 RED WING BUSINESS ADVANTAGE ACCT005379280338

300.00 REDGUARD FIRE & SECURITY008852280339

262.00 REFRIGERATION SERVICE PLUS007305280340

143.13 REYNOLDS WATER002566280341

441.94 SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*280342

2,577.64 SARAH MISTRETTA009302*280343

100.00 SAS SERVICES INCMISC280344

200.00 SIGNS-N-DESIGNS, INCMISC280345

2,581.38 SITEIMPROVE, INC008150280346

123.86 SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY, INC008073*280347

200.00 SMITHS WATERPROOFINGMISC280348

100.00 SMOLYANOV HOME IMPROVMENTMISC280349

100.00 SMOOTH FINISH CONCRETE & CONSTRUCTIMISC280350



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/14/2021

07/26/2021

131.47 SPARTAN DISTRIBUTORS INC000260280351

100.00 SPARTAN PAVINGMISC280352

239.00 SYDNEY SOLUTIONS LLC007503280353

200.00 TAFELSKI, JOHNMISC280354

751.13 TARGET SPECIALTY PRODUCTS000286280355

317.05 TECHSEVEN COMPANY008748280356

200.00 TEMPLETON BUILDING COMPANYMISC280357

500.00 THOMAS SEBOLD & ASSOCIATES, INMISC280358

150.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379280359

170.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*280359

58.27 UPTOWN MARKET OF BIRMINGHAM008941280360

100.00 USZTAN LLCMISC280361

191.10 VALLEY CITY LINEN007226280362

200.00 VANDERHOEF CONSTRUCTION, LLCMISC280363

76.02 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*280364

152.30 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*280365

642.94 VILLAGE AUTOMOTIVE006491280366

200.00 WECHSLER CONSTRUCTION LLCMISC280367

609.04 WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490280368

114.45 JEFFREY WHIPPLE001536*280369

2,500.00 WISE, ADAM PMISC280370

308.60 WOLVERINE005112*280371

521.71 XEROX CORPORATION008391*280372

57.56 ZEROFRICTION, LLC007999280373

200.00 ZLM SERVICES LLCMISC280374

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $604,538.49

ACH TRANSACTION

28,427.35 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*3966

640.88 ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*3967

1,235.52 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091263968

159.92 BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*3969

646.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE0066833970

17,465.67 BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*3971

115.50 BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*3972

4,990.00 CANFIELD EQUIPMENT SERVICE INC.0078753973

41,274.40 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM #2450092973974

540.00 CLUB PROPHET008044*3975

12,005.94 DUNCAN PARKING TECH INC001077*3976

149.01 FIRST CHOICE COFFEE SERV0061813977

380.08 GRAINGER000243*3978

78.00 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*3979

866.05 JCR SUPPLY INC0092983980

186.88 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*3981



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/14/2021

07/26/2021

377.07 JOHNSON CONTROLS SECURITY SOLUTIONS0001553982

2,086.45 KONE INC0040853983

6,259.35 KONE INC004085*3983

4,157.50 KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*3984

3,182.08 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*3985

9,700.00 LOGICALIS INC0081583986

48.72 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE0003773987

99.00 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*3988

33,342.05 OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*3989

703.16 OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*3990

231.00 PENCHURA, LLC006027*3991

3,475.00 R.C. SYSTEMS, INC.008389*3992

195.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*3993

170.00 VIGILANTE SECURITY INC000969*3994

686.56 VOLVIK USA0087113995

14,239.32 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*3996

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $188,113.46

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $792,651.95



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/21/2021

07/26/2021

PAPER CHECK

308.12BOLYARD LUMBER004244280375

258.35COMCAST008955*280376

1,278.2521ST CENTURY MEDIA- MICHIGAN005430280377

500.0048TH DISTRICT COURT000855*280378

100.0048TH DISTRICT COURT000855*280379

1,004.85A & L SYSTEMS INC004627280380

238.26AIRGAS USA, LLC003708280381

217.62ALEXANDRIA BINGHAMMISC*280382

300.00ALPINE CONSTRUCTION INCMISC280383

150.00APG CONSTRUCTION LLCMISC280384

116.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500280385

200.00ASHOR CONSTRUCTIONMISC280386

220.12AT&T006759*280387

108.01AT&T006759*280388

108.11AT&T006759*280389

60.00BIRMINGHAM PLBG CO INCMISC280393

1,200.00BLOOMFIELD TWP FIRE DEPT002982*280394

2,795.00BOONES EXPRESS LLC009215280395

104.22BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526280396

100.00BRICKWORKS PROPERTY RESTORATIONMISC280397

3,961.50BSB COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005717280398

930.35CANON SOLUTIONS AMERICA INC009078*280399

135.02CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732280401

265.52CAREN PRODUCTS, LLC008993*280402

6,184.01CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*280403

1,156.24CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF BLOOMFIELD008306280404

160.00CINCINNATI TIME SYSTEMS, INC.007284280405

252.08CINTAS CORPORATION000605280406

290.00CLEARVIEW CAPTIONING LLC009187280408

80.89COL'S FAMILY RESTAURANT009167280409

530.46CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*280410

1,176.20CORE & MAIN LP008582280411

350.00COUNTRYSIDE CONST. CO. INC.005666*280412

518.23CUMMINS BRIDGEWAY LLC003923280413

500.00D & S CONTRACTORS, INCMISC280414

182.44DE LAGE LANDEN FINANCIAL SVCS INC008005280415

305.14DEALER AUTO PARTS009309280416

366.76DELWOOD SUPPLY000177280417

214.08DINGES FIRE COMPANY008641280418

4,637.42DTE ENERGY000180*280419

720.31EDWARDS PLUMBING & HEATINGMISC280420

5,988.40EJ USA, INC.000196280421

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/21/2021

07/26/2021

1,239.71 ELDER FORD004671280422

1,605.00 EMPCO INCORPORATED001124*280424

3,331.00 ENFORCEMENT PRODUCTS INC006876280425

3,575.00 EXERCISE WAREHOUSE INC003158*280426

11.78 FEDEX000936280428

22.75 FEDEX OFFICE004514*280429

495.09 FINISHMASTER INC008131*280431

365.43 GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SERVICES, IN006384280432

130.00 HARRY'S ARMY SURPLUS006153280434

1,400.00 HM HOMES LLCMISC280435

380.76 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*280436

2,000.00 HUNTER ROBERTS HOMESMISC280437

292.43 HUNTINGTON WOODS POOLS & SPAS, INC006416280438

19.10 JACK D. PESHA009299*280446

200.48 JACK TODD- PETTY CASHMISC*280447

200.00 James Swift ConstructionMISC280448

849.38 KAESER & BLAIR INC005291280449

1,489.60 KHALIL, JADMISC280450

2,134.69 KIMBERLY FENCE & SUPPLY009133*280451

79.99 KLM BIKE & FITNESS INC005350280452

913.00 KNOX COMPANY005452280453

16,156.25 KOZA, KENNY YMISC280454

982.08 KYLE KRAFT009287*280455

54.00 MIKE LABRIOLA002466*280456

135.45 LAMPERTIUS, SAMANTHAMISC*280457

23,986.13 MCKENNA ASSOCIATES INC000888280458

600.00 MICHAEL SHUKWIT009143*280459

43.06 MICHIGAN.COM #1008007659280460

89.23 MICHIGAN.COM #1008007659*280460

10.52 MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230280462

2,021.20 MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163280463

1,070.82 NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755*280464

453,570.83 OAKLAND COUNTY000477*280465

695.04 OBSERVER & ECCENTRIC003461*280466

104.00 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS004370*280467

140.58 OFFICE DEPOT INC000481*280468

100.00 PIETRON, LARRY JMISC280469

72.67 PITNEY BOWES INC002518280470

78.00 PTS COMMUNICATIONS006625*280471

669.12 PUKKA INC009270*280472

669.12 PUKKA INC009270*280473

413.54 READY DIG EXCAVATIONMISC280474

1,200.00 RICHARD TRUDO009144*280475



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/21/2021

07/26/2021

125.00 SAFE KIDS MACOMB COUNTYMISC*280476

464.70 SITEONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY, INC008073*280477

95.39 ALAN SOAVE003466*280478

75.00 STADLER PLBG & HTG INCMISC280479

550.00 TECHHOME BUILDING CO., LLCMISC280480

100.00 THEISEN, SHARON MMISC280481

500.00 THOMAS SEBOLD & ASSOCIATES, INMISC280482

1,305.00 TIGERPRESS ADMINISTRATION008694280483

413.54 TIP TOP SELLS LLCMISC280484

205.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*280485

4,150.00 VANDYKE HORN PUBLIC RELATIONS LLC009177*280486

451.20 WEST SHORE FIRE INC001490280487

200.00 William Ellis CompanyMISC280488

57.00 WINDER POLICE EQUIPMENT001438280489

880.17 WINDSTREAM005794*280490

157.70 XEROX CORPORATION008391*280491

143.96 ZORO TOOLS, INC.008902*280492

360.97 AT&T006759*280493

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $572,103.42

ACH TRANSACTION

59,950.73 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*3999

290.57 ACOM SOLUTIONS, INC.0029094000

1,062.07 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091264001

192.00 ANCHOR WIPING CLOTH CO0026794002

42,948.63 BEIER HOWLETT P.C.000517*4003

570.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE006683*4004

30.72 BIRMINGHAM OIL CHANGE CENTER, LLC007624*4005

2,246.59 C.S. MCKEE LP0062574006

4,619.00 DEARBORN LITHOGRAPH INC004232*4007

5,100.00 GABRIEL, ROEDER, SMITH & CO.0010234008

71.26 GAYLORD BROS., INC000592*4009

253.29 GRAINGER000243*4010

217.41 J & B MEDICAL SUPPLY002407*4011

53.00 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*4012

419.11 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*4013

495.00 KELLER THOMA000891*4014

4,976.80 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*4015

100.00 MUNICIPAL ADVISORY COUNCIL OF MI0068124017

3,500.00 NEXT007856*4018

556.23 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*4019

200.00 OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*4020

20,176.99 POLEN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLC0092314021

355.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*4022



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

07/21/2021

07/26/2021

75.00 SOCRRA000254*4023

222,990.60 SOCWA001097*4024

32,774.54 SYMETRA LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY004355*4025

71.31 TERMINAL SUPPLY CO.0002734026

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $404,295.85

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $976,399.27



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: July 12, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Uniform Allowance Order for Teamsters 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Department of Public Services (DPS) publicly opened bids titled “DPS Uniforms 2021”, 
Tuesday, June 15, 2021.  Bid specifications were placed on the Michigan Intergovernmental Trade 
Network (MITN).  The specification requests pricing for the basic overall uniform clothing items, 
needed as part of year round operations.  We are recommending the ability to purchase from the 
current vendor for three years, rather than bidding this out every year.  The City of Birmingham 
is currently in negotiations with the Teamsters Local 214. 

BACKGROUND: 
The Department of Public Services employs approximately thirty (30) Teamsters. Under 
contractual obligation, which ends June 30, 2021, the Teamsters had a $300 amount per fiscal 
year to spend on uniforms.  The employees have the ability to purchase approved items such as 
shirts, pants, boots, jackets, hats and gloves only up to the specified contractual amount as a 
fiscal year allowance.  If an employee goes over this allotment, they are able to personally pay 
the difference of the overage, or cut back on the items they are ordering.  All shirts are required 
to have the City logo along with the employees name embroidered on the garment. 

Uniform purchases have evolved from the old way of reviewing catalogs, ordering items, receiving 
and returning items that were not right to the latest method of having a store front with the 
uniform requirements for employees to make a one-stop shop to get the annual uniform 
allowance.  This method for employees to purchase uniforms on an annual basis is much more 
effective and efficient for all concerned, including the invoicing system. 

We received one bid from Contractors Clothing Company.  Last year this vendor was the only 
bidder to meet the bid specifications.  This is a three (3) year contract and they have kept their 
same price from last year for the uniform items over the next three (3) fiscal years. 

Contractors Clothing provides a 10% discount on all purchases.  Other past bidders could not 
meet the product selections and were all catalog order vendors.  For a total amount to Contractors 
Clothing Company has a store within 7 miles of Birmingham, which allows the employees easy 
access to visit and try on garments before purchase. The City of Birmingham has done business 
with Contractors Clothing before and has been very pleased with their service and quality of 
goods. 

5D



2 
 
 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
This item does not require legal review.  In addition, there is no agreement requirement as part 
of this purchase. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funds are budgeted and available from the 2021-2022 Public Services - Uniform Allowance 
account #101-441.002-743.0000. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
This does not apply for this purchase. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Department of Public Services recommends awarding this uniform purchase to Contractors 
Clothing Company for an expected annual cost not to exceed $12,000.00 per year for items 
purchased.  This will be our fifth year working directly with Contractors Clothing, which is located 
in Madison Heights.  Rather than buy uniform items from a catalog, employees are able to try 
items on at the store.  This bricks and mortar system has been much more efficient for ordering, 
eliminating returns, saves time for employees and for the administration of this program. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
No attachments exist. 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the purchase of uniforms with Contractors Clothing Company for an expected annual 
cost not to exceed $12,000 per year for the Teamster contract uniform allowance for fiscal years 
2021-2022, 2022-2023 and 2023-2024.  Funds are available for this purchase in the Public 
Services - Uniform Allowance account #101-441.002-743.0000. 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE:  July 15, 2021 

TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Golf Course Fertilizer/Turf Chemicals 

INTRODUCTION: 
On Tuesday, June 29, 2021, the Department of Public Services publicly opened bids entitled “Turf 
Chemicals”.  This bid includes fertilizers and turf chemicals used at the municipal golf courses to 
maintain and beautify the turf.  The request for proposal (RFP) was entered into the Michigan 
Inter-governmental Trade Network (MITN) purchasing system. 

BACKGROUND: 
The pricing for these products are the same from the various vendors. This is based on agency 
pricing which the product manufacturer determines. Therefore, the price is identical from the 
bidders.  Some of the bidders did not make all of the products available to the City of Birmingham 
as part of their bid.  The City selects the vendors for which to purchase its products based on our 
experience with the vendor, customer service, availability of the product, including the quality of 
the performance by the vendor. 

After review of the three bid tabulations from the companies meeting the specifications, the 
Department of Public Services recommends purchases from these three companies. 

Company City 7/1/2021-6/30/2022 Bid Amount 

Harrell’s Howell, MI         $22,000 $22,000 
Target Specialty Products    White Lake, MI    $22,000 $22,000 
Great Lakes Turf Byron Center, MI    $8,000 $8,000 

Total $52,000 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
No legal review is required for this item. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The Chemical/Fertilizers listing are for the 2021 season and funds are available in the operating 
supplies account for each golf course, account #s 584/597-753.001-729.0000.  Based on the 
actual need and requested orders for the golf courses during the season, the total purchases may 
fluctuate, but will not exceed a total of $52,000. 

5E



2 
 

 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Courses are marked prior to application.  Treatment occurs in advance of any play. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The type of products needed and for what specific treatments are based on a variety of variables.  
The Grounds Superintendent determines the quantities of product during the golf season.  Our 
needs are based on the weather, turf condition and the potential treatment of pests.  Last year 
these same companies were used for the product purchases for a total amount not to exceed 
$52,000. 
 
The Department of Public Services recommends approval of the fertilizer/chemical purchases for 
the Birmingham Golf Courses with the three selected vendors; Harrell’s, Target Specialty Products, 
and Great Lakes in an amount not to exceed $52,000 for the 2021-2022 fiscal year. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Golf Course Chemicals and Fertilizers Product Bid List 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the fertilizer/chemical purchases for Lincoln Hills and Springdale Golf Courses from 
Harrell’s for $22,000, Target Specialty Products for $22,000, and Great Lakes Turf for $8,000.  
The total purchase from all vendors will not exceed a total of $52,000. Funds will be charged to 
account #s 584/597-753.001-729.0000. 



Product (Common) Chem. Name Signal Word Classification Use (Area) Frequency Target Pest Comments
Merit Imidacloprid Warning Insecticide All turf As needed Grubs, Insects
Acelepryn Chlorantraniliprole Warning Insecticide All turf As needed Grubs, Insects
Dylox Trichlorfon Warning Insecticide Tees, Rough As needed Grubs, Insects
Briskway Azoxystrobin Warning Fungicide Greens 2-3X/year Various Fungi

Headway
Azoxystrobin+              
Propiconazole Warning Fungicide Greens 2-3X/year Various Fungi

Affirm PolyoxinD zinc salt Caution Fungicide Greens 1X/year Patch Diseases

Emerald Boscalid Warning Fungicide Tees, Fairways 1X/year Dollar Spot

Concert
Propiconazole+ 
Chlorothalonil Danger Fungicide

Tees, Fairways, 
Greens 3-4X/year Various Fungi

Clearys 26/36 Thiophanate Methyl Warning Fungicide All turf 2-3X/year Various Fungi
Secure Fluazinam Warning Fungicide Greens 1-2X/year Various Fungi

Instrata

Fludioxonil,        
Propicnazole 
Chlorothalonil Warning Fungicide Greens 1X/year Various Fungi

Daconil Action Chlorothalonil Warning Fungicide
Greens,TeesFairw
ays 4-5X/year Various Fungi

Xzemplar Fluxapyroxad Caution Fungicide Greens 2-3X/year Various Fungi
Velista Penthropyrad Caution Fungicide Greens 2-3X/year Various Fungi
Tank Defoamer Caution Tank Additive
Sync Methylacetic acid Danger Tank Additive
25-0-10 Urea Nitrogen, K2O Warning Fertilizer Rough 1-2X/year
33-0-12 Urea Nitrogen, K2O Warning Fertilizer Tees, Fairways 1X/year
22-0-11 Urea Nitrogen, K2O Fertilizer Rough, Fairways 1X/year
40-0-0 Urea Nitrogen Fertilizer Rough
14-7-14 Fertilizer Greens

Millennium Ultra
2,4D, Dicamba, 
Monoethanoleamine Danger Herbicide Rough 2-3X/year Broadleaf weeds

Confront Triclopyr, Clopyralid Danger Herbicide Rough As needed Broadleaf weeds
Primo Maxx Trinexapac Warning Growth Regulator Greens As needed
Proxy Ethephon Danger Growth Regulator Greens As needed
TriCure Surfactant Warning Wetting Agent All turf As needed
PK Fight Potash (K2O) Warning Fertilizer Greens Every 2 weeks
Astron Ca,Mg,B,Cu,Fe,Zn Danger Fertilizer Greens Every 2 weeks
Knife Plus N,S,Cu,Fe,Mn,Mo,Zn Danger Fertilizer Greens Every 2 weeks
Power 23-0-0 N Warning Fertilizer Greens Every 2 weeks
Power 0-22-28 P2O5, K2O Warning Fertilizer Greens Every 2 weeks
Bentgrass seed
Annual Ryegrass seed
Aquasphere

Agency pricing

Golf Course Chemicals and Fertilizers



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: July 16, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Vehicle #501 Replacement – Police Department 

INTRODUCTION: 
Due to age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of the 
2015 Ford Explorer Police vehicle.  The current mileage is around 117,000 miles. 

The Police Department is requesting a 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe LS 4WD police package. 

BACKGROUND: 
Vehicle #501 is identified for replacement and listed in the Vehicle/Equipment Replacement 
Schedule, as published in the FY 2021-2022 budget.  It qualifies for replacement as illustrated by 
the assessment below: 

  #501 – 2015 Ford Explorer 
FACTOR DESCRIPTION POINTS 
Age 1 point each year of age 6 
Miles/Hours 1 point each 10,000 miles of usage  11.7 
Type of Service Type 5 – Police, Fire and Rescue service vehicles      5 

Reliability 
Level 2 – In shop one time within three month period, one 
breakdown within same period 2 

M & R Costs 
Level 3– Maintenance costs are 41-60% of replacement 
costs  3 

Condition 
Level 3 – Noticeable imperfections in body, minor damage, 
weak drive train  3 
Total points 28+, poor, needs priority replacement 30.7 

This vehicle qualifies under the replacement guidelines for “priority replacement”, its age and 
condition warrant replacement at this time.  Once ordered the lead time for the new vehicle is 
estimated at 28-30 weeks. 

The Department of Public Services recommends replacing this vehicle with a 2022 Chevrolet 
Tahoe LS 4WD through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 awarded to Berger Chevrolet, Grand Rapids, MI 49512. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
This purchase does not require legal review. 

5F



 

2 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funds for this purchase, totaling $45,893.00, are available in the Auto Equipment Fund, account 
#641-441.006-971.0100. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
This does not apply to this purchase. 
 
SUMMARY 
Based on age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of 
vehicle #501 with a 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe LS 4WD police package.  Upon delivery of the 
replacement vehicle, the old vehicle will be listed on the Michigan Governmental Trade Network 
(MITN) for public auction. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
No attachments are included with this report. 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe LS 4WD police package from Berger 
Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $45,893.00.  Funds for this purchase are available 
in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: July 16, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Vehicle #505 Replacement – Police Department 

INTRODUCTION: 
Due to age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of the 
2010 Dodge Ram Cargo Van used by the Police Department for parking meter maintenance.  The 
current mileage is around 32,000 miles. 

The Police Department is requesting a 2022 Ford Transit Connect Van for parking meter 
maintenance services.  

BACKGROUND: 
Vehicle #505 is identified for replacement and listed in the Vehicle/Equipment Replacement 
Schedule, as published in the FY 2021-2022 budget.  It qualifies for replacement as illustrated by 
the assessment below: 

  #505 – 2010 Dodge Ram Cargo Van 
FACTOR DESCRIPTION POINTS 
Age 1 point each year of age 11 
Miles/Hours 1 point each 10,000 miles of usage  3.2 
Type of Service Type 5 – Police, Fire and Rescue service vehicles      5 

Reliability 
Level 3 – In shop more than twice within one month time 
period 3 

M & R Costs 
Level 3– Maintenance costs are 41-60% of replacement 
costs  3 

Condition 
Level 3 – Noticeable imperfections in body, minor damage, 
weak drive train  3 
Total points 28+, poor, needs priority replacement 28.2 

This vehicle qualifies under the replacement guidelines for “priority replacement”, its age and 
condition warrant replacement at this time.  Once ordered the lead time for the new vehicle is 
estimated at 28-30 weeks. 

The Department of Public Services recommends replacing this vehicle with a 2022 Ford Transit 
Connect Van through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 awarded to Gorno Ford of Woodhaven, MI. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
This purchase does not require legal review. 

5G



 

2 
 
 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funds for this purchase, totaling $25,690.00, are available in the Auto Equipment Fund, account 
#641-441.006-971.0100. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
This does not apply to this purchase. 
 
SUMMARY 
Based on age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of 
vehicle #505 with a 2022 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van at a total cost of $25,690.00. Gorno 
Ford is the exclusive dealer for this contract and was contacted for pricing.  Upon delivery of the 
replacement vehicle, the old vehicle will be listed on the Michigan Governmental Trade Network 
(MITN) for public auction. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
No attachments are included with this report. 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van from Gorno Ford 
through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract #071B7700181 in the 
amount not to exceed $25,690.00.  Funds for this purchase are available in the FY 2021-2022 
Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Department of Public Services 

DATE: July 16, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Lauren A. Wood, Director of Public Services 

SUBJECT: Vehicle #564 Replacement – Police Department 

INTRODUCTION: 
Due to age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of the 
2015 Chevy Tahoe Police vehicle.  The current mileage is around 113,000 miles. 

The Police Department is requesting a 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe police package used as the evidence 
tech patrol vehicle.  

BACKGROUND: 
Vehicle #564 is identified for replacement and listed in the Vehicle/Equipment Replacement 
Schedule, as published in the FY 2021-2022 budget.  It qualifies for replacement as illustrated by 
the assessment below: 

  #564 – 2015 Chevy Tahoe 
FACTOR DESCRIPTION POINTS 
Age 1 point each year of age 6 
Miles/Hours 1 point each 10,000 miles of usage  11.3 
Type of Service Type 5 – Police, Fire and Rescue service vehicles      5 

Reliability 
Level 4 – In shop more than once within one month time 
period, two or more breakdowns within same period 4 

M & R Costs 
Level 5– Maintenance costs are greater than or equal to 
81% of replacement costs  5 

Condition 
Level 3 – Noticeable imperfections in body, minor damage, 
weak drive train  3 
Total points 28+, poor, needs priority replacement 34.3 

This vehicle qualifies under the replacement guidelines for “priority replacement”, its age and 
condition warrant replacement at this time.  Once ordered the lead time for the new vehicle is 
estimated at 28-30 weeks. 

The Department of Public Services recommends replacing this vehicle with a 2022 Chevrolet 
Tahoe 4WD through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 awarded to Berger Chevrolet, Grand Rapids, MI 49512. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
This purchase does not require legal review. 

5H



 

2 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Funds for this purchase, totaling $39,885.00, are available in the Auto Equipment Fund, account 
#641-441.006-971.0100. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
This does not apply to this purchase. 
 
SUMMARY 
Based on age and condition, the Department of Public Services recommends replacement of 
vehicle #564 with a 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe 4 WD police package.  Upon delivery of the 
replacement vehicle, the old vehicle will be listed on the Michigan Governmental Trade Network 
(MITN) for public auction. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
No attachments are included with this report. 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the purchase of one (1) 2022 Chevrolet Tahoe 4 WD police package from Berger 
Chevrolet Inc. through the State of Michigan MIDEAL extendable purchasing contract 
#071B7700181 in the amount not to exceed $39,885.00.  Funds for this purchase are available 
in the FY 2021-2022 Auto Equipment Fund account #641-441.006.971.0100. 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
IT Department 

DATE: 07/26/2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Eric Brunk, IT Manager 

SUBJECT: G-Mail License renewal  

INTRODUCTION:  
The G-Suite product license is an annual license and this year is due by the 3rd of August 2021. 
The cost of this service will change from year to year depending on the cost per license and the 
number of active licenses we are currently using.  We currently have 260 licenses in use and 
each license currently costs $72.00 a year for a total cost of $18,720.00. 

BACKGROUND: 
The City of Birmingham is using G-Suite Basic from Google for its email and file sharing 
platform. This suite gives us access to email, calendar, data applications, data storage and file 
sharing under the bhamgov.org domain.  The reseller on record with Google inc. for our 
account is Newmind Group from Kalamazoo, Michigan. Making them a sole service provider. 
They process the purchasing of new accounts when needed, yearly license renewals and handle 
the initial troubleshooting of issues encountered with our google accounts outside of general 
administrative tasks performed by the IT department. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
This is a renewal of an existing contract – no changes to the contract have been made. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The IT department has this yearly renewal in its budget. 

SUMMARY: 
The IT department would like to renew the Google G-Suite licenses through Newmind Group 
Inc.  Total cost for the current Google G-Suite licenses is $18,720.00.  Funds are available in 
the Computer Maintenance fund 636-228.000-993.0600 

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
Authorize the IT department to purchase the G-Suite license renewal from Newmind Group Inc. 
The cost not to exceed $18,720.00.  Using available funds from the Computer Maintenance 
account 636-228.000-993.0600 

5I



Invoice #: 2997316

Date: July 17, 2021

Balance Due (USD): $18,720.00

Subtotal: 18,720.00
Total: 18,720.00

Amount Paid: 0.00

Balance Due (USD): $18,720.00

1. Go to: https://newmind.freshbooks.com/code
To View Your Invoice Online »

2. Enter this code: 33cr6q6e6XGTeSRR

Prepay

BY ACCEPTING THIS ESTIMATE OR PAYING THE RESULTING INVOICE YOU AGREE TO THE TERMS AND
CONDITIONS OF SERVICE DESCRIBED IN THE MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT AVAILABLE AT:

http://www.newmindgroup.com/terms

IN ADDITION, YOU REPRESENT THAT YOU HAVE ALL NECESSARY AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO THE CONTRACT
FORMED BY (i) THE MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT, (ii) THIS ESTIMATE, AND (iii) ANY OTHER TERMS OR

CONDITIONS IDENTIFIED ABOVE.

Item Description Unit Cost ($) Quantity Price ($)

WSBusStarter Google Workspace Business Starter: Annual License -
bhamgov.org, License Period: August 3, 2021 - August 2, 2022

72.00 260 18,720.00

INVOICENewmind Group, Inc.
344 N Rose St.
Suite 4
Kalamazoo MI 49007
Phone: 269.492.0469

City of Birmingham
Eric Brunk
151 Martin Street
PO Box 3001
Birmingham MI 48012



MEMORANDUM

DATE: July 7, 2021

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager

FROM: Mark H. Clemence, Chief of Police

SUBJECT: Outside Agency Agreements Fiscal Year 2021-22

INTRODUCTION:
The City Commission reviews outside agency service agreements on an annual basis as part of 
the budget preparation and expenditure approval process.  The police department has supported 
Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition (BBCC), Birmingham Youth Assistance (BYA) and 
Common Ground for a number of years. Department approved budget request amounts are 
consistent from year to year.  After review of Attachments A and B submitted by the outside 
agencies the City Commission considers renewal of funding.

The City Commission previously approved a master service agreement to be used by various 
outside agencies that request funding from the City. The following organizations have completed 
the required service agreements, Attachment A and Attachment B to provide a description of the 
services to be provided and the direct benefit of the services to the City and its residents.

Agency Name Department Budget Request Amount

Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition (BBCC) $3,000
Birmingham Youth Assistance (BYA) $18,000 
Common Ground $1,500

The department request funding totals for BBCC, BYA and Common Ground reflect the same 
amount of funding received by these agencies for the past fiscal year (2020-2021).  The police 
department recommends approving the (3) attached service contracts for the 2021-22 outside 
agency agreements for Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition, Birmingham Youth 
Assistance and Common Ground.  

Sufficient funds have been budgeted in the police department other contracted services account 
#101-301-000-811.0000 to provide for these contracts.

BACKGROUND:
The police department has provided financial support to these (3) agencies since the 2011-12 
fiscal year.  When the budget preparation season begins, each agency is sent a letter that details 
the requirements that need to be met in order for the department to include funding in the 
upcoming fiscal year budget.  Those requirements include completion of Attachments A and B in 
addition to submitting an updated insurance certificate with the City named as additional insured.

5J



 
 

Attachment A is a document that summarizes the organization’s name, amount of funding 
requested for current and prior fiscal years and also details the agency’s mission, purpose and 
services provided to Birmingham residents.  Attachment B is a detailed explanation of the 
organization’s financial data and also details programs or services provided, number of 
participants (total attendees and residents) and also includes a quarterly breakdown of funds 
used for the provided service.

LEGAL REVIEW:
The City Attorney has reviewed and approved the (3) attached service agreements.

FISCAL IMPACT:
Sufficient funding in the amount of $22,500 has been approved in the 2021-22 police department 
general fund other contracted services account # 101-301-000-811.0000 to support these (3) 
budgeted outside agency service agreements.  

SUMMARY:
The department recommends that all three agencies receive the same amount of funding from 
previous fiscal years.  BBCC, BYA and Common Ground all submitted funding requests in the
same amount as last year.  

The (3) attached outside agency service contracts are in compliance with the requirements of 
Attachment A, Attachment B and insurance regulations have been met.  Funding approval for the 
2021-22 fiscal year may be granted by the City Commission and the City Commission may direct 
the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the agreements on behalf of the city.

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition - Service Agreement
2. Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition - Attachment A
3. Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition - Attachment B
4. Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition – Key Findings Report
5. Birmingham Youth Assistance - Service Agreement
6. Birmingham Youth Assistance - Attachment A
7. Birmingham Youth Assistance - Attachment B
8. Common Ground - Service Agreement
9. Common Ground - Attachment A
10. Common Ground - Attachment B

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION:
To approve the outside agency service agreements for services described in Attachment A of the 
agreement for fiscal year 2021-22 with Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition in the 
amount of $3,000, Birmingham Youth Assistance in the amount of $18,000 and Common Ground 
in the amount of $1,500 from account number 101-301.000-811.0000, further to direct the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the agreements on behalf of the City.



SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made this ____ day of ____________, 2021

by and between the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, having its principal office at 151 Martin Road, 

Birmingham, MI 48009 ("CITY"), and Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition, whose address is 

1525 Covington Road, Bloomfield Hills, MI  48301 ("SERVICE PROVIDER"), provides as follows:

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to have certain services provided, which shall be of the type, 

nature and extent as set forth on Attachment A; and

WHEREAS, SERVICE PROVIDER desires to provide said services for the CITY, which it shall 

do in accordance with the experience it has attained from providing similar services of this nature, 

under the terms and conditions hereinafter stated.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the respective agreements and 

undertakings herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

1. SERVICE PROVIDER shall perform the services as set forth on Attachment A.  The 

type, nature and scope may be changed if mutually agreed upon in writing by SERVICE PROVIDER 

and the CITY.

2. The CITY shall pay a total of $3,000.00 to SERVICE PROVIDER for the performance of 

this Agreement, which amount shall compensate SERVICE PROVIDER for all aspects of the services 

to be performed including, but not limited to, all preparation, coordination, management, staffing 

and all other services incidental thereto.  Payment shall be made to SERVICE PROVIDER pursuant to 

the schedule contained in Attachment A.

3. All services performed shall be of the highest quality and standards that meet or 

exceed that which is required and expected in that service industry. 



4. SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide and designate one supervisor responsible for the 

coordination of services provided, who shall handle problem solving and be the contact person for 

the CITY. 

5. This Agreement shall commence immediately after both parties have signed in the 

place and manner indicated below and shall terminate in accordance with the provisions as set forth 

in Attachment A.

6. This Agreement shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.  SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to perform all 

services provided for in this Agreement in accordance with and in full compliance with all local, state 

and federal laws and regulations.

7. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 

provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other provisions shall remain in full force and 

effect.

8. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties 

hereto, but no such assignment shall be made by SERVICE PROVIDER without the prior written 

consent of the CITY.  Any attempt at assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of 

no effect.

9. SERVICE PROVIDER agrees that neither it nor its employees will discriminate against 

any employee, independent contractor, or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, 

terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to 

employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital 

status.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform the CITY of all claims or suits asserted against it by 

SERVICE PROVIDER’s employees or contractors who work pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE 



PROVIDER shall provide the CITY with periodic status reports concerning all such claims or suits, at 

intervals established by the CITY.

10. To the fullest extent permitted by law, SERVICE PROVIDER and any entity or person 

for whom SERVICE PROVIDER is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay 

on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the CITY, its elected and appointed officials, employees 

and volunteers and others working on behalf of the CITY against any and all claims, demands, suits, 

or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including reasonable attorney fees, and for any 

damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the CITY, its elected and 

appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY, which arises out 

of or is in any way connected or associated with this Agreement.  Such responsibility shall not be 

construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting solely from the act or omission of the CITY, 

its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY.

11. SERVICE PROVIDER shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has, at 

its sole expense, obtained the insurance required by this paragraph.  All certificates of insurance 

shall be with insurance carriers licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Michigan.  All 

certificates of insurance shall be with insurance carriers acceptable to the CITY.  SERVICE PROVIDER 

shall maintain during the life of this Agreement the types of insurance coverage and minimum limits 

as set forth below:

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this contract, Workers' Compensation Insurance, 
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes of the State of Michigan.

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure 
and maintain during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability 
Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of liability not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence for combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily 
Injury and Property Damage.  Coverage shall include the following 
extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; 
(C) Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability 



Extensions or equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if applicable.

C. Motor Vehicle Liability: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and maintain 
during the life of this Agreement Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including 
all applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of liability of not less than $ 
1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage.  Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, 
and all hired vehicles.

D. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability 
Insurance, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the 
following shall be Additional Insureds:  The City of Birmingham, including all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, 
commissions and/or authorities and board members, including employees
and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary and any other 
insurance maintained by the additional insureds shall be considered to be 
excess and non-contributing with this insurance required from SERVICE 
PROVIDER under this Section.

E. Cancellation Notice:  Workers' Compensation Insurance, Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, as described above, 
shall include an endorsement stating the following: "Thirty (30) days 
Advance Written Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal shall be sent to: 
Finance Department, City of Birmingham, P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012.

F. Proof of Insurance Coverage: SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide the CITY at 
the time the contracts are returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance 
and/or policies, acceptable to the CITY, as listed below.

1. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation;

2. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General 
Liability;

3. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability 
Insurance;

4. If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will 
be furnished.

G. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term of 
this Agreement, SERVICE PROVIDER shall deliver renewal certificates and/or 
policies to the CITY at least (10) days prior to the expiration date.



12. If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any official of the CITY or spouse, child, 

parent or in-law, of such official or employee shall become directly or indirectly interested in this 

Agreement, or the affairs of SERVICE PROVIDER, the CITY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement without further liability to SERVICE PROVIDER if the disqualification has not been 

removed within thirty (30) days after the CITY has given SERVICE PROVIDER notice of the 

disqualifying interest.  Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity interest 

in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest.  Employment shall be a 

disqualifying interest.

13. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach 

thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th

District Court or by arbitration.   If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it 

shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan and 

administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three 

arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000.  Each party shall bear its own costs 

and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and administrative fees of arbitration.  Such 

arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL §600.5001 et. seq., and the Oakland 

County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render judgment upon the award of the 

arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 

State of Michigan and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan.  In the event that 

the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may 

be resolved by the filing of a suit in the Oakland County Circuit Court or the 48th District Court.  

14. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto 

pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 

understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, of the parties, except as 



specifically set forth herein.  No supplement, modification, addition, deletion or waiver of this 

Agreement or any provision of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both 

parties to be bound thereby.

15. SERVICE PROVIDER and the CITY agree that SERVICE PROVIDER shall be liable for 

its own actions and neither SERVICE PROVIDER nor its employees or contractors shall be construed 

as employees of the CITY.  Neither party, by virtue of this Agreement, shall have any right, power or 

authority to act or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other party, except as 

specifically outlined herein.  SERVICE PROVIDER, including its employees and contractors, shall not 

be considered entitled or eligible to participate in any benefits or privileges given or extended by the 

CITY, or be deemed an employee of the CITY for purposes of federal or state withholding taxes, 

FICA taxes, unemployment, workers' compensation and other employer contributions on behalf of 

SERVICE PROVIDER or SERVICE PROVIDER's employees or contractors.

16. SERVICE PROVIDER acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this 

Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary information (including, but not limited to, internal 

organization, methodology, personnel and financial information, etc.) may become involved.  

SERVICE PROVIDER recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such confidential or proprietary 

information could irreparably damage the CITY.  Therefore, the SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to use 

reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to prevent the 

unauthorized use or disclosure thereof.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform its employees and 

contractors of the confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access 

thereto to employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE PROVIDER further 

agrees to use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing 

services pursuant to this Agreement.











•

•



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•



•

•

•





•

•

•

•

•

o
o
o

•

o

o

•

o

•

o



•

•

o



Na
m

e 
of

 O
rg

an
iza

tio
n:

 _
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
 

Fi
rs

t Q
ua

rt
er

  (
Ju

ly
 1

, 2
0

– 
Se

pt
em

be
r 3

0,
 2

0
)

D
at

e 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e

(t
im

ef
ra

m
e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

Se
co

nd
 Q

ua
rt

er
  (

O
ct

ob
er

 1
, 2

0
 –

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
0

D
at

e 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e

(t
im

ef
ra

m
e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

AT
TA

CH
M

EN
T 

B 
B

irm
in

gh
am

B
lo

om
fie

ld
C

om
m

un
ity

C
oa

lit
io

n



Na
m

e 
of

 O
rg

an
iza

tio
n:

 _
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
 

Th
ird

 Q
ua

rt
er

  (
Ja

nu
ar

y 
1,

 2
0

– 
M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
0

)
D

at
e 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e 

D
ur

at
io

n 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e
(t

im
ef

ra
m

e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

Fo
ur

th
 Q

ua
rt

er
  (

Ap
ril

1,
 2

0
 –

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
0

D
at

e 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e

(t
im

ef
ra

m
e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

B
irm

in
gh

am
B

lo
om

fie
ld

C
om

m
un

ity
C

oa
lit

io
n

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
1/

3/
21

1:
30

-
3:

00
p.

m
.

2
in

at
te

nd
an

ce
P

or
tio

n
of

st
af

ft
im

e
-

$3
27

.3
0

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
1/

10
/2

1
1:

30
-

3:
00

p.
m

.
2

in
at

te
nd

an
ce

P
or

tio
n

of
st

af
ft

im
e

-
$

32
7.

30

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
1/

24
/2

1
1:

30
-

3:
00

p.
m

.
2

in
at

te
nd

an
ce

P
or

tio
n

of
st

af
ft

im
e

-
$

32
7.

30

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
2/

4/
21

1:
30

-
3:

00
p.

m
.

2
in

at
te

nd
an

ce
P

or
tio

n
of

st
af

ft
im

e
-

$3
27

.3
0

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
2/

21
/2

1
1:

30
-

3:
00

p.
m

.
2

in
at

te
nd

an
ce

P
or

tio
n

of
st

af
ft

im
e

-
$

32
7.

30

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
3/

7/
21

1:
30

-
3:

00
p.

m
.

2
in

at
te

nd
an

ce
P

or
tio

n
of

st
af

ft
im

e
-

$3
27

.3
0

Y
A

B
M

ee
tin

g
3/

21
/2

1
1:

30
-

3:
00

p.
m

.
2

in
at

te
nd

an
ce

P
or

tio
n

of
st

af
ft

im
e

-
$

32
7.

30

C
H

O
IC

E
S

20
21

3/
23

/2
1

7:
30

a.
m

.-
12

:0
0p

.m
.

15
in

at
te

nd
an

ce
P

or
tio

n
of

S
ta

ff
tim

e:
$6

50
.0

0

Y
ou

th
D

ia
lo

gu
e

D
ay

P
or

tio
n

of
Z

oo
m

co
st

:
$5

8.
90



In the past 30 days, 
94.6% of middle schoolers 
and 77.8% of high schoolers 
did NOT use alcohol 
99.7% of middle schoolers 
and 97.9% of high schoolers 
did NOT use cigarettes 
98.9% of middle schoolers 
and 98.9% of high schoolers 
did NOT misuse prescription 
drugs 
97.1% of middle schoolers 
and 80.4% of high schoolers 
did NOT use any e-cigarette 
or vaping device 
97.6% of middle schoolers 
and 85.6% of high schoolers 
did NOT use any e-cigarette 
or vaping device with       
nicotine 
98.2% of middle schoolers 
and 86.4% of high schoolers 
did NOT use any e-cigarette 
or vaping device with THC 
98.0% of middle schoolers 
and 92.0% of high schoolers 
did NOT use any e-cigarette 
or vaping device with flavor 
only 

 

 

Survey Background 
Data was obtained from the 2019 Birmingham Bloomfield Student Survey. The 2018-2019 PRIDE national survey 

was one national benchmark used. 2019 Monitoring the Future (MTF) data was also used as a national benchmark. 
For Birmingham Bloomfield data, High school students consist of 9th –12th grade students, and Middle school 

students consist of 8th grade students. Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. 

The Birmingham Bloomfield Community Coalition (BBCC) takes a research driven, youth-led 
approach to substance abuse prevention, health, and wellness. BBCC and the Youth Action 
Board (YAB), its high school teen group, provide education, tools, activities, and support to 

help youth rise above life’s challenges by making informed decisions about their safety, 
health and wellness, as well as encouraging adults to thoughtfully support them. 

Most Youth are not using substances 
Those youth that do use substances are more likely to have mental health issues 
Friend are the most influential when it comes to youth substance use 

                              High School Students 
 
Alcohol 
Nearly 8.out of 10 Birmingham        
Bloomfield high school students did      
not drink alcohol in the past 30 days.  
 
 
Cigarettes 
Nearly 10 out of 10 Birmingham     
Bloomfield high school students did     
not smoke cigarettes in the past 30 
days. 
 
 
Prescription Drugs 
Nearly 10 out of 10 Birmingham     
Bloomfield high school students did  
not misuse prescription drugs in the 
past 30 days.  
 
 

Any Vaping 
8 out of 10 Birmingham Bloomfield  
high school students did not use      
any e-cigarette or vaping device in    
the past 30 days. 
 
 

Vaping Nicotine 
More than 8.5 out of 10 Birmingham 
Bloomfield high school students did     
not use any e-cigarette or vaping  
device with nicotine in the past 30 days. 
 

Vaping THC (Marijuana) 
More than 8.5 out of 10 Birmingham 
Bloomfield high school students did  
not use any e-cigarette or vaping   
device with THC in the past 30 days. 
 

Vaping Flavor Only 
More than 9 out of 10 Birmingham   
Bloomfield high school students did   
not use any e-cigarette or vaping   
device with flavor only in the past 30 
days. 

MOST 
Middle and High School 

Students are NOT  
Using Drugs & Alcohol 

2019 BIRMINGHAM 
BLOOMFIELD  
KEY FINDINGS REPORT 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS



Past 30 Day Use 

  

The graphs below depict past 30 day use of alcohol, cigarette, 
and prescription drugs for high school and middle school     

students compared to the national benchmark.   

High School and Middle School  

Past 30 day use of alcohol, cigarettes 
and prescription drugs for high school 
students is lower than the national 
comparison. 

Past 30 day use of alcohol, cigarettes 
and prescription drugs for middle 
school students is lower than the     
national comparison. 

Past 30 day us is lower for high school 
and middle school students combined 
than the national comparison with the 
exception of alcohol.  

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 



Past 30 Day Use: Vaping 

  

The graphs below depict past 30 day use of e-cigarettes or 
vape devices for 8th, 10th, and 12th grade students compared 

to the national Monitoring the Future benchmark.   

8th, 10th, and 12th Grade Students 
 

Past 30 day use any vape product 
(nicotine, THC, and flavor only) is 
lower than the national comparison 
Past 30 day use of vaping with     
nicotine is lower than the national 
comparisons. 
Past 30 day for vaping with THC is 
lower for 8th and 10th grade        
students but higher for 12th grade 
students compared to the national 
comparisons. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 



 

High school 
students  

(32.0%) are 
more often in 

the presence of 
those who are 

vaping than 
middle school 

students (9.9%)  

 
Birmingham Bloomfield youth were asked how 

easy it was to get vaping products and how often 
they had been in the presence of others who vape 

or use e-cigarettes. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

Almost half of high 
school students 

(46.6%) report that 
it is fairly easy or 
very easy to get 
vaping products 

whereas, less than 
one-forth (24.1%) 
of middle school 

states report that it 
is fairly or very 

easy to get vaping 
products. 



Youth Perceptions of Use 

The ൽrgesං percepංion gൽp is between 
actual use and perceived typical student 

use for vൽping nicoංine.  

The smൽesං percepංion gൽp is between 
actual use and typical student  

prescripංion drug use. 

 
Mൽnඃ ඃouංh over-esංimൽංe ංhe prevൽence of subsංൽnce use ൽmong 

ංheir peers, which puංs ංhem ൽං greൽංer risൿ for using subsංൽnces 
ංhemseves. 

While most students are 
not using substances, 

many believe their 
friends and the typical 

student are using  
substances. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

Alcohol CigareƩes Vapes -  
NicoƟne 

Vapes -  
THC 

Vapes -  
Flavor Only Any Vapes RX Drugs  

n = 795  n = 76 n = 522 n = 490 n = 288 n = 706 n = 80 YOU 

n = 1993 n = 668 n = 2084 n = 1891 n = 1651 n = 2235 n = 450 Perceived Friend Use  

n = 2684 n = 1197 n = 2969 n = 2710 n = 2597 n = 3027 n = 1109 Perceived Typical Student Use 

Birmingham Bloomfield youth were asked if they have used substances the past 
30 days, as well as if they believed their friends and the typical students in their 

school had used in the past 30 days. 



 

Top In uences 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

Alcohol Top Influences 
#1 Perceived Friend Use 
#2  PercepƟon of Harm - Underage Drinking 
#3  Perceived Typical Student Use 
#4  Student PercepƟon Risk (Binge) 
#5  Clear Home Rules on Alcohol/Drug use 
#6  Club/group parƟcipaƟon 
#7  Typical Student PercepƟon of  Harm—Underage 
Drinking 
#8   Thoughts of Self-Harm (Past Month) 
#9   Friend Disapproval 
#10 Sports 

PrescripƟon Drug Top Influences 
#1 Perceived Friends' Use 

#2 PercepƟon of Harm 

#3 Thoughts of Self-Harm (Past Month) 

#4  Friend Disapproval 

#5 Perceived Typical Student Use 

#7  Club/group parƟcipaƟon 

#6 PercepƟon of Risk 

Vaping THC (Marijuana) Top Influences 

#1 Perceived Friends' Use 
#2 Friend Disapproval 
#3 Typical Student PercepƟon of Harm – Try once or 
twice 
#4 Confidence to resist 
#5 Being in the presence of others who vape 
(Frequency) 
#6 PercepƟon of Harm – Occasional Use 
#7 PercepƟon of Harm – Try once or twice 
#8 Perceived Typical Student Use 
#9 PercepƟon of Harm – Everyday 
#10 Sports 

Vaping NicoƟne Top Influences 
#1 PercepƟon of Harm – Occasional Use 
#2 Being in the presence of others who vape  
#3 Perceived Friends’ Use 
#4 Confidence to resist 
#5 Typical Student PercepƟon of Harm – Occasional 
Use 
#6  Perceived Typical Student Use 
#7 Friend Disapproval 
#8  Clear Home Rules on Alcohol/Drug use 
#9 Sports 
#10 PercepƟon of Risk – Everyday 

CigareƩe Top Influences 
#1 Perceived Friends' Use 

#2 Friend Disapproval 

#3 Parent Disapproval 

 
 

Most influential factors        
regarding teen substance 

misuse. 
 

 
Perception of friend 

use and friend       
disapproval are top 

influences for all    
substances. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
1 out of 2 Birmingham Bloomfield 
students report feeling so anxious 
or stressed they found it difficult to 
do everyday acƟviƟes during the 
last month. 

17.4% (n = 782) of Birmingham 
Bloomfield students report having 
thoughts of self-harm in the last 
month. 

 

Students were asked about their mental health and suicide.  
Higher levels of depression, anxiety, other mental illnesses are strongly related 

to thoughts and attempts of suicide.  Addressing mental heath issues 
 is essential for reducing suicide amongst students. 

Youth Mental Health 

Birmingham Bloomfield teachers, administrators, counselors and parents 
need resources that make them aware of the signs and symptoms of       

depression, suicidal ideation and behaviors, as well as contact information 
for professionals who can help. Birmingham Bloomfield would also benefit 

from a mental health awareness and anti-stigma campaign. 
2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 



 

Students who reported that past year alcohol use are 
2.1 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to report feeling so anxious or stressed, 
they found it difficult to do their work, take care of things at home, 
and/or get along with other people, compared to those that did 
not use alcohol.  

 

For 12th grade students who reported past 30 day alcohol use, 
they were also 2 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to be depressed and  anxious. 
Overall, 762 Birmingham Bloomfield students experienced both 
anxiety and alcohol use in the past year.   

Mental Health & 
Substance Misuse 

 
Comorbidity and co-occurring disorders can describe when an individual has both a mental illness and is 
struggling with a drug or alcohol use disorder. Based off research provided by the NaƟonal InsƟtute on 
Drug Abuse, around 50% of those who struggle with substance use will also experience mental illness 
and vice versa. This is also true for youth. Over 60% of adolescences who are currently in treatment pro-
grams for  substance use are also diagnosed with co-occurring mental health disorder1. 

(1) NIDA. 2020, May 28. Part 1: The ConnecƟon Between Substance Use Disorders and Mental Illness. Retrieved from hƩps://www.drugabuse.gov/
publicaƟons/research-reports/common-comorbidiƟes-substance-usedisorders/part-1-connecƟon-between-substance-use-disorders-mental-illness on 2020. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

12th  grade students who reported past 30 day “vape use 
with THC for the purpose of geƫng high,” were also more 
than 2 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to report they were depressed, 
anxious or had thoughts of self-harm. 

Students who reported past 30 day 
vape use with nicoƟne, were also 
more than 2 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to 
report they were depressed.  

 

Gender and Mental Health 
Females were 2.6 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to report that they felt “So overly 
anxious or stressed they found it difficult to do their work, take care of 
things at home, and/or get along with other people” compared to those 
who did not idenƟfy as female. 

Students who idenƟfied as Transgender, were 4.3 Ɵmes MORE LIKELY to 
have thoughts of self-harm compared to those who did not idenƟfy as 
Transgender. 

Alcohol and Mental Health 

Vaping and Mental Health 



Youth Perceptions of Disapproval 
Birmingham Bloomfield youth were asked about their friends’ and parents’ percepƟon of teen drug 

and alcohol use on a scale from not wrong, a liƩle wrong, wrong, to very wrong.  
Disapproval is categorized as wrong and very wrong.  

Higher percepƟons of disapproval oŌen result in lower use of substances, therefore, 
it is beneficial that Birmingham Bloomfield youth have higher disapproval than  

naƟonal benchmarks.  

MOST 
YOUTH 

think friends & parents 
disapprove of 

drug & alcohol use 

MMiddle School  
Students 

 
Pൽrenං & friend disൽpprovൽ 

for 8ංh grൽde sංudenංs is 
higher ංhൽn ංhe nൽංionൽ 

percepංions. 
 

Birmingham Bloomfield 8th 
grade students perceived 

parent disapproval of  
alcohol, marijuana, ciga-
rettes, and prescription 

drugs at 95% or higher, and 
friend disapproval at 85% 

or higher.  

Birminghൽm Boomfied 
high schoo ඃouංh         

percepංions of pൽrenංs’ 
ൽnd friends’ disൽpprovൽ 
ൽre higher ංhൽn nൽංionൽ 

percepංions. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

 



 

Perception of Risk 
Birmingham Bloomfield youth were asked about their percepƟon of drug and alcohol risk 
of harm on a scale from no risk, slight risk, moderate risk, to great risk. Risk is categorized  

as moderate risk and great risk.  
 

Higher percepංions of risൿ ofංen resuං in ower use of  subsංൽnces, 
ංherefore, iං is ideൽ ංo hൽve percepංions higher or compൽrൽbe ංo 

nൽංionൽ benchmൽrൿs.   

Birmingham Bloomfield high school  
students percepƟons of risk are higher 

than naƟonal percepƟons for marijuana, 
alcohol, cigareƩes, & prescripƟon drugs. 

MOST YOUTH 
Think the risk associated with  alcohol, 

cigareƩes, and prescripƟon drug  
misuse is moderate or great risk. 

2019 BIRMINGHAM BLOOMFIELD KEY FINDINGS 

 Contact Us 
Birmingham Bloomfield  

Community Coalition  
248.203.4615 

office@bbcoalition.org 
1525 Covington Road 

Bloomfield Hills, MI 48301  
https://bbcoalition.org/ 

Find Us on Social Media 
 

@BBCoalition.YAB 

@teamBBCC  

@teamyab 



SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made this ____ day of ____________, 2021

by and between the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, having its principal office at 151 Martin Road, 

Birmingham, MI 48009 ("CITY"), and Birmingham Youth Assistance Committee, whose address is 

2436 W. Lincoln, Suite F102, Birmingham, MI  48009 ("SERVICE PROVIDER"), provides as follows:

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to have certain services provided, which shall be of the type, 

nature and extent as set forth on Attachment A; and

WHEREAS, SERVICE PROVIDER desires to provide said services for the CITY, which it shall 

do in accordance with the experience it has attained from providing similar services of this nature, 

under the terms and conditions hereinafter stated.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the respective agreements and 

undertakings herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

1. SERVICE PROVIDER shall perform the services as set forth on Attachment A.  The 

type, nature and scope may be changed if mutually agreed upon in writing by SERVICE PROVIDER 

and the CITY.

2. The CITY shall pay a total of $18,000.00 to SERVICE PROVIDER for the performance 

of this Agreement, which amount shall compensate SERVICE PROVIDER for all aspects of the 

services to be performed including, but not limited to, all preparation, coordination, management, 

staffing and all other services incidental thereto.  Payment shall be made to SERVICE PROVIDER 

pursuant to the schedule contained in Attachment A.

3. All services performed shall be of the highest quality and standards that meet or 

exceed that which is required and expected in that service industry. 



-2-

4. SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide and designate one supervisor responsible for the 

coordination of services provided, who shall handle problem solving and be the contact person for 

the CITY. 

5. This Agreement shall commence immediately after both parties have signed in the 

place and manner indicated below and shall terminate in accordance with the provisions as set forth 

in Attachment A.

6. This Agreement shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.  SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to perform all 

services provided for in this Agreement in accordance with and in full compliance with all local, state 

and federal laws and regulations.

7. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 

provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other provisions shall remain in full force and 

effect.

8. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties 

hereto, but no such assignment shall be made by SERVICE PROVIDER without the prior written 

consent of the CITY.  Any attempt at assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of

no effect.

9. SERVICE PROVIDER agrees that neither it nor its employees will discriminate against 

any employee, independent contractor, or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, 

terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to 

employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital 

status.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform the CITY of all claims or suits asserted against it by 

SERVICE PROVIDER’s employees or contractors who work pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE 



-3-

PROVIDER shall provide the CITY with periodic status reports concerning all such claims or suits, at 

intervals established by the CITY.

10. To the fullest extent permitted by law, SERVICE PROVIDER and any entity or person 

for whom SERVICE PROVIDER is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay 

on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the CITY, its elected and appointed officials, employees 

and volunteers and others working on behalf of the CITY against any and all claims, demands, suits, 

or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including reasonable attorney fees, and for any 

damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the CITY, its elected and 

appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY, which arises out 

of or is in any way connected or associated with this Agreement.  Such responsibility shall not be 

construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting solely from the act or omission of the CITY, 

its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY.

11. SERVICE PROVIDER shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has, at 

its sole expense, obtained the insurance required by this paragraph.  All certificates of insurance 

shall be with insurance carriers licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Michigan.  All 

certificates of insurance shall be with insurance carriers acceptable to the CITY.  SERVICE PROVIDER 

shall maintain during the life of this Agreement the types of insurance coverage and minimum limits 

as set forth below:

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this contract, Workers' Compensation Insurance, 
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes of the State of Michigan.

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure 
and maintain during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability 
Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of liability not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence for combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily 
Injury and Property Damage.  Coverage shall include the following 
extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; 
(C) Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability 



-4-

Extensions or equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if applicable.

C. Motor Vehicle Liability: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and maintain 
during the life of this Agreement Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including 
all applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of liability of not less than $ 
1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage.  Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, 
and all hired vehicles.

D. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability 
Insurance, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the 
following shall be Additional Insureds:  The City of Birmingham, including all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, 
commissions and/or authorities and board members, including employees 
and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary and any other 
insurance maintained by the additional insureds shall be considered to be 
excess and non-contributing with this insurance required from SERVICE 
PROVIDER under this Section.

E. Cancellation Notice:  Workers' Compensation Insurance, Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, as described above, 
shall include an endorsement stating the following: "Thirty (30) days 
Advance Written Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal shall be sent to: 
Finance Department, City of Birmingham, P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012.

F. Proof of Insurance Coverage: SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide the CITY at 
the time the contracts are returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance 
and/or policies, acceptable to the CITY, as listed below.

1. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation;

2. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General 
Liability;

3. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability 
Insurance;

4. If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will 
be furnished.

G. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term of 
this Agreement, SERVICE PROVIDER shall deliver renewal certificates and/or 
policies to the CITY at least (10) days prior to the expiration date.



-5-

12. If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any official of the CITY or spouse, child, 

parent or in-law, of such official or employee shall become directly or indirectly interested in this 

Agreement, or the affairs of SERVICE PROVIDER, the CITY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement without further liability to SERVICE PROVIDER if the disqualification has not been 

removed within thirty (30) days after the CITY has given SERVICE PROVIDER notice of the 

disqualifying interest.  Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity interest 

in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest.  Employment shall be a 

disqualifying interest.

13. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach 

thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th

District Court or by arbitration.   If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it 

shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan and 

administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three 

arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000.  Each party shall bear its own costs 

and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and administrative fees of arbitration.  Such 

arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL §600.5001 et. seq., and the Oakland 

County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render judgment upon the award of the 

arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 

State of Michigan and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan.  In the event that 

the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may 

be resolved by the filing of a suit in the Oakland County Circuit Court or the 48th District Court.  

14. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto 

pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 

understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, of the parties, except as 



-6-

specifically set forth herein.  No supplement, modification, addition, deletion or waiver of this 

Agreement or any provision of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both 

parties to be bound thereby.

15. SERVICE PROVIDER and the CITY agree that SERVICE PROVIDER shall be liable for 

its own actions and neither SERVICE PROVIDER nor its employees or contractors shall be construed 

as employees of the CITY.  Neither party, by virtue of this Agreement, shall have any right, power or 

authority to act or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other party, except as 

specifically outlined herein.  SERVICE PROVIDER, including its employees and contractors, shall not 

be considered entitled or eligible to participate in any benefits or privileges given or extended by the 

CITY, or be deemed an employee of the CITY for purposes of federal or state withholding taxes, 

FICA taxes, unemployment, workers' compensation and other employer contributions on behalf of 

SERVICE PROVIDER or SERVICE PROVIDER's employees or contractors.

16. SERVICE PROVIDER acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this 

Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary information (including, but not limited to, internal 

organization, methodology, personnel and financial information, etc.) may become involved.  

SERVICE PROVIDER recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such confidential or proprietary 

information could irreparably damage the CITY.  Therefore, the SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to use 

reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to prevent the 

unauthorized use or disclosure thereof.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform its employees and 

contractors of the confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access 

thereto to employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE PROVIDER further 

agrees to use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing 

services pursuant to this Agreement.





ATTACHMENT A – Birmingham Youth Assistance 

I. Funding Request:  2021/2022 $18,000 
 

II. Amount of funding received from city in current fiscal year:  $18,000 
 

III. Organization’s Purpose or Mission with Emphasis on how Organization Serves the City: 

The mission of Birmingham Youth Assistance is to strengthen youth and families and to reduce the 
incidence of delinquency, abuse and neglect through community involvement. BYA is a partnership 
of the Oakland County Circuit Court – Family Division; the City of Birmingham and the Villages of 
Beverly Hills, Bingham Farms and Franklin; the Birmingham Public Schools; and community 
volunteers. 
Birmingham Youth Assistance implements its mission through a two-part program. The first 
component provides family-focused casework services to youth and families residing within the 
boundaries of the Birmingham Public School District. The second component is various volunteer-
based programs, described below. 

 
IV. Date(s) of Services(s): July 1, 2020 – June 30, 2021 

 
V. Description of Services to be Provided (Scope of Work): 

 
A. Casework/Counseling 

 
Short-term counseling and casework services, offered year-round, available during and after 
school hours, for youth and their families referred by police, school counselors or 
administrators, or parents. 
 
These services include both preventing juvenile offenses and diverting at-risk youth from 
the court system, saving the community the costs of prosecution and incarceration. 
 
In 2019, Birmingham Youth Assistance’s caseworker referrals continued at a steady rate 
from both the schools and the Birmingham Police Department.  Casework services have 
expanded to incorporate more group work and training to help accommodate the increased 
number of complex referrals. Of the 87 new referrals, 33 were from the Birmingham Police 
Department. 
 

 Additionally, the caseworker has responsibility for local children re-entering the 
community upon completion of formal court placement. BYA had two for 2019. 

 
Birmingham Youth Assistance continues to retain its full-time County-paid caseworker 
(not the situation for all Youth Assistance communities) to meet these needs, thanks to 
strong support from our municipalities, schools, and BYA volunteers. 

  
 
 
 

B. Prevention Programs and Positive Alternatives, including: 
 

Camp – Camp Scholarships for children from families in financial and/or emotional need. 
 



Youth Enrichment Program – Designed to assist caseload families and provide skill building 
opportunities to their children. This includes but is not limited to: after school tutoring, 
special camps or clubs, and after school activities. These funds are also used to help offset 
the costs of boot camp and/or treatment based modalities. 
 
Support Groups for Children & Youth – After-school and/or evening support groups may be 
offered to children and youth struggling with divorce, anger, anxiety, and peer relationships. 
 
Family Education – Teaching parenting skills through classes and workshops. This also 
provides for group classes offered to youth and parents. 
 
Mentors Plus – This is a county based one-to-one program that matches youth who need 
an extra-supportive relationship with a positive adult role model. 
 
Shoplifting Program – A program for fifth grade classes that included a nationally recognized 
video and presentations by a police school-liaison officer and the Birmingham Youth 
Assistance caseworker. 
 
Youth – in – Service Recognition – A recognition program to honor youth in the community 
for performing outstanding volunteer service. 

 
C. Public Relations and Events for Children and Families: 
 

Some of these events charge an admittance fee to reduce program costs, but the main focus 
is to raise awareness of Birmingham Youth Assistance in the community and what BYA offers 
local youth and families, while providing a family fun event. 
 
Breakfast with Santa – An annual seasonal event for young children and their families. Non-
caseload youth and their families pay for the breakfast, which often is their first exposure 
to Birmingham Youth Assistance, in a positive setting. 
 
Kids’ Dog Show – this annual event features a “Best in Show” trophy, ribbons, and a T-shirt 
design contest, targeting pre-school, elementary and middle school age children and their 
families. 
 
Touch-a-Truck – An annual family-oriented event for pre-school and elementary school age 
children, it features a variety of commercial and local municipality vehicles. 
 
Birmingham Farmer’s Market and Day on the Town – BYA volunteers donate time to help 
run the Kid’s Zone which entails providing a craft for young children while sharing the BYA 
mission with parents and patrons of these community wide events. 

 
D. Fundraising: 

 
BYA RedRasier – Our RedRaisers are our signature fundraising events developed to help 
raise funds for programming.  Our plan is to offer these events annually or bi-annually as 
the opportunity arises. 

 Summer Concert 
 Hazel, Ravine and Downtown 

 
 



VI. Describe Direct Benefit of Services to Birmingham Residents: 
 
Through its intervention and prevention programs, Birmingham Youth Assistance helps prevent and 
reduce juvenile delinquency, child abuse and child neglect in this community. 
 
The services of Birmingham Youth Assistance continues to relieve the City of Birmingham from 
providing these vital services directly using City personnel and facilities, and saves the much greater 
costs of sending these youth through the court and corrections facilities. An average stay at 
Children’s Village is $30,420 vs. $300 for BYA services. 
 
Birmingham Youth Assistance is a unique and irreplaceable asset in the community. We are proud 
to celebrate more than 50 years of serving the Birmingham Community. 

 
VII. Provide a detailed list of services provided in the 2020-2021 Fiscal Year (July 1, 2020 – June 30, 

2021). Include the following for each quarter: 
 Explanation of how the funds were used 
 Explanation of the service provided 
 Date/Time services provided 
 Number of Birmingham residents in attendance/effected by service 

 
First Quarter (July 1, 2020 – September 30, 2020) 

 Explanation of how funds are used: 
o Operational expenses - $1027.23 
o Program & Event Expenses: 

 Camperships   $610.00 
 Emergency Needs  $673.00 

Total expense   $2310.23 
 

Second Quarter October 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020) 
 Explanation of how funds are used: 

o Operational expenses -  $3667.19 
o Program & Event Expenses: 

 Kids Dog Show Material  $82.09  
Total Expense   $3749.28 
 

Third Quarter( January 1, 2021 – March 31, 2021) 
 Explanation of how funds are used: 

o Operational expenses -    $1200.53 
o Program & Event Expenses: 

 Annual Report   $62.00 
 Total expense     $1262.53 

 
 Explanation of the service provided 

 

Fourth Quarter( January 1, 2021 – March 31, 2021) 
 Explanation of how funds are used: 

o Operational expenses -    $3472.42 
o Program & Event Expenses: 

 Breakfast with Santa  $1218.59 
 Youth In Service Awards  $797.90 



 Camp Scholarships  $3346.75 
 Kids Dog Show Supplies  570.77 

 Total expense     $9406.43 
 
Short-term counseling and casework services, offered year-round, available during and after school 
hours, for youth and their families referred by police, school counselors, administrators, or parents.  
*Birmingham Youth Assistance Casework/Counseling services are currently being provided 
remotely due to the physical building/office closure related to Covid 19 and compliance with CDC 
requirements, since March 2020 and ongoing at this time.  Through technology, families are 
receiving counseling contacts, appointments, education, resources, and continued services that 
includes additional support from stressors families have experienced related to the pandemic. 

 These services include both preventing juvenile offenses and diverting at-risk youth from 
the court system, saving the community the costs of prosecution and incarceration. 

 Additionally, the caseworker has responsibility for local children re-entering the community 
and school upon completion of formal court placement. 

Birmingham Youth Assistance continues to retain its full-time County-paid caseworker (not the 
situation for all Youth Assistance communities) to meet these needs of local youth and families, 
thanks to strong support from our municipalities, schools, and BYA volunteers. 

**Community Programming Service 
Due to Covid-19 most community programming was cancelled or limited which included 
Youth Service Recognition, Camp, Touch A Truck, Red Raiser fundraising event and the 
Farmers Market Kid Zone. 

 

   
 

Name of Organization:  Birmingham Youth Assistance  
 

 
VIII. Provide a detailed list of services provided in the 2020-2021 Fiscal Year (July 1, 2020 – 

June 30, 2021). Attach additional sheets if necessary.  Include the following for each 

quarter: 

 
  Date & Timeframe of each service provided 

 

  Explanation of the service provided 
 
  Number of Birmingham residents in attendance/effected by service 

 

  Explanation of how the funds were used 
 
 
 
NOTE:  Organizations receiving funding are required to provide invoices to the City for services 
coinciding with the timing of the delivery of those services. 

 
 
Submitted by:  Richard Stasys  (Print 

Name) 



Title:  Treasurer  
 

 
 

  
Signature:                                                           Date:  06/25/2021



Name of Organization:        Birmingham Youth Assistance                                               

First Quarter (July 1, 2020– September 30, 2020)

Name and Explanation of 

Program/Service

Date of 

Service

Duration of Service 

(timeframe)

Cost of 

Program/Servic

e

# Total 

Participants

# of 

Birmingham 

Participants

Breakdown of funds used for 

Program/Service

Midcourse Challenge Camp - weekend overnight 

program
7/24-7/26 3 days  $                 499.00 1 1 Program $499.  BYA - $250

Birmingham YMCA Day Camp 7/29-7/31 3 days  $                 360.00 2 2 BYA $360

Caseload Youth Bike Repair - skill building 9/29/2020 1 day 60.00$                   1 1 BYA $60

Caseload Family Emergency Need - vehicle repair 29-Sep 1 time  $                 613.05 6 6 OCYACC Emergency Need $500, BYA 

scholarship $113.05

Casework Youth & family Short Term Counseling 7/1-9/30 ongoing 81 81

Second Quarter (October 1, 2020 – December 31, 2020)

Name and Explanation of 

Program/Service

Date of 

Service

Duration of Service 

(timeframe)

Cost of 

Program/Servic

e

# Total 

Participants

# of 

Birmingham 

Participants

Breakdown of funds used for 

Program/Service

Casework Youth & family Short Term Counseling 10/1-12/31 ongoing 78 78

BYA PPE equip/materials and caseworker/client 

therapeutic materials

ongoing 

clients

one time purchase 1999.74 ongoing clients BYA - $1999.74

Kids Dog Show Materials N/A one time purchase 82.09 n/a BYA - 82.09

Name of Organization:            Birmingham Youth Assistance                                                                                

Third Quarter (January 1, 2021 – March 31, 2021)

Name and Explanation of 

Program/Service

Date of 

Service

Duration of Service 

(timeframe)

Cost of 

Program/Servic

e

# Total 

Participants

# of 

Birmingham 

Participants

Breakdown of funds used for 

Program/Service

Casework Youth & Family Short Term 1/1-3/31 onging 83 83

*Due to Covid19 most community programming 

was cancelled

Fourth Quarter (April 1, 2021 – June 30, 2021)

Name and Explanation of 

Program/Service

Date of 

Service

Duration of Service 

(timeframe)

Cost of 

Program/Servic

e

# Total 

Participants

# of 

Birmingham 

Participants

Breakdown of funds used for 

Program/Service

Camp Scholarships to various daycamps 6/28-8/23 5- 10 days 3346.75 16 16 1799 YMCA, 1406 BCE, 141.75 Camp

Awards Presented to students for community 

service during pandemic

6/1-6/10 6 weeks 797.9 11 Youth 6 adults 17 600 Cash Winner, $120 Amazon Cards, 377.90 

photo with back drop

Breakfast with Santa & Presents 5-Dec 6 hours 1218.59 120 youths, 240 

adults

120 youths, 240 

adults

500 Townsend Deposit, $718.59 supplies 

Casework Youth & family short term 4/1-6/30 ongoing 4043.19 83 83 operational costs



SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made this ____ day of ____________, 2021

by and between the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, having its principal office at 151 Martin Road, 

Birmingham, MI 48009 ("CITY"), and Common Ground, whose address is 1410 S. Telegraph, 

Bloomfield Hills, MI  48302 ("SERVICE PROVIDER"), provides as follows:

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to have certain services provided, which shall be of the type, 

nature and extent as set forth on Attachment A; and

WHEREAS, SERVICE PROVIDER desires to provide said services for the CITY, which it shall 

do in accordance with the experience it has attained from providing similar services of this nature, 

under the terms and conditions hereinafter stated.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the respective agreements and 

undertakings herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

1. SERVICE PROVIDER shall perform the services as set forth on Attachment A.  The 

type, nature and scope may be changed if mutually agreed upon in writing by SERVICE PROVIDER 

and the CITY.

2. The CITY shall pay a total of $1,500.00 to SERVICE PROVIDER for the performance of 

this Agreement, which amount shall compensate SERVICE PROVIDER for all aspects of the services 

to be performed including, but not limited to, all preparation, coordination, management, staffing 

and all other services incidental thereto.  Payment shall be made to SERVICE PROVIDER pursuant to 

the schedule contained in Attachment A.

3. All services performed shall be of the highest quality and standards that meet or 

exceed that which is required and expected in that service industry. 



4. SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide and designate one supervisor responsible for the 

coordination of services provided, who shall handle problem solving and be the contact person for 

the CITY. 

5. This Agreement shall commence immediately after both parties have signed in the 

place and manner indicated below and shall terminate in accordance with the provisions as set forth 

in Attachment A.

6. This Agreement shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.  SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to perform all 

services provided for in this Agreement in accordance with and in full compliance with all local, state 

and federal laws and regulations.

7. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 

provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other provisions shall remain in full force and 

effect.

8. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties 

hereto, but no such assignment shall be made by SERVICE PROVIDER without the prior written 

consent of the CITY.  Any attempt at assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of 

no effect.

9. SERVICE PROVIDER agrees that neither it nor its employees will discriminate against 

any employee, independent contractor, or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, 

terms, conditions or privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to

employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital 

status.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform the CITY of all claims or suits asserted against it by 

SERVICE PROVIDER’s employees or contractors who work pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE 



PROVIDER shall provide the CITY with periodic status reports concerning all such claims or suits, at 

intervals established by the CITY.

10. To the fullest extent permitted by law, SERVICE PROVIDER and any entity or person 

for whom SERVICE PROVIDER is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay 

on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the CITY, its elected and appointed officials, employees 

and volunteers and others working on behalf of the CITY against any and all claims, demands, suits, 

or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including reasonable attorney fees, and for any 

damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the CITY, its elected and 

appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY, which arises out 

of or is in any way connected or associated with this Agreement.  Such responsibility shall not be 

construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting solely from the act or omission of the CITY, 

its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of the CITY.

11. SERVICE PROVIDER shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has, at 

its sole expense, obtained the insurance required by this paragraph.  All certificates of insurance 

shall be with insurance carriers licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Michigan.  All 

certificates of insurance shall be with insurance carriers acceptable to the CITY.  SERVICE PROVIDER 

shall maintain during the life of this Agreement the types of insurance coverage and minimum limits 

as set forth below:

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and 
maintain during the life of this contract, Workers' Compensation Insurance, 
including Employers Liability Coverage, in accordance with all applicable 
statutes of the State of Michigan.

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure 
and maintain during the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability 
Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of liability not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence for combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily 
Injury and Property Damage.  Coverage shall include the following 
extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; 
(C) Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability 



Extensions or equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if applicable.

C. Motor Vehicle Liability: SERVICE PROVIDER shall procure and maintain 
during the life of this Agreement Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including 
all applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of liability of not less than $ 
1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage.  Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, 
and all hired vehicles.

D. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability 
Insurance, as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the 
following shall be Additional Insureds:  The City of Birmingham, including all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, 
commissions and/or authorities and board members, including employees 
and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary and any other 
insurance maintained by the additional insureds shall be considered to be 
excess and non-contributing with this insurance required from SERVICE 
PROVIDER under this Section.

E. Cancellation Notice:  Workers' Compensation Insurance, Commercial General 
Liability Insurance and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, as described above, 
shall include an endorsement stating the following: "Thirty (30) days 
Advance Written Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal shall be sent to: 
Finance Department, City of Birmingham, P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, 
Birmingham, Michigan 48012.

F. Proof of Insurance Coverage: SERVICE PROVIDER shall provide the CITY at 
the time the contracts are returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance 
and/or policies, acceptable to the CITY, as listed below.

1. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation;

2. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General 
Liability;

3. Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability 
Insurance;

4. If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will 
be furnished.

G. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term of 
this Agreement, SERVICE PROVIDER shall deliver renewal certificates and/or 
policies to the CITY at least (10) days prior to the expiration date.



12. If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any official of the CITY or spouse, child, 

parent or in-law, of such official or employee shall become directly or indirectly interested in this 

Agreement, or the affairs of SERVICE PROVIDER, the CITY shall have the right to terminate this 

Agreement without further liability to SERVICE PROVIDER if the disqualification has not been 

removed within thirty (30) days after the CITY has given SERVICE PROVIDER notice of the 

disqualifying interest.  Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity interest 

in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest.  Employment shall be a 

disqualifying interest.

13. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach 

thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th

District Court or by arbitration.   If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it 

shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan and 

administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three 

arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000.  Each party shall bear its own costs 

and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and administrative fees of arbitration.  Such 

arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL §600.5001 et. seq., and the Oakland 

County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render judgment upon the award of the 

arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 

State of Michigan and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michigan.  In the event that 

the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may 

be resolved by the filing of a suit in the Oakland County Circuit Court or the 48th District Court.  

14. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto 

pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 

understandings, negotiations and discussions, whether oral or written, of the parties, except as 



specifically set forth herein.  No supplement, modification, addition, deletion or waiver of this 

Agreement or any provision of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both 

parties to be bound thereby.

15. SERVICE PROVIDER and the CITY agree that SERVICE PROVIDER shall be liable for 

its own actions and neither SERVICE PROVIDER nor its employees or contractors shall be construed 

as employees of the CITY.  Neither party, by virtue of this Agreement, shall have any right, power or 

authority to act or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other party, except as 

specifically outlined herein.  SERVICE PROVIDER, including its employees and contractors, shall not 

be considered entitled or eligible to participate in any benefits or privileges given or extended by the 

CITY, or be deemed an employee of the CITY for purposes of federal or state withholding taxes, 

FICA taxes, unemployment, workers' compensation and other employer contributions on behalf of 

SERVICE PROVIDER or SERVICE PROVIDER's employees or contractors.

16. SERVICE PROVIDER acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this 

Agreement, certain confidential and/or proprietary information (including, but not limited to, internal 

organization, methodology, personnel and financial information, etc.) may become involved.  

SERVICE PROVIDER recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such confidential or proprietary 

information could irreparably damage the CITY.  Therefore, the SERVICE PROVIDER agrees to use 

reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to prevent the 

unauthorized use or disclosure thereof.  SERVICE PROVIDER shall inform its employees and 

contractors of the confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access 

thereto to employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  SERVICE PROVIDER further 

agrees to use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing 

services pursuant to this Agreement.





1 

ATTACHMENT A 

I. Name of Organization: _____________________________________________________ 

II. Funding Request: _________________________________________________________

III. Amount of funding received from City in current fiscal year: _______________________

IV. Organization’s Purpose or Mission: ___________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

V. Description of Services to be provided (Scope of Work): __________________________ 

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________ 

VI. Explain the value of the services to the City of Birmingham: _______________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

VII. Provide a list of the other funding sources:  (List below. Attach additional sheet if necessary.)

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________________________________________________



2 

Name of Organization: _____________________________________________________ 

VIII. Provide a detailed list of services provided in the 2020-21 Fiscal Year (July 1, 2020 –
June 30, 2021).  Include the following for each quarter:

 Date & Time frame of each service provided

 Explanation of the service provided

 Number of Birmingham residents in attendance/effected by service

 Explanation of how the funds were used

(Use Attachment B to record the services.  Attach additional sheets if necessary.) 

NOTE:  Organizations receiving funding are required to provide invoices to the City for services 
coinciding with the timing of the delivery of those services. 

Submitted by: ___________________________  Title: _________________________________ 
(Print Name)

Signature: _______________________________________  Date: _______________________ 



Na
m

e 
of

 O
rg

an
iza

tio
n:

 _
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
 

Fi
rs

t Q
ua

rt
er

  (
Ju

ly
 1

, 2
0

– 
Se

pt
em

be
r 3

0,
 2

0
)

D
at

e 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e

(t
im

ef
ra

m
e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

Se
co

nd
 Q

ua
rt

er
  (

O
ct

ob
er

 1
, 2

0
 –

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
0

D
at

e 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e

(t
im

ef
ra

m
e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

AT
TA

CH
M

EN
T 

B 
C
om

m
on

G
ro
un
d

7/
20
20

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

3
3X

$6
70

=
20
10

8/
20
20

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

3
3X

$6
70

=
20
10

9/
20
20

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

1
1
X
$6
70

=
67
0

10
/2
02
0

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

2
2X

$6
70

=
13
40

11
/2
02
0

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

1
1
X
$6
70

=
67
0

12
/2
02
0

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

4
4X

$6
70

=
26
80



Na
m

e 
of

 O
rg

an
iza

tio
n:

 _
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
 

Th
ird

 Q
ua

rt
er

  (
Ja

nu
ar

y 
1,

 2
0

– 
M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
0

)
D

at
e 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e 

D
ur

at
io

n 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e
(t

im
ef

ra
m

e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

Fo
ur

th
 Q

ua
rt

er
  (

Ap
ril

1,
 2

0
 –

 J
un

e 
30

, 2
0

)
D

at
e 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
e 

D
ur

at
io

n 
of

 
Se

rv
ic

e
(t

im
ef

ra
m

e)

Ex
pl

ai
n 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 
N

um
be

r o
f B

irm
in

gh
am

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

in
 a

tt
en

da
nc

e 
or

 
af

fe
ct

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 

Br
ea

kd
ow

n 
of

 th
e 

fu
nd

s 
us

ed
 fo

r 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 

C
om

m
on

G
ro
un
d

1/
20
21

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

4
4
X
$6
70

=
26
80

2/
20
21

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

4
4
X
$6
70

=
26
80

3/
20
21

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

1
1
X
$6
70

=
67
0

5/
20
21

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

2
2X

$6
70

=
13
40

6/
20
21

C
ris
is
S
er
vi
ce
s

2
2X

$6
70

=
13
40



 MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: June 16, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Mark H. Clemence, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Contract Lane Painting - Pavement Markings 2021-22 
Addenda to Extend Hart Pavement Marking Striping Corporation 
and PK Contracting, Inc. Agreements 

INTRODUCTION: 
Latex paint based pavement markings are refreshed on city streets twice per year – during fall 
and spring.  There are two pavement marking classifications – handwork and longline pavement 
markings.  Handwork pavement markings consist of crosswalks, parking spaces, legends and 
symbols.  Long line pavement markings consist of white and yellow “longline” painting such as 
centerlines, solid white lane markers and bicycle paths.  Annual maintenance of pavement 
markings is identified in the Major Streets contract lane painting budget.  Longline pavement 
markings are applied only once per year (spring) while handwork markings are completed in both 
spring and fall.  Pavement markings that are not of a waterborne nature (polyurea, thermal 
plastic, etc.) are repaired as part of other contracts or requests for service. 

BACKGROUND: 
On July 18, 2019, the police department requested sealed invitations to bid (ITBs) on MITN for 
annual pavement markings for the 2019-20 fiscal year. Bids were publicly opened on August 1, 
2019.  Three bids were received for handwork for the fall of 2019 and spring of 2020 as follows: 

Hart Pavement Striping Fall 2019 $43,200.00 
Spring 2020  $64,000.00 
Total $107,000.00 

JV Contracting  Fall 2019 $59,624.00 
Spring 2020 $118,412.00 
Total $178,036.00 

PK Contracting, Inc. Fall 2019 $175,166.00 
Spring 2020 $331,189.50 
Total $507,335.50 

On September 16, 2019 the City Commission awarded a contract in the amount of $107,000 to 
Hart Pavement Striping Corporation for the fall 2019 and spring 2020 handwork painting duties. 
The work was satisfactorily completed.   

5K



As part of the same bid solicitation, proposals were also received for longline / centerline 
pavement markings for the spring of 2020 as follows: 

Hart Pavement Striping NO BID (vendor does not own equipment for longline work) 

JV Contracting  $12,695.00 

PK Contracting, INC. $10,027.00 

On September 16, 2019 the City Commission awarded a contract in the amount of $10,027.00 to 
PK Contracting for spring 2020 centerline painting markings.  The work was satisfactorily 
completed. 

The ITB from the August 1, 2019 bid opening and contracts (page 1 paragraph 7) provide for the 
City to offer the successful vendors an option to extend at the same rate for (2) additional years 
through mutual consent.  On September 14, 2020 the City Commission approved contract 
extensions for Hart Pavement Striping and PK Contracting, Inc. for the pavement marking services 
for the 2020-21 fiscal year.  The police department recommends extending the contract in the 
amount of $107,000.00 to Hart Pavement Striping Corporation for the fall 2021 and spring 2022 
handwork painting duties.  The police department also recommends extending the contract in the 
amount of $10,027.00 to PK Contracting for spring 2022 centerline painting markings.  Invitations 
to Bid will be solicited in the spring of 2022 for the 2022-23 fiscal year pavement marking projects. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The city attorney has prepared the attached Addendum to extend the Hart Pavement Striping 
Corporation pavement markings contract and the Addendum to extend the PK Contracting, Inc. 
pavement markings contract. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Sufficient funding is available in the 2021-22 major streets budget contract lane painting account 
for these expenditures.   

SUMMARY: 
Hart Pavement Striping Corporation has been providing pavement marking services for the City 
of Birmingham since 2003.  Hart Pavement Striping is a small locally owned company specializing 
in handwork (no centerline equipment) with a lower overhead and fewer clients.  Hart has served 
the City well and has always been responsive to City staff concerning any additions, deletions or 
alterations to contracts to ensure that the City receives the highest quality products and services. 

PK Contracting is an excellent vendor that has provided quality pavement markings to the City of 
Birmingham for decades.   

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Addendum to Extend the Hart Pavement Striping Corporation pavement markings

contract 
2. Addendum to Extend the PK Contracting, Inc. pavement markings contract
3. Invitation to Bid
4. Hart Pavement Striping Corporation – Attachment A (Agreement)



5. Hart Pavement Striping Corporation – Attachment B (Bidder’s Agreement)
6. Hart Pavement Striping Corporation – Attachment C (Cost Proposal – 2 pages)
7. Hart Pavement Striping Corporation – Attachment D (Iran Sanctions Act Vendor

Certification Form)
8. PK Contracting, Inc. Attachment A (Agreement)
9. PK Contracting, Inc. – Attachment B (Bidder’s Agreement)
10. PK Contracting, Inc. – Attachment C (Cost Proposal – 3 pages)
11. PK Contracting, Inc.  – Attachment D (Iran Sanctions Act Vendor Certification Form)

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the addendum to extend the contract for 2021-22 handwork pavement markings with 
Hart Pavement Striping Corporation in the amount of $107,000.00 for combined fall 2021 and 
spring 2022 applications; further to approve the addendum to extend the contract for pavement 
marking longlines with PK Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $10,027.00 for spring 2022 
pavement markings; further authorizing and directing the mayor and city clerk to sign the 
addenda on behalf of the city; further to authorize these budgeted expenditures from account 
number 202-303-001-937.0200. 











INVITATION TO BID 

Sealed bids endorsed “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20” will be received by the City of 
Birmingham, Michigan at the Office of City Clerk, 151 Martin Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, 
MI, 48012 until Tuesday, August 1, 2019 at 10:00 a.m., at which time the bids will be publicly 
opened and read. 

The descriptions for markings and quantities of items to be painted are indicated on the attached 
sheets.  The painting will include yellow, white, and blue glass beaded paint to meet or exceed 
Michigan Department of State Highway and Transportation specifications (waterborne).  Two 
price quotes are requested, one for the fall of 2019 and one for the spring of 2020.  Note that 
quantities differ between spring and fall items to be painted.  Additionally, the long line pavement 
markings are only applied during the spring of 2020, there are no yellow or white long line 
projects or bid forms for the fall of 2019.  This is not an all or none award, vendors may choose to 
bid for  long line only, handwork only, or may submit bids for the entire scope of work. THE 
STREETS ARE TO BE PAINTED DURING THE LATE NIGHT/EARLY MORNING HOURS WHEN VEHICULAR 
TRAFFIC IS MINIMAL. 

Materials and bids shall be submitted in accordance with the attached specifications and bid 
forms prepared by the Birmingham Police Department.  Materials and services must be 
delivered as detailed in accordance with the specifications contained in the Invitation to Bid 
(ITB).   

Specifications are available exclusively via the Michigan Intergovernmental Trade Network 
(MITN).* 

Bids must be submitted in a sealed envelope marked “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20”. 
The date and time of the bid opening must be marked on the envelope. 

The City of Birmingham reserves the right to reject any or all proposals and to waive any 
irregularity in a bid when deemed in the best interest of the City. 

The City of Birmingham may offer the successful vendor an option to extend at the same rate for 
two (2) additional years through mutual consent.   

The acceptance of any proposal made pursuant to this invitation shall not be binding upon the 
City until an agreement has been executed and a written purchase order has been delivered to 
the successful bidder. 

* The City of Birmingham is part of an organization called the Michigan Intergovernmental Trade Network (MITN),
a group of agencies that joined forces to create a regional bid notification system to notify companies of new bid 
opportunities.  Bids, quotations and proposals are posted online.  All vendors are encouraged to visit 
www.govbids.com and click on “The Michigan MITN System” link in order to register their company and gain access 
to new bids and proposals.  If you do not have internet access, please call 1-800-835-4603, to speak to a 
representative at IPT BidNet®, the technical support group that handles the MITN system. 

ATTACHMENT 1
44

http://www.govbids.com/


Submitted to MITN:  July 18, 2019 
Deadline for Submissions: August 1, 2019 at 10:00 a.m. 
Contact Person:  Ellen DeView, Staff & Services Coordinator 

Birmingham Police Department 
P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street 
Birmingham, MI 48012 
Phone:  (248) 530-1869 
Email: edeview@bhamgov.org 

The ITB, including the specifications, may be obtained online from the Michigan Inter-governmental Trade 
Network at http://www.mitn.info or at the City of Birmingham, 151 Martin St., Birmingham, Michigan, 
ATTN: Ellen DeView.   

ATTACHMENT 1 55

mailto:edeview@bhamgov.org
http://www.govbids.com/scripts/MITN/public/home1.asp


INVITATION TO BID 
For PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 

CONTENTS 
GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS ....................... 3 
INTRODUCTION ................................................................................... 5 
INVITATION TO SUBMIT A BID ............................................................. 6 
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS ................................................................ 6 
EVALUATION PROCEDURE AND CRITERIA ............................................. 7 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS ..................................................................... 7 
CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ....................................................... 8 
CITY RESPONSIBILITY .......................................................................8-9 
SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES ................................................................... 9 
INSURANCE .......................................................................................... 9 
CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE ............................................................. 9 
EXECUTION OF CONTRACT ................................................................... 9 
INDEMNIFICATION ............................................................................... 9 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST ..................................................................... 10 
EXAMINATION OF BID MATERIALS ...................................................... 10 
PROJECT TIMELINE ............................................................................ 10 
SCOPE OF WORK ................................................................................ 11 
ATTACHMENT A - AGREEMENT ....................................................... 12-17 
ATTACHMENT B - BIDDER’S AGREEMENT ............................................. 18 
ATTACHMENT C - COST PROPOSAL ................................................ 19-21 
ATTACHMENT D - IRAN SANCTIONS ACT VENDOR CERTIFICATION 

FORM ....................................................................................... 22 

ATTACHMENT 1 77



INVITATION TO BID 
For PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 

GENERAL CONDITIONS AND INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

All information requested of the vendor shall be entered in the appropriate space on the attached 
form(s).  Failure to do so may disqualify the bid. 

All information shall be entered in ink or typewritten.  Mistakes may be crossed out and 
corrections inserted before submission of the bid.  The person signing the bid shall initial 
corrections in ink. 

Corrections and/or modifications received after the closing time specified will not be accepted. 

All bids shall be signed by an authorized officer or employee of the bidder. 

Bids must be submitted by the date and at or prior to the time specified to be considered.  No late 
bids, telegraphic bids, telephone bids, or facsimile bids will be accepted. 

The City of Birmingham is exempt from State of Michigan and federal excise taxes. 

All proposals shall include the following information:  Vendor name, address, city, state, zip 
code, telephone number, and fax number. The company shall also provide the name, address, 
telephone number and e-mail address of an individual in their organization to whom notices and 
inquiries by the City should be directed as part of the bid. 

The City of Birmingham reserves the right: 

1. To award bids received on the basis of individual items, or group of items, or
on the entire list of items.

2. To reject any and all bids, or any part thereof.
3. To waive any informality in the bids received.
4. To accept the bid that the City Commission shall deem to be in the best

interest of City
of Birmingham.

ATTACHMENT 1 66



INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this ITB is to request sealed bids from qualified parties presenting their 
qualifications, capabilities and costs to provide PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 per the 
specifications on the attached sheets. 

The City of Birmingham, Michigan will grant to the successful bidder a purchase order for the 
following: 

PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 FALL 2019 HANDWORK 
PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 SPRING 2020 HANDWORK 

PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 SPRING 2020 LONG LINES / CENTER LINES 

For purposes of this Invitation to Bid the City of Birmingham will hereby be referred to as “City” 
and the vendor will hereby be referred to as “Contractor.” 

The City of Birmingham is accepting sealed bids from qualified vendors for the purchase of 
PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20.   

Bids for the purchase of PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 are requested in this Invitation to 
Bid.   

Bids, materials and services shall be submitted and delivered in accordance with the attached 
specifications, scope of work, and bid forms prepared by the City of Birmingham and contained 
in this Invitation to Bid (ITB). 

During the evaluation process, the City reserves the right to request additional information or 
clarification from bidders.  The City reserves the right to allow corrections of errors or 
omissions.  At the discretion of the City, vendors submitting bids may be requested to provide 
sample materials or equipment.  Vendors submitting bids may be requested to make oral 
presentations as part of the evaluation.  

It is anticipated the selection of a vendor will be completed by August 5, 2019.  A purchase 
order will be issued to the selected Contractor(s) following execution of the agreement(s).  

ATTACHMENT 1
88



INVITATION TO SUBMIT A BID

Proposals shall be submitted no later than August 1, 2019 at 10:00 a.m. to: 

City of Birmingham 
Attn: City Clerk 

151 Martin Street 
Birmingham, Michigan 48009 

One (1) original and one (1) copy of the proposal shall be submitted.  The bid should be firmly 
sealed in an envelope, which shall be clearly marked on the outside, “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 
2019-20”.  The date and time of the bid opening must also be marked on the envelope. 

Any bid received after the due date cannot be accepted and will be rejected and returned, 
unopened, to the bidder.   

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

1. Any and all forms requesting information from the bidder must be completed on the
attached forms contained herein (see Contractor’s Responsibilities).

2. Any request for clarification of this ITB shall be made in writing and delivered to: Ellen
DeView, (248) 530-1869, edeview@bhamgov.org, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin
Street, Birmingham, MI  48009.   Such request for clarification shall be delivered, in
writing, no later than 5 days prior to the deadline for submissions.

3. All bids must be submitted following the ITB format as stated in this document and shall
be subject to all requirements of this document including the instruction to respondents
and general information sections. All proposals must be regular in every respect and no
interlineations, excisions, or special conditions shall be made or included in the ITB
format by the respondent.

4. The contract will be awarded by the City of Birmingham to the most responsive and
responsible bidder with the lowest price and the contract will require the delivery of the
equipment pursuant to these documents.

5. Each respondent shall include in his or her bid, in the format requested, the cost of the
equipment. Municipalities are exempt from Michigan State Sales and Federal Excise
taxes.  Do not include such taxes in the proposal figure.  The City will furnish the
successful contractor with tax exemption information when requested.

6. Each respondent shall include in their bid the following information:  Firm name,
address, city, state, zip code, telephone number, and fax number. The company shall
also provide the name, address, telephone number and e-mail address of an individual
in their organization to whom notices and inquiries by the City should be directed as
part of their proposal.

ATTACHMENT 1
ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1
99

mailto:edeview@bhamgov.org


EVALUATION PROCEDURE AND CRITERIA 

The evaluation panel will consist of City staff and any other person(s) designated by the City 
who will evaluate the proposals based on, but not limited to, the following criteria: 

1. Ability to provide services and equipment as outlined.
2. Related experience with similar projects, vendor background, and personnel

qualifications.
3. Quality of materials proposed.
4. Overall costs.
5. References.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. The City reserves the right to reject any or all bids received, waive informalities, or
accept any proposal, in whole or in part, it deems best.  The City reserves the right to
award the contract to the next most qualified Contractor if the successful Contractor
does not execute a contract within ten (10) days after the award of the proposal.

2. The City reserves the right to request clarification of information submitted and to
request additional information of one or more Contractors.

3. The City reserves the right to terminate the contract at its discretion should it be
determined that the services provided do not meet the specifications contained herein.
The City may terminate this Agreement at any point in the process upon notice to
Contractor sufficient to indicate the City’s desire to do so.  In the case of such a
stoppage, the City agrees to pay Contractor for services rendered to the time of notice,
subject to the contract maximum amount.

4. Any bid may be withdrawn up until the date and time set above for the opening of the
proposals.  Any bids not so withdrawn shall constitute an irrevocable offer, for a period
of ninety (90) days, to provide the services set forth in the proposal.

5. The cost of preparing and submitting a bid proposal is the responsibility of the
Contractor and shall not be chargeable in any manner to the City.

6. Payment will be made within thirty (30) days after invoice. Acceptance by the City is
defined as authorization by the designated City representative to this project that all the
criteria requested under the Scope of Work contained herein have been provided.
Invoices are to be rendered each month following the date of execution of an
Agreement with the City.

7. The Contractor will not exceed the timelines established for the completion of this
project.

8. The successful bidder shall enter into and will execute the contract as set forth and
attached as Attachment A.

ATTACHMENT 1
1010



CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

Each bidder shall provide the following as part of their proposal: 

1. Complete and sign all forms requested for completion within this ITB.
a. Attachment A  - Agreement (pp. 11-16 – only if selected by the City)
b. Attachment B  - Bidder’s Agreement (p. 17)
c. Attachment C  - Cost Proposal (p. 18)
d. Attachment D - Iran Sanctions Act Vendor Certification Form (p. 19).

Provide a description of completed projects that demonstrate the vendor’s ability to 
complete projects of similar scope, size, and purpose, and in a timely manner, and 
within budget. 

2. Provide a written plan detailing the anticipated timeline for completion of the tasks set
forth in the Scope of Work (p. 10).

3. The Contractor will be responsible for any changes necessary for the plans to be
approved by the City of Birmingham.

4. Provide a description of the firm, including resumes and professional qualifications of
the principals involved in administering the project.

5. Provide a list of sub-contractors and their qualifications, if applicable.

6. Provide three (3) client references from past projects, include current phone numbers.
At least two (2) of the client references should be for projects utilizing the same
materials included in the Contractor’s proposal.

7. The Contractor will be responsible for the disposal of all material and any damages
which occur as a result of any of employees or subcontractors of the Contractor during
this project.

8. The Contractor will be responsible for obtaining any associated permits at no cost to the
Contractor. 

9. Provide a project timeline addressing each section within the Scope of Work and a
description of the overall project approach.  Include a statement that the Contractor will
be available according to the proposed timeline.

CITY RESPONSIBILITY 

1. The City will provide a designated representative to work with the Contractor to
coordinate both the City’s and Contractor’s efforts and to inspect and verify any work
performed by the Contractor.

ATTACHMENT 1

1111



2. The City will provide access to the City of Birmingham during regular business hours or
during nights and weekends as approved by the City’s designated representative.

SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES 

The successful bidder agrees to certain dispute resolution avenues/limitations.  Please refer to 
paragraph 17 of the Agreement attached as Attachment A for the details and what is required 
of the successful bidder. 

INSURANCE 

The successful bidder is required to procure and maintain certain types of insurances.  Please 
refer to paragraph 12 of the Agreement attached as Attachment A for the details and what is 
required of the successful bidder. 

CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE 

The Contractor also agrees to provide all insurance coverages as specified.  Upon failure of the 
Contractor to obtain or maintain such insurance coverage for the term of the agreement, the 
City may, at its option, purchase such coverage and subtract the cost of obtaining such 
coverage from the contract amount.  In obtaining such coverage, The City shall have no 
obligation to procure the most cost effective coverage but may contract with any insurer for 
such coverage. 

EXECUTION OF CONTRACT 

The bidder whose proposal is accepted shall be required to execute the contract and to furnish 
all insurance coverages as specified within ten (10) days after receiving notice of such 
acceptance.  Any contract awarded pursuant to any bid shall not be binding upon the City until 
a written contract has been executed by both parties.  Failure or refusal to execute the contract 
shall be considered an abandoned all rights and interest in the award and the contract may be 
awarded to another.  The successful bidder agrees to enter into and will execute the contract 
as set forth and attached as Attachment A. 

INDEMNIFICATION 

The successful bidder agrees to indemnify the City and various associated persons.  Please 
refer to paragraph 13 of the Agreement attached as Attachment A for the details and what is 
required of the successful bidder. 

ATTACHMENT 1

1212



CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The successful bidder is subject to certain conflict of interest requirements/restrictions.  Please 
refer to paragraph 14 of the Agreement attached as Attachment A for the details and what is 
required of the successful bidder. 

EXAMINATION OF BID MATERIALS 

The submission of a proposal shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the Contractor 
that it has investigated all aspects of the ITB, that it is aware of the applicable facts pertaining 
to the ITB process and its procedures and requirements, and that it has read and understands 
the ITB.  Statistical information which may be contained in the ITB or any addendum thereto is 
for informational purposes only. 

PROJECT TIMELINE 

July 18, 2019  PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 posted on MITN 
August 1, 2019 Bids Due – open at 10:00 a.m. Office of the City Clerk 
August 19, 2019 Agreement(s) to City Commission for Approval 
August 22, 2019 Purchase order(s) for PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 awarded to 

successful vendor(s) 

The Contractor will not exceed the timelines established for the completion of this project. 

ATTACHMENT 1 1313



SCOPE OF WORK 

The Contractor shall provide the following equipment and services in accordance with the 
requirements as defined and noted herein: PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 

PROJECT LOCATION: Birmingham, Michigan 48009 

1. The City of Birmingham is accepting sealed bids from qualified vendors to provide
PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20.  The City intends to award one contract to a single 
vendor.   

2. The Contractor shall provide any and all manuals and/or warranty information related to this
project to the City upon completion of the project.

3. This section and referenced documents shall constitute the Scope of Work for this project
and as such all requirements must be met.

4. All bids submitted for the PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 must include specifications as
listed in this Invitation to Bid.

ATTACHMENT 1 1414



ATTACHMENT A - AGREEMENT 

For PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 

This AGREEMENT, made this _______day of ____________, 2019, by and between CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM, having its principal municipal office at 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, MI 
(hereinafter sometimes called "City"), and _____________, Inc., having its principal office at 
_____________________ (hereinafter called "Contractor"), provides as follows: 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City is desirous of selecting a vendor for the purchase of PAVEMENT 
MARKINGS 2019-20 and in connection therewith has prepared an Invitation to Bid (“ITB”), 
which includes certain instructions to bidders, specifications, terms and conditions. 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has professional qualifications that meet the project 
requirements and has made a bid in accordance with such request for cost proposals to provide 
PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20, 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the respective agreements and undertakings 
herein contained, the parties agree as follows: 

1. It is mutually agreed by and between the parties that the documents consisting of the
Request for Proposal to provide PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 and the Contractor’s cost 
proposal dated _______________, 2019 shall be incorporated herein by reference and shall 
become a part of this Agreement, and shall be binding upon both parties hereto.  If any of the 
documents are in conflict with one another, this Agreement shall take precedence, then the 
ITB.  

2. The City shall pay the Contractor for the performance of this Agreement in a sum not to
exceed the amount proposed for the purchase of a PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 per the 
Contractor’s ____________, 2019 cost proposal. 

3. This Agreement shall commence upon execution by both parties, unless the City
exercises its option to terminate the Agreement in accordance with the Invitation to Bid. 

4. The Contractor shall employ personnel of good moral character and fitness in
performing all services under this Agreement. 

5. The Contractor and the City agree that the Contractor is acting as an independent
Contractor with respect to the Contractor 's role in providing services to the City pursuant to 
this Agreement, and as such, shall be liable for its own actions and neither the Contractor nor 
its employees shall be construed as employees of the City.  Nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall be construed to imply a joint venture or partnership and neither party, by 

ATTACHMENT 1
ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1
1515



virtue of this Agreement, shall have any right, power or authority to act or create any 
obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other party, except as specifically outlined 
herein.  Neither the City nor the Contractor shall be considered or construed to be the agent of 
the other, nor shall either have the right to bind the other in any manner whatsoever, except as 
specifically provided in this Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be construed as a contract 
of agency.  The Contractor shall not be entitled or eligible to participate in any benefits or 
privileges given or extended by the City, or be deemed an employee of the City for purposes of 
federal or state withholding taxes, FICA taxes, unemployment, workers' compensation or any 
other employer contributions on behalf of the City. 

6. The Contractor acknowledges that in performing services pursuant to this Agreement,
certain confidential and/or proprietary information (including, but not limited to, internal 
organization, methodology, personnel and financial information, etc.) may become involved. 
The Contractor recognizes that unauthorized exposure of such confidential or proprietary 
information could irreparably damage the City.  Therefore, the Contractor agrees to use 
reasonable care to safeguard the confidential and proprietary information and to prevent the 
unauthorized use or disclosure thereof.  The Contractor shall inform its employees of the 
confidential or proprietary nature of such information and shall limit access thereto to 
employees rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees to 
use such confidential or proprietary information only for the purpose of performing services 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

7. This Agreement shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.  The Contractor agrees to perform all 
services provided for in this Agreement in accordance with and in full compliance with all local, 
state and federal laws and regulations. 

8. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such
provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other provisions shall remain in full force 
and effect. 

9. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto,
but no such assignment shall be made by the Contractor without the prior written consent of 
the City.  Any attempt at assignment without prior written consent shall be void and of no 
effect. 

10. The Contractor agrees that neither it nor its subcontractors will discriminate against any
employee or applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions or 
privileges of employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment because of 
race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight or marital status.  The Contractor 
shall inform the City of all claims or suits asserted against it by the Contractor’s employees who 
work pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall provide the City with periodic status 
reports concerning all such claims or suits, at intervals established by the City. 

ATTACHMENT 1
ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1 1616



11. The Contractor shall not commence work under this Agreement until it has, at its sole
expense, obtained the insurance required under this paragraph. All coverages shall be with 
insurance companies licensed and admitted to do business in the State of Michigan. All 
coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the City of Birmingham. 

12. The Contractor shall maintain during the life of this Agreement the types of insurance
coverage and minimum limits as set forth below: 

A. Workers' Compensation Insurance: Contractor shall procure and maintain during the life 
of this Agreement, Workers' Compensation Insurance, including Employers Liability 
Coverage, in accordance with all applicable statutes of the State of Michigan. 

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Contractor shall procure and maintain during 
the life of this Agreement, Commercial General Liability Insurance on an "Occurrence 
Basis" with limits of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single 
limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include the 
following extensions: (A) Contractual Liability; (B) Products and Completed Operations; 
(C) Independent Contractors Coverage; (D) Broad Form General Liability Extensions or 
equivalent; (E) Deletion of all Explosion, Collapse and Underground (XCU) Exclusions, if 
applicable. 

C. Motor Vehicle Liability: Contractor shall procure and maintain during the life of this 
Agreement Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, including all applicable no-fault coverages, 
with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage. Coverage shall include all owned vehicles, all non-
owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles.  

D. Additional Insured: Commercial General Liability and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance, 
as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the following shall be 
Additional Insureds: The City of Birmingham, including all elected and appointed 
officials, all employee and volunteers, all boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
board members, including employees and volunteers thereof. This coverage shall be 
primary to any other coverage that may be available to the additional insured, whether 
any other available coverage by primary, contributing or excess. 

E. Professional Liability: Professional liability insurance with limits of not less than 
$1,000,000 per claim if Contractor will provide service that are customarily subject to 
this type of coverage.  

F. Cancellation Notice: Workers' Compensation Insurance, Commercial General Liability 
Insurance and Motor Vehicle Liability Insurance (and Professional Liability Insurance, if 
applicable), as described above, shall include an endorsement stating the following: 
"Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal, shall be sent 
to: Finance Director, City of Birmingham, PO Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, 
MI 48012-3001.  

ATTACHMENT 1 1717



G. Proof of Insurance Coverage: Contractor shall provide the City of Birmingham at the 
time the Agreement is returned for execution, Certificates of Insurance and/or policies, 
acceptable to the City of Birmingham, as listed below.  

1) Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Workers' Compensation
Insurance;

2) Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Commercial General Liability
Insurance;

3) Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Vehicle Liability Insurance;
4) Two (2) copies of Certificate of Insurance for Professional Liability

Insurance;
5) If so requested, Certified Copies of all policies mentioned above will be

furnished.

H. Coverage Expiration: If any of the above coverages expire during the term of this 
Agreement, Contractor shall deliver renewal certificates and/or policies to the City of 
Birmingham at least (10) days prior to the expiration date.  

I. Maintaining Insurance: Upon failure of the Contractor to obtain or maintain such 
insurance coverage for the term of the Agreement, the City of Birmingham may, at its 
option, purchase such coverage and subtract the cost of obtaining such coverage from 
the Agreement amount. In obtaining such coverage, the City of Birmingham shall have 
no obligation to procure the most cost-effective coverage but may contract with any 
insurer for such coverage. 

13. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor and any entity or person for
whom the Contractor is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on 
behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Birmingham, its elected and appointed 
officials, employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of the City of Birmingham 
against any and all claims, demands, suits, or loss, including all costs and reasonable attorney 
fees connected therewith, and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered 
against or from and the City of Birmingham, its elected and appointed officials, employees, 
volunteers or others working on behalf of the City of Birmingham, by reason of personal injury, 
including bodily injury and death and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, which 
arises out of or is in any way connected or associated with this Agreement. Such responsibility 
shall not be construed as liability for damage caused by or resulting from the sole act or 
omission of its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf 
of the City of Birmingham. 

14. If, after the effective date of this Agreement, any official of the City, or spouse, child,
parent or in-law of such official or employee shall become directly or indirectly interested in this 
Agreement or the affairs of the Contractor, the City shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement without further liability to the Contractor if the disqualification has not been 
removed within thirty (30) days after the City has given the Contractor notice of the 
disqualifying interest.  Ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the stock or other equity 
interest in a corporation or partnership shall not be a disqualifying interest.  Employment shall 
be a disqualifying interest. 

ATTACHMENT 1 1818



15. If Contractor fails to perform its obligations hereunder, the City may take any and all
remedial actions provided by the general specifications or otherwise permitted by law. 

16. All notices required to be sent pursuant to this Agreement shall be mailed to the
following addresses: 

City of Birmingham  
Attn: Cherilynn Mynsberge 
151 Martin Street 
Birmingham, MI 48009 
(248) 530-1802 

CONTRACTOR 
(Contractor Information to be Inserted by 
the City after award of bid). 

17. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach
thereof, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 
48th District Court or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by 
arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State 
of Michigan and administered by the American Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being 
used, or three arbitrators in the event any party’s claim exceeds $1,000,000. Each party shall 
bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of the arbitrator’s and administrative fees 
of arbitration. Such arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursuant to MCL§600.5001 
et. seq., and the Oakland County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall render 
judgment upon the award of the arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement. The laws of the 
State of Michigan shall govern this Agreement, and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland 
County, Michigan.   In the event that the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute 
arbitrated, any dispute between the parties may be resolved by the filing of a suit in the 
Oakland County Circuit Court or the 48th District Court.  

18. FAIR PROCUREMENT OPPORTUNITY:  Procurement for the City of Birmingham will be
handled in a manner providing fair opportunity for all businesses.  This will be accomplished 
without abrogation or sacrifice of quality and as determined to be in the best interest of the 
City of Birmingham. 

ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1
1919



ATTACHMENT B - BIDDER’S AGREEMENT 

For PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20 
. 

In submitting this proposal, as herein described, the Contractor agrees that: 

1. They have carefully examined the specifications, terms and Agreement of
the Invitation to Bid and all other provisions of this document and understand 
the meaning, intent, and requirement of it. 

2. They will enter into a written contract and furnish the item or items in the
time specified in conformance with the specifications and conditions contained 
therein for the price quoted by the proponent on this proposal. 

PREPARED BY 
(Print Name) 

DATE 

TITLE DATE 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE E-MAIL ADDRESS 

COMPANY 

ADDRESS PHONE 

NAME OF PARENT COMPANY PHONE 

ADDRESS 

ATTACHMENT 1
ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1
ATTACHMENT 1

ATTACHMENT 1
2020



ATTACHMENT C – COST PROPOSAL (1 OF 3) 
FALL 2019 HANDWORK 

For “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20” 

NOTE:  QUANTITIES ARE APPROXIMATE 
BIDDER TO COMPLETE ALL BLANKS IN THIS DOCUMENT 

ITEM EST 
QTY 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK UNIT 
PRICE 

ITEM 
TOTAL 

1 11,500 6” CROSS 
2 12,000 12” CROSS 
3 3,200 24” CROSS 
4 13,000 YELLOW CURB 
5 6 SCHOOL LEGENDS 
6 55 ONLY LEGENDS 
7 0 25 MPH LEGENDS 
8 71 LEFT TURN ARROWS 
9 14 RIGHT TURN ARROWS 
10 11 THRU ARROWS 
11 19 COMBO ARROWS 
12 0 BLUE CURB 
13 7 HANDICAP SYMBOLS 
14 2,200 6” BLUE 
15 20,000 6” PARKING 
16 600 6”   WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
17 500 12” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
18 2,900 16” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
19 100 18” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
20 20 12” STOP 
21 400 18” STOP 
22 2,400 24” STOP 
23 0 4” WHITE - PARKING LOTS 
24 2,500 6” WHITE – PARKING LOTS 
25 0 6” YELLOW – PARKING LOTS 
26 500 YELLOW CURB – PARKING LOTS 
27 2,600 4” BLUE – PARKING LOTS 
28 500 6” BLUE – PARKING LOTS 
29 100 HANDICAP SYMBOLS – PARKING LOTS and METER SPACES 
30 0 YELLOW LINE - SEE ATTACHED LIST 
31 0 WHITE LINE – SEE ATTACHED LIST 
32 10 SHARROWS (TRAVEL LANE SYMBOL FOR CYCLISTS) 
33 40 MOPED SYMBOLS (STENCIL PLUS 4” WHITE LINES) 
34 MOBILIZATION / SETUP CHARGE 

BID GRAND TOTAL AMOUNT (FALL 2019) 

It is understood and agreed that all bid prices shall remain in effect for at least ninety (90) days from the date of bid opening to 
allow for the award of the bid. 

ATTACHMENT 1
2121



ATTACHMENT C – COST PROPOSAL (2 OF 3) 
SPRING 2020 HANDWORK 

For “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20” 

NOTE:  QUANTITIES ARE APPROXIMATE 
BIDDER TO COMPLETE ALL BLANKS IN THIS DOCUMENT 

It is understood and agreed that all bid prices shall remain in effect for at least ninety (90) days from the date of bid opening to 
allow for the award of the bid. 

ITEM EST 
QTY 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK UNIT 
PRICE 

ITEM 
TOTAL 

1 24,000 6” CROSS 
2 19,400 12” CROSS 
3 3,200 24” CROSS 
4 28,200 YELLOW CURB 
5 33 SCHOOL LEGENDS 
6 76 ONLY LEGENDS 
7 14 25 MPH LEGENDS 
8 89 LEFT TURN ARROWS 
9 22 RIGHT TURN ARROWS 
10 15 THRU ARROWS 
11 31 COMBO ARROWS 
12 20 BLUE CURB 
13 9 HANDICAP SYMBOLS 
14 2,200 6” BLUE 
15 33,400 6” PARKING 
16 1,800 6”   WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
17 1,600 12” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
18 2,900 16” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
19 90 18” WHITE HATCH – CROSSWALKS 
20 260 12” STOP 
21 940 18” STOP 
22 4,250 24” STOP 
23 1,000 4” WHITE - PARKING LOTS 
24 11,420 6” WHITE – PARKING LOTS 
25 2,130 6” YELLOW – PARKING LOTS 
26 1,100 YELLOW CURB – PARKING LOTS 
27 2,450 4” BLUE – PARKING LOTS 
28 900 6” BLUE – PARKING LOTS 
29 110 HANDICAP SYMBOLS – PARKING LOTS AND METER SPACES 
30 117,000 YELLOW LINE - SEE ATTACHED LIST 
31 50,100 WHITE LINE – SEE ATTACHED LIST 
32 90 SHARROWS (TRAVEL LANE SYMBOL FOR CYCLISTS) 
33 40 MOPED SYMBOLS (STENCIL PLUS 4” WHITE LINES) 
34 MOBILIZATION / SETUP CHARGE 

BID GRAND TOTAL AMOUNT (SPRING 2020) 

ATTACHMENT 1 2222



SPRING 2020 YELLOW AND WHITE LONG LINES / CENTER LINES 
For “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20” 

NOTE:  QUANTITIES ARE APPROXIMATE 
BIDDER TO COMPLETE ALL BLANKS IN THIS DOCUMENT 

STREETS TO BE PAINTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH MMUTCD: 

Adams Road/Woodward to Big Beaver 
Bates/Willits to Lincoln, and dead end of Bates 
Bowers/Adams to Woodward 
Bowers/East of Adams for approximately one block 
Brown Street/Southfield to Hunter 
Chester/Brown to Willits 
Chesterfield for approximately 135' south of Quarton and also for approximately 200’ North of 
Maple 
Coolidge southbound between Derby and Maple 
Derby/East of Adams for approximately one block 
Elm Street/Haynes to Bowers 
Elm Street/south of Maple for approximately 40' 
Eton/Derby to Eton one block north of 14 Mile (include in bid amount – do not paint without approval) 
14 Mile Road/Cummings to east city limits (north lane lines only)  
Hamilton/Woodward to Hunter 
Lincoln/Arlington to Eton and Cranbrook to Hillside 
Maple/Cranbrook to Coolidge (Edenborough to Coolidge, north lane lines only) 
Merrill/Southfield to Woodward 
Oak Street/Hunter Boulevard to Woodward/Lakeside to City limits 
Oakland Boulevard/Hunter to Lawndale 
Old Woodward/North crossover to Willits/Oakland 
Old Woodward/South crossover to Brown 
Park Street/Maple to Oakland 
Pierce Street/Maple to Brown 
Shirley/from a point 300' north of Lincoln to a point 600' north of Lincoln 
Southfield/Maple to l4 Mile Road 
Willits/Woodward to Chester 

It is understood and agreed that all bid prices shall remain in effect for at least ninety (90) days from the date of bid opening to 
allow for the award of the bid. 

ITEM EST 
QTY 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK UNIT 
PRICE 

ITEM 
TOTAL 

1 117,000 YELLOW LINE - SEE ATTACHED LIST 
2 50,100 WHITE LINE – SEE ATTACHED LIST 
3 MOBILIZATION / SETUP CHARGE 

BID GRAND TOTAL AMOUNT (SPRING 2020) 

ATTACHMENT C – COST PROPOSAL  (3 OF 3) 

ATTACHMENT 1
2323



ATTACHMENT D - IRAN SANCTIONS ACT VENDOR CERTIFICATION FORM 
For “PAVEMENT MARKINGS 2019-20” 

Pursuant to Michigan law and the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, 2012 PA 517 (“Act”), prior to 
the City accepting any bid or proposal, or entering into any contract for goods or services with 
any prospective Vendor, the Vendor must certify that it is not an “Iran Linked Business”, as 
defined by the Act. 

By completing this form, the Vendor certifies that it is not an “Iran Linked Business”, as defined 
by the Act and is in full compliance with all provisions of the Act and is legally eligible to submit 
a bid for consideration by the City. 

PREPARED BY 
(Print Name) 

DATE 

TITLE DATE 

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE E-MAIL ADDRESS 

COMPANY 

ADDRESS PHONE 

NAME OF PARENT COMPANY PHONE 

ADDRESS 

TAXPAYER I.D.# 

ATTACHMENT 1 2424













































 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

July 13, 2021

Tom Markus, City Manager 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

 2022 City Commission Meeting Schedule 

Attached is the proposed 2022 City Commission meeting schedule. 

The City Charter requires the Commission to meet regularly and “ not less than twice a month”. 
Typically the Commission meets on the second and fourth Mondays of each month except when 
a legal holiday coincides with those days. 

Legal holidays were designated by resolution of the Commission on August 26, 2013 pursuant 
to Section 2-26 of the Birmingham City Code. Section 2-26 gives the Commission latitude to 
reschedule regular meetings which would otherwise fall on a legal holiday. The proposed meeting 
schedule avoids the five legal holidays which fall on a Monday in 2022. 

Once approved, the 2022 meeting schedule will be published in the City calendar, on the 
City webpage, and posted at the Municipal Building. 

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the Birmingham City Commission 2022 Meeting Schedule as submitted. 

LOCATION MONTH DAY MEETING 
January 10 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

22 (Sat) Long Range Planning 8:30 AM Municipal Building 
24 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

February  Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
28 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

March 14 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
28 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

April 11 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
25 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

May 7 (Sat) Budget Hearing 8:30 AM Municipal Building 
9 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
23 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

June  13 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
20 Joint Commission/Planning Bd. DPS Facility 
27 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

July 11 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
25 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

 14

5L



Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
29 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

September 12 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
19 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

 October  3 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
10 Joint Commission/Planning Bd. DPS Facility 
24 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

November 14 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
28 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

December 5 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 
19 Regular Meeting Municipal Building 

NOTE:  City Commission meetings will  be held at 7:30 PM in room 205 of the Municpal 
Building 151 Martin.  City Commission/Planning Board workshops will be held at 7:30 
PM at the DPS Facility 851 S. Eton.

  15August



 
This Calendar is blank, editable and large.  Courtesy of WinCalendar.com 
 

◄ December January 2022 February ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
      1 New Year's Day 

 

2  
 

3 City Offices Closed 
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17 Martin Luther 
King Jr. 
 

18  
 

19  
 

20 Inauguration Day 
 

21  
 

22 8:30 AM City 
Commission Long 
Range Planning 
Meeting 
 

23  
 

24 7:30 PM Regular   
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  

https://www.wincalendar.com/Calendar-and-Schedule-Templates
https://www.wincalendar.com/Holiday-Calendar/December-2021


◄ January February 2022 March ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1  2 Groundhog Day 3  4  5  

6 Super Bowl 7  8  9  10  11  12  

13  14 Valentine's Day 
7:30 PM Regular City 
Commission Meeting 

15  16  17  18  19  

20  21 Presidents Day 22  23  24  25  26  

27  28 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting



 

◄ February March 2022 April ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
  1  

 
2 Ash Wednesday 
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8 Int'l. Women's Day 
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13 Daylight Saving 
Begins 
 

14 7:30 PM Regular   
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

15  
 

16  
 

17 Saint Patrick's Day 
 

18  
 

19  
 

20 Start of Spring 
(Spring Equinox) 
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

287:30 PM Regular 
City Commission  
Meeting 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  



 

◄ March April 2022 May ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
     1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

12  
 

13  
 

14 Holy Thursday 
 

15 Good Friday 
Passover Begins at 
Sunset 
City Offices Closed 
 

16  
 

17 Easter 
 

18 Tax Day (Taxes 
Due) 
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22 Earth Day 
 

23 Passover Ends at 
Nightfall 
 

24  
 

25 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

26  
 

27 Administrative 
Professionals 
 

28  
 

29 Arbor Day 
 

30  
 

  



 

◄ April May 2022 June ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
1  
 

2 Eid al-Fitr Begins at 
Sunset 
 

3 Eid al-Fitr Ends at  
Sunset 

4  
 

5 Cinco De Mayo 
 

 
 

7 8:30 AM City 
Commission Budget 
Hearing 
 

8 Mother's Day 
 

9 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21 Armed Forces Day 
 

22  
 

23 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30 Memorial Day 
City Offices Closed 
 

31  
 

 

  



 

◄ May June 2022 July ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
   1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4 Shavout Begins at 
Sunset 
 

5  
 

6 Shavout Ends at 
Nightfall 
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13 7:30 PM Regular   
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

14 Flag Day 
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19 Father's Day 
 

20 7:30 PM Joint City 
Commission/ Planning 
Board Meeting 
 

21 Start of Summer 
(Summer Solstice) 
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

 

  



 

◄ June July 2022 August ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
     1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4 Independence. Day 
City Offices Closed 
 

5  
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9 Eid al-Adha Begins 
at Sunset 
 

10 Eid al_Adha 
Ends at Sunset 
 

11 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24  
 

25 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  



 

◄ July August 2022 September ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
 1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6  
 

7 Ashura Begins at 
Sunset 
 

8 Ashura Ends at 
Sunset 
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22 23  
 

24  
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

30  
 

31  
 

 

  



 

◄ August September 2022 October ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
    1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5 Labor Day 
City Offices Closed 
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11 Patriot Day 
 

12 7:30 PM Regular   
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

20  
 

21  
 

22 Start of Fall 
(Autumnal Equinox) 
 

23  
 

24  
 

25 Rosh Hashanah 
Begins at Sunset 
 

26 
 

27 Rosh Hashanah 
Ends at Nightfall 
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

 

  



 

◄ September October 2022 November ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
      1  

 

2  
 

3 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

4 Yom Kippur Begins 
at Sunset 
 

5 Yom Kippur Ends 
at Nightfall 
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9 Sukkot Begins at 
Sunset 
 

10 Columbus Day 
7:30 PM Joint City 
Commission/Planning 
Board Meeting 
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16 Sukkot Ends at 
Nightfall 
Shemini Atzeret & 
Simchat Torah Begins 
at Sunset 
 

17  
 

18 Shemini Atzeret 
& Simchat Torah Ends 
at Nightfall 
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

25  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31 Halloween 
 

 

  



 

◄ October November 2022 December ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
  1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5  
 

6 Daylight Saving 
Time Ends 
 

7  
 

8 Election Day 
 

9  
 

10  
 

11 Veterans Day 
 

12  
 

13  
 

14 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission   
Meeting 
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18  
 

19  
 

20  
 

21  
 

22  
 

23  
 

24 Thanksgiving 
Day 
City Offices Closed 

25 
City Offices Closed  
 

26  
 

27  
 

28 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

29  
 

30  
 

 

  



 

◄ November December 2022 January ► 

Sun Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 
    1  

 
2  
 

3  
 

4  
 

5 7:30 PM  
Regular City 
Commission Meeting 
 

6  
 

7  
 

8  
 

9  
 

10  
 

11  
 

12  
 

13  
 

14  
 

15  
 

16  
 

17  
 

18 Hanukkah 
Begins at Sunset 
 

19 7:30 PM Regular 
City Commission 
Meeting 
 

20  
 

21 Start of Winter 
(Winter Solstice) 
 

22 Hanukkah Ends 
at Nightfall 
 

23  
 

24 Christmas Eve 
 

25 Christmas 
 

26 Kwanzaa Begins 
City Offices Closed 

27  
 

28  
 

29  
 

30  
 

31 New Year’s Eve 
 

 

https://www.wincalendar.com/Holiday-Calendar/January-2023


  DATE:  July 12, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT:     Veterans Day Wreath Laying Ceremony 

INTRODUCTION: 
Piety Hill Chapter, NSDAR  has submitted a Special Event application to hold the 
Veterans Day Wreath Laying Ceremony in Shain Park November 11, 2021.  Set-up for 
the event is scheduled for November 11 from 9:00 am to 10:30 am.  The event begins 
at 10:30 am and concludes at 12:00 pm. Tear down is scheduled for 12:00-2:00 pm. 

BACKGROUND: 
Prior to application submission the Police Department reviewed the proposed event 
details for street closures and the need for safety personnel and approved the details. 
DPS, Planning, Building, Police, Fire, and Engineering have indicated their approval. 
SP+ Parking has been notified of the event for planning purposes.  

There are no known events in Shain Park in November with the exception of the arrival 
of Santa on Saturday, Nov. 27. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
n/a 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
n/a 

SUMMARY 
The City Commission is being asked to approve the Veterans Day Wreath Laying 
Ceremony to be held November 11, 2021, from 10:30 am – 12:00 pm, with set-up from 
9:00 am to 10:30 am.  Tear-down will begin at the conclusion of the event and is 
scheduled to end at 2:00 pm. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Special Event application – please note that the application’s first page incorrectly

states a 5:00 pm end to the tear-down period. The applicant extended tear-down
time to give DPS more time to complete the work if needed. The public notification
letter indicated a 2:00 pm end to the tear-down period.

MEMORANDUM 
Clerk's Office 

5M



2. Notification letter with map of event area distributed to residents/businesses within 
300 feet of the event area on July 9, 2021.  Notification addresses are on file in 
the Clerk’s Office 

3. Hold Harmless Agreement and Certificate of Insurance (city event) 
4. Department Approval page with comments and estimated costs 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 

To approve a special event permit as requested by Piety Hill Chapter, NSDAR to hold 
the Veterans Day Wreath Laying Ceremony in Shain Park November 11, 2021, 
contingent upon compliance with all permit and insurance requirements and payment 
of all fees and, further, pursuant to any minor modifications that may be deemed 
necessary by administrative staff at the time of the event, or event cancellation that 
may be deemed necessary by administrative staff leading up to or at the time of the 
event due to public health and safety measures.  
 



LIC # 21-00011632















 

Piety Hill Chapter National Society Daughters of 
the American Revolution 

PO Box 285   Birmingham, MI 48012-0285 
 
 

 
     

 
 

SPECIAL EVENT REQUEST NOTIFICATION LETTER 
 
DATE:  July 9, 2021 
TO: Residential Property or Business Owner 

 
 

The Birmingham City Code requires that we receive approval from the Birmingham City Commission to hold the 
following special event. The code further requires that we notify any property owners or business owners that 
may be affected by the special event of the date and time that the City commission will consider our request so 
that an opportunity exists for comments prior to this approval. 
 
EVENT INFORMATION 
NAME OF EVENT: Veterans Day Wreath Laying  
 
LOCATION: Shain Park west of fountain; inclement weather site at band shell south end of park 

DATE(S) OF EVENT: November 11, 2021     HOURS OF EVENT: 10:30 am – 12:00 Noon 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF EVENT/ACTIVITY: Veterans Day Ceremony with wreath laying at WWII and Civil War 
monuments, flag raising, bagpipes and bugle. Video by local Bloomfield Cable.  
 
DATE(S) OF SET-UP: November 11, 2021      HOURS OF SET-UP: 9:00 – 10:30 am 
DATE(S) OF TEAR-DOWN: November 11, 2021 HOURS OF TEAR-DOWN: 12:00 – 2:00 pm 
 
DATE OF CITY COMMISSION MEETING:  July 26, 2021 

 
The City Commission meets in room 205 of the Municipal Building at 151 Martin at 7:30 pm. You may also attend 
virtually through ZOOM: https://zoom.us/j/655079760  Meeting ID: 655 079 760 A complete copy of the 
application to hold this special event is available for your review at the City Clerk’s Office (248-
530-1880). Log on to www.bhamgov.org/events for a complete list of special events. 
 
EVENT ORGANIZER:  Piety Hill Chapter NSDAR, Birmingham, MI  
ADDRESS:   P.O. Box 285, Birmingham, MI  48012-0285 
PHONE:     248-505-5306 
 
 
FOR QUESTIONS ON DAY OF EVENT, CONTACT:  Debbie Harrington  248-505-5306  
__________________________________________________________________    
                         
A map showing street closures must be attached.  NO STREETS WILL BE CLOSED 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
about:blank








  
 
 
 
 
NOTE TO STAFF:  Please submit approval by July 9, 2021  DATE OF EVENT:  Nov. 11, 2021 
  

DEPARTMENT APPROVED COMMENTS 

PERMITS 
REQUIRED 

(Must be obtained directly 
from individual 
departments) 

ESTIMATED 
COSTS 

(Must be paid two 
weeks prior to the 
event. License will 

not be issued if 
unpaid.) 

ACTUAL 
COSTS 

(Event will be 
invoiced by the 
Clerk’s office 

after the event) 

 
PLANNING 

101-000.000-634.0005 
248.530.1855 

 

TBC No Cost No Comment     

BUILDING 
101-000.000.634.0005 

248.530.1850 
MJM No Building Department involvement Tents over 400 SQ/ft $0  

FIRE 
101-000.000-634.0004 

248.530.1900 
JDP 

No Fire Department involvement 
 
Follow all current public health orders by 
MDHHS for day of event. 
Do not block roads with vehicles or 
crowds. 

 $0  

POLICE 
101-000.000.634.0003 

248.530.1870 
MHC Will provide a Police Officer for Wreath 

Laying   $0  

PUBLIC SERVICES 
101-000.000-634.0002 

248.530.1642 
Carrie Laird 

City Event.  Audio Equipment, Podium, 
30 Chairs.  All flags placed around site. 
Large flag pole available to post colors 
with flags. and flags will be provided. 

 $0  

ENGINEERING 
101-000.000.634.0002 

248.530.1839 
SDZ No items required none 0 0 

DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
 

                    EVENT NAME: VETERANS DAY WREATH LAYING 
  
LICENSE NUMBER # 21-00011632  COMMISSION HEARING DATE: July 26, 2021 



SP+ PARKING MHC No Parking Involvement  &0  

INSURANCE 
248.530.1807 

AT City cosponsors event – no hold 
harmless or COI required None $0 $0 

CLERK 
101-000.000-614.0000 

248.530.1803 
AT 

Notification letters mailed 7/9/21. 
Notification addresses on file in the 
Clerk’s Office.  Evidence of required 
insurance must be on file with the Clerk’s 
Office no later than N/A (city co-
sponsors event) 
 

Applications for 
vendors license must 
be submitted no later 
than 10/28/21. 

0 
 

 
 
 

    

TOTAL 
DEPOSIT 

REQUIRED 
 

$0 

ACTUAL 
COST 

 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Rev. 7/22/21 
h:\shared\special events\- general information\approval page.doc 

FOR CLERK’S OFFICE USE 
 
Deposit paid ___________ 
 
Actual Cost     
 
Due/Refund    
 



1 

MEMORANDUM 

  Engineering Dept. 
DATE: July 20, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Jim Surhigh, Consultant City Engineer 
Scott Zielinski, Assistant City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Townsend and Peabody Street Paving Project #6-21(P) 
Water & Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Hearing of 
Necessity  

INTRODUCTION: 
At the Commission meeting of June 28, 2021, the City Commission set a date of July 26, 
2021 to hold a public hearing of necessity for the replacement of water and sewer laterals 
located within the limits of the Townsend and Peabody Street Paving Project areas.  Also 
at that meeting, a Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll, August 9, 2021 was set, 
should the assessment district be authorized.   

BACKGROUND: 
All owners in the district have been sent the attached letter and public hearing notice.  To 
date, our office has received a small number of calls asking for clarifications about the 
upcoming project. We are not aware of any objections at this time.  

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The suggested special assessment district is consistent with the City Charter, and past 
precedence.  No legal review is required. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The costs being charged will cover the City’s costs payable to the contractor relative to 
the pipe installation.  As has been done traditionally, the City is subsidizing this program 
to a small degree in that inspection and restoration costs are covered by the City as a part 
of the overall cost of the project.   

SUMMARY: 
It is recommended that the City Commission conduct the public hearing, and authorize 
the special assessment district to defray the cost of the installation of new water and 
sewer laterals within the project area of the Townsend and Peabody Street Paving Project 
#6-21(P). 

7A



2 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS:   
 Notice of Necessity Public Hearing from the City Clerk 
 Memo of June 24, 2021, recommending the setting of a public hearings. 
 Letter Dated July 15, 2021 to residents of the SAD area. 
 Maps of proposed assessment district. 
 Proposed special assessment roll. 

 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
 
 
WHEREAS,   The City Commission has established a policy requiring the replacement of 

undersized or lead water lateral lines and sewer laterals in excess of fifty years 
old when the City street is open for repairs or reconstruction; and 

 
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission is of the opinion that replacement of water and sewer laterals 

not meeting current criteria as a part of the planned road paving project is declared 
a necessity; and  

 
 
WHEREAS, Formal bids have not been received at this time, and the cost per foot for 

replacement of the water and sewer laterals has been estimated,  
 
 
RESOLVED, That all sewer and water laterals not meeting current criteria located within the 

limits of the following streets shall be replaced as a part of the Townsend and 
Peabody Street Paving Project (Contract #6-21(P)): 

 
 Townsend St. – Southfield Road to Chester Ave. 
 Peabody St. – E. Maple to E. Brown St. 
 
    
RESOLVED, That at such time as the Assessor is directed to prepare the assessment roll, of 

which 100% of the contractor’s charge to replace water and sewer lateral 
(Estimated at the rate of $50.00 per foot for water laterals and $100.00 per foot 
for 6” sewer laterals, $125.00 for 8” sewer laterals $150.00 per foot for 10” 
sewer laterals) shall be charged to the adjoining property owners benefiting from 
the said laterals, 

 
 
  



3 

 
 

RESOLVED, That there be a special assessment district created and special assessments 
levied in accordance with benefits against the properties within such assessment 
district, said special assessment district shall be all properties, within the 
following district of 4 parcels: 

 
  Site Address: 600 W BROWN ST # 110,BIRMINGHAM,MI,48009 

Parcel Identification Number: 1936135033 

Owner Name: PIETY HILL PLACE 

 
Site Address: 555 TOWNSEND ST # 101,BIRMINGHAM,MI,48009 

Parcel Identification Number: 1936135025 
Owner Name: SUSAN E RIETH TRUST 

 
Site Address: 504 TOWNSEND ST,BIRMINGHAM,MI,48009 
Parcel Identification Number: 1936131017 

Owner Name: ROSSO DEVELOPMENT 
 

Site Address: 491 TOWNSEND ST,BIRMINGHAM,MI,48009 
Parcel Identification Number: 1936135009 
Owner Name: SCOTT CURRIE 
 

 
 
RESOLVED,    That the Commission shall meet on Monday, August 9, 2021, at 7:30 P.M., for 

the purpose of conducting a public hearing to confirm the roll for the 
replacement of water and sewer laterals within the Townsend and Peabody 
Street Paving Project.  

 
 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 

PUBLIC HEARING OF NECESSITY 
FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF SEWER AND WATER SERVICES 

WITHIN THE TOWNSEND & PEABODY STREET PAVING PROJECT AREA 
 

Meeting Date, Time, Location: Monday, July 26, 2021, at 7:30 p.m. 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
Birmingham, MI 

Location: Within Townsend & Peabody Street Paving 
Project Area - specifically Townsend Street 
between Southfield Road to S. Chester Street, 
and Peabody Street between E. Brown Street 
to E. Maple Avenue. 

Nature of Improvement: Replacement of sewer and water services 
within the Townsend & Peabody Paving 
Project area 

City Staff Contact: Jim Surhigh, 248.530.1839 
cityengineer@bhamgov.org 

Notice Requirments: Mail to affected property owners 
Publish July 11, 2021 

Approved minutes may be reviewed at: City Clerk’s Office 
You or your agent may appear at the hearings to express your views in person or virtually 

through ZOOM: https//zoom.us/j/655079760   Meeting ID: 655 079 760. You may also 
mail a written statement to: City Clerk, 151 Martin Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, MI 48012, 

prior to the hearing. However, if you fail to protest in person or by letter received either on or 

before the date of the hearing, you cannot appeal the amount of the special assessment to the 
Michigan Tax Tribunal.   

 
The property owner may file a written appeal of the special assessment with the State Tax Tribunal 

within 30 days after the confirmation of the special assessment roll if that special assessment was 
protested at the hearing held for the purpose of confirming the roll. All special assessments, including 

installment payments, shall, from the date of the confirmation thereof, constitute a lien on the 

respective lots or parcels assessed, and until paid shall be charged against the respective owners of 
the lots or parcels assessed. 

Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 

contact the City Clerk's Office at 248.530.1880 (voice) or 248.644.5115 (TDD) at least one day in 
advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance. 

 



1 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Engineering Dept. 
DATE:   June 24, 2021 
 
TO:   Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM:  James J. Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 
 
SUBJECT: Townsend & Peabody Street Paving Project 
 Sewer & Water Lateral Special Assessment District 
  
 
 
The Engineering Dept. is planning a project for reconstructing the pavement, along with 
completing certain sewer and water main improvements, on Townsend Street between Southfield 
Road to S. Chester Street, and Peabody Street between E. Brown Street to E. Maple Avenue.   
 
In accordance with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made 
when reconstructing roadways, as part of the project, we intend to replace all older sewer laterals 
located underneath the new proposed pavement, as well as all water services less than 1 inch 
diameter, which will be replaced with a new 1 inch diameter service.  Additionally, in accordance 
with recently modified rules from the Michigan Dept. of Environmental, Great Lakes, and Energy 
(EGLE) requiring the complete removal of lead water services from the water main to the water 
meter on private property, any such water service will also be replaced as part of the project.  
Per EGLE, the City is not allowed to charge a homeowner for costs associated with replacement 
of an existing lead water service.  The parcels that may be potentially subject to the Sewer & 
Water Lateral Special Assessment are highlighted on the attached maps. 
 
The Townsend & Peabody Street Paving Project is still being designed, and a final list of parcels 
that would be subject to the special assessment have not been determined at this time.  The 
specific list of parcels that would be subject to this special assessment will be provided as part of 
the report for the Public Hearing of Necessity being scheduled for a future date.   
 
Total estimated costs that would be assessed to property owners for completion of the sewer and 
water service replacements generally average $2,500 to $3,500 for a 6 inch sewer service, and 
$2,000 to $3,000 for a 1 inch water service.  A more precise estimate will accompany the report 
for the Public Hearing of Necessity being scheduled for a future date. 
 
It is recommended that a Public Hearing of Necessity for the replacement of sewer and water 
services be scheduled at the Monday, July 26, 2021 City Commission meeting.  It is further 
recommended that the Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll be held on Monday, August 9, 
2021.   
 
 
  



2 
 
 

SUGGESTED ACTION: 
 
To adopt a resolution for the City Commission to meet on Monday, July 26, 2021, at 7:30 P.M., 
for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing of Necessity for the replacement of sewer and 
water services within the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving project areas.   
 
Be it further RESOLVED, that the City Commission meet on Monday, August 9, 2021 at 7:30 P.M. 
for the purpose of conducting a Public Hearing on Confirmation of the Roll for the replacement 
of sewer and water services in the Townsend & Peabody Street Paving project areas. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



0
0.0

15
0.0

3
0.0

45
0.0

6
0.0

07
5

Mi
lesÜ

To
wn

se
nd

 St
ree

t P
av

ing
 P

roj
ec

t #
6-2

1(P
)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line



0
0.0

15
0.0

3
0.0

45
0.0

6
0.0

07
5

Mi
lesÜ

Pe
ab

od
y S

tre
et 

Pa
vin

g P
roj

ec
t #

6-2
1(P

)

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (final list not determined at this time)



 
July 15, 2021 
 
TO: Property Owners  
 
RE: Townsend and Peabody Paving Project 

Water & Sewer Lateral Replacement  
 

 
 
The City of Birmingham has scheduled significant work on your street during the 2021 
construction season. Upgrades to the water and sewer system, and complete street 
pavement replacement are planned.  
 
You should have already been notified there is a public hearing scheduled to occur on July 
26, 2021 to consider a Special Assessment District for replacing certain water and sewer 
laterals to individual properties within the project area. Since water and sewer services only 
benefit one property, they are not considered a part of the City’s public system, and the 
maintenance and repair of the services from the building to the connection at the public 
main is the responsibility of each individual property owner. City policy dictates that these 
replacements are completed at the property owner expense. This letter is to help clarify 
what is being assessed.  Not all properties are being assessed; only those that qualify as 
outlined below will have their sewer and/or water service replaced and receive an 
assessment. 
 
The City’s policy outlined in section 114-30 of the city code is to replace any water service 
that is less than 1 inch in diameter, and outlined in section 114-171 of the city code is to 
replace any sewer service that is 50 or more years old, in poor condition, or is made of 
materials that do not meet city standards (e.g. “Orangeburg” pipe). Replacement during a 
road construction project protects the City’s investment in the road by reducing the chance 
of failure by a lateral within the right-of-way area.  
 
After review of our records we expect the following parcels to be involved in the special 
assessment; 
 

Parcel Identification Number Address Description 

08-19-36-135-033 to 072 600 W Brown 10” Sewer Lead and 8” Sewer Lead 

08-19-36-135-025 to 031 555 Townsend (2) 6” Sewer Leads 

08-19-36-135-009 491 Townsend 6” Sewer Lead 

08-19-36-131-017 504 Townsend ¾” Water Service Upgrade 

 
Should a parcel be discovered to have items requiring assessment they will be added to the 
roll at a later date and the property owner will be notified. 



 
 
The actual cost of replacing the section of the water and/or sewer lateral charged to you 
will vary depending on the actual location of the City mains, and any other obstacles, such 
as trees, that are in the way. Property owners are only charged for the actual length of 
service replaced if their service qualifies for assessment as described above. 
 
After the work is completed, an invoice will be generated and sent to the property owner of 
record for the length of service(s) replaced. Payment in full will be expected within 30 days 
of receipt. If you are not in a position to pay off the charge in one payment, it can be 
broken into as many as 10 annual payments. An annual interest charge on the remaining 
balance, currently about 5%, will apply. It is expected that property owners will see a total 
charge of $1,600 to $5,000 for work related to this project.  
Recent experience has shown that replacing the water and sewer laterals as a part of our 
paving projects can substantially reduce the cost of replacement to the owner, as a repair 
of a water or sewer lateral in an emergency situation can often cost over $15,000. 
 
If you would like to know the actual amount estimated for your property, or have any other 
questions or concerns, please contact the Engineering Office at (248) 530-1850. You have 
the opportunity to speak directly to the City Commission, at the public hearing of necessity 
that will be held on July 26, 2021.   
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Scott D. Zielinski, P.E. 
Assistant City Engineer 



0 0.015 0.03 0.045 0.060.0075
Miles

Ü

Townsend Street Paving Project #6-21(P)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcel 08-19-36-131-017 in SAD

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD 

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Line

szielinski
Rectangle

szielinski
Rectangle

szielinski
Callout
Parcel 08-19-36-135-033 to 072, 08-19-36-135-025 to 031, and 08-19-36-131-017  in SAD

szielinski
Arrow

szielinski
Arrow

szielinski
Arrow

szielinski
Arrow

szielinski
Arrow



0 0.015 0.03 0.045 0.060.0075
Miles

Ü

Peabody Street Paving Project #6-21(P)

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Polygonal Line

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (Based on records no items require assessment)

jsurhigh
Callout
Parcels Potentially within Sewer & Water Lateral Replacement SAD (Based on records no items require assessment)



Parcel Identification 

Number
Address Description

Sewer 

Service 

Length 

(R.O.W. 

Only)

Sewer Service 

Cost Per Foot 

(Estimate)

Water 

Service 

Length 

(R.O.W. 

Only)

Water 

Service Cost 

Per Foot 

(Estimate)

Total Cost

08-19-36-135-033 to 072 600 W Brown 10” Sewer Lead 40 $150.00 0 $0.00 $6,000.00

08-19-36-135-033 to 072 600 W Brown 8” Sewer Lead 20 $125.00 0 $0.00 $2,500.00

08-19-36-135-025 to 031 555 Townsend (1st) 6” Sewer Lead 16 $100.00 0 $0.00 $1,600.00

08-19-36-135-025 to 031 555 Townsend (2nd) 6” Sewer Lead 16 $100.00 0 $0.00 $1,600.00

08-19-36-135-009 491 Townsend 6” Sewer Lead 16 $100.00 0 $0.00 $1,600.00

08-19-36-131-017 504 Townsend ¾” Water Service Upgrade 0 $0.00 37 $50.00 $1,850.00



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE:  July 26th, 2021 

TO:  Thomas Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana L. Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use 
Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review   

INTRODUCTION: 
The applicant has submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review for a proposed bistro license in the existing Whistle Stop Diner in the Rail District 
of Birmingham.  

BACKGROUND: 
The Whistle Stop was selected by the City Commission on October 26, 2020 as the sole bistro 
application to move forward to contend for one of the two bistro licenses that may be approved 
for an existing establishment each calendar year. During the selection process, the applicant 
described the Whistle Stop as a true family friendly restaurant with a delicious assortment of 
offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch. 

On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board recommended approval to the City Commission the Special 
Land Use, Final Site Plan and Design Review with the following conditions: 

1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade;
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage doors

showing a VLT of 80%;
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan prior to

the Public Hearing at the City Commission;
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce the

amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the Board for
administrative approval;

5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments.

At this time, the applicant has addressed the conditions required by the Planning Board. All of the 
required documentation has been provided, and has reworked the streetscape plan to include 
more greenspace, as well as a bench and bike racks.  

7B



LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed this application and has no concerns as to form and content. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan Reviews, a legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request advance of the June 9th, 2021 
Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants within 300’ 
of the property.  In addition, a second round of notices was sent out to advertise the public hearing 
at the City Commission. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the Special Land Use Permit, 
Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Please find attached the following documents for your review: 

 
• Draft Special Land Use Permit Resolution 
• Planning Division Report 
• Site/Design Plans 
• Meeting Minutes 
• Application & Supporting Documents 

 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 501 S. 
Eton – Whistle Stop to allow the operation of a bistro. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



WHISTLE STOP 
501 S. Eton 

Special Land Use Permit 2021 
 

WHEREAS, WHISTLE STOP filed an application pursuant to Article 7, section 7.34 of 
Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code to operate a food and drink establishment serving 
alcoholic liquors in the MX (Mixed-Use) zoning district in accordance Article 2, Section 2.39 
(C)(2)(b) of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

 
WHEREAS, the land for which the Special Land Use Permit is sought is located on the 

east side of S. Eton, south of Maple Rd.; 
 

WHEREAS, The land is zoned MX, which permits the operation of food and drink 
establishments serving alcoholic liquors using a BISTRO license with a Special Land Use Permit; 

 
WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use 

Permit to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after receiving 
recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board for the proposed Special 
Land Use; 

 
WHEREAS, The applicant submitted an application for a Special Land Use Permit,  

Final Site Plan and Design Review for WHISTLE STOP to operate at 501 S. Eton; 
 
WHEREAS, The Planning Board on May 26, 2021 reviewed the application for a Special Land 

Use Permit,  Final Site Plan and Design Review and recommended APPROVAL to the City 
Commission to permit a new food and drink establishment serving alcoholic liquors with the 
following conditions: 

 
1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade; 
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage 

doors showing a VLT of 80%; 
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 

prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; 
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce 

the amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the 
Board for administrative approval;  

5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,  
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 

 
WHEREAS, The applicant has agreed to provide all requested information and to 

comply with the requests of all City departments; 
 
WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission has reviewed WHISTLE STOP’S Special 

Land Use Permit application and the standards for such review as set forth in Article 7, section 
7.36 of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the 

standards imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and that 



WHISTLE STOP’S application for a Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review at 
501 S. Eton is hereby approved; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to assure 

continued compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, this 
Special Land Use Permit is granted subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The Planning Board and City Commission approves 67% glazing on the 

storefront façade. 
2. WHISTLE STOP will close outdoor dining areas by 3 PM each day of the 

week; 
3. WHISTLE STOP shall abide by all provisions of the Birmingham City Code; 

and 
4. The Special Land Use Permit may be canceled by the City Commission 

upon finding that the continued use is not in the public interest. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall 

result in termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, WHISTLE STOP and its 

heirs, successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of Birmingham in 
effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently amended. 
Failure of WHISTLE STOP to comply with all the ordinances of the City may result in the 
Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

 
MAY IT BE FURTHER RESOLVED that WHISTLE STOP is recommended for the operation 

of a food and drink establishment serving alcoholic beverages on premises, above all 
others, subject to final inspection. 
 
I, Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that 
the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City 
Commission at its regular meeting held on July 26, 2021. 
 
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham 
City Clerk  

 
 



MEMORANDUM 
 

Planning Division 
 
DATE:   June 9th, 2021 
 
TO:   Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
 
FROM:  Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
 
SUBJECT: 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site 

Plan & Design Review  
 
 
The subject site, 501 S. Eton, is currently used as a restaurant within an existing one-story 
commercial building fronting S. Eton. The applicant has submitted a Special Land Use and Final 
Site Plan/Design Review application requesting a bistro license for the Whistle Stop Diner.  
 
On January 22nd, the Planning Board reviewed and approved a Design Review application for 
extensive façade renovations at the Whistle Stop which included an expansion into the adjacent 
tenant space. The applicant is proposing minor exterior changes to the building/site as a part of 
this Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan/Design Review application, which revolve around 
the placement of the proposed outdoor dining facility.  
 
The Whistle Stop was selected by the City Commission on October 26, 2020 as the sole bistro 
application to move forward to contend for one of the two bistro licenses that may be approved 
for an existing establishment each calendar year. During the selection process, the applicant 
described the Whistle Stop as a true family friendly restaurant with a delicious assortment of 
offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch.  
 
The Birmingham Code of Ordinances states that a contract for transfer and a Special Land Use 
Permit are required for all licenses approved under Chapter 10 – Alcoholic Liquors. The licensee 
must comply with all provisions of the contract and Special Land Use Permit, and any amendments 
thereto as a condition of granting of a requested transfer. Accordingly, the applicant must obtain 
a recommendation from the Planning Board on the Special Land Use and Final Site Plan/Design 
Review application, which is then reviewed for final consideration by the City Commission.  
 

1.0 Land Use and Zoning 
 

1.1 Existing Land Use – One-story multi-tenant commercial building. 
 

1.2 Zoning – MX (Mixed-Use) 



 
1.3 Summary of Adjacent Land Use and Zoning –  

 
 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use 

Multi-Family Commercial 
Multi-Family/ 
Commercial 

Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

R3 (Single-
Family 

Residential) 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
2.0 Bistro Requirements 

 
Article 9, Section 9.02, Definitions, of the Zoning Ordinance defines a bistro as a 
restaurant with a full service kitchen with interior seating for no more than 65 people 
and additional seating for outdoor dining for no more than 65 people.   
 
Article 3, Section 3.04(C)(10) of the Zoning Ordinance permits bistros in the Downtown 
Overlay District as long as the following conditions are met: 
 

a. No direct connect additional bar permit is allowed and the maximum seating at 
a bar cannot exceed 10 seats; 

b. Alcohol is served only to seated patrons, except those standing in a defined bar 
area; 

c. No dance area is provided; 
d. Only low key entertainment is permitted; 
e. Bistros must have tables located in the storefront space lining any street, or 

pedestrian passage; 
f. A minimum of 70% glazing must be provided along building facades facing a 

street or pedestrian passage between 1’ and 8’ in height; 
g. All bistro owners must execute a contract with the City outlining the details of 

the operation of the bistro; and 
h. Outdoor dining must be provided, weather permitting, along an adjacent street 

or passage during the months of May through October each year.  Outdoor 
dining is not permitted past 12:00 a.m.  If there is not sufficient space to permit 
such dining on the sidewalk adjacent to the bistro, an elevated, ADA compliant, 
enclosed platform must be erected on the street adjacent to the bistro to create 
an outdoor dining area if the Engineering Department determines there is 
sufficient space available for this purpose given parking and traffic conditions. 

i. Enclosures facilitating year round dining outdoors are not permitted. 



j. Railings, planters or similar barriers defining outdoor dining platforms may not 
exceed 42’’ in height. 

k. Outdoor rooftop dining is permitted with the conditions that surrounding 
properties are not impacted in a negative manner and adequate street level 
dining is provided as determined by the Planning Board and City Commission. 
Rooftop dining seats will count towards the total number of permissible outdoor 
dining seats. 

 
At this time, the applicant appears to meet the requirements listed above. On the 
interior, the proposed bar counter contains 8 seats. There is no dance floor, and there 
are no indications on the plans there any entertainment will be provided at the proposed 
restaurant. In totality, the applicant is proposing 64 interior seats, including the 8 at the 
bar. 
 
As far as exterior conditions, a 28-seat outdoor patio is proposed along the front of the 
building, which is a change from the January 2020 Design Review in which the applicant 
proposed to erect a platform in the grassy easement across the sidewalk. The outdoor 
dining area is proposed to be enclosed by a removable railing that measures 36 in. in 
height, contains a trash receptacle, and is accessed by two overhead garage doors and 
one typical entry door. Additionally, although the outdoor dining area appears to be 
located on public property, the applicant is proposing to repave the 453 sq. ft. area with 
pervious concrete to help mitigate the loss of greenspace caused by the relocation of 
the patio. Further streetscape/landscaping changes will be discussed below. Finally, the 
applicant has provided glazing calculations at 67%, which will be discussed in detail 
below. 

 
The Whistle Stop has indicated that the introduction of a bistro license will not change 
the hours of operation for the indoor or outdoor dining areas. The Whistle stop plans to 
maintain the current hours of operation of 7 AM – 3 PM, Monday-Saturday, and 8 AM – 
3 PM on Sundays. The proposed hours of operation for the restaurant, and subsequently 
the outdoor patio, meet the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance as they close well 
before 10 PM.  
 

3.0 Setback and Height Requirements 
 
Please see the attached zoning compliance summary sheet for details on setback and 
height requirements. There are currently no issues with bulk, height or placement with 
the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan/Design Review application submitted. 

 
4.0 Screening and Landscaping 

 



4.1 Dumpster Screening – There are no changes proposed to the dumpster or 
screening on site. 
 

4.2 Parking Lot Screening – There are no changes proposed to the parking lot or 
associated screening. 

 
4.3 Mechanical Equipment Screening – There are no changes proposed to the 

mechanical equipment or screening on site. 
 

4.4 Landscaping – The applicant is proposing to install new boxwood plantings and 
one new maple tree in front of the existing parking lot screen wall at the 
southwest corner of the property. The proposed new landscaping is an attempt 
to introduce new greenspace and tree cover to the right-of-way to make up for 
the greenspace and tree proposed to be removed in the easement, which is 
discussed in detail below.  

 
4.5 Streetscape – As noted above, the proposed relocation of the outdoor dining 

area from a platform in the easement to a typical patio adjacent to the building 
has necessitated a proposed re-design of the streetscape in front of the building. 
The applicant is proposing to remove 1 of 3 existing street trees and the majority 
of the grass in the easement to repave and rework the sidewalk around their 
newly proposed outdoor dining area. The resulting streetscape will contain a 
small grassy area and tree at the south end of the streetscape, an existing tree 
in a new planter at the north end, and a 6 ft. clear walking path that curves 
around the patio to the west. 

 
Article 4, Section 4.20 (G) requires at least 1 street tree for each 40 ft. of 
frontage. The entire building contains 130 ft. of frontage, which requires 3 street 
trees. Although the applicant is proposing to remove one of the 3 existing trees, 
they are proposing to replace the tree at the south end of the property. At this 
time, however, it is unclear as to whether or not the new tree is proposed on 
public or private property. Additionally, the spacing of the trees would be 
mismatched/uneven based on the rest of the S. Eton streetscape. The property 
line indicated on the site plan submitted extends roughly 5 ft. beyond the face 
of the building, whereas City records indicate that the S. Eton right-of-way may 
extend all the way to the face of the building. The Applicant has not yet 
submitted a Certified Land Survey to confirm the location of the property lines. 
 
At this time, the applicant has not proposed any additional streetscape 
improvements such as benches, bike racks, waste receptacles, or streetlights. 
The Planning Board may wish to require the applicant to provide some of these 



streetscape improvements as a part of the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site 
Plan/Design review application submitted. 

 
5.0 Parking, Loading and Circulation 

 
5.1 Parking – There are no changes to the parking requirements on site. The 

applicant has a 13-space on-site parking facility, 8 spaces in the ROW that were 
approved to be counted towards the off-street parking required (2007), and 
received a variance of 17 parking spaces in 2020 for a total of 38 spaces. 

 
5.2 Loading – There are no changes proposed to the loading requirements. 

 
5.3 Vehicular Circulation and Access – There are no changes proposed to the 

vehicular circulation and access. 
 

5.4 Pedestrian Circulation and Access – The pedestrian circulation along S. Eton is 
proposed to be altered by redirecting the sidewalk west to make room for the 
newly proposed outdoor dining area. All entrances/exits are proposed to remain 
as existing.  

 
It is worth noting at this time that there are currently no sidewalks located on 
the north (Hazel) and south (Palmer) sides of the property. These areas are 
currently inhabited by greenspace and arborvitaes. As a longstanding 
neighborhood eatery and destination, it would be beneficial in the near future to 
work together on ways to improve connectivity to the site for pedestrian access 
from Hazel and Palmer.  

 
6.0 Lighting 

There are no new light fixtures or changes in lighting proposed. 
 

7.0 Departmental Reports 
 

7.1 Engineering Division – The Engineering Division has provided the following 
comments: 
 
1. The plans propose to remove at least one street tree, while the other two 

are noted as “in existing planters,” which do not exist. The current 
condition has the street trees in grass/mulch. 

2. The applicant is proposing to remove a lot of pervious area and the 
Engineering Division would like to balance that out. The applicant is 
proposing pervious concrete in the patio space, and we would like to see 
the drainage plan, as the pervious space would only be as successful as 



its drainage area. Additionally, a maintenance plan might be needed 
depending on the design. Lastly, there does not appear to be any 
greenspace around the tree at the north of the streetscape where there 
may be room for some. 

3. There seems to be a significant fall between the existing walk at the 
building and exiting top of curb, which may make extending the sidewalk 
challenging for ADA.  Simply raising the curb height is not permitted as 
it would affect cars parking there from opening their doors and potentially 
be a hazard to drivers. 

4. The existing curb does not look to be in great shape, and may need 
repairs if the walk were pushed to the edge.  The pavement adjacent to 
the curb looks to be in poor condition, too, and any work on the curb 
may result in additional pavement replacement. 

5. The fence for the outdoor dining area ends very close to the neighboring 
tenant space door at the south end of the outdoor dining area. The 
Engineering Division would suggest the applicant gain written approval 
for this condition. 

6. When sidewalks are pushed to the curb, we would prefer a wider sidewalk 
than 5 feet.  Even though parking is here, not a traveled lane, when a 
door is open, there has to be at least 30 inches of space for ADA 
compliance, which would reduce the sidewalk width and potentially 
interrupt the flow of pedestrians. 

 
7.2 Department of Public Services – The Department of Public Services has not 

provided any comments at this time. 
 

7.3 Fire Department – The Fire Department has provided the following comments 
and requests for information: 

 
1. Determined occupant load by Building Department and Fire Marshal. 
2. Hood suppression acceptance test. 
3. Keys provided for Knox box. 
4. Fire extinguisher placement. 
5. Final site inspection required. 

 
7.4 Police Department – The Police Department does not have any concerns at this 

time, but noted that the formal police liquor license investigation has not yet 
been initiated. 

 
7.5 Building Division – The Building Division has provided the following comments: 

 
As requested, the Building Department has examined the plans for the proposed 
project referenced above. The plans were provided to the Planning Department 



for site plan review purposes only and present conceptual elevations and floor 
plans. Although the plans lack sufficient detail to perform a code review, the 
following comments are offered for Planning Design Review purposes and 
applicant consideration: 
 
Applicable Building Codes: 
 

• 2015 Michigan Building Code. Applies to all buildings other than those 
regulated by the Michigan Residential Code. 

• 2015 Michigan Mechanical Code. (Residential requirements for 
mechanical construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and 
multiple single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories 
in height with a separate means of egress and their accessory structures 
are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

• 2015 Michigan Plumbing Code. (Residential requirements for plumbing 
construction in all detached one and two-family dwellings and multiple 
single-family dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories in 
height with a separate means of egress and their accessory structures 
are contained in the Michigan Residential Code) 

• 2017 National Electrical Code along with the Michigan Part 8 Rules. 
(Residential requirements for electrical construction in all detached one 
and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family dwellings 
(townhouses) not more than three stories in height with a separate 
means of egress and their accessory structures are contained in the 
Michigan Residential Code) 
 

Review Comments: 
 

• No building codes concerns at this time. The applicant will need to submit 
revised construction documents for the proposed changes to the existing 
approved plans. 

 
8.0 Design Review 

 
As noted above, the only new exterior change proposed on the building are the addition 
of two new overhead garage doors on the west façade, which will act as access to the 
outdoor dining area and provide more interaction between the restaurant and the 
streetscape. The two garage doors are constructed of black metal and glass.  
 
Glazing 
Because the applicant is proposing to rework the storefront, and subsequently the 
glazing, the Planning division requested that the applicant submit glazing calculations 



for the proposed storefront to compare to the Window Standards in Article 4, Section 
4.90, as well as the bistro standards in Article 3, Section 3.04 of the Zoning Ordinance. 
The applicant has submitted glazing calculations that indicate a glazed area of 67% 
between 1 ft. and 8 ft. from grade. The Zoning Ordinance requires storefronts to contain 
a minimum of 70% glazing in between 1 ft. and 8 ft. from grade. 

 
However, to allow flexibility in design, these standards may be modified by a majority 
vote of those appointed and serving on the Planning Board, Design Review Board for 
architectural design considerations provided that the following conditions are met: 
 

a. The subject property must be in a zoning district that allows mixed uses; 
b. The scale, color, design and quality of materials must be consistent with the 

building and site on which it is located; 
c. The proposed development must not adversely affect other uses and buildings 

in the neighborhood; 
d. Glazing above the first story shall not exceed a maximum of 70% of the façade 

area; 
e. Windows shall be vertical in proportion. 

 
At this time, the applicant appears to meet the above conditions. Thus, the applicant 
must receive approval from the Planning Board to provide 67% glazing on 
the storefront façade, provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from 
the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Furthermore, the applicant has not submitted specification sheets with Visual Light 
Transmittance (VLT) figures that are required with any new glazing proposed. The new 
glazing is required to meet the current Window Standards which is 80% VLT. At this 
time, the Planning Division has been advised that it will be clear and complement the 
existing glass. The Planning Board may cite the ordinance language above to modify the 
clarity requirements slightly if the applicant is unable to meet the 80% VLT 
requirements. Thus, the applicant must submit specification sheets for the 
proposed roll down garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval 
from the Planning Board for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Outdoor Dining 
Although the materials proposed within the outdoor dining area have not changed from 
the Design Review in 2020, the applicant has re-submitted the specification sheets for 
the furniture for convenience. The proposed tables and chairs are constructed of metal 
as required by Article 4, Section 4.44 of the Zoning Ordinance. The tables are proposed 
to be “Black” in color, while the chairs are proposed in “Cherry Red”. The applicant is 
also proposing two umbrellas, which are “Logo Red” in color.  



 
9.0 Required Attachments 

 Submitted Not Submitted Not Required 
Existing Conditions Plan ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Detailed and Scaled Site Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Certified Land Survey ☐ ☒ ☐ 

Interior Floor Plans ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Landscape Plan ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Photometric Plan ☐ ☐ ☒ 

Colored Elevations ☒ ☐ ☐ 

Material Specification Sheets ☒ ☐ ☐ 
Material Samples ☐ ☐ ☒ 

Site & Aerial Photographs ☒ ☐ ☐ 
 

Although the applicant has submitted a letter stating that they have contracted with 
Survey Tech for a land survey, the applicant has not yet submitted a Certified Land Survey 
or Existing Conditions Plan. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and 
Existing Conditions Plan prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission.  
 

10.0 Bistro Criteria 
 
Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors, section 10-82 provides a limitation on the number of 
Bistro Licenses that the City Commission may approve, and provides selection criteria to 
assist the Planning Board and City Commission in evaluating applications for Bistro 
Licenses. Section 10-82 states: 
 

(1) New establishments.  Two (2) Bistro Licenses may be approved each calendar 
year to applicants who do not meet the definition of existing establishments as 
set forth in (a)(1) above.  In addition to the usual criteria used by the city 
commission for liquor license requests, the commission shall consider the 
following non-exclusive list of criteria to assist in the determination of which of 
the new establishment applicants, if any, should be approved: 
 

a. The applicant’s demonstrated ability to finance the proposed project. 
b. The applicant’s track record with the city including responding to city 

and/or citizen concerns. 
c. Whether the applicant has an adequate site plan to handle the bistro 

liquor license activities. 
d. Whether the applicant has adequate health and sanitary facilities. 
e. The establishment’s location in relation to the determined interest in the 

establishment of bistros in the Overlay District and the Triangle District. 



f. The extent that the cuisine offered by applicant is represented in the city. 
g. Whether the applicant has outstanding obligations to the city (ie property 

taxes, utilities, etc.).   
 

During the Bistro Selection process at the City Commission, the applicant demonstrated 
their ability to continue to finance the renovation/bistro project that has already begun. 
The acquisition of a liquor license, and subsequently a Special Land Use Permit from the 
City is the final step in this ongoing process. The applicant has also noted that they have 
a good track record with the City of Birmingham, as well as the City of Pleasant Ridge 
where the second Whistle Stop location is located. The proposed site plan appears to 
be able to handle the bistro liquor license activities and contains improved health and 
sanitary facilities. Finally, this would be the first bistro liquor license in the Rail District, 
and the Whistle Stop is the sole purveyor of breakfast/brunch cuisine in the area.  

 
11.0 Approval Criteria 

 
In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property nor 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 
 

In addition, Article 7, Section 7.26 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit 
to meet the following criteria: 
 

(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this 
Zoning Ordinance. 



(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural 
environment, and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by 
the land use. 

(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning 

Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
12.0 Recommendation 

 
Based on a review of the site plan submitted, the Planning Division recommends that 
the Planning Board recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Special Land 
Use and Final Site Plan/Design Review application for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with 
the following conditions: 
 

1. The Planning Board APPROVES the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront 
façade; 

OR 
 

1. The applicant must provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from the 
Board of Zoning Appeals; 
 

2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage 
doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board for a 
lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

13.0 Sample Motion Language (Final Site Plan & Design Review ) 
 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Final Site Plan & Design 
Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with the following conditions: 
 

1. The Planning Board APPROVES the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront 
façade; 

OR 
 

1. The applicant must provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance from the 
Board of Zoning Appeals; 
 



2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down 
garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board 
for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning 
Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 
Motion to POSTPONE the Final Site Plan & Design Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle 
Stop – pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. The applicant must receive approval from the Planning Board to provide 67% 
glazing on the storefront façade, provide additional glazing, or obtain a variance 
from the Board of Zoning Appeals; 

2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down 
garage doors showing a VLT of 80%, receive approval from the Planning Board 
for a lower VLT percentage, or obtain a variance from the Board of Zoning 
Appeals; 

3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; and 

4. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 

OR 
 
Motion to recommend the DENIAL to the City Commission the Final Site Plan & Design 
Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – for the following reasons: 
 

1. ________________________________________________________________ 
2. ________________________________________________________________ 
3. ________________________________________________________________ 

 
14.0 Sample Motion Language (Special Land Use Permit) 

 
Motion to recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit 
for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of Final Site Plan & Design 
Review approval. 
 

OR 
 

Motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – 
pending receipt of the following: 
 



1. ______________________________________________________________ 
2. ______________________________________________________________ 
3. ______________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Motion to recommend DENIAL to the City Commission the Special Land Use Permit for 
501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – for the following reasons: 
 

1. ______________________________________________________________ 
2. ______________________________________________________________ 
3. ______________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

 



Page 1 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary Sheet 
 Final Site Plan Review 

501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop 
 

 
Existing Site: 1-Story Commercial Building 

Zoning: MX (Mixed-Use) 

Land Use: Commercial 
 
Existing Land Use and Zoning of Adjacent Properties: 
 

 North South East West 
Existing 
Land Use 

Multi-Family Commercial 
Multi-Family/ 
Commercial 

Single-Family 
Residential 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

MX (Mixed-
Use) 

R3 (Single-
Family 

Residential) 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
 
 

Land Area:   Existing: 0.26 ac. 
Proposed: 0.26 ac.  

Dwelling Units: Existing: 0 units 
Proposed: 0 units 

 
Minimum Lot Area/Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Min. Floor Area /Unit: Required: N/A 

Proposed: N/A 

Max. Total Floor Area: Required: 100% 
6,000 sq. ft. for commercial, office, and service uses 

Proposed: 3,893 sq. ft. (no changes proposed) 

Min. Open Space: Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

Max. Lot Coverage: Required: N/A 



Page 2 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Proposed: N/A 

Front Setback: Required: 0 ft. 
Proposed: 5 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Side Setbacks Required: 0 ft. 
Proposed: 8 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Rear Setback: Required: 10 ft. 
Proposed: 5 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Min. Front+Rear Setback Required: N/A 
Proposed: N/A 

 
Max. Bldg. Height: Permitted: 45 ft., 4 stories 

Proposed: 16 ft., 1 story (no changes proposed) 

Min. Eave Height: Required: 18 ft. 
Proposed: 14 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Floor-Ceiling Height: Required: 12 ft. 
Proposed: None listed 

Front Entry: Required: On frontage line 
Proposed: On frontage line (no changes proposed) 

Absence of Bldg. Façade: Required: 32 in. screenwall 
Proposed: 32 in. screenwall (no changes proposed) 

Opening Width: Required: 25 ft. 
Proposed: 3 ft. (no changes proposed) 

Parking: Required: 38 off-street spaces 
Proposed: 38 off- street spaces (private, ROW & variance) 

Min. Parking Space Size: Required: 180 sq. ft. 
Proposed: 180 sq. ft. (no changes proposed) 

Parking in Frontage: Required: Off-street parking contained in the first story shall not be 
permitted within 10 feet of any building facade on a 
frontage line or between the building facade and the 
frontage line. 

Proposed: No parking in 1st story (no changes proposed) 

Loading Area: Required: None 



Page 3 of 3 
 

Zoning Compliance Summary | 501 S. Eton | 6/9/2021 
 

Proposed: None 

Screening:   
  

Parking: Required: 32 in. masonry screen wall 
Proposed: 32 in. masonry screen wall (no changes proposed) 

Loading: Required: Minimum 6 ft. screen wall 
Proposed: N/A 

Rooftop Mechanical: Required: Fully screened from public view 
Proposed: Corrugated metal panels (no changes proposed) 

 
Elect. Transformer: Required: Obscured from public view 

Proposed: N/A 

Dumpster: Required: 6 ft. masonry w/ wood gate 
Proposed: None (no changes proposed) 

 

 







WHISTLE STOP DINER RETAIL

0'-0"

TOP OF MASONRY

GRADE

16'-0"

14'-0"
TOP OF EXISTING MASONRY

1'-
0"

7'-
0"

54'-101
4"

A201

EXTERIOR 

18052PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

(DO NOT SCALE DRAWING)

DATE:

PROJECT:

WHISTLE STOP 
501 SOUTH ETON 

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

586-321-7727
jawanmatti@gmail.com

BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 

JAWAN MATTI

N O T   F O R   C O N S T R U C T I O N
P R E L I M I N A R Y

5/10/2021 BISTRO LICENSE 

GLAZING CALCULATION:

AREA: 384 S.F.

GLAZING AREA: 258 S.F.

PERCENTAGE: 67%

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

WEST (ETON) ELEVATION1
A201



BENCHMARK

BENCHMARK

( 5
0' w

id
e )

Hazel S
tre

et

(
 
8
6
'
 
w

i
d
e
 
)

S
.
 
E

t
o
n
 
S

t
r
e
e
t

( 6
0' w

id
e )

Hazel S
tre

et

( 5
0' w

id
e )

Palm
er S

tre
et

Know what'sbelow
Callbefore you dig.

R

N

Site

Location  Map

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS

LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
L/S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BUILDING EATON STATION II CODOMINIUM PLAN NO. 1678 UNIT #8

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON GATE LLC #401 EATON

AutoCAD SHX Text
#515 EATON

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRIFFIN CLAW #575 EATON

AutoCAD SHX Text
#1989 BOWERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GARAGE 1989 BOWERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
#1998 HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
#1974 HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
#1999 HAZEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
#501 EATON

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BUILDING EATON STATION II CODOMINIUM PLAN NO. 1678 UNIT #2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BUILDING EATON STATION I CODOMINIUM PLAN NO. 1476 UNIT #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY BRICK AND BLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
S27°16'18"E 172.16' (M) 173.00' (R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N01°59'10"E  130.20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87°59'40"E  46.56'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S01°59'10"W   5.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N73°28'20"W  123.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATION HEREON SHOWN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
-  THE UTILITY LOCATIONS AS HEREON SHOWN ARE BASED ON

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE BURIED UTILITY INFOR-

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCAVATION. THEREFORE WE CAN NOT GUARANTEE THE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTHER CHARACTERISTICS OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES WITHOUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETERMINE THE PRECISE SIZE, LOCATION, DEPTH, OR ANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND UTILITY RECORDS. HOWEVER IT IS NOT POSSIBLE TO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD OBSERVATIONS AND A CAREFUL REVIEW OF MUNICIPAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
21144

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET:  

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB # :   

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIVIL ENGINEERING

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPRIETOR: WHISTLE STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.O

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.M.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"= 20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEL (248) 670-6556

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND SURVEYING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE: 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3253 LYNHURST CT., OAKLAND TWP., MI 48306

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURVEY TECH.  

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 OF 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOUNDARY & TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
07-05-2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
4001058308

AutoCAD SHX Text
License No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANDREW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWENS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 Mile Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Maple Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Big Beaver Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Southfield Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Adams Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Eton Road

AutoCAD SHX Text
Coolidge Hwy.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Woodward Ave.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION (PER TAX RECORDS) PART OF LOTS 2&3 OF "ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO.28" BEING A REPLAT OF LOT 169 OF BIRMINGHAM GARDENS AND PLAT OF PART OF N.E   SEC 31 T2N.,R11E,. CITY OF BIRMINGHAM,OAKLAND 14 SEC 31 T2N.,R11E,. CITY OF BIRMINGHAM,OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN. DESCRIBED AS COMMENCING AT THE NORTH WEST CORNER OF LOT 3,THENCE NORTH 5.00' THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 3 46.56'THENCE SOUTH 5.00' TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 3 THENCE WEST ALONG LOT LINE 46.56' TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. ALSO LOT 3 EXCEPT COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 3 THENCE NWLY. 40.00' ALONG SOUTH LINE, THENCE NWLY. 172.46'(M) 173.00'(R) TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT. THENCE SLEY 200.00' ALONG EAST LOT LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Water Main

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Storm Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Sanitary Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Right of Way

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Property Line

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Physically Handicapped

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Utility Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Light Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Hydrant

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Gate Valve

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Clean Out

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Catch Basin

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Asphalt

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW

AutoCAD SHX Text
P/L

AutoCAD SHX Text
PH

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Set Iron

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Found Iron

AutoCAD SHX Text
SI

AutoCAD SHX Text
FI

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Surveyed Measurement

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Record Measurement

AutoCAD SHX Text
(M)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(R)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SO

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Shutoff (Water)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Transformer

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Parking Meter

AutoCAD SHX Text
PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Guard Post

AutoCAD SHX Text
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Cable Service

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Calculated

AutoCAD SHX Text
(C)

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Gas Service/Gas Main

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Electric Service

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Landscape

AutoCAD SHX Text
L/S

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Post Indicator Valve

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIV

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Phone

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Monitor Well

AutoCAD SHX Text
MW

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Overhead Lines

AutoCAD SHX Text
OH LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Electric Meter

AutoCAD SHX Text
EM

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Electric Conduit/Riser

AutoCAD SHX Text
EC

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Ground Light

AutoCAD SHX Text
GL

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Stop Box (Water)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SB

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Monument

AutoCAD SHX Text
MON

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Gas Meter

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Cable Television/Box/Riser 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Found Monument

AutoCAD SHX Text
FMON

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Found Iron Pipe

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
= Underground

AutoCAD SHX Text
UG

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BURIED CABLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHEAD LINES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING WATER MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R.Y. CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING GAS MAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SAN. CLEAN OUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY POLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATCH BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE VALVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HYDRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANHOLE



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

1 
 

06-076-21 
 
D. Review Of The Agenda  
 
There were no changes to the agenda. 
 

06-077-21 
 

E. Special Land Use Permit Review and Final Site Plan and Design Review 
 

1. 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Request for a Special Land Use Permit to consider  
approval of a new bistro serving alcoholic liquors in an existing building. 
 

CP Dupuis reviewed the item. He noted that this would actually be the second bistro in the Rail 
District since it would be in addition to the bistro in Whole Foods. 
 
Patrick Howe, attorney, Jawan Matti, architect, and Elda and Valter Xhomaqi, owners, were 
present on behalf of the applicant. 
 
Ms. Matti said she had proposed concrete for the area in front of the southern tenant space 
because she was concerned the sidewalk might otherwise be too choppy. She said she was not 
yet sure what the proposed pervious concrete would look like. 
 
Mr. Koseck said he was in favor of having more green space in front of the southern tenant space 
instead of concrete. He also asked that the front windows be updated to the City’s current 
standards of clear glass.  
 
Ms. Matti confirmed that the Xhomaqis would change out the current front window glass to clear 
glass to meet the current standards. 
 
Mr. Howe said that would leave the project with a 3% deficiency on the glazing and asked the 
Board to approve the plans as such since it is a renovation. 
 
Mr. Jeffares concurred with Mr. Koseck that the green space should be increased in front of the 
southern tenant space. 
 
In reply to the Chair, Mr. Howe stated that the alcoholic beverages served would not deviate from 
the sample menu provided. He stated that there would not be full bar service, and that if Whistle 
Stop in the future wanted to modify that proposal they would return for a SLUP amendment.  
 
In regards to Messrs. Koseck’s and Jeffares’ concerns about green space in front of the restaurant, 
Chair Clein noted complicating the pedestrian pathway in front of the restaurant could result in 
difficulties for visually impaired pedestrians navigating the space. He said he would be more in 
favor of possibly adding a new street tree, adding more pervious pavement, or adding planters 
and boxes to retain more greenery without causing additional challenges for visually impaired 
pedestrians.  
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

2 
 

PD Ecker confirmed for the Chair that she could work with the Engineering Department and the 
applicant to implement the Board’s comments and administratively approve the item if that was 
the Board’s recommendation. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said than if more green space could not be added then bike parking could be provided 
on the areas of extra concrete. 
 
Mr. Koseck concurred and suggested that benches or light fixtures could be other options for 
areas of excess concrete. 
 
Mr. Howe said the applicant would be happy to work with the City to improve the front 
streetscape. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce noted that the area around the tree proceeding north along the sidewalk did 
not need to be paved. She expressed appreciation for the applicant’s submitted designs generally, 
and agreed that the applicant could work with City departments to increase green space or give 
the concrete purpose in the front streetscape. 
 
Subsequent to Board discussion about vehicle door swings, Mr. Emerine noted that the sidewalk 
as proposed met the City’s code and ordinance standards. He noted that there was only one 
parallel parking space in front of the Whistle Stop. He said that while door swings might be a 
future topic for the Board to discuss more generally it was not an issue for this item from an 
engineering standpoint.  
 
PD Ecker confirmed that the sidewalk’s width as proposed met the City’s ordinance requirements. 
 
Public Comment 

 
James Schmier, resident of the Rail District and Board Member of Eton Two, said there were 
substantial issues with parking in the residential areas surround Whistle Stop. He said he was 
supportive of the bistro license being granted in general, but not until permit parking on the 
streets across from Attard was removed in order to decrease the number of vehicles parking in 
his neighborhood. 
 
In reply to Chair Clein, PD Ecker confirmed that permit parking is evaluated by the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board and the City Commission. 
 
A second resident of the Rail District and a Board Member of Eton One concurred that she was 
fine with the bistro license being granted but not before traffic, congestion, and pedestrian safety 
issues at Eton and Hazel were addressed.  
 
Chair Clein noted that the Whistle Stop is an existing establishment proposing a decreased amount 
of seating from what was previously approved. He stated that granting the bistro license would 
not likely have a significant impact on the number of patrons and would have no impact on the  
hours of operation. He said he also lives in the Rail District across from a restaurant and that 
parking has not been an issue as long as it is managed properly. He said that if the applicant 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

3 
 

works to improve the proposed streetscape as discussed he would support the item if it came to 
a vote. 
 
Mr. Emerine said he was happy to support the item moving forward. He noted that the Whistle 
Stop was an existing business with existing parking that would not exacerbate the area’s parking 
and traffic issues, and that they had reduced their seating from the previous proposal. He said 
granting Whistle Stop a bistro license would be a wonderful asset to the City. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said he wanted to see the Board’s comments integrated into the design and returned 
for Board review once more. He said the changes proposed were important and stated it was 
unusual to allow these types of changes to be administratively approved. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she was confident that the Planning and Engineering Departments, 
working with the applicant, would be able to integrate the Board’s comments without the Board 
needing to see the item again. She stated that the changes requested were not so significant that 
they required additional Board review. She also noted that PD Ecker had said she was comfortable 
resolving those issues as part of the administrative approval process.  
 
Mr. Share said he agreed with Ms. Whipple-Boyce given the small area to be updated and the 
modest changes required. He agreed with Chair Clein that permitting the addition of eight 
alcoholic beverages to the Whistle Stop’s menu would be unlikely to create an increase in parking 
congestion. He said he was not minimizing the parking issues in the area, only noting that denying 
this bistro application would not ameliorate those issues.  
 
Mr. Williams concurred. 
 
Mr. Williams also echoed some of the comments from the public. He stated that he had long been 
advocating for two stop signs to be added on Eton at Hazel. He explained the Police Department 
did not pursue his recommendations regarding the matter despite his previous appeals. He 
emphasized the dangerousness of the intersection of Eton and Hazel, and said installing the two 
stop signs he recommended would vastly improve traffic and pedestrian safety. 
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the Final 
Site Plan & Design Review for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – with the following 
conditions: 
1. The Planning Board approves the proposed 67% glazing on the storefront façade; 
2. The applicant must submit specification sheets for the proposed roll down garage 
doors showing a VLT of 80%; 
3. The applicant must submit a Certified Land Survey and Existing Conditions Plan 
prior to the Public Hearing at the City Commission; 
4. The applicant must work with the Planning and Engineering Departments to reduce 
the amount of concrete proposed and improve the streetscape as suggested by the 
Board for administrative approval;  
5. The applicant must replace the existing tinted windows with clear glass; and,  
6. The applicant must comply with the requests of all City Departments. 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
June 9, 2021 

 

4 
 

Public Comment 
 
Mr. Schmier asked that the public comments provided during the item’s discussion be included in 
the documentation sent to the Commission to demonstrate the shared concerns of both Eton One 
and Eton Two. 
 
Chair Clein confirmed that would occur. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares  
 
Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the 
Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of 
Final Site Plan & Design Review approval. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares 
 

06-078-21 
 
F. Study Session Items 

1. Public Hearing – Solar Panel Regulations  
 

PD Ecker reviewed the item. 
 
Mr. Koseck said he was uncomfortable moving the ordinance language forward given that they 
had not spoken with a third-party expert like they had done for glazing.  
 
Chair Clein noted that in formulating the recommended changes staff had reviewed solar panel 
ordinances from municipalities across the country. He expressed support for the recommended 
changes. 
 
Motion by Mr. Williams  
Seconded by Mr. Share to recommend to the City Commission amendments to Section 
4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric systems from 
that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy 
requirements without changing them. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 











CONTRACT FOR A PRINCIPAL SHOPPING DISTRICT LIQUOR LICENSE 
(BISTRO) 

 
This Contract is entered into this ____ day of ___________, 20___, by and between 
_________________________, whose address is ______________________, 
(Licensee) and the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, whose 
address is 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 48012 (City). 

R E C I T A L S: 

WHEREAS, Licensee wishes to obtain a liquor license pursuant to MCLA 
436.1521a(1)(b); and 

WHEREAS, local legislative approval is required by the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM for 
the issuance of a liquor license pursuant to MCLA §436.152a(1)(b) of the Michigan 
Liquor Control Code of 1998; and 

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to enter into this Contract as an inducement to the CITY 
OF BIRMINGHAM to approve the request of the aforementioned issuance of the 
liquor license; and, 

WHEREAS, the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM is relying upon this Contract in giving its 
approval to the issuance of the on-premises licenses as described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Licensee shall be permitted to obtain a liquor license for use solely at the 
Property.  Any transfer of the aforementioned license from the Property to any other 
location in the CITY OF BIRMINGHAM shall require the approval of the Birmingham City 
Commission in accordance with Section 10-83.  In addition, any expansion of the 
building location at the Property shall also require the approval of the Birmingham City 
Commission. 

2. Licensee does hereby agree that it shall establish a bistro, as defined in 
Birmingham City Code Chapter 126, Zoning, Article 9, section 9.02, at the Property 
within 18 months from the date of Special Land Use Permit approval granted by the 
Birmingham City Commission.  Licensee agrees that the bistro must be open and fully 
operational within this time period, or approval of the Special Land Use Permit will 
automatically be revoked by the City.   

3. Licensee further acknowledges that it must secure a special land use permit for a 
bistro as required by the Birmingham City Code.  It is further agreed that it shall comply 
with all provisions of the special land use permit, or any amendments thereto, as a 
condition of this contract.   Licensee further acknowledges and agrees that a violation 
of any provision of the special land use permit or the Michigan Liquor Control Code is a 



violation of the terms of the contract entitling the City to exercise any or all of the 
remedies provided herein. 

4. Licensee acknowledges that no modifications to the site plan, floor plan, 
elevations or operation of the bistro may be made unless approved by the City 
Commission through a Special Land Use Permit Amendment as required in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  Modifications include, but are not limited to, name changes, ownership 
changes, remodeling, changes in the number of interior or exterior seats, the use of 
eisenglass and other enclosure materials on any outdoor dining area, relocation or 
addition of bar, etc. 
 
5.  Licensee acknowledges that it shall have a duty of continuing compliance with 
regards to off-street parking as required in the Zoning Ordinance, and further agrees to 
resolve any future parking issues that may arise, including but not limited to parking 
overflow and encroachment into residential areas or public parking facilities, to the 
satisfaction of the City or the Special Land Use Permit may be cancelled by the City 
Commission.     
 
6.  License further acknowledges that outdoor dining is seasonally permitted from 
April 1st through November 15th only, with a valid Outdoor Dining Permit.  The use of 
an enclosure system(s) does not allow the outdoor dining season to be extended. 
 
7. Licensee further agrees that it shall not apply or seek from the Michigan Liquor 
Control Commission any permit endorsements to its liquor license whether available in 
the current Michigan Liquor Control Code or in future Michigan Liquor Control Codes, or 
amendments thereto, without the prior approval of the Birmingham City Commission.  

8. Licensee further agrees that it shall not seek any change in its license 
status/class whether such changes are available now in the current Michigan Liquor 
Control Code or in future Michigan Liquor Control Codes, or amendments thereto, 
without prior approval of the Birmingham City Commission. 

9. Licensee agrees that it shall adhere to all Federal, State and Local laws currently 
in effect or as subsequently amended or enacted. 

10. Licensee agrees that its failure to follow any of the provisions herein shall be 
grounds for the Michigan Liquor Control Commission to suspend, revoke or not renew 
its liquor license and/or for the Birmingham City Commission to revoke the special land 
use permit, either of which would prohibit Licensee from operating the bistro.    
Licensee agrees that in addition to the City of Birmingham’s right to seek suspension, 
revocation or non-renewal of its liquor license and/or revocation of the special land use 
permit, the City retains any and all rights to enforce this Contract that may be available 
to it in law or in equity.   Licensee further agrees that it shall reimburse the City all of 
its costs and actual attorney fees incurred by the City in seeking the suspension, 
revocation or non-renewal of its liquor license and revocation of the special land use 



permit, as well as enforcing such other rights as may be available at law and/or in 
equity. 

11. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Licensee and any entity or person for 
whom Licensee is legally liable, agrees to be responsible for any liability, defend, pay on 
behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, its elected and appointed officials, 
employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of the City against any and all 
claims, demands, suits, or loss, including all costs connected therewith, including all 
costs and actual attorney fees, and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or 
recovered against or from the City, its elected and appointed officials, employees, 
volunteers or others working on behalf of the City, by reason of personal injury, 
including bodily injury, death and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, 
which arises out of or is in any way connected or associated with Licensee’s operation 
of a bistro at the Property.   

 
12. In the event Licensee fails to reimburse the City the costs and/or attorney fees 
as required herein, or any part thereof, then said amount could be transferred to the 
tax roll in accordance with Section 1-14 of the Birmingham City Code. 

 
13. Any disputes arising under this Contract, not within the jurisdiction of the 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission, shall be settled either by commencement of a suit 
in Oakland County Circuit Court or by compulsory arbitration, at the election of the City.  
The Licensee shall notify the City of any dispute it has arising out of this Contract and 
shall demand that the City elect whether the dispute is to be resolved by submitting it 
to compulsory arbitration or by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit 
Court.  The City shall make its election in writing within thirty (30) days from the receipt 
of such notice.  If the City elects to have the dispute resolved by compulsory 
arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for 
the State of Michigan, with each of the parties appointing one arbitrator and the two 
thus appointed appointing a third.  In the event the City fails to make such an election, 
any dispute between the parties may be resolved by the filing of a suit in the Oakland 
County Circuit Court. 

 
14. This Contract shall be governed by and performed, interpreted and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan.   

15.   If any provision of this contract is declared invalid, illegal or unenforceable, such 
provision shall be severed from this contract and all other provisions shall remain in full 
force and effect. 

 
16. This Contract shall be binding upon and apply and inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their respective successors or assigns.  The covenants, conditions, 
and the agreements herein contained are hereby declared binding on the CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM and Licensee.  It is further agreed that there shall be no change, 
modification, or alteration hereof, except in writing, signed by both of the parties 



hereto.  Neither party shall assign any of the rights under this contract without prior 
approval, in writing, of the other.  Any attempt at assignment without prior written 
consent shall be void and of no effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby have executed this Contract as of the 
date set forth above. 

By:  ____________________________ 

Its:  ____________________________ 

Date:  ___________________________ 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

By:_____________________________ 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

Date: ___________________________ 

By:_____________________________ 

Date:  ___________________________ 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk







Glass Thickness Transmittance 2 Reflectance 2

Shading
Coefficient

6
European
U-Value

5

Solar Heat
Gain

Coefficient
7

Light to
Solar
Gain
(LSG)

8

Table of Performance Values*1

Ultra-
violet

%

Visible
Light
%

Total
Solar

Energy
%

Winter
Night-
time

Summer
Day-
time

Visible
%

Total
Solar

Energy 
%

U-Value 4 (Imperial)

Inches mm

PPG Monolithic Glass Comparisons*

STARPHIRE ® Glass

1/8 3 89 91 90 8 8 1.04 0.94 5.83 1.04 0.91 1.00

3/16 5 88 91 90 8 8 1.03 0.93 5.78 1.04 0.90 1.01

1/4 6 87 91 89 8 8 1.02 0.93 5.75 1.03 0.90 1.01

5/16 8 86 91 88 8 8 1.01 0.91 5.68 1.02 0.89 1.02

3/8 10 85 91 87 8 8 1.00 0.91 5.63 1.02 0.89 1.02

1/2 12 83 90 86 8 8 0.98 0.89 5.53 1.01 0.88 1.03

5/8 16 81 90 84 8 8 0.97 0.88 5.43 1.00 0.87 1.03

3/4 19 80 90 83 8 7 0.95 0.86 5.34 0.99 0.86 1.04

CLEAR Glass

3/32 2.5 77 90 85 9 9 1.04 0.94 5.87 1.00 0.87 1.03

1/8 3 73 90 83 9 8 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.98 0.85 1.06

5/32 4 71 90 81 9 8 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.97 0.84 1.07

3/16 5 69 89 79 9 7 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.96 0.83 1.08

1/4 6 66 89 77 9 7 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.94 0.81 1.10

5/16 8 61 88 72 8 7 1.01 0.91 5.68 0.90 0.77 1.14

3/8 10 58 87 69 8 7 1.00 0.91 5.63 0.88 0.76 1.15

1/2 12 53 85 64 8 6 0.98 0.89 5.53 0.84 0.72 1.18

5/8 16 48 84 59 8 6 0.97 0.87 5.43 0.80 0.69 1.22

3/4 19 45 82 55 8 6 0.95 0.86 5.34 0.77 0.67 1.22

OPTIBLUE ™ Glass

1/4 6 44 64 64 6 6 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.84 0.72 0.89

SOLEXIA™ Glass

1/8 3 43 83 60 8 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.81 0.70 1.19

5/32 4 39 81 56 8 6 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.78 0.67 1.21

3/16 5 35 79 52 8 6 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.75 0.65 1.22

1/4 6 31 77 47 8 6 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.71 0.61 1.26

ATLANTICA™ Glass

1/8 3 28 77 48 8 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.72 0.62 1.24

5/32 4 24 74 44 7 5 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.68 0.56 1.25

3/16 5 20 71 39 7 5 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.65 0.56 1.27

1/4 6 16 67 34 7 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.61 0.52 1.28

CARIBIA ® Glass

1/8 3 36 77 46 7 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.70 0.60 1.28

3/16 5 28 71 37 7 5 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.63 0.54 1.31

1/4 6 24 68 32 7 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.60 0.52 1.32

AZURIA™ Glass

1/8 3 53 77 45 7 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.69 0.59 1.30

5/32 4 50 75 40 7 5 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.66 0.56 1.34

3/16 5 46 72 36 7 5 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.62 0.53 1.35

1/4 6 42 68 32 7 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.59 0.51 1.34

5/16 8 35 61 26 6 5 1.01 0.91 5.68 0.55 0.47 1.29

3/8 10 31 57 23 6 5 1.00 0.91 5.63 0.53 0.46 1.25

SOLARBRONZE ® Glass

1/8 3 39 67 64 7 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.88 0.76 0.88

5/32 4 35 63 60 7 6 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.81 0.70 0.90

3/16 5 30 58 55 6 6 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.77 0.66 0.88

1/4 6 26 53 50 6 6 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.73 0.63 0.84

5/16 8 18 43 39 6 5 1.01 0.91 5.68 0.65 0.56 0.77

3/8 10 14 37 34 5 5 1.00 0.91 5.63 0.61 0.52 0.71

1/2 12 9 27 24 5 5 0.98 0.89 5.53 0.54 0.46 0.58

SOLARGRAY ® Glass

1/8 3 37 60 58 6 6 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.79 0.68 0.88

5/32 4 33 56 53 6 6 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.75 0.65 0.87

3/16 5 29 50 48 6 5 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.71 0.61 0.82

1/4 6 24 44 42 6 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.67 0.58 0.76

5/16 8 17 33 31 5 5 1.01 0.91 5.68 0.59 0.51 0.65

3/8 10 13 28 26 5 5 1.00 0.91 5.63 0.55 0.47 0.59

1/2 12 8 18 17 5 5 0.98 0.89 5.53 0.49 0.42 0.43

OPTIGRAY ® 23 Glass

1/8 3 18 41 36 6 5 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.67 0.58 0.71

1/4 6 8 23 19 5 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.50 0.43 0.53

GRAYLITE ® Glass

1/8 3 17 30 43 5 5 1.04 0.94 5.83 0.68 0.58 0.52

1/4 6 7 14 26 5 5 1.02 0.93 5.75 0.55 0.47 0.30

Uncoated



PPG Monolithic Glass Comparisons*

One–inch insulating glass data and comparisons can be found at www.ppgideascapes.com or
by calling the PPG Solutions Hotline at 1-888-774-4332.

For data on: Solargreen® Glass — see AtlanticaTM Glass
Solex® Glass — see SolexiaTM Glass
Azurlite® Glass — see AzuriaTM Glass

1. Figures may vary due to manufacturing tolerances. All tabulated data is based
on NFRC methodology using the LBNL’s Window 5.2 software.

2. Transmittance and reflectance values based on spectrophotometric measurements and
energy distribution of solar radiation.

3. Solar infrared transmittance between 800 and 2150 nm (Parry Moon AM 2 irradiance).
4. U-value is the overall coefficient of heat transmittance or heat flow measured in BTU/hr.

• ft2 • °F. Lower U-values indicate better insulating performance. Winter nighttime U-values
are calculated using an outdoor air temperature of 0°F (-17.8°C), indoor air temperature 
of of 70°F (21°C), outdoor air velocity of 15 mph (6.7 m/s), indoor air velocity of 0 mph
(0 m/s) and a solar intensity of 0 BTU/hour/square foot (0 w/m2). Summer daytime 
U-values are calculated using an outdoor air temperature of 89°F (32°C), indoor air
temperature of 75°F (24°C), outdoor air velocity of 7.5 mph (3.4 m/s), indoor air velocity
of 0 mph (0 m/s), and a solar intensity of 248 BTU/hour/square foot (783 w/m2).

5. European U-Value is the overall coefficient of heat transmittance or heat flow measured
in Watts/m2 • °C, and is calculated using WinDat WIS version 3.0.1 software.

6. Shading Coefficient is the ratio of the total amount of solar energy that passes through a
glass relative to 1/8-in. (3.0 mm) thick clear glass under the same design conditions. It
includes both solar energy transmitted directly plus any absorbed solar energy re-
radiated and converted. Lower shading coefficient values indicate better performance in
reducing summer heat gain. Shading coefficients at outdoor air temperature of 89°F
(32°C), outdoor air velocity of 7.5 mph (3.4 m/s), indoor air temperature of 75°F (24°C),
indoor air velocity of 0 mph (0 m/s) and solar intensity of 248 BTU /hour/square foot
(783 w/m2).

7. Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC) represents the solar heat gain through the glass
relative to the incident solar radiation. It is equal to 86% of the shading coefficient.

8. Light to Solar Gain (LSG) ratio is the ratio of visible light transmittance to solar heat
gain coefficient.

Printed in U.S.A.
7083  4/08  10M

PPG Performance Glazings, Inc.    PPG Glass Technology Center    400 Guys Run Road    Cheswick, PA 15024    1-888-PPG-IDEA    ppgideascapes.com

© 2008 PPG Industries, Inc. All rights reserved. Atlantica, Azuria, Azurlite, Caribia, Graylite, IdeaScapes, Oceans of Color,

Optigray, Solarban, Solarbronze, Solarcool, Solargray, Solargreen, Solex, Solexia, Starphire, Sungate, Vistacool, PPG

and the PPG logo are trademarks and EcoLogical Building Solutions is a service mark owned by PPG Industries, Inc. 

Glass Thickness Transmittance 2 Reflectance 2

Shading
Coefficient

6
European
U-Value

5

Solar Heat
Gain

Coefficient
7

Light to
Solar
Gain
(LSG)

8

Table of Performance Values*1

Ultra-
violet

%

Visible
Light
%

Total
Solar

Energy
%

Winter
Night-
time

Summer
Day-
time

Visible
%

Total
Solar

Energy 
%

U-Value 4 (Imperial)

Inches mm

* Performance data is based on representative samples of factory production. Actual values may vary slightly due to variations in the production process. 

VISTACOOL™ (2) AZURIA™ Glass

1/4 6 35 52 26 19 10 1.02 0.92 5.73 0.52 0.45 1.16

5/16 8 29 47 20 16 9 1.01 0.91 5.66 0.49 0.42 1.10

VISTACOOL™ (2) CARIBIA® Glass

1/4 6 20 52 26 19 9 1.02 0.92 5.73 0.53 0.45 1.15

5/16 8 14 46 20 16 8 1.01 0.91 5.66 0.49 0.42 1.09

VISTACOOL™ (2) SOLARGRAY ® Glass

1/4 6 20 34 35 11 8 1.02 0.92 5.73 0.60 0.52 0.65

5/16 8 14 26 26 8 7 1.01 0.91 5.66 0.54 0.46 0.55

SOLARCOOL ® (1) SOLEXIA™ Glass

1/4 6 9 30 23 37 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.43 0.37 0.80

SOLARCOOL ® (2) SOLEXIA™ Glass

1/4 6 9 30 23 23 12 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.50 0.43 0.69

SOLARCOOL ® (1) CARIBIA® Glass

1/4 6 7 26 14 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.36 0.31 0.83

SOLARCOOL ® (2) CARIBIA® Glass

1/4 6 7 26 14 19 9 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.44 0.38 0.68

SOLARCOOL ® (1) AZURIA™ Glass

3/16 5 13 27 16 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.37 0.32 0.85

1/4 6 12 26 14 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.36 0.30 0.86

SOLARCOOL ® (2) AZURIA™ Glass

3/16 5 13 27 16 36 10 1.04 0.94 5.81 0.45 0.38 0.72

1/4 6 12 26 14 19 10 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.44 0.37 0.70

SOLARCOOL ® (1) Bronze Glass

5/32 4 10 24 33 36 30 1.04 0.93 5.81 0.51 0.44 0.55

1/4 6 7 21 27 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.46 0.40 0.52

SOLARCOOL ® (2) Bronze Glass

5/32 4 10 24 33 17 14 1.04 0.94 5.84 0.57 0.49 0.50

1/4 6 7 21 27 13 11 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.53 0.46 0.45

SOLARCOOL ® (1) Gray Glass

1/4 6 7 17 23 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.43 0.37 0.46

SOLARCOOL ® (2) Gray Glass

1/4 6 7 17 23 11 9 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.51 0.43 0.40

SOLARCOOL ® (1) GRAYLITE ® Glass

1/4 6 2 5 16 36 30 1.03 0.93 5.75 0.37 0.32 0.17

SOLARCOOL ® (2) GRAYLITE ® Glass

1/4 6 2 5 16 5 6 1.03 0.93 5.78 0.46 0.40 0.13

Coated



Darwin #522 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

50 
A/Cherry

73 
A/Cement

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 41 A/Bronze 75 A/Dark Green

 

DETAILS

  H
30.5"

W
23.5"

D
21.5"

SH
18"

AH
27"

Lbs
12.5

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Stacking Armchair

E-coated powder coat finish

Frame: Tubular Steel

Seat/Back: Extended Steel Mesh

Stackability: 8

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 4

Master Pack Dimensions: 36"x28"x25"

Master Pack Weight: 61 Lbs.

Master Cartons/Pallet: 6

Freight Class: 150

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #521 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

50 
A/Cherry

73 
A/Cement

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 41 A/Bronze 75 A/Dark Green

 

DETAILS

  H
30.5"

W
21"

D
21.5"

SH
18"

Lbs
10.5

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Stacking Side Chair

E-coated powder coat finish

Frame: Steel

Seat/Back: Extended Steel Mesh

Stackability: 8

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 4

Master Pack Dimensions: 22"x27.5"x36"

Master Pack Weight: 52 Lbs.

Density: 4.13

Freight Class: 150

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #848 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 A/White 24 A/Black

 

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 37 A/Moss 
Grey

41 
A/Bronze

50 
A/Cherry

71 
A/Taupe 

73 
A/Cement

75 A/Dark 
Green

86 
A/Corten

 

DETAILS

  H
29"

TS
24'' Dia"

Lbs
26

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Tilt Top Nesting Table

E-Coated powder coat finish

Top Thickness: 3/4"

Top: Solid Steel

Base: Solid Steel

Assembly Required: Yes

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 1

Master Pack Dimensions: 6.5"x25"x25"

Master Pack Weight: 30 Lbs.

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



Darwin #529 Designer: Lucidi / Pevere

Quick Ship Finishes:

23 
A/White

24 A/Black 37 A/Moss 
Grey 

LIMITED 
QTY

41 
A/Bronze 
LIMITED 

QTY

Special Order Ship Finishes:

22 A/Iron 50 
A/Cherry

71 
A/Taupe 

73 
A/Cement

75 A/Dark 
Green

86 
A/Corten

DETAILS

  H
29"

BW
20"

TS
32" Sq"

Lbs
35

Download Collection Brochure HERE

Outdoor/Indoor Tilt Top Nesting Table

E-Coated powder coat finish

Top Thickness: 3/4"

Top: Solid Steel

Base: Solid Steel

Assembly Required: Yes

SHIPPING

Master Pack Quantity: 1

Master Pack Dimensions: 33"x5"x33"

Master Pack Weight: 40 Lbs.

Master Cartons/Pallet: 15

Freight Class: 70

FOB: PA 17042

emuamericas LLC
T:(800) 726-0368
emuamericas.com

/data/fe/file/DARWIN_2019-02.pdf
jawan
Rectangle



shapes & sizes 

ocean master classic 

The Ocean Master Classic market style parasol is the culmination of durable engineering, stylish profiles and functional shade design. 

Manufactured to marine specifications, all Ocean Master parasols feature 100% replaceable parts for easy service and a 15/5-year 

warranty. Classic beauty. Classic TUUCI.

premium parasols

hexagon
ft. / m.

7.0' / 2.15

*8.5' / 2.6

*10.0' / 3.0

*11.0' / 3.4

octagon
ft. / m.

6.0' / 1.8

7.5' / 2.25

*9.0' / 2.75

*10.5' / 3.2

*11.5' / 3.6

square
ft. / m.

5.5' / 1.65

6.5' / 2.0

7.5' / 2.25

*8.5' / 2.6

rectangle
ft. / m.

5’ x 8' / 1.5 x 2.45

*6’ x 9' / 1.8 x 2.75

rectangle
auto-scope

ft. / m.

*8’ x 12' / 2.45 x 3.65

finial options 

venice 
aluminum

finish options

powder coat standard

textured bright white sea shell white ash grey hammered bronzeespresso jet blackpolished aluminum

features:

a. Manual Lift w/ Stainless Steel Security Pin

b. “Auto-Loc” Marine Pulley Lift System

c. “Easy Drive” Crank Lift System

d. Reinforced Strut Joints Construction

e. Armor-Wall Mast

f. Reinforced Pocket Construction

ba c

d e f

jawan
Typewritten Text
8'x8'Sunbrella Color: Logo Red 



 
 

City of Birmingham 2020 Bistro License Initial Application 
 
Applicant:    Whistle Stop Diner (Existing Restaurant) 
 
Address:    501 S. Eton, Birmingham, Michigan 48009 
 

:  Elda Xhomaqi, Owner 
    ph. (248) 635-2554 
 

:  JPHOWE, PLLC / J. Patrick Howe 
280 N. Old Woodward Ave., Suite 12, Birmingham, MI 48009  
ph. (248) 385-3112 

 
:  Jawan  Matti  

ph. (586) 321-7727 
 

History of Whistle Stop Diner 

It all started in 1965 when the Whistle Stop Diner originally 
fact that the Diner is located right next to the old train station where you would hear the 

 every day.  Customers would stop in to enjoy a delicious 
breakfast before boarding the train, or picking up a friend or family member.  As the years went 
by, the restaurant evolved into what it has become today, which is a popular breakfast, brunch 
and lunch staple in City ing rail district.  We started working here in 1999.  Elda as a waitress 
and Valter as a cook.  In 2012, we were presented with the opportunity to become the owners 
of the Whistle Stop Diner, and we jumped at it.   We have always tried to keep the same loving 
menu that includes the homemade bread, buttermilk pancakes made from scratch, fresh real 
turkey, and the delicious desserts.  In 2015, we purchased the Whistle Stop Diner in Pleasant 
Ridge which included a Class C liquor license.  That is when we became familiar with the demand 
for the service of alcoholic beverages.  We have developed a plan to completely renovate the 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

2 
 

Whistle Stop Diner, which ensures that the restaurant  maintains its menu and  hours of operation 
(7:00 AM  3:00 PM), and offer the alcoholic beverages that are served at our Pleasant Ridge 
location.  We believe that a Bistro license will allow us to meet our customer ds, and 
bring the Whistle Stop Diner forward, while maintaining that traditional, family friendly 
atmosphere everyone has come to love.  We are very appreciative of the opportunity to obtain 
a Bistro License from the City, and we look forward to working with the City to solidify The Whistle 
Stop Diner as a neighborhood Bistro in the City s rail district for many years to come.   

Restaurant Experience 

The Whistle Stop Diner is owned and operated by husband and wife team of Elda and Valter 
Xhomaqi.  They have each worked in the restaurant industry their entire lives, and are hands on, 
passionate operators.  They currently own and operate another Whistle Stop Diner in Pleasant 
Ridge, Michigan, which holds a Class C liquor license.  That establishment has an excellent 
operating record, and has not received any complaints from the City of Pleasant Ridge, or 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission.  The Xhomaqi family will continue to be the face and the 
leaders of the reimagined Whistle Stop Diner.  They will ensure that the proposed modified 
operations including the service of alcoholic beverages, are executed in a professional and 
responsible manner.   

Concept for Bistro  

If approved to operate as a Bistro, The Whistle Stop Diner plans to undertake a major renovation 
of the entire premises, as shown on the floor plan and renderings included herewith.  The 
restaurant will have 57 indoor seats, 8 counter stools for dining, and 26 seats on an outdoor patio 
in front of the restaurant on City sidewalk.  The outdoor patio will be fully enclosed to meet all 
City and State requirements.  All food and beverages will be served by wait staff to seated 
patrons.  While there is a counter area where patrons can be served directly by staff behind the 
counter, this area will not function as a standard bar area, and patrons will not be served unless 
seated at a table or counter stool.  The restaurant menu is included herewith, and there will be 
a limited menu of alcoholic beverages available for purchase with meals.  It is the applicant s 
intention for alcoholic beverages to simply be offered as a compliment to its food service, and 
the diner will not function as a bar.  In full compliance with the City of Birmingham Bistro 
ordinance, the Whistle Stop Dinner will:  

1. Have 8 counter stools; 
2. Not have any direct connection additional bar permits; 
3. Only serve alcoholic beverages to seated patrons; 
4. Not offering dancing or entertainment of any kind; 
5. Provide tables along existing windows facing S. Eton; and 
6. Provide a 26 seat outdoor patio on City sidewalk with enclosures that meet City and 

State requirements.   
 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

3 
 

Statement Regarding Impact Bistro Will Have on Mix of Commercial Uses in Birmingham 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner is a true family friendly restaurant.  If converted to a Bistro, the same 
great food will be offered in an updated setting with outdoor dining.  Alcoholic beverages will be 
served with meals during the hours of 7:00 AM to 3:00 PM seven (7) days per week.  Converting 
the diner into a Bistro will attract additional guests, bring additional activity to the S. Eton corridor 
with a 26 seat outdoor patio, and increase commercial traffic for other businesses in the rail 
district.     
 
Sample Menu 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner offers a delicious assortment of offerings for breakfast, brunch and lunch.  
A sample menu is incorporated herein, which provides the limited assortment of alcoholic 
beverages that would be offered if the diner is converted to a Bistro. 
 
Hours of Operation 
 
There will be no changes to the operation of the diner if converted to a Bistro.  The hours of 
operation would be:  
 
Monday  Saturday 7:00 AM to 3:00 PM 
Sunday  8:00 AM to 3:00 PM  
Outdoor Patio will be open when weather permits from May 1st   October 31st  each year 
 
Renovation Schedule 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner anticipates being closed for renovations from November 2020 through 
April 2021.      
 
Statement Regarding Ability to Finance, Construct & Operate Bistro 
 
The Whistle Stop Diner has an experienced team ready to renovate and convert the existing 
restaurant into a Bistro serving beer, wine and spirits.  All renovations will be funded with cash 
on hand, and the proposed conversion of The Whistle Stop Diner to a Bistro is not contingent on 
obtaining financing of any kind.  The Whistle Stop Diner has engaged a prominent local architect 
to assist with the design of the Bistro, and an experienced licensed contractor will be engaged to 
complete all renovations.  With respect to restaurant operations, owners Elda and Valtar 
Xhomaqi bring a lifetime of experience to the operation of The Whistle Stop Diner, and their very 
experienced wait staff will ensure that the Bistro is operated in a safe and responsible manner.   
All employees involved in the sale and service of alcoholic beverages will be required to pass a 
server training course approved by the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. 
 

 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

4 
 

Exterior Rendering for Bistro Conversion 

 

Floor Plan for Bistro Conversion 

 



Whistle Stop Diner 
2020 Bistro License Initial Application 

 

5 
 

Whistle Stop Diner Menu 

 



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: July 26th, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearings for Amendments to Section 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of 
Chapter 126, Zoning – Window and Glazing Standards 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City of Birmingham has engaged in designing ordinances to fulfill the goals of the Downtown 
Birmingham 2016 Master Plan with regards to encouraging walkability and a healthy retail setting 
to increase the pedestrian environment and economic vitality of the City. Included in the many 
ordinances adopted over time has been the recent adoption of ordinances regulating glazing on 
Birmingham’s commercial buildings. Since adoption, City Staff have fielded inquiries from 
architects, developers, business owners and glass manufacturers about the standards, which have 
spilled over into several recent Planning Board Hearings (Lincoln Yard, Baldwin Library, Brooklyn 
Pizza). 

The City of Birmingham currently regulates glazing in Article 4, Section 4.90 (A) of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above grade
shall be clear glazing.

2. Only Clear Glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing
above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited.

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow views
into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall may be
approved by the Planning Board.

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units or signs.
5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior grade.

On July 24th, 2017, in order to provide more clarity as to what determines “clear glazing”, the 
City Commission approved the definition of Clear Glazing as follows: 

• Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum visible light
transmittance of 80%.

Before the adoption of the Clear Glazing definition, applicants were required to provide glass 
samples and specification sheets to the Planning Board at Site Plan Review to determine if the 
type of glass proposed was considered clear to the point that it met the spirit and the intent of 

7C



the Ordinance. Applicants are still required to provide samples and specification sheets, but the 
Clear Glazing definition leaves little variation in the types of glass available to utilize. 

As alluded to, there has been some recent pushback by architects and developers citing the 
challenges they face meeting the energy standards as required by the Michigan Building Code 
while also meeting the City’s Glazing Standards. 

BACKGROUND: 
On November 13th, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the potential for ordinance amendments 
encompassing the Window Standards outlined in Article 3, Section 3.04(E) and Article 4, Section 
4.90 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board directed City Staff to (1) research any possible 
differences in the Visual Light Transmittance (VLT) figures between different manufacturers and 
(2), research other cities to determine what VLT figures are used. 

On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board discussed the glazing ordinance amendments again, 
and expressed interest in hearing from more professionals such as a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, or a glass contractor or installer. At that time, the Planning Division was 
unable to find and secure any additional professionals or glass experts to add any new information 
to the conversation other than the professionals that were already involved up to that point.  

On July 22nd, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed ordinance language alongside a 
glass professional from Guardian Glass, who offered expertise and clarity on the proposed 
amendments and what is available in the glass world, and what the effect is on energy codes. 
The Planning Board entertained ideas for including low iron glass to the definition and discussing 
other items such as shelving and merchandise in windows. Ultimately, the Planning Board directed 
City Staff to make a few minor changes including eliminating the bronze requirement from Section 
3.04 (E)(4), and adding low iron glass and no tint to the definition of clear glazing for final 
consideration before the public hearing. 

On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the glazing standards, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-Fitr. 

On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to recommend approval to the City Commission 
amendments to Sections 3.04, 4.90 and 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to update the clarity 
requirements for storefront windows  

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the documentation and has no concerns. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The proposed amendments do not have any direct fiscal impacts to the City. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, a legal ad was placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance in advance of 
the June 9th, 2021 Planning Board meeting.  In addition, a second legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the public hearings at the City Commission. 



SUMMARY: 
The Planning Board recommends that the City Commission consider ordinance amendments to 
Articles 3, 4 and 9 to amend the Window Standards and requirements for clear glazing.  

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Draft Ordinance language
• Planning Board Staff Reports
• Relevant Minutes

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 

1. Article 3, Section 3.04 (Specific Standards) to amend the Architectural Standards;
2. Article 4, Section 4.90 (Window Standards) to amend storefront window requirements;

and
3. Article 9, Section 9.02 (Definitions) to redefine clear glazing and eliminate lightly tinted

glazing.



ORDINANCE NO.________ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 126, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF THE CITY OF 
BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 3, SECTION 3.04(E), ARCHITECTURAL STANDARDS, TO AMEND ARTICLE 
4, SECTION 4.90(A), WINDOW STANDARDS, AND TO AMEND ARTICLE 9, SECTION 9.02, 
DEFINITIONS TO REDFINE CLEAR GLAZING, AND TO ELIMINATE LIGHTLY TINTED GLAZING 

Article 3, Section 3.04 

E. Architectural standards. All buildings shall be subject to the following physical
requirements: 

1. …
2. …
3. …
4. Storefronts shall be directly accessible from public sidewalks. Each storefront must

have transparent areas, equal to 70% of its portion of the facade, between one
and eight feet from the ground. The wood or metal armature (structural elements
to support canopies or signage) of such storefronts shall be painted, bronze, or
powder-coated.

5. Storefronts shall have mullion systems, with doorways and signage integrally
designed. Mullion systems shall be painted, powder-coated, or stained.

6. The glazed area of a facade above the first floor shall not exceed 35% of the total
area, with each facade being calculated independently.

7. Clear glazing is required on the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing is permitted on
upper floors only storefront facade. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque
materials or the back of shelving units or signs.

Article 4, Section 4.90 – Window Standards (WN) 

A. Storefront Windows: Ground floor facades shall be designed with storefronts that have
windows, doorways and signage, which are integrally designed. The following standards
apply:

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above
grade shall be clear glazing.

2. Only Clear glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted
glazing above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited.

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow
views into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall
may be approved by the Planning Board.

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units
or signs.

5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior
grade.



Article 9, Section 9.02 – Definitions 

Clear Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with no tint, a minimum 
visible light transmittance of 80%. 66% and a reflectivity of 15% or less.  

Lightly Tinted Glazing: Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum 
visible light transmittance of 70%. 

ORDAINED this _________ day of _______________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 

________________________________________ 
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

________________________________________ 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 



MEMORANDUM 
 Planning Division 

DATE: June 9th, 2021 

TO: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

SUBJECT: Window Glazing Standards – Public Hearing 

On November 13th, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the potential for ordinance amendments 
encompassing the Window Standards outlined in Article 3, Section 3.04(E) and Article 4, Section 
4.90 of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Board directed City Staff to (1) research any possible 
differences in the Visual Light Transmittance (VLT) figures between different manufacturers and 
(2), research other cities to determine what VLT figures are used. 

Upon contacting representatives at Guardian Glass, Midwest Glass Fabricators, Michigan Glass 
Coating, and Service Glass, it was apparent that there is no noticeable difference in glass between 
manufacturers. That is, all else being equal, a pane of glass with a low-e coating at 68% Visual 
Light Transmittance from manufacturer X will look the same as the same pane of glass from 
manufacturer Y. The results may differ based on what type of glass is used in the construction, 
whether the glass is single pane, double pane or laminated, whether a film is used or not, etc.  

Additionally, the research done into the transparency requirements in other communities was 
confirmed and/or updated. The table below summarizes the confirmed VLT figure present in other 
Michigan communities, as well as some new figures: 

Grand Rapids, MI 70% VLT minimum 
Ferndale, MI 60% VLT minimum, 20% Reflectance 
Muskegon, MI 70% VLT minimum 
West Bloomfield, MI 75% VLT minimum 
Rochester Hills, MI 65% VLT minimum 
Pontiac, MI Non reflective, non-tinted 
Detroit, MI 70% VLT minimum 
Kalamazoo, MI Clear, non reflective 

On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board discussed the glazing ordinance amendments again, 
and expressed interest in hearing from more professionals such as a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, or a glass contractor or installer. At that time, the Planning Division was 
unable to find and secure any additional professionals or glass experts to add any new information 
to the conversation other than the professionals that were already involved up to that point.  

On July 22nd, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the proposed ordinance language alongside a 
glass professional from Guardian Glass, who offered expertise and clarity on the proposed 
amendments and what is available in the glass world, and what the effect is on energy codes. 



The Planning Board entertained ideas for including low iron glass to the definition and discussing 
other items such as shelving and merchandise in windows. Ultimately, the Planning Board directed 
City Staff to make a few minor changes including eliminating the bronze requirement from Section 
3.04 (E)(4), and adding low iron glass and no tint to the definition of clear glazing for final 
consideration before the public hearing. 

On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the glazing standards, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-Fitr. 

The following ordinance amendments have been updated to reflect the most recent research. 



MEMORANDUM 
 Planning Division 

DATE: November 8, 2019 

TO: Planning Board Members 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
Brooks Cowan, City Planner 

APPROVED:  Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT:  Study Session – Window Glazing Standards 

The City of Birmingham has engaged in designing ordinances to fulfill the goals of the Downtown 
Birmingham 2016 Master Plan with regards to encouraging walkability and a healthy retail setting 
to increase the pedestrian environment and economic vitality of the City. Included in the many 
ordinances adopted over time has been the recent adoption of ordinances regulating glazing on 
Birmingham’s commercial buildings. Since adoption, City Staff have fielded inquiries from 
architects, developers, business owners and glass manufacturers about the standards, which have 
spilled over into several recent Planning Board Hearings (Lincoln Yard, Baldwin Library, Brooklyn 
Pizza). The purpose of this memorandum is to present the Planning Divisions findings based on 
current ordinance, meetings with glass professionals, research into the science behind light and 
windows, and the conflicts that arise based on different regulations. 

The City of Birmingham currently regulates glazing in Article 4, Section 4.90 (A) of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 

1. No less than 70% of a storefront/ground floor façade between 1 and 8 feet above grade
shall be clear glazing.

2. Only Clear Glazing is permitted on storefront facades at the first floor. Lightly tinted glazing
above the first floor may be permitted. Mirrored glass is prohibited.

3. Required window areas shall be either pedestrian entrances, windows that allow views
into retail space, working areas or lobbies. Display windows set into the wall may be
approved by the Planning Board.

4. Windows shall not be blocked with opaque materials or the back of shelving units or signs.
5. The bottom of the window shall be no more than 3 feet above the adjacent exterior grade.

On July 24th, 2017, in order to provide more clarity as to what determines “clear glazing”, the 
City Commission approved the definition of Clear Glazing as follows: 

• Glass and other transparent elements of building facades with a minimum visible light
transmittance of 80%.

Before the adoption of the Clear Glazing definition, applicants were required to provide glass 
samples and specification sheets to the Planning Board at Site Plan Review to determine if the 



type of glass proposed was considered clear to the point that it met the spirit and the intent of 
the Ordinance. Applicants are still required to provide samples and specification sheets, but the 
Clear Glazing definition leaves little variation in the types of glass available to utilize. 

As alluded to, there has been some recent pushback by architects and developers citing the 
challenges they face meeting the energy standards as required by the Michigan Building Code 
while also meeting the City’s Glazing Standards. Perhaps obviously, this is more of an issue for 
buildings being redeveloped or renovated as opposed to brand new buildings that are able to 
account for the 80% VLT glass as a part of an entire energy system strategy rather than working 
around existing conditions. This discussion gained prominence during the selection process for 
the glass at the Baldwin Library project, and has subsequently spilled over into several site plan 
reviews. To consider any changes to the current Window Standards, it is helpful to define several 
glass industry terms: 

Visible Light Transmittance – The amount of light in the visible portion of the spectrum 
that passes through a glazing material. 

U-Factor – A measure of thermal transmittance, through conduction, convection, and
radiation; a measurement to quantify overall heat flow.

R-Value – The capacity of an insulating material to resist heat flow.

Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC) – The fraction of incident solar radiation admitted 
through a window, both directly transmitted and absorbed, and subsequently released 
inward. 

Reflectivity – The reflecting of varying amounts of light and solar heat, away from a 
glazing unit/building. 

Absorptance – Energy that is not transmitted through the glass or reflected off its 
surfaces. 

Low-E Coatings – Coatings (sputtered or pyrolytic) that minimizes the amount of 
ultraviolet and infrared light that can pass through glass without compromising the 
amount of visible light that is transmitted. 

Window Tinting – The process performed to glass for the purposes of absorbing a 
portion of the solar heat and blocking daylight for the purposes of reducing glare and the 
amount of solar energy transmitted through glass. 

Insulated Glass – Glass manufactured with trapped air or gas between them, which 
provides cost saving benefits through controlling heat gain/loss and condensation. 

Laminated Glass – Glass made of two or more layers of glass with one or more polymeric 
material layers bonded between the glass layers. 

Safety Glass - A type of commercial glass specifically designed to withstand blunt force. 
It is covered with a film or laminate to help hold the glass together and prevent further 



damage if it fractures, and the pane will break into many small “crumbs” instead of large 
shards. 

The issue in Birmingham has generally revolved around the Visible Light Transmittance (VLT) 
value that is controlled through the Zoning Ordinance. As evident by the many different facets of 
building design and window manufacturing in modern times, the topic appears to be more 
complicated than simply controlling for VLT. In meeting with glass industry professionals, it 
became evident that Low-E Coatings (LEC) are very important in the approach to glazing, as LEC’s 
contribute to less heat flow and increasing the R-Value, especially in areas with significant glazing. 
Utilizing LEC’s can help building meet the required U-Factors in the Michigan Building Code. 

Because the original intent of the glazing requirements in the Zoning Ordinance was to maintain 
storefronts that are active with the ability to see into buildings and the activity happening inside 
of them, the Ordinance was written to achieve those goals. However, according to research and 
glass professionals, there is another factor to consider when seeking clear glazing, which is 
reflectivity. Reflectivity becomes especially apparent during low light conditions. The surface on 
the brighter side acts like a mirror because the amount of light passing through the window from 
the darker side is less than the amount of light being reflected from the lighter side. This effect 
can be noticed from the outside during the day and from the inside during the night. This means 
that during a bright day outside, the reflectivity of a glazing unit may actually make the glass 
appear less clear. Special coatings, such as LEC’s, can reduce this effect.  

The important correlation between the VLT, LEC and reflectivity of glass is that LEC’s reduce the 
VLT of a glazing unit, but also significantly reduce the reflectivity. In other words, although a LEC 
can make glass appear darker in reducing the VLT figure, adding the LEC reduces the reflectivity, 
which actually makes the glazing unit appear clearer. As described above, LEC’s also increase R-
Values and Reduce the U-factor, so it would appear that allowing LEC’s (and subsequently 
lowering the VLT requirements) may prove beneficial towards both the energy and clarity issues 
that the City is concerned with. To quantify this concept, two glass samples were obtained by the 
Planning Division, and the properties are as follows: 

Visible Light Transmittance Reflectance U-Factor
Glass #1 (No LEC) 80% 15% 0.47 
Glass #2 (LEC) 68% 11% 0.29 

In applying the LEC, the glass sample’s reflectivity was reduced by 25%, while the u-factor was 
decreased by almost 40%. With this information, it became evident that the City may benefit 
from relaxing its VLT standards to allow for LEC’s, but in addition, adding regulations regarding 
the reflectivity of proposed glass. In regulating both, the City may be able to achieve the goals 
of clear glazing, while also having high performing buildings and reducing the environmental 
footprint of its developments. The City may also be able to take advantage of this information 
and readdress the concept of Window Tinting in the ordinance. 

The following is an example of how the Ordinance language could read: 







Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement 
Windows in Michigan
www.efficientwindows.org January 2016

Michigan is a climate that 
requires mostly heating.

ENERGY STAR® Zones 1. Meet the Energy Code & Look for the ENERGY STAR®

Windows must comply with your 
local energy code. Windows that are 
ENERGY STAR certified often meet 
or exceed energy code requirements. 
To verify if specific window energy 
properties comply with the local code 
requirements, look for the NFRC label.

2. Look for Efficient Properties on the NFRC Label

The National Fenestration Rating 
Council (NFRC) label is needed 
for verification of energy code 
compliance. The NFRC label displays 
whole-window energy properties and 
appears on all fenestration products 
which are part of the ENERGY STAR 
program (www.nfrc.org). 

3. Compare Annual Energy Costs for a Typical House

Use computer simulations for a typical 
house to compare the annual energy 
performance of different window types. 
A comparison of the performance of a 
set of windows for this climate begins 
on Page 3 or use the Window Selection 
Tool on the EWC web site or the 
Window Selection Tool Mobile App 
(www.efficientwindows.org).

4. Customize Energy Use for a Specific House

A simulation program, such as 
RESFEN, lets you compare window 
options by calculating performance 
based on utility rates for your climate, 
house design, and window design 
options (windows.lbl.gov/software).

5. Ensure Proper Installation 

Proper window and skylight 
installation is necessary for optimal 
performance, to avoid air and water 
leakage. Always follow manufacturers’ 
installation guidelines and use trained 
professionals for window and skylight 
installation.

≤

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.27
Windows: U = 0.28
Windows: U = 0.29
Windows: U = 0.30
Skylights: U ≤ 0.50

Windows: Any
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.32 
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.37
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.42 
Skylights: Any

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

For superior energy performance, select windows with a U-factor of 0.25 
or less. If air conditioning is not a concern, look for a higher Solar Heat 
Gain Coefficient (SHGC) of 0.35–0.60 so winter solar heat can help offset 
the heating energy need. If cooling is a significant concern and no shading 
is available, select windows with a SHGC less than 0.32.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.53

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.40 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.35

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

The larger your heating bill, the more important a low U-factor becomes. 
For superior energy performance, select windows with a U-factor of 0.25 
or less. A low SHGC value reduces summer cooling demand, but also 
reduces free winter solar heat gain. If you have significant air conditioning 
costs or summer overheating issues, look for SHGC values of 0.25 or less.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.53

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.25 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.28

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

A low U-factor is useful during cold days when heating is needed and 
is also helpful during hot days when it is important to keep the heat out. 
Windows with low SHGC values help reduce summer cooling demand. If 
you have significant air conditioning costs or summer overheating issues, 
look for SHGC values of 0.25 or less.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.40 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.60

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.25 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.28

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

A low SHGC is the important window property in warm to hot climates. 
For superior energy performance, select windows with a SHGC of 0.25 or 
less. A low U-factor is useful during cold days when heating is needed and 
is also helpful during hot days when it is important to keep the heat out. 



Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 2

Efficient Window PropertiesBenefits of High Performance Windows

U-Factor
The rate of heat loss is indicated in 
terms of the U-factor (U-value). This 
rate of non-solar heat loss or gain 
through a whole window assembly is 
measured in Btu/hr-sf-°F. The lower 
the U-factor, the greater a window’s 
resistance to heat flow and the better 
its insulating value.

Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC)
The SHGC is the fraction of incident 
solar radiation admitted through a 
window. SHGC is expressed as a 
number between 0 and 1. The lower a 
window’s solar heat gain coefficient, 
the less solar heat it transmits. 
Whether a higher or lower SHGC 
is desirable depends on the climate, 
orientation, shading conditions, and 
other factors.

Visible Transmittance (VT) 
The VT is an optical property that 
indicates the amount of visible light 
transmitted. VT is a whole window 
rating and includes the impact of the 
frame which does not transmit any 
visible light. While VT theoretically 
varies between 0 and 1, most values 
are between 0.3 and 0.7. The higher 
the VT, the more light is transmitted.

Air Leakage (AL)
AL is expressed in cubic feet of air 
passing through a square foot of 
window area (cfm/sf). The lower the 
AL, the less air will pass through 
cracks in the assembly. AL is very 
important, but not as important as 
U-factor and SHGC. 

Condensation Resistance (CR)
CR measures how well a window 
resists the formation of condensation on 
the inside surface. CR is expressed as a 
number between 1 and 100. The higher 
the number, the better a product is able 
to resist condensation. CR is meant to 
compare products and their potential 
for condensation formation. CR is an 
optional rating on the NFRC label.

Heating & Cooling Season Savings
In climates with a significant heating season, standard 
windows can represent a major source of unwanted heat 
loss. Low-E coatings, gas fills, and insulating spacers and 
frames result in a lower U-factor, meaning less winter heat 
loss. In climates that mainly require cooling, non-energy 
efficient windows can be a major source of unwanted heat 
gain. Low-solar-gain low-E coatings can reduce solar heat 
gain while still providing comfort, daylight and views.

Improved Daylight and View
Daylight and view are two fundamental attributes of a 
window. Low-E coatings can significantly reduce solar 
heat gain with a minimal loss of light and view. 

Improved Comfort
High performance windows can make a home more 
comfortable. Cold glass can create uncomfortable drafts 
as air next to the window is cooled and drops to the floor. 
Windows with low U-factors will results in higher interior 
window temperatures in the heating seasons and thus 
greater comfort. Also, during cooling seasons, strong direct 
sunlight can create overheating and discomfort. Windows 
with a low SHGC will reduce the solar radiation (heat) 
coming through the glass.

Less Condensation 
High performance windows with warm edge technology 
and insulating frames have a warm interior surface so that 
condensation on interior surfaces is significantly reduced 
or eliminated. 

Reduced Fading
Coatings on glass or plastic films within the window or 
skylight assembly can significantly reduce the ultraviolet 
(UV) and other solar radiation which causes fading of 
fabrics and furnishings.

Lower Mechanical Equipment Costs
Efficient windows reduce annual heating and cooling bills 
as well as peak heating and cooling loads. Peak loads 
determine the size of the home’s furnace, heat pump, air 
conditioner, and fans. Reducing peak load may allow 
homeowners to install a smaller heating or cooling system.

A Quieter Home
High performance windows provide reduced sound 
transmission, resulting in an Indoor-Outdoor Transmission 
Class (IOTC) rating that is often 5–10 points below a 
standard window.



Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 3

Comparing Window Performance in Detroit, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical existing 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0             $300            $600           $900           $1200

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 4

Comparing Window Performance in Grand Rapids, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical existing 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0              $300           $600            $900          $1200

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 5

Comparing Window Performance in Houghton, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical existing 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0         $300       $600        $900      $1200      $1500

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient Replacement Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 6

The mission of the Efficient Windows Collaborative is to lead and support — through 
the use of advanced window, façade and skylight technologies — the transformation 
of the built environment toward greater energy efficiency. 

The Efficient Windows Collaborative is a nonprofit, 501(c)3 organization that partners 
with window, door, skylight, and component manufacturers, research organizations, 
federal, state & local government agencies, and others interested in expanding the 
market for high-efficiency fenestration products. 

CONNECT WITH US

https://www.facebook.com/EfficientWindows

https://twitter.com/EWCwindows

https://www.linkedin.com/groups?home=&gid=4286505&trk

https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/window-selection-tool/id911802627?mt=8

In 1989 the glazing and fenestration industry self-organized to create the National Fenestration Rating Council 

(NFRC). Nine years later the Efficient Windows Collaborative (EWC) was formed and since that time, market 

share for high performance windows has grown from roughly 30% to over 80% in the residential sector. 

During that growth, the EWC has been at the forefront of educating manufacturers about how to communicate the 

value of energy efficiency to consumers and providing performance comparisons across generic products. First 

incorporating NFRC labels and then ENERGY STAR for fenestration labels, the EWC has maintained a clear and 

consistent message regarding product performance. The purpose of the EWC is to provide unbiased information, 

outreach, education, and research dissemination to the general public on the energy efficiency, technical, and 

human considerations that influence window and façade design, selection, and use.

Visit www.efficientwindows.org for more information on the benefits of efficient windows, how windows 
work, how to select an efficient window, and what EWC member manufacturers provide efficient windows.



Selecting Energy Efficient New 
Windows in Michigan
www.efficientwindows.org January 2016

Michigan is a climate that 
requires mostly heating.

ENERGY STAR® Zones 1. Meet the Energy Code & Look for the ENERGY STAR®

Windows must comply with your 
local energy code. Windows that are 
ENERGY STAR certified often meet 
or exceed energy code requirements. 
To verify if specific window energy 
properties comply with the local code 
requirements, look for the NFRC label.

2. Look for Efficient Properties on the NFRC Label

The National Fenestration Rating 
Council (NFRC) label is needed 
for verification of energy code 
compliance. The NFRC label displays 
whole-window energy properties and 
appears on all fenestration products 
which are part of the ENERGY STAR 
program (www.nfrc.org). 

3. Compare Annual Energy Costs for a Typical House

Use computer simulations for a typical 
house to compare the annual energy 
performance of different window types. 
A comparison of the performance of a 
set of windows for this climate begins 
on Page 3 or use the Window Selection 
Tool on the EWC web site or the 
Window Selection Tool Mobile App 
(www.efficientwindows.org).

4. Customize Energy Use for a Specific House

A simulation program, such as 
RESFEN, lets you compare window 
options by calculating performance 
based on utility rates for your climate, 
house design, and window design 
options (windows.lbl.gov/software).

5. Ensure Proper Installation 

Proper window and skylight 
installation is necessary for optimal 
performance, to avoid air and water 
leakage. Always follow manufacturers’ 
installation guidelines and use trained 
professionals for window and skylight 
installation.

≤

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.27
Windows: U = 0.28
Windows: U = 0.29
Windows: U = 0.30
Skylights: U ≤ 0.50

Windows: Any
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.32 
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.37
Windows: SHGC ≥ 0.42 
Skylights: Any

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

For superior energy performance, select windows with a U-factor of 0.25 
or less. If air conditioning is not a concern, look for a higher Solar Heat 
Gain Coefficient (SHGC) of 0.35–0.60 so winter solar heat can help offset 
the heating energy need. If cooling is a significant concern and no shading 
is available, select windows with a SHGC less than 0.32.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.53

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.40 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.35

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

The larger your heating bill, the more important a low U-factor becomes. 
For superior energy performance, select windows with a U-factor of 0.25 
or less. A low SHGC value reduces summer cooling demand, but also 
reduces free winter solar heat gain. If you have significant air conditioning 
costs or summer overheating issues, look for SHGC values of 0.25 or less.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.53

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.25 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.28

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

A low U-factor is useful during cold days when heating is needed and 
is also helpful during hot days when it is important to keep the heat out. 
Windows with low SHGC values help reduce summer cooling demand. If 
you have significant air conditioning costs or summer overheating issues, 
look for SHGC values of 0.25 or less.

U-factor SHGC Air Leakage
Windows: U ≤ 0.40 
Skylights: U ≤ 0.60

Windows: SHGC ≤ 0.25 
Skylights: SHGC ≤ 0.28

Windows: AL ≤ 0.30 
Skylights: AL ≤  0.30

A low SHGC is the important window property in warm to hot climates. 
For superior energy performance, select windows with a SHGC of 0.25 or 
less. A low U-factor is useful during cold days when heating is needed and 
is also helpful during hot days when it is important to keep the heat out. 



Selecting Energy Efficient New Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 2

Efficient Window PropertiesBenefits of High Performance Windows

U-Factor
The rate of heat loss is indicated in 
terms of the U-factor (U-value). This 
rate of non-solar heat loss or gain 
through a whole window assembly is 
measured in Btu/hr-sf-°F. The lower 
the U-factor, the greater a window’s 
resistance to heat flow and the better 
its insulating value.

Solar Heat Gain Coefficient (SHGC)
The SHGC is the fraction of incident 
solar radiation admitted through a 
window. SHGC is expressed as a 
number between 0 and 1. The lower a 
window’s solar heat gain coefficient, 
the less solar heat it transmits. 
Whether a higher or lower SHGC 
is desirable depends on the climate, 
orientation, shading conditions, and 
other factors.

Visible Transmittance (VT) 
The VT is an optical property that 
indicates the amount of visible light 
transmitted. VT is a whole window 
rating and includes the impact of the 
frame which does not transmit any 
visible light. While VT theoretically 
varies between 0 and 1, most values 
are between 0.3 and 0.7. The higher 
the VT, the more light is transmitted.

Air Leakage (AL)
AL is expressed in cubic feet of air 
passing through a square foot of 
window area (cfm/sf). The lower the 
AL, the less air will pass through 
cracks in the assembly. AL is very 
important, but not as important as 
U-factor and SHGC. 

Condensation Resistance (CR)
CR measures how well a window 
resists the formation of condensation on 
the inside surface. CR is expressed as a 
number between 1 and 100. The higher 
the number, the better a product is able 
to resist condensation. CR is meant to 
compare products and their potential 
for condensation formation. CR is an 
optional rating on the NFRC label.

Heating & Cooling Season Savings
In climates with a significant heating season, standard 
windows can represent a major source of unwanted heat 
loss. Low-E coatings, gas fills, and insulating spacers and 
frames result in a lower U-factor, meaning less winter heat 
loss. In climates that mainly require cooling, non-energy 
efficient windows can be a major source of unwanted heat 
gain. Low-solar-gain low-E coatings can reduce solar heat 
gain while still providing comfort, daylight and views.

Improved Daylight and View
Daylight and view are two fundamental attributes of a 
window. Low-E coatings can significantly reduce solar 
heat gain with a minimal loss of light and view. 

Improved Comfort
High performance windows can make a home more 
comfortable. Cold glass can create uncomfortable drafts 
as air next to the window is cooled and drops to the floor. 
Windows with low U-factors will results in higher interior 
window temperatures in the heating seasons and thus 
greater comfort. Also, during cooling seasons, strong direct 
sunlight can create overheating and discomfort. Windows 
with a low SHGC will reduce the solar radiation (heat) 
coming through the glass.

Less Condensation 
High performance windows with warm edge technology 
and insulating frames have a warm interior surface so that 
condensation on interior surfaces is significantly reduced 
or eliminated. 

Reduced Fading
Coatings on glass or plastic films within the window or 
skylight assembly can significantly reduce the ultraviolet 
(UV) and other solar radiation which causes fading of 
fabrics and furnishings.

Lower Mechanical Equipment Costs
Efficient windows reduce annual heating and cooling bills 
as well as peak heating and cooling loads. Peak loads 
determine the size of the home’s furnace, heat pump, air 
conditioner, and fans. Reducing peak load may allow 
homeowners to install a smaller heating or cooling system.

A Quieter Home
High performance windows provide reduced sound 
transmission, resulting in an Indoor-Outdoor Transmission 
Class (IOTC) rating that is often 5–10 points below a 
standard window.



Selecting Energy Efficient New Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 3

Comparing Window Performance in Detroit, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical new 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0             $200            $400           $600            $800

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient New Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 4

Comparing Window Performance in Grand Rapids, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical new 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Mabye Yes

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0              $200           $400            $600            $800

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient New Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 5

Comparing Window Performance in Houghton, Michigan

The annual energy performance figures shown here assume a typical new 1700 sq. ft. 
single-story house with 15% window-to-floor area. The windows are equally distributed 
on all four sides of the house and include typical shading (partially deployed interior 
shades, overhangs, trees and neighboring buildings).

WINDOW SYSTEM STANDARDS PERFORMANCE ENERGY COMFORT

ID Panes Glass Frame U-factor SHGC VT ENERGY 
STAR

2012 
IECC Annual Energy Cost

3 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

3 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 0.21-0.40 0.41-0.50 Yes Yes

3 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved ≤0.22 ≤0.20 ≤0.40 Yes Yes

2 MSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 Maybe Yes

2 LSG 
Low-E

Non-metal, 
Improved 0.23-0.30 ≤0.25 0.41-0.50 Maybe Yes

2 HSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E

Metal, 
Improved 0.41-0.55 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 HSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 MSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 0.26-0.40 0.51-0.60 No No

2 LSG 
Low-E Metal 0.56-0.70 ≤0.25 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Clear Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

2 Tint Non-metal 0.41-0.55 0.41-0.60 ≤0.40 No No

2 Clear Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal, 
Improved 0.56-0.70 0.41-0.60 0.41-0.50 No No

2 Clear Metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

2 Tint Metal 0.71-0.99 0.41-0.60 0.51-0.60 No No

1 Clear Non-metal 0.71-0.99 >0.60 >0.60 No No

1 Clear Metal ≥1.00 >0.60 >0.60 No No

worst             best
$0             $200            $400            $600            $800

Note: “HSG,” “MSG,” and “LSG” stand for high-solar-gain, moderate-solar-gain, and low-solar-gain respectfully. “Improved” includes warm-edge spacer technology and thermally 
improved frame. The annual energy performance figures shown here were generated using RESFEN6 provided by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. U-factor and SHGC 
are for the total window including frame. The costs shown here are annual costs for space heating and space cooling only and thus will be less than total utility bills. Costs for 
lights, appliances, hot water, cooking, and other uses are not included in these figures. The mechanical system uses a gas furnace for heating and air conditioning for cooling. 
Natural gas prices used are projections of the average natural gas price for the heating seasons of 2012-2014. Electricity prices used are the average electricity price for the 
cooling seasons of 2012-2014. All pricing information provided by the Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov). A simple comfort analysis was performed using 
EPW weather files for each location to determine how often the winter night and summer day temperatures exceed beyond an acceptable number of hours. The room condition 
contains a large, west-facing window with a single person facing the window. A large window was used because a large view factor will have a greater impact on comfort. The 
two extremes of summer day and winter night conditions were only considered. A simple condensation analysis was performed using heating season design temperatures for 
each location, performance properties of the glazing system, edge performance properties of the framing system, and interior glass temperatures of a glazing system simulated 
in WINDOW6 to determine if the interior glass temperature falls to a level in which condensation may occur. See the www.efficientwindows.org for more information on all the 
energy, comfort, and condensations metrics.



Selecting Energy Efficient New Windows in Michigan
January 2016Copyright © 2016, Efficient Windows Collaborative

All rights reserved.

 Page 6

The mission of the Efficient Windows Collaborative is to lead and support — through 
the use of advanced window, façade and skylight technologies — the transformation 
of the built environment toward greater energy efficiency. 

The Efficient Windows Collaborative is a nonprofit, 501(c)3 organization that partners 
with window, door, skylight, and component manufacturers, research organizations, 
federal, state & local government agencies, and others interested in expanding the 
market for high-efficiency fenestration products. 

CONNECT WITH US

https://www.facebook.com/EfficientWindows

https://twitter.com/EWCwindows

https://www.linkedin.com/groups?home=&gid=4286505&trk

https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/window-selection-tool/id911802627?mt=8

In 1989 the glazing and fenestration industry self-organized to create the National Fenestration Rating Council 

(NFRC). Nine years later the Efficient Windows Collaborative (EWC) was formed and since that time, market 

share for high performance windows has grown from roughly 30% to over 80% in the residential sector. 

During that growth, the EWC has been at the forefront of educating manufacturers about how to communicate the 

value of energy efficiency to consumers and providing performance comparisons across generic products. First 

incorporating NFRC labels and then ENERGY STAR for fenestration labels, the EWC has maintained a clear and 

consistent message regarding product performance. The purpose of the EWC is to provide unbiased information, 

outreach, education, and research dissemination to the general public on the energy efficiency, technical, and 

human considerations that influence window and façade design, selection, and use.

Visit www.efficientwindows.org for more information on the benefits of efficient windows, how windows 
work, how to select an efficient window, and what EWC member manufacturers provide efficient windows.



YOUR GUIDE TO UNDERSTANDING:
• Energy Codes
• Safety Glazing Codes
• Wildlife Codes
• Fire Safety Codes
• And More

Sponsored by

A

Supplement

®
METAL & GLAZING

MAGAZINE

Glass 
Codes

A GUIDE TO



Fit the bill—and the build—with new Acuity™ Low-Iron Glass.

Elevate aesthetics for a modest investment, without sacrificing performance. 

New Acuity™ Glass by Vitro Architectural Glass (formerly PPG Glass) is an 

affordable low-iron solution available with Solarban® solar control low-e 

coatings, offering vivid views with no green cast. Where conventional clear 

glass was once a given, pure clarity is now within reach.

Request samples and learn more at vitroglazings.com/acuity

Capture clarity.



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 1

Glass
Take a closer look at the unique beauty of  glass.

Codes for the Planet
Glass can help architectural building projects look good and increase 
energy performance at the same time. Understanding the energy 
code requirements is key to designing an attractive, efficient building 
that features ample use of  glass. 

Codes that Bind
What you need to know about the structural performance 
requirements of  building codes governing the use of  glass and  
glazing materials.

Codes for Safety and Health
Safety glazing codes are designed to preserve the lives of  and/or re-
duce injuries to any individual who comes in contact with glass in a 
particular opening. Read more here about the many codes that relate 
to this important material. 

Codes for Birds and Marine Life
While today’s high-performance glass products provide a 
comfortable living space for building occupants, there are also other 
options created specifically with wildlife in mind.

Fire-Rated Glazing Codes
From different types of  products and testing, to applications 
and codes, here’s what you need to know about fire-rated 
glass products. 

Glass Education
Learning about glass doesn’t have to be boring. Vitro Architectural 
Glass offers a number of  helpful and informative online tools that can 
guide you through your next glazing project. 

Resources and Information
Find a list of  all industry acronyms and more information on some of  
the codes referenced in this guide. 

2
4

14

16

18

20

Contents

On the Cover
The Daimler Trucks North 
America Headquarters in  
Portland, Ore., features Vitro 
Architectural Glass’ Solarban® 
R100 Solarblue® glass fabricated 
by Hartung Glass and installed 
by Benson Industries. 
Photography: Tom Kessler 

YOUR GUIDE TO UNDERSTANDING:
• Energy Codes
• Safety Glazing Codes
• Wildlife Codes
• Fire Safety Codes
• And More

Sponsored 

A

Supplement

®
METAL & GLAZING

MAGAZINE

Glass 
Codes

A GUIDE TO

Published By:
Key Media & Research
20 P G A Drive, Suite 201
Stafford, VA 22554 USA

Publisher
Debra A. Levy

Editor
Ellen Rogers

Art Director/Managing Editor
Dawn Campbell

Art Director
Saundra Hutchison

© 2018 USGlass magazine. 
540/720-5584 All rights reserved. 

Reprinted with permission.
Ph

ot
o:

 T
om

 C
w

en
ar

The Nemours/Alfred I. duPont Hospital 
for Children in Wilmington, Del.

8

12



2 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

erPh
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

er

t is both the artist and the canvas.
The destination and thoroughfare.
It illuminates, reflects and obscures.
There is no other thing on earth like it.

Glass is glorious.
Imagine, for a moment, a glassless world.
How different life would be. 
No mirror to reflect our sense of  self.
No insulating glass to keep us comfortable 
while allowing a view. No vantage point into 
cars or out of  small spaces.
No security with a vista.

There is no thing on earth like glass. 
It is a chameleon to be celebrated.
It changes shape and depth and color to meet 
the needs of  its surroundings. 
A delightfully durable material of  strength 
and whimsy.
Give bricks, concrete, wood and metal their due. 
But nothing does what glass is.  

Our sponsors at Vitro Architectural Glass commissioned this 
educational brochure to help those who design and build with 
glass to understand its characteristics and the building codes 
that affect it. We hope it proves helpful to you as you work with 
a material that knows no bounds.

I
Ph

ot
o:

 T
om

 C
w

en
ar

Glass



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 3

Ph
ot

o:
 W

eb
er

 T
ho

m
ps

on

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

er

Vitro projects, clockwise from left: 
VIA 57 West, New York, New York, Solarban® 70XL glass; 
UCSD Jacobs Medical Center, La Jolla, Calif., Solarban® 70XL 
glass coated on Starphire Ultra-Clear® glass and Solarban® 72 
glass;Chicago O’Hare Airport, Terminal 5, Chicago, Starphire® 
glass; The Terry Thomas, Seattle, Solarban® 70XL glass; The 
Tower at PNC Plaza, Pittsburgh, Sungate® 400 passive low-E 
glass and Starphire-Ultra-Clear® glass.

Ph
ot

o:
  G

ol
dr

ay
 In

du
st

rie
s

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 C

w
en

ar



4 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

nergy codes set the minimum efficiency require-
ments for both new and renovated buildings. There 
are a number of  building codes that affect the use 
of  glass and glazing products. The two primary 

standards that apply to the energy performance requirements for 
exterior fenestration and glazing systems are ASHRAE 90.1 and 
the International Energy Conservation Code. In addition, some 
states have developed their own codes for energy performance, 
and other organizations have combined efforts to create one strin-
gent “green” code. 

ASHRAE 90.1
ASHRAE 90.1, “Energy Standard for Buildings Except 

Low-Rise Residential Buildings” provides the minimum re-
quirements for energy-efficient design of  most buildings, ex-
cept low-rise residential buildings. There are multiple versions 
of  the standard, which are referenced by different states across 
the country (see map below). 

    The most recent version is ASHRAE 90.1—2016 and it is 
currently being reviewed by the states for consideration based 
on more stringent requirements. It is important to recognize 
that the performance requirements for these standards are for 
the fully framed glazing systems and not just for the center-of-
glass performance.

IECC
The second referenced standard is the IECC, which was de-

veloped by the International Code Council (ICC). The most 
recent version was published in 2018. The IECC is in use or 
adopted in 48 states, the District of  Columbia, Puerto Rico and 
the U.S. Virgin Islands. California’s energy codes requirements 
conform to the 2016 California Title 24 Building Energy Ef-
ficiency Standards, and Indiana references the 2010 Indiana 
Energy Conservation Code based on ASHRAE 90.1-2007.  

A comparison of  the U-factor and Solar Heat Gain Coeffi-
cient (SHGC) requirements of  the IECC and various versions 
of  ASHRAE 90.1 is illustrated in the chart on the following 
page.

Title 24
California’s Title 24 mandates stringent energy performance 

requirements. These include lower U-factors based on product 
type, such as curtainwall and storefront. Other fixed windows 
and operable windows require low-E double glazing with a ther-
mally broken frame in most cases, as well as argon and warm 
edge spacers. In addition, triple-silver low-E coatings likely will 
be necessary given the code’s low SHGC and minimum Visible 

Commercial Code Status

continued on page 6

 Meets or exceeds ASHRAE 90.1-2013 
or equivalent (12)

 Meets or exceeds ASHRAE 90.1-2010 
or equivalent (17)

 Meets or exceeds ASHRAE 90.1-2007 
or equivalent (15)

 Meets or exceeds ASHRAE 90.1-2004 
or equivalent (1)

 No statewide code or predates  
ASHRAE 90.1-2004 (11)

 (Source: bcapcodes.org)
 AS
 GU
 MP

 PR
 VI

E

Codes for 
the Planet 
Green & Energy Regulations



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 5

Vertical Fenestration U-Factors
Climate Zone 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Specification

Non-Metal Framing 1.2 0.75 0.65 0.4 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 ASHRAE 90.1-2010

0.5 0.4 0.35 0.35 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32 ASHRAE 90.1-2013

0.5 0.37 0.33/0.35 0.31 0.31 0.3 0.28 0.25 ASHRAE 90.1-2016

Same as metal framing fixed or operable

IECC 2012-2018
Metal Framing - Fixed 1.2 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.45 0.45 0.4 0.4 ASHRAE 90.1-2010

0.57 0.57 0.5 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.38 0.38 ASHRAE 90.1-2013

0.57 0.54 0.33/0.35 0.31 0.31 0.3 0.28 0.25 ASHRAE 90.1-2016

0.5 0.5 0.46 0.38 0.38 0.36 0.29 0.29 IECC 2012-2018

Metal Framing - Operable 1.2 0.75 0.65 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.45 0.45 ASHRAE 90.1-2010

0.65 0.65 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.4 ASHRAE 90.1-2013

0.65 0.65 0.6 0.46 0.46 0.45 0.4 0.35 ASHRAE 90.1-2016

0.65 0.65 0.6 0.45 0.45 0.43 0.37 0.37 IECC 2012-2018

Metal Framing - Entrance Doors 1.2 1.1 0.9 0.85 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 ASHRAE 90.1-2010

0.65 0.65 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.4 ASHRAE 90.1-2013

1.1 0.83 0.77 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.68 0.68 ASHRAE 90.1-2016

1.1 0.83 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 0.77 IECC 2012-2018

Vertical Fenestration SHGC
Climate Zone 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Specification

SHGC 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.45 0.45 ASHRAE 90.1-2010  
& 2013

IECC 2012 & 2015

0.25 0.25 0.25 0.36 0.38 0.4 0.45 0.45 ASHRAE 90.1-2016

IECC 2018

Vertical Fenestration U-Factors
Climate Zone 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Specification

Non-Metal Framing 0.45 0.36 0.32 0.32 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 ASHRAE 189.1-2014

0.48 0.35 0.31 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.27 0.24 ASHRAE 189.1-2017  
& 2018 IgCC

2015 IgCC

same as metal framing fixed or operable

Metal Framing - Fixed 0.51 0.51 0.45 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.34 0.34 ASHRAE 189.1-2014

0.54 0.51 0.43 0.36 0.36 0.36 0.31 0.28 ASHRAE 189.1-2017  
& 2018 IgCC

0.48 0.48 0.44 0.36 0.36 0.34 0.28 0.28 2015 IgCC

Metal Framing - Operable 0.59 0.59 0.54 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.36 0.36 ASHRAE 189.1-2014

0.63 0.57 0.44 0.44 0.43 0.38 0.33 0.4 ASHRAE 189.1-2017  
& 2018 IgCC

0.62 0.62 0.57 0.43 0.43 0.41 0.35 0.35 2015 IgCC

Metal Framing - Entrance Doors 0.99 0.75 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.69 0.69 ASHRAE 189.1-2014

1.05 0.79 0.73 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.65 ASHRAE 189.1-2017  
& 2018 IgCC

1.05 0.79 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73 2015 IgCC

The chart above compares the differences in U-factor and SHGC requirements of the IECC and various versions of 
ASHRAE 90.1 for different glazing products.

The chart above illustrates maximum U-factor requirements for vertical fenestration for several versions of the 
ASHRAE and IgCC standards.

IECC U-Factor and Solar Heat Coefficients 

IgCC ASHRAE U-Factor Requirements

Source: IECC

Source: IgCC/ASHRAE



6 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

Transmittance (VT) requirements. The requirements also allow 
area-weighted averaging across the façade, which can be useful 
when balancing the higher U-factors of  certain products, such 
as vents and awnings, with the lower U-factors of  a high-per-
formance curtainwall. 

It’s not unusual for architects and designers in California to 
follow the building performance path. By following this path, 
you do not have to meet each and every individual prescriptive 
requirement as long as the energy equivalence of  the overall 
building design can be shown. 

California Title 24 has statewide maximum requirements 
for U-factor, SHGC and VT for all non-residential fenestration 
and glazed systems (see chart below). 

California Title 24 – Commercial 

2013 and 2016 Title 24

Max U-Factor Max SHGC Max VT

Curtainwall/
Storefront 0.41 0.26 0.46

Fixed 
Windows 0.36 0.25 0.42

Operable 
Windows 0.46 0.22 0.31

IgCC
In addition to the national energy codes, there are also the 

more stringent “green” codes.  Traditionally, there have been 
three national green standards: ICC’s International Green 
Construction Code (IgCC); ASHRAE 189.1, Design of  High 
Performance Buildings, except Low-Rise Residential Buildings; 
and the LEED green building program. In 2016, the three gov-
erning bodies agreed to merge the requirements of  these three 
standards into one document. 

The IgCC was created to provide a whole-systems approach 
to the design, construction and operation of  buildings. The 
2015 IgCC is the currently available version of  the code; the 
2018 version is under development. 

These codes call for higher-performing glass and glazing prod-
ucts, with both the U-value (see chart on page 7) and the SHGC set 
slightly beyond the base energy code. In addition, daylighting 
is also a major focus of  the IgCC. These requirements call for 
minimum top-lighting in large, open areas, such as warehouses, 
as well as minimum sidelighting in offices, classrooms and other 
similar facilities. Other areas covered by the green codes include 
shading and sun-shading, renewable energy, such as building in-
tegrated photovoltaics, and sustainable materials.

Energy Code Awareness
Energy codes, like all building codes, can be challeng-

ing to understand. Vitro Architectural Glass offers a num-
ber of  tools and resources to help you select the right glass 
to meet your project’s specific high-performance needs.  
Visit www.vitroglazings.com to start your search.  

Codes For The Planet
continued from page 7

nvironmental Product declarations (EPD) are vol-
untary transparent reports created by companies 
regarding the life-cycle impacts of  their products 
on the environment. Reporting and documenta-

tion for product-specific EPDs address energy use and emissions 
associated with a product’s manufacture and packaging, as well 
as the extraction, transportation and processing of  related raw  
materials.

Vitro Architectural Glass has published third-party-verified, 
product-specific Type III Environmental Product Declarations 
(EPDs) for both its flat glass and processed glass products. The 
product-specific flat glass EPD is valid for all annealed and un-
treated glass products manufactured by Vitro. The product-spe-
cific processed glass EPD is valid for products that undergo 
secondary treatment, such as the addition of  magnetron sput-
tered vapor deposition coatings, heat-strengthening or fabrica-
tion into multi-pane insulating glass units.

Both EPDs are certified by ASTM International as conform-

ing to the requirements of  ISO 14025. Life-cycle assessments 
for flat glass and processed glass products were performed ac-
cording to ISO 14040, ISO 14044 and EN 15804 following the 
product category rules for each product type.

“EPDs continue to grow in value as green building certifi-
cation programs and sustainable design become more main-
stream,” says Paul W. Bush, Vitro’s director of  quality and 
technical services. “Today’s architects demand greater trans-
parency and Vitro Glass is committed to meeting their ex-
panded requirements. As part of  that commitment, we decided 
to pursue the publication of  product-specific, third-party-ver-
ified EPDs and to post them publicly with the goal of  making 
it easier for architects to confirm the information we provide 
and to include our EPDs in their sustainability and certification 
documentation.”

The EPDs and other information about Vitro Architectural 
Glass’ sustainability efforts are available through the company’s 
website: www.vitroglazings.com. 

Product Assurance: 
Environmental Product Declarations

E



Clearly Evolving

Introducing the latest evolution in low-e glass.
Architects strive for continuous improvement—in fact, you might say it’s in their DNA. Developed with guidance from architects  

and featuring proprietary technology by Vitro Architectural Glass (formerly PPG Glass), Solarban® 90 glass provides the superior  

solar control performance and optimal occupant comfort architects have always wanted with the aesthetics of clear glass.

For a sample, call 855-887-6457 or visit vitroglazings.com/sb90

Vitro and Solarban are trademarks owned by Vitro. The PPG logo is a trademark of PPG Industries Ohio, Inc.



8 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

Codes 
That Bind 
Structural Regulations

uilding codes are written 
with one goal in mind: 
safety. Meeting them re-
quires extensive planning, 

meetings and inspections, and they are 
critical to the success of  any building. 

The International Building Code 
(IBC), developed by the International 
Code Council (ICC), is in use or adopted 
in all 50 states, the District of  Columbia, 
the U.S. Virgin Islands, Guam and the 
Northern Marianas Islands. The most 
recent version (which at press time was 
the 2018 IBC) was published in August 
2017. However, most jurisdictions lag 
behind in their adoption of  the code, so 
it is important to continue to reference 
the 2012 or 2015 versions. The IBC 
establishes the structural performance 
requirements for glass, glazing and fen-
estration installed in all buildings. There 
are some exceptions, such as detached 
one- and two-family dwellings and mul-
tiple single-family dwellings (i.e., town-

houses) not more than three stories above 
grade plane in height. The requirements 
for these structures are found in the In-
ternational Residential Code (IRC). 

Here’s a closer look at the structural 
performance requirements of  the IBC.1

Structural Design
Windloads on buildings are deter-

mined in accordance with Chapters 
26 to 30 of  American Society of  Civil 
Engineers (ASCE) 7 or provisions of  the 
alternate all-heights method in Section 
1609.6 of  the IBC. In accordance with 
Section 2404.1,

“Glass sloped 15 degrees (0.26 rad) 
or less from vertical in windows, curtain 
and window walls, doors and other exte-
rior applications shall be designed to resist 
the windloads due to ultimate design wind 
speed, Vult, in Section 1609 for compo-
nents and cladding. Glass in glazed cur-
tainwalls, glazed storefronts and glazed 
partitions shall meet the seismic require-

ments of  ASCE 7, Section 13.5.9. The 
load resistance of  glass under uniform 
load shall be determined in accordance 
with ASTM E1300.”

Glass Strength
ASTM E1300, “Standard Practice for 

Determining Load Resistance of  Glass in 
Buildings,” describes procedures to deter-
mine the load resistance of  monolithic 
and laminated glass, including combina-
tions of  glass types used in a sealed insu-
lating glass unit. It does not apply to any 
form of  wired, patterned, sandblasted, 
drilled, notched, or grooved glass or to 
glass with surface or edge treatments 
that reduce the glass strength.

IBC 2015 requirements for framing 
members that support glass and glazing 
systems are found in Section 2403.3, 
“Framing” as follows:

“To be considered firmly supported, the 
framing members for each individual pane 
of  glass shall be designed so the deflection 

1. While the requirements for glazing and fenestration are predominantly the same between the 2012 and 2015 versions of the IBC, these sections 
reference the 2015 version.

Vitro Architectural Glass products have been used in glazing projects in all regions of the U.S. Examples include 
VIA 57 West in New York (left), which features Solarban® 70XL glass fabricated by Tecnoglass and installed by 

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

er

B



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 9

of  the edge of  the glass perpendicular to 
the glass pane shall not exceed 1/175 of  
the glass edge length or 3/4 inch (19.1 
mm), whichever is less, when subjected to 
the larger of  the positive or negative load 
where loads are combined as specified in  
Section 1605.”
The requirements for fully framed ex-

terior windows and doors are found in 
Section 1709.5:

“Exterior windows and sliding doors 
shall be tested and labeled as conforming 
to AAMA/WDMA/CSA101/I.S.2/
A440. The label shall state the name 
of  the manufacturer, the approved label-
ing agency and the product designation as 
specified in AAMA/WDMA/CSA101/
I.S.2/A440. Exterior side-hinged doors 
shall be tested and labeled as conforming 
to AAMA/WDMA/CSA101/I.S.2/
A440 or comply with Section 1709.5.2. 
Products tested and labeled as conforming 
to AAMA/WDMA/CSA101/I.S.2/
A440 shall not be subject to the require-
ments of  Sections 2403.2 and 2403.3.

1709.5.2 Exterior windows and door 
assemblies not provided for in Section 

1709.5.1.
Exterior window and door as-

semblies shall be tested in accor-
dance with ASTM E330. ...   
Exterior window and door assemblies 
containing glass shall comply with Section 
2403. The design pressure for testing shall 
be calculated in accordance with Chapter 
16. Each assembly shall be tested for 10 
seconds at a load equal to 1.5 times the 
design pressure.”

Impact Performance
Exterior glazed products installed in 

windborne debris regions, such as South 
Florida and certain other coastal re-
gions, are required to be impact-resistant 
or protected with an impact-resistant 
covering meeting the requirements of  
an approved impact-resistant standard 
or ASTM E1996 and ASTM E1886 as 
follows. Per the 2015 IBC:
“1. Glazed openings located within 30 

feet (9144 mm) of  grade shall meet 
the requirements of  the large missile 
test of  ASTM E1996.

2. Glazed openings located more than 

30 feet (9144 mm) above grade shall 
meet the provisions of  the small mis-
sile test of  ASTM E1996.”
In accordance with Chapter 2 of  the 

IBC, a wind-borne debris region is de-
fined as:

“Areas within hurricane-prone re-
gions located:
1. Within 1 mile (1.61 km) of  the coastal 

mean high water line where the ulti-
mate design wind speed, Vult, is 130 
mph (58 m/s) or greater; or

2. In areas where the ultimate design 
wind speed is 140 mph (63.6 m/s) or 
greater.”

Tools and Resources
Vitro Architectural Glass offers a 

number of  resources that can help you 
navigate your code questions related to 
glass and glazing products. Our team of  
dedicated experts also can help answer 
questions and get you on the right track 
to designing and specifying a structur-
ally sound and safe building. Visit www.
vitroglazings.com to learn more. 

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

er

Enclos, as well as the Grove at Grand Bay in Miami, which features Solarban® 72 Starphire® glass, also fabricated 
by Tecnoglass. Giovanni Monti and Partners was the glazing contractor.



Low-Iron Glass
™

Capture clarity with new Acuity™ Low-Iron Glass.
Meet the aesthetic demands of architects and the performance demands of owners, all for a modest investment. 

Developed to withstand value-engineering, new Acuity™ Glass by Vitro Architectural Glass (formerly PPG Glass) joins 

Starphire Ultra-Clear® Glass in the Vitro family of low-iron brands. An affordable low-iron option available with Solarban® 

solar control low-e coatings, Acuity™ glass offers vivid views with no green cast. 

Request samples and learn more at vitroglazings.com/acuity

Fit the bill—and the build.



Low-Iron Glass
™

Capture clarity with new Acuity™ Low-Iron Glass.
Meet the aesthetic demands of architects and the performance demands of owners, all for a modest investment. 

Developed to withstand value-engineering, new Acuity™ Glass by Vitro Architectural Glass (formerly PPG Glass) joins 

Starphire Ultra-Clear® Glass in the Vitro family of low-iron brands. An affordable low-iron option available with Solarban® 

solar control low-e coatings, Acuity™ glass offers vivid views with no green cast. 

Request samples and learn more at vitroglazings.com/acuity

Fit the bill—and the build.



12 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

lass is central to most 
of  the building-related 
codes in the United 
States, including resi-

dential, energy codes and fire codes, 
among others. The safety glazing codes 
are chief  among these because they are 
focused on human life safety. Safety 
glazing codes are designed to preserve 
the lives of  and/or reduce injuries 
to any individual who comes in con-
tact with glass in a particular opening.
Glass is one of  the few building mate-
rials with some of  its use regulated by 
the Federal government in addition to 
regulation by code groups. The  Code 

of  Federal Regulations, Title 16 Com-
mercial Practices, Chapter II Consumer 
Product Safety Commission (CPSC), 
Subchapter B-Consumer Product 
Safety Act Regulations,  includes Title 
16, part 1201—Safety Standard for 
Architectural Glazing.

Federal Regulations
The CPSC regulations detail how to 

test and certify safety glass products used 
in architectural applications. 

When first put in place in the 1970s, 
the Federal Code regulated the use of  
glass in doors and side panels. It did 
not address most other hazardous loca-

tions. That has changed over the years 
and today 16 CFR 1201 applies only to 
glass in doors; the International Build-
ing Code (IBC) produced by the Inter-
national Code Council, regulates glass 
in other locations. It covers glass ad-
jacent to a door or in the same plane 
as a door, glass in hazardous locations 
such as pools, spas, certain walking sur-
faces, shower enclosures, handrails, etc.
Let’s look at the Federal CPSC regula-
tion first. 
It generally requires safety 
glazing in:
• Storm doors
• Combination doors;

The Right One for Your Project

S
o for strength and breakage-resistance, 
tempered glass is often the fi rst consider-
ation. For fl exibility, UV-resistance, security 
and sound considerations, laminated glass 

is often the product of choice. Both are considered 
safety glazing materials and can be obtained in a 
variety of thicknesses and colors or tints. Both are 
easy to clean and maintain when installed properly.

Typically, laminated glass products are slightly 
more expensive than tempered products of the 
same type and thickness. The optical clarity for both 
laminated and tempered glass is excellent, and ei-
ther product will provide many years of satisfactory 
service in your application. 

Goldray applied a digitally printed pattern to Starphire® glass 
used in Terminal 5 at the Chicago O’Hare Airport.

Ph
ot

o:
  G

ol
dr

ay
 In

du
st

rie
s

Skyline Design fabricated 
Starphire® glass for the 1K Fulton 
project in Chicago. Glass Solutions 
Inc. was the contract glazier.

Codes for 
Safety and 
Health
Safety Regulations

G



• Doors;
• Bathtub doors and enclosures;
• Shower doors and enclosures;
• Sliding doors, such as the 

patio type.
It has exemptions for:
• Louvers of  jalousie doors;
• Certain wired glass applications;
• Carved, dalle or leaded glass if  the 

glazing meets certain criteria.

State and National  
Building Codes

Local and national building codes 
such as the IBC address glazing in haz-
ardous locations. 
Hazardous locations include: 
• Doors (though the language about 

doors is harmonized with the lan-
guage in 16 CFR 1201);

• Glazing adjacent to doors;
• Windows;
• Glazing in guardrails and railings; 
• Glazing near wet surfaces;
• Glazing next to stairways and ramps 

or next to a stairway landing. 
The IBC also covers glass in a va-
riety of  applications. Specifically:
• Chapter 24—Glass and Glazing 

2405—Sloped Glazing and  
Skylights

• 2406—Safety Glazing
• 2407—Glass in Handrails and 

Guards
• 2408—Glazing in Athletic Facilities

• 2409—Glass in Walkways and  
Elevators.
In rare cases, states and larger mu-

nicipalities adopt their own glazing 
codes or modify those provided by  
the ICC.

What is Safety Glass?
CPSC uses the testing procedures de-

tailed in ANSI Z97.1-2015, the American 
National Standard for Safety Glazing Materials 
in Buildings-Safety Performance Specifications 
and Methods of  Test to determine whether 
a particular glass is considered safety 
glazing or not. 

ANSI Z97.1-2015 is a voluntary 
standard that codifies both perfor-
mance specifications and testing meth-
ods for safety glazing. It also has two 
categories. CPSC Cat I glass is gen-
erally equivalent to ANSI Class B; 
CPSC Cat II is generally equivalent to 
ANSI Class A. Either terminology is  
acceptable.

The CPSC’s Safety Standard defines 
two different types of  safety glass—sim-
ply named Category I and Category II 
for their reference in the regulations. 
CPSC 16 CFR 1201-1 (Cat 1) defines 
safety glass as glass that is subject to 
human impact but has an area of  less 
than or equal to 9 square feet. CPSC 
16 CFR1201 -2 (Cat 2) defines glass 
used in any area greater than 9 square  
inches.

Which Glasses are  
Safety Glasses?

When selecting safety glass for an 
application, whether decorative or 
functional, two choices often arise: tem-
pered or laminated glass. Both qualify as 
“safety glazing materials” meaning they 
comply with the current safety glazing 
codes, so they can be used in doors, in 
sidelites, railings and other locations that 
may be deemed hazardous. 

Tempered (Toughened) glass
Tempered glass is made by heating 

and cooling a piece of  standard glass 
in a tempering furnace. The glass, 
which must be pre-cut and edged be-
fore going into the furnace, is heated 
to approximately 1200°F then cooled  
rapidly.

This process is also known as quench-
ing. The quenching process leaves the 
glass hardened so that it is now approx-
imately four to five times stronger, and 
therefore more resistant to breakage 
than it was before the tempering process. 
If  it does break, tempered glass shatters 
into small pieces that are less likely to 
cause injury or damage than non-tem-
pered glass.

pros and Cons of laminaTed glass
Laminated glass basically is a glass 

sandwich. It is typically made of  two or 
more lites of  glass with a vinyl interlayer 
in between (sandwiched, if  you will, as 
in a car’s windshield). The glass will tend 
to stay together in case one lite is broken.

The other key advantages of  lami-
nated glass is that it blocks 99 percent 
of  the UV-light transmission, has sound 
reduction properties, can be cut and its 
edges polished after laminating, and lead 
times are generally faster because most 
glass shops stock laminated glass. Certain 
thicker, multilayered forms of  laminated 
glass can even qualify as burglar- and bul-
let-resistant glass.

Because laminated glass holds to-
gether after impact better than most 
other types of  glass, it is used in modern 
windshields. The sandwiched interlayer 
gives the glass structural integrity and 
keeps it from shattering apart as tem-
pered glass might. This is key for effec-
tive airbag deployment and helping to 
keep occupants inside the vehicle in the 
event of  a crash. 

Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 13

Ph
ot

o:
 S

co
tt

 S
hi

gl
ey



14 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

lazing products that 
can “go green” extend 
beyond those that can 
help increase the energy 

efficiency and performance require-
ments of  buildings. Glazing products 
also can be beneficial in mitigating 
the potentially harmful impact to the 
surrounding environment, including  
wildlife.

Turtle Codes 
Coastal areas are prime locations for 

the use of  large spans of  glass. Lighting 
from inside homes and buildings onto 
shorelines, however, is an important 
design consideration, as it can be detri-
mental to nearby sea turtles.  

The sea turtle nesting season in Flor-
ida runs from May through October. 
After hatchlings emerge, they head to-
ward the light over the ocean, but, in 
many cases they are disoriented by the 
light inside homes and buildings along 
the beach and head the wrong way. This 
can be a danger to the hatchlings, which 
can die or be killed before finding their 
way to the ocean. 

Because sea turtles are protected by 
the Federal Endangered Species Act of  
1973, Florida Endangered and Threat-
ened Species Act of  1977, and Florida’s 
Marine Turtle Protection Act of  1995 
(379.2431), the state of  Florida devel-
oped a Model Lighting Ordinance for 
Marine Turtle Protection. This prohib-
its light from having a negative effect on 
nesting and hatching turtles. The ordi-
nance requires that tinted glass be used 
on all windows and doors in new con-

struction of  single or multi-story struc-
tures within line-of-sight of  the beach. 

Tinted glass, according to the ordi-
nance, refers to “glass treated to achieve 
an industry-approved, inside-to-outside 
light transmittance value of  45 percent 
or less. Such transmittance is limited to 
the visible spectrum (400 to 700 nano-
meters) and is measured as the percent-
age of  light that is transmitted through 
the glass.”

Vitro Architectural Glass offers a 
number of  products that can be used to 
meet these requirements. Combining a 
tinted substrate with one of  the low-E 
coatings from Vitro Architectural Glass 
in an insulating glass unit (IGU), for ex-
ample, creates many options that pro-
vide a visible light transmittance (VLT) 
of  45 percent or less.

For existing buildings, the ordinance 
lays out a number of  measures to reduce 
or eliminate the negative effects of  inte-

rior light coming from doors and win-
dows within line-of-sight of  the beach. 
These actions include updating win-
dows to meet the 45 percent light trans-
mittance requirements, applying tint or 
film that meets these same standards, 
and using window treatments, among 
other actions. 

The 45 percent or less VLT is also 
beneficial in reducing glare and solar 
heat gain. Hurricane-rated glass also 
can be constructed to meet these  
requirements.

Bird-Friendly Glass
Each year, more than 600 million 

birds die from collisions with glass in 
the United States alone. Although bird-
friendly building regulations continue to 
increase in North America, glazing op-
tions have been limited.

Vitro Architectural Glass and 
Walker Glass have partnered to create  

BioSteel Centre in Toronto features AviProTek® bird-friendly glass by Walker 
Textures® glass, acid-etched on tinted Optiblue® glass and Solarban® R100 
glass. Trulite was the glass fabricator.

Ph
ot

o:
 P

hi
lli

p 
Ca

st
le

to
n 

Ph
ot

og
ra

ph
y

Codes for Birds  
and Marine Life
Nature’s Regulations

G



AviProtek®E glass: a line of  sustainable 
glass options that deliver both exceptional 
energy efficiency and bird safety, with min-
imal impact on VLT.

Experts agree that the best way to deter 
birds from striking glass is through visual 
markers on the #1 or outside surface of  the 
glass. By combining a Walker AviProtek® 
acid-etched pattern on surface #1 with 
a Solarban® high-performance low-E 
coated glass by Vitro on surface #2 in an 
IGU, architects and building owners get an 
environmentally responsible glass that does 
double duty. 

AviProtek® E glass is available in stan-
dard or custom patterns on clear or Star-
phire Ultra-Clear® glass by Vitro Glass, 
combined with Solarban® 60, Solarban® 
67 or Solarban® 70XL solar control low-E 
glass coatings, exclusively from members 
of  the Vitro Certified™ Network.

Bird Safe Glazing Standards 
and Guidelines
Published Standards or Guidelines:
• Toronto, Canada, Bird-Friendly  

Development Guidelines (2007) 
• San Francisco, Standards for  

Bird-safe Buildings (2011)
• State of  Minnesota, Sustainable Build-

ing 2030 (SB 2030); Energy Standards 
(2010)

• Cook County, Ill., Building  
Construction Ordinance (2008)

• Oakland, Calif., Bird Safety  
Measures (2013) 

• Portland, Ore., Resource Guide for 
Bird-friendly Building Design (2012)

• State of  California, Green Building 
Standards Code, Appendix C:  
Bird-friendly Building Design (2010)

• Calgary, Canada, Bird-Friendly Urban 
Design Guidelines (2011)

• San Jose, Calif., Bird Friendly  
Guidelines (2015)

• Vancouver, Canada, Bird Strategy and 
Bird-Friendly Design Guidelines and 
Bird-Friendly Landscape Operational 
Guidelines (2015)

Proposed or Pending Standards  
or Guidelines:
• Federal Bird-Safe Buildings  

Act of  2011
• State of  New York, Bird-friendly Build-

ings Act (2011)
• Sunnyvale, Calif., Bird Friendly Guide-

lines (2015)

ot sure what to look for in bird-friendly glazing? These guide-
lines can serve as a starting point to help address and manage 
bird-window collisions. This checklist provides guidance on treat-
ments and techniques for both new and retrofit construction.  

At Grade Conditions: 
The bird-friendly treatment should be applied to at least 85 percent of the 

contiguous glass panel area if each panel area is greater than two square 
meters and within 16 meters from the finished grade. 

Roof Landscape Conditions: 
The bird-friendly treatment should be applied to at least 85 percent of the 

contiguous glass panel area if each panel area is greater than two square 
meters and within 16 meters from the roof-level finished grade; the develop-
ment should not contain any glass panel within 16 meters from the roof-level 
finished grade. 

Patterns (one or more should apply):  
• Stripes: Horizontal strips are spaced less than 5 cm on center; vertical 

strip spacing is less than 10 cm on center; horizontal strip widths should be 
greater than 3.1mm; and vertical strip widths should be greater than 6.1mm. 

• Dots: The dot size is larger than 5 mm; horizontal strip spacing is less than 
5 cm on center; and vertical strip spacing is less than 10 cm on center. 

• Specifications: The pattern should be applied as fritting or etching on 
the glass; and the pattern color should be a high contrast in relation to the 
background. 

The bird-friendly glass in the Humber College Centre for Entrepreneurship 
in Toronto was fabricated by Trulite. The project incorporates AviProTek® 
bird-friendly glass by Walker Textures® glass, acid-etched on tinted 
Solarban® 70XL glass.

Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 15

Ph
ot

o:
 P

hi
lli

p 
Ca

st
le

to
n 

Ph
ot

og
ra

ph
y

Bird-Friendly Glass Checklist

N



16 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

t first glance, fire-rated 
glass might not seem all 
that different than tradi-
tional glass products. Yet 

fire-rated glazing is very different in not 
only its composition, but also in how and 
where it can be used in building projects. 
Fire-rated glass is a life safety product, 
and its use is governed by the Inter-
national Building Code (IBC). While 
regular glass breaks easily during a fire, 
fire-rated glass products are designed to 
stay in the opening, keeping smoke and 
flames away. 

A Closer Look
There are two types of  fire-rated 

glass: fire-protective glass and fire-resis-
tive glass. Fire-protective glass includes 
ceramics, specialty fire protective glass, 
and wired glass. It is tested to National 
Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
252/257 or Underwriters Laboratories 
(UL) 9/10B/10C and is designed to 
compartmentalize smoke and flames. 

It does not radiate heat, and therefore 
is subject to application, area and size 
limitations under the IBC. Fire-protec-

tive glass typically is used in doors and 
openings up to 45 minutes (see box on page 
19) and cannot exceed 25 percent of  the 
total wall area. It can be used in 60- and 
90-minute doors, but is limited to 100 
square inches. Fire-protective glass is 
marked with either a D for door or O 
for openings. If  it meets the hose stream 
test (see box on left) it will be marked with 
an H.

Fire-resistive glass is tested to Amer-
ican Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) E-119/UL 263 and is designed 
to compartmentalize smoke and flames 
and limit radiant heat transmission.  
Unlike fire-protective glass, fire-resistive 
glass doesn’t have size or application 
restrictions. When installed within an 
equally rated fire-resistive framing sys-
tem, it can be used in wall-to-wall and 
floor-to-ceiling applications, and is con-
sidered a “transparent wall.” This type 

Fire-Rated 
Glazing Codes
More Safety Regulations

Fire-rated glass products can be used in a variety of applications, including 
building exteriors, such as The Kensington, located in Boston.

What is the Hose Stream Test?
The hose stream involves heating the glazing 

product in a furnace to more than 1600º F for 45 
minutes, and even higher temperatures for longer 
ratings. Immediately after heating, the hot glass is 
sprayed with water from a fire hose at specified 
pressures. If the glass remains intact without ex-
ceeding the tolerable openings, it passes the test. 
The NFPA 257 hose stream test allows for a 30 
percent loss of glazing around the perimeter and a 
5 percent loss at the center. 

NFPA 251, ICC model codes and ASTM E-119 
exclude fire-rated construction of less than one 
hour from the hose stream test requirement; 
45-minute glazing, which is limited to no more than 

25 percent of the total wall area, must pass the hose stream test. Twenty-min-
ute glazing products are exempt. 

Ph
ot

o:
 S

AF
TI

 F
IR

ST

A



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 17

of  glass is marked with a W for walls. 
Because the code recognizes it as a wall, 
it can be used in place of  gypsum or ma-
sonry where a one- or two-hour fire-re-
sistive rating is required. It also can be 
used in glass floor applications as fire bar-
riers and fire-resistance-rated horizontal  
assemblies. Examples include fire-re-
sistive tempered and multi-laminates. 
During a fire, the intumescent interlay-
ers expand and react to the heat, form-
ing a solid wall that contains smoke, 
flames and limits the transmission of  
radiant heat significantly. This helps 
provide building occupants a safe path 
of  egress.  

Codes to Know
International Building Code 
(IBC), Chapter 7, Fire-Resistance 
Rated Construction

Per the IBC, this chapter governs 
“the materials and assemblies used for 
structural fire resistance and fire-resis-
tance-rated construction separation of  
adjacent spaces to safeguard against the 
spread of  fire and smoke within a build-
ing and the spread of  fire to or from 
buildings.”
NFPA 252: Standard Methods of  
Fire Tests of  Door Assemblies

This standard outlines methods of  
fire-testing door assemblies used by test-
ing labs and manufacturers to determine 
the assembly’s degree of  fire protection, 

as well as it suitability when fire resis-
tance of  a specific duration is required.
NFPA 257: Standard on Fire Test 
for Window and Glass Block As-
semblies

This document establishes test proto-
cols to measure how well window and 
glass block assemblies prevent or slow 
the spread of  fire. It provides a standard-
ized method for comparing the relative 
performance of  different fire window 
assemblies.
UL 9, Standard for Fire Tests of  
Window Assemblies

These fire test methods apply to win-
dow assemblies for use in the protection 
of  openings in vertical fire-resistive as-
semblies.
UL 10B, Standard for Fire Tests  
of  Door Assemblies

These fire test methods apply to 
door assemblies of  various materi-
als and types of  construction for use 
in wall openings to delay the passage  
of  fire.
UL 10C, Standard for Positive 
Pressure Fire Tests of  Door As-
semblies

These fire test methods apply to 
swinging door assemblies, including 
door frames with lites and panels, of  var-
ious materials and types of  construction 
for use in wall openings to delay the pas-
sage of  fire. Swinging door assemblies, 
when not part of  a larger assembly (such 

as a sliding fire door), or when used as 
an elevator entrance, are not included.
UL 263, Standard for Fire Tests 
of  Building Construction and 
Materials

These fire tests apply to masonry 
unit assemblies and to composite as-
semblies of  structural materials for 
buildings, including bearing and other 
walls and partitions, columns, gird-
ers, beams, slabs, and composite slab 
and beam assemblies for floors and 
roofs. They also apply to assemblies 
and structural units that constitute 
permanent integral parts of  a finished  
building.
ASTM E-119, Standard Test  
Methods for Fire Tests of  Build-
ing Construction and Materials

These test methods apply to assem-
blies of  masonry units and to composite 
assemblies of  structural materials for 
buildings, including load-bearing and 
other walls and partitions, columns, 
girders, beams, slabs and composite 
slab and beam assemblies for floors 
and roofs. They also apply to other 
assemblies and structural units that 
constitute permanent integral parts of  
a finished building. The test methods 
evaluate the duration for which these 
building elements contain a fire, retain 
their structural integrity or exhibit both 
properties during a predetermined test  
exposure. 

Passing the Test
Fire-rated glazing products are 

required to undergo a fire-en-
durance rating test, which is con-
ducted in a nationally recognized 
testing laboratory. During the test, 
the fire-rated glass is placed in a 
test furnace where it follows a spe-
cific time and temperature curve 
that mimics the normal progres-
sion of a fire. Temperatures in the 
furnace can reach up to 1900º F. If 
the specimen remains in the frame 
with no through openings and limits 
flames, it is certified with a fire-en-
durance rating of either 20, 45, 60, 
90, or 120 minutes, depending on 
what it passes. 



18 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

lass is one of  the most 
sought-after building ma-
terials in today’s archi-
tectural market, and for 

good reason. Not only is it aesthetically 
pleasing, but it also provides plenty of  
high-performance features and benefits. 
With so many product options avail-
able—and hundreds of  building code re-
quirements driving what to use when and 
where—it’s common to have questions. 
To help architects navigate their glass 
and glazing product selections, Vitro 
Architectural Glass has developed a se-
ries of  online tools to make design and  
specification easy for your next project.

Start by taking a look at the online 
Vitro Glass Education Center, a com-
prehensive website to help architects, 
specifiers, students and construction 
industry professionals learn more about 
designing, specifying and building with 
glass. It is divided into three sections; 
Glass Topics, Glass FAQs and a Glos-
sary and includes a comprehensive 
mix of  informative videos, colorful il-
lustrations and educational features 
that address issues such as prevent-
ing thermal glass breakage, specifying 
large insulating glass units (IGUs), how 
low-emissivity (low-E) glass works, and 
how heat-treated glass differs from heat- 

strengthened glass.
By hovering over the Glass Topics 

section, visitors will see numerous arti-
cles such as “How Glass is Made,” “The 
Benefits of  Designing with Reflective 
Glass,” and “How to Prevent a Thermal 
Break.” 

These topics and many more are 
all important when researching a new 
project. There is also an article titled 
“Why Specify Which Type of  Glass?” 
and a slide show that highlights the 
different types of  glass, and what is ap-
propriate to use in various architectural  
situations.  

The Nemours/Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children in Wilmington, Del., features Solarban® 60 Azuria® and Solarban® 
70XL glasses fabricated by Cristacurva and Oldcastle BuildingEnvelope® and installed by RA Kennedy. 

Ph
ot

o:
 T

om
 K

es
sl

er

Glass 
Education

G



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 19

Spec Check
One unique feature of the Educa-

tion Center is the Spec Check tool, a 
helpful resource for checking glass 
specification. Correct specifications 
are extremely important to ensure 
projects are designed correctly and 
that the proper codes and standards 
are followed. The Spec Check can be 
used on every project, to make sure 
products that meet specifications are 
chosen correctly.  

Architectural Glass Tools
Another resource available from 

Vitro is its online Architectural Glass 
Tools. This unique feature offers four 
tools to help architects select the 
right glass for their projects, includ-
ing the Search Products Tool, Con-
struct Tool, Thermal Stress Analysis 
Tool and more. These tools allow 
architects to compare and assess 
different products, while learn-
ing more about Vitro’s many glass  
options. 

Construct Tool
With the Construct Tool from Vitro 

Architectural Glass, users can quickly 
generate 3-part specifications in the 
Construction Specifiers Institute 
(CSI) format, the basis for all building 
construction documentation in North 
America.

The tool allows users to search, 
construct and compare virtual con-
figurations for monolithic glazings, 
multi-pane insulating glass units, 
decorative glasses and spandrel 
glasses. With the new feature, they 
can generate, with a single keystroke 
or mouse-click, industry-standard 
3-part CSI specifications for any 
such configuration they create using 

the Construct Tool, 
as long as it contains 
100-percent Vitro 
Glass products. 

“Our Construct Tool 
is widely used be-
cause it enables ar-
chitects and industry 
professionals to save 
time by comparing 
multiple glazing con-
figurations online for 
performance and aes-
thetics,” says Steve Marino, technical 
support manager, Vitro Architectural 
Glass. “The new feature makes the 
Construct tool even more versatile 
and valuable by instantly generating 
required construction documents for 
those configurations as well.” 

The 3-part CSI specification lists 
performance data for individual glaz-
ing configurations such as glass 
thickness, visible light transmittance, 
interior and exterior reflectance, win-
ter nighttime u-value, solar heat gain 
coefficient and light-to-solar gain 
ratio. It also contains descriptions for 
the glass products used in the glaz-
ing configuration, along with related 

certification standards, testing and 
compliance requirements, sourcing 
information and more. 

The Construct tool incorporates 
several other exclusive features  
including:
• Password-free access to the 

Lawrence Berkeley National Lab-
oratory International Glazing Da-
tabase for use with the WINDOW 
7.3 software; and

• The ability to customize reports 
according to user-defined criteria, 
and to personalize them with the 
name of a building project, the 
logo of the architectural firm and 
other user-provided artwork.

yy www.vitroglazings.com 

Vitro offers a 
number of online 
educational 
resources to help 
architects and 
specifiers find 
the right glass 
products for their 
projects. 

The Vitro Glass Education Center



20 | Architectural Glazing Codes www.vitroglazings.com

American Architectural Manufacturers Association (AAMA) ......................................................................................................................www.aamanet.org 

American Bird Conservancy (Bird-friendly codes)  ...............................................................................................................................................www.abcbirds.org

American National Standards Institute (ANSI) ..................................................................................................................................................................  www.ansi.org

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) ......................................................................................................................................................................www.asce.org

American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) .....................................................www.ashrae.org

American Society of Testing Materials (ASTM) .................................................................................................................................................................www.astm.org

ANSI Z97.1 Safety Glazing Materials Used in Buildings -  
Safety Performance Specifications and Methods of Test. ..................................................................................................www.ansiz97.com/standard/

Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) ..............................................................................................................................................................www.cpsc.gov

Canadian Standards Association (CSA)  .....................................................................................................................................................................www.csagroup.org

Florida Administrative Codes and Administrative Register  
(Turtle-Friendly Codes) .............................................................................https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=62b-55

Ask the Glass Detective, Glass.com® ......................................................................................................................................................................................www.glass.com

International Code Council (ICC) ............................................................................................................................................................................................. www.iccsafe.org

Insulating Glass Certification Council (IGCC) ......................................................................................................................................................................www.igcc.org

Insulating Glass Manufacturers Alliance (IGMA) ..............................................................................................................................................www.igmaonline.org

International Standards Organization (ISO) ...............................................................................................................................................................................www.iso.org

Leadership in Energy & Environmental Design (LEED) .............................................................................................................................www.leed.usgbc.org

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) ......................................................................................................................................................................www.nfpa.org 

National Fenestration Rating Council (NFRC) .................................................................................................................................................................... www.nfrc.org

Safety Glazing Certification Council (SGCC) ......................................................................................................................................................................www.sgcc.org 

Underwriters Laboratories (UL) ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... www.ul.com

Vitro Glass Education Center  .....................................................................................................................................................................................www.vitroglazings.com

Window & Door Manufacturers Association (WDMA) ...........................................................................................................................................www.wdma.com

Information 

NOTE: The publisher does not provide design, code, material or engineering advice. This material has been prepared for informational 
purposes only, and is not intended to provide, and should not be relied on for design, code, engineering or any other advice. You should 
consult your own advisors before engaging in any project.

The Phipps Conservatory and Botanical Gardens, Center for Sustainable Landscaping in Pittsburgh features Vitro 
Architectural Glass Products.

Ph
ot

o:
 J

im
 S

ca
fe

r



Vitro Architectural Glass  Architectural Glazing Codes | 21

Common Acronyms
Abbreviation Full Name Website
AAMA .............................. American Architectural Manufacturers Association .....................................................................www.aamanet.org 
ANSI ................................. American National Standards Institute ....................................................................................................www.ansi.org
ASCE ............................... American Society of Civil Engineers ..........................................................................................................www.asce.org
ASHRAE ....................... American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers .........www.ashrae.org
ASTM ............................... American Society of Testing Materials ....................................................................................................www.astm.org
CPSC ............................... Consumer Product Safety Commission ..................................................................................................www.cpsc.gov
CSA Group .................. Canadian Standards Association ..................................................................................................................www.csagroup.org
ICC ..................................... International Code Council.................................................................................................................................www.iccsafe.org
IGCC ................................. Insulating Glass Certification Council .......................................................................................................www.igcc.org
ISO ..................................... International Standards Organization ........................................................................................................www.iso.org
LEED ................................ Leadership in Energy & Environmental Design ................................................................................www.leed.usgbc.org
NFPA ............................... National Fire Protection Association .........................................................................................................www.nfpa.org 
NFRC ............................... National Fenestration Rating Council .......................................................................................................www.nfrc.org
SGCC ............................... Safety Glazing Certification Council ..........................................................................................................www.sgcc.org 
UL ....................................... Underwriters Laboratories ..................................................................................................................................www.ul.com
WDMA ............................. Window & Door Manufacturers Association .......................................................................................www.wdma.com

Resources:
ANSI
1899 L Street, NW, 11th Floor 
Washington, DC 20036
 
ANSI z 97.1
http://www.ansiz97.com/standard/
 
ASTM
100 Barr Harbor Drive 
P.O. Box C700 
West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959
 
Florida Administrative Code &  
Florida Administrative Register,  
Model Lighting Ordinance for  
Marine Turtle Protection
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/ 
ChapterHome.asp?Chapter=62b-55
 
Glass.com
20 P G A Dr., Suite 201
Stafford, VA 22554
 
U.S. Consumer Product  
Safety Commission
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations,  
Title 16 Volume 2, Consumer Product 
Safety Commission 16 CFR 1201
4330 East West Hwy.
Bethesda, MD 20814

Ph
ot

o:
 P

hi
lli

p 
Ca

st
le

to
n 

Ph
ot

og
ra

ph
y

Humber College Centre for Entrepreneurship in Toronto incorporates 
AviProTek® bird-friendly glass by Walker Textures® glass, acid-etched on tinted 
Solarban® 70XL glass.



Don’t accept imitations. Only Starphire Ultra-Clear® Glass by Vitro 

Architectural Glass (formerly PPG Glass) allows views so brilliant, you’ll 

forget the glass is even there. For interiors, exteriors as well as heavy and 

safety glass applications in thicknesses up to ¾ inch, no low-iron glass 

consistently maintains its transparency, color fidelity, vivid beauty and 

distinctive blue edge like Starphire® glass.

Request samples at www.starphireglass.com
Starphire  
Ultra-Clear® Glass

Conventional
Clear Glass

See the beauty — not the glass — only with Starphire® glass

Accept no substitutes.



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
June 9, 2021 

5 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas:  Williams, Share, Koseck, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine  
Nays:  None 

2. Public Hearing – Glazing Standards

PD Ecker reviewed the item. She noted that ‘low iron content’ in the change to Article 9, Section 
9.02 – Definitions should be struck per previous Board discussions. 

Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend to the City Commission amendments to 
Sections 3.04, 4.90, and 9.02 of the Zoning Ordinance to change the definition of clear 
glazing and to amend the glazing standards as recommended by staff in the evening’s 
agenda packet. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Clein, Whipple-Boyce, Jeffares, Emerine, Koseck 
Nays: None 

06-079-21

G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:
a. Communications
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence
c. Draft Agenda for next meeting
d. Other Business

PD Ecker updated the Board about potentially moving from virtual to hybrid live-virtual meetings 
in the near future. 

Brief informational replies regarding other Board member inquiries were also provided. 

06-080-21

H. Planning Division Action Items
a. Staff Report on Previous Requests
b. Additional Items from tonight's meeting

06-081-21

I. Adjournment

No further business being evident, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 9:10 p.m. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
April 14, 2021 

4 

Chair Clein concurred with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation regarding wall- or facade-mounted 
solar panels. 

Mr. Boyle asked if there was any near-future technology the ordinance should address. 

Chair Clein said that strips of solar panels being used to line bicycle paths was being tried in 
Europe, but that wide-spread implementation would not be in the near future. 

In reply to Mr. Share, CP Dupuis said he did not recommend screening for ancillary equipment 
because it would increase the difficulty of installation and maintenance. CP Dupuis noted this 
ordinance review was being conducted with an aim towards reducing the impediments to using 
solar panels in the City. He added that users of solar panels also needed quick access to 
disconnect features.  

Mr. Share recommended that the ordinance states that users of solar panels are not exempt 
from screening otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance.  

CP Dupuis said he could update the recommended ordinance language with the Board’s 
comments and have it ready for a public hearing on May 12, 2021. 

Motion by Mr. Boyle 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffares to set a public hearing on solar panel regulations ordinance 
language for the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Share, Koseck 
Nays: None  

2. Glazing Standards

CP Dupuis summarized the item. 

Mr. Share said he had recent occasion to purchase some low-iron glass, and that it added about 
15% to the cost. He stated that he found the difference between low-iron and regular glass to 
be visually immaterial. He suggested that the low-iron requirement be removed from the 
recommended language, saying he thought it inappropriate to burden owners and developers 
with the extra cost.  

Mr. Koseck and Ms. Whipple-Boyce, two other members of the Board familiar with glazing 
standards from their professions, did not dispute Mr. Share’s recommendation when asked. 

Motion by Mr. Share 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
April 14, 2021 

5 

Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to set a public hearing on Article 9, Section 9.02 
Definition of Clear Glazing as presented without the reference to low-iron content for 
the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Koseck, Boyle, Jeffares 
Nays: None  

04-053-21

G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:
a. Communications

PD Ecker reminded the Board that the Commission would be holding a special meeting regarding 
the 2040 Master Plan on April 19, 2021 and that the Board had been asked to attend. 

b. Administrative Approval Correspondence

CP Dupuis explained that the owner of EM Bistro wanted to change their outdoor dining chairs to 
sculptural, white ones constructed of polypropylene. CP Dupuis noted that while polypropylene 
would not usually be considered a high-enough quality material for outdoor bistro chairs, these 
chairs differed significantly from standard plastic seating. 

Mr. Koseck said the ordinance’s main concern regarding the materials for outdoor bistro seating 
is longevity. He said that these chairs would withstand the elements and would not likely have 
longevity issues. 

The Board, with the exception of Chair Clein, endorsed allowing an administrative approval for 
the request. Chair Clein’s dissent arose from a dislike of the chairs and concern regarding their 
recyclability.  

CP Dupuis said he would proceed with an administrative approval of the request. 

CP Dupuis then asked the Board how the matter of outdoor dining decks should be addressed 
once the Covid-19 guidelines for outdoor dining decks in the City expire.  

Mr. Boyle said the City should decide on a more comprehensive approach to how outdoor dining 
should interact with the streetscape in Birmingham over the next five to ten years before specific 
design guidelines for outdoor dining should be created.  

Mr. Jeffares noted that the Board would need to come up with an answer quickly in order to have 
recommendations ready for Fall 2021. 



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
July 22, 2020 

1 

There were no changes to the agenda. 

07-89-20

E. Study Session Items

1. Glazing Requirements

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item and Kreg Hatfield, from Guardian Glass, was present to 
answer questions. 

Mr. Hatfield explained that: 
● All manufacturers calculate VLT and reflectivity percentages in the same way.
● Most people would be unlikely to notice the difference between 66% and 80% VLT.
● When glass gets into the range of 40-50% VLT it tends to begin to look less clear. Tinting

would reduce the VLT even further.
● The glass make-up at the Brookside development and the glass make-up at the Daxton

Hotel have identical coatings on the glass. The difference is that the Brookside
development used a basic clear glass while the Daxton used a low iron glass. The
Brookside glass has a VLT of 68% and the Daxton has a VLT of 70% because removing
some iron makes glass a bit more clear.

● Glass can be rated in terms of reflectivity both from the inside-out and from the outside-
in. It is important to keep those percentages about the same.

● For basic, first floor applications the ordinance should include language about prohibiting
tinted glass. There would be no way for property owners to meet the proposed ordinance
requirements if they have both tinted glass and low-e coating.

● There would likely be no need to mention low iron glass because it would meet ordinance
requirements should a property owner choose to use it. Low iron glass tends to cost
significantly more than regular clear glass. It also tends to be a bit more efficient in terms
of retaining the heating and cooling of the building’s interior.

● Clear glass tends to have a bit of a green hue versus low iron glass. For protection three
coats of silver were added to the library windows’ glass, and those layers of silver also
add a bit of a greenish hue. If the library had used low iron glass with the same layers of
silver the green tint would still be present but not as substantially.

● Low iron glass is widely enough available that no property owners would have a difficult
time sourcing it should it be required by ordinance. Cost would be the biggest reason not
to require low iron glass via ordinance.

● He has not heard of any municipality requiring low iron glass in their ordinances.
● Any glass sample from an architect submitted to the City should specify whether it is low

iron glass.
● The Brookside development is the best example of what kind of glass would be permissible

under the proposed ordinance language. Brookside’s glass is regular clear glass and not
low iron.

Mr. Share said the Board should probably not require low iron glass, especially in a time when 
the City is trying to help retailers weather the financial impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
July 22, 2020 

2 

In reply to Mr. Koseck, Planning Director Ecker stated that the ordinance does not specify how 
many feet from a window shelving must be placed. She said there could be some value in adding 
that to the ordinance.  

City Planner Dupuis said it might also be worthwhile to consider a vertical height limit for shelving 
if a horizontal one is added.  

Mr. Koseck suggested that some of the language could be clarified in Article 3, Section 3.04 of 
the ordinance. He said ‘bronze’ should probably be struck from that section. 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce concurred with Mr. Koseck regarding removing the word ‘bronze’. She said 
she agreed that it might be useful to have a horizontal distance requirement for how far shelving 
must be from a window. She said a typical aisle’s width might be the appropriate distance. She 
said it would also be helpful to know the cost difference between low iron and clear glass. 

City Planner Dupuis asked how the Board might want a horizontal distance requirement to deal 
with retail items displayed in a window.  

Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that if retailers displayed their merchandise attractively in their windows 
she would be supportive of that. 

Mr. Williams said the Board should come up with language regarding displaying merchandise in 
windows and shelving before it goes to a public hearing.  

In reply to Chairman Clein, Planning Director Ecker said that the ordinance’s current restrictions 
against shelving in the windows work well and are generally enforceable. She said that any 
examples that seem to be in egregious violation of that standard tend to have existed before the 
ordinance went into effect. 

Mr. Jeffares recommended the Board conclude its discussion about glazing without trying to 
presently integrate new topics. He noted the Board had been studying glazing for months and 
had worked hard to prepare for the review, and thought the other topics being raised deserved 
a similar amount of thoroughness at a future date.  

Mr. Koseck said he would be fine with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation that questions of shelving 
and merchandising in windows be discussed further at a later date.  

The Board asked Planning Director Ecker to add ‘no tint’ and ‘low iron glass’ to the definition of 
clear glazing, with the understanding that ‘low iron’ could possibly be removed after discussion 
at the public hearing. 

Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Koseck to set a public hearing on August 26, 2020 to consider Zoning 
Ordinance amendments to Article 3, Section 3.04(E), Article 4, Section 4.90(A) and 
Article 9, Section 9.02 to change the Clear Glazing standards and definition to require 
low iron glass, no tint, to relax the Visual Light Transmittance requirements and to 
add reflectivity requirements. 



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
July 22, 2020 

3 

Mr. Share said he was in favor of moving the topic to a public hearing and not in favor 
of mandating low iron glass. 

Motion carried, 6-1. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Koseck, Williams, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares 
Nays: Share 

Mr. Boyle echoed Ms. Whipple-Boyce’s previous statement that the Board should have 
comparative costs for low iron and clear glass to review. He said the Board should be aware how 
a low iron requirement might be layering on costs to development in the City. 

Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Hatfield for sharing his expertise with the Board. 

2. Solar Panel Review Process

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item. 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she recently encountered a large solar battery in some work she was 
doing in another community, and cautioned that the Board might not want to allow any and all 
ancillary equipment for solar panels to be outside the home given the potential range of sizes.  

Mr. Williams said he was fine with solar panels but might be less fine with ancillary equipment on 
the side of a home given that it might be more prominent in a neighbor’s view. 

City Planner Dupuis asked if Mr. Williams would prefer the ancillary equipment to be mounted 
only to the rear of the home, or to possibly be screened in some way.  

Mr. Williams said he was not sure what the best approach would be. He said he thought it would 
depend on the house, the location of the neighboring properties, and the type of equipment. 

Planning Director Ecker said that moving the equipment to the rear of a home would have the 
benefit of being further from a neighbor’s yard because of the greater required setback. She 
noted that, in contrast, equipment on the side of a home might be only five feet from the property 
line. 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce agreed that placement would depend on the size of the equipment. She said 
that a small electric meter or connection into the house to the battery need not be limited to the 
rear or interior of a home, whereas larger equipment should be. She said that the Board could 
likely specify appropriate locations with more information on the most commonly used kinds of 
equipment. 

City Planner Dupuis said he could find pictures of the City’s most recent solar panel approvals to 
provide the Board with a better sense of the size of the ancillary equipment. 



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
January 8, 2020 

5 

● Ground mounted solar panels could enable residents who do not want to mount panels
on their roof to still have access to some solar power. Ground mounted solar panels would
also allow businesses to use solar-powered trash compactors.

Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that she did not yet know enough about ground-mounted solar panels, 
but that if the City proceeded toward allowing them she would prefer that their allowable yard 
coverage be calculated by percentage and not by a set amount. She also told City Planner Dupuis 
that there had been a conversation regarding wind energy facilities about ten years hence, and 
that if he could find the minutes from that conversation it might help provide some useful 
information on the topic.  

Mr. Koseck said the Board might want to consider not allowing solar panels at grade because it 
could encourage residents to do away with any greenery that could get in the way of the panels. 
He also said that 40 square feet of solar panels on the ground might not be enough to generate 
a worthwhile amount of energy. Mr. Koseck added that solar panels are impervious which would 
also raise ordinance issues in terms of ground cover. Since most people would likely rather not 
install solar panels at grade anyways, Mr. Koseck said he would just as soon prohibit it to avoid 
these issues since the potential environmental gain would likely not be significant in those cases. 

Mr. Jeffares echoed Mr. Koseck’s concerns about ground mounted solar panels and said he would 
prefer to continue studying that possibility and whether it would be worthwhile. 

Ms. Ramin noted that on page 625, in section G, the phrase “If a wind energy facility has not 
been removed within 30 days a deadline specified by the City” would need to be clarified. 

Mr. Share noted that on page 621, Item F, the word should be ‘complemented’, not 
‘complimented’. He agreed with Mr. Koseck and Mr. Jeffares that ground mounted solar panels 
were likely not necessary to pursue at this time.  

Chairman Clein expressed agreement with Mr. Koseck, Mr. Jeffares, and Mr. Share regarding 
ground mounted solar panels.  

In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he would do more research on the benefits 
and drawbacks of the anti-reflective coating some other cities’ ordinances require for solar panels.  

4. Glazing Standards

City Planner Dupuis presented the item. 

Mr. Koseck said he had a list of two or three people he would be reaching out to soon who might 
be able to contribute meaningfully to the glazing standards conversation. He said that once he 
had done that he would loop City Planner Dupuis in as appropriate. 

Chairman Clein explained that in February 2020 and April 2020 there will only be one Planning 
Board meeting per each month and that both of those meetings are dedicated to master plan 
discussion. He suggested that Board members look at their calendars to see if a special meeting 
could be scheduled to wrap up some of these other study session topics. He added that even if 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
January 8, 2020 

6 

the Board moved forward with a resolution on this item during the present meeting, due to 
noticing requirements the public hearing would not occur until the second meeting in March 2020. 
Chairman Clein recommended the Board take the time to do adequate research, as a result, 
before moving further forward on this. 

Mr. Emerine suggested it might be worthwhile to speak with glass contractors in addition to glass 
vendors in order to get more insight. 

Planning Director Ecker said she would recommend reaching out to a mechanical engineer, a 
glass vendor or supplier, and a glass contractor or installer.  

City Planner Dupuis confirmed he would reach out to people who work with glass regularly in 
architectural settings and would return to the Board with further information.  

01-06-20

G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:

a. Communications

b. Administrative Approval Correspondence

c. Draft Agenda for the next Regular Planning Board Meeting (January 22,
2020)

● Whistle Stop Design Review
● 35001 Woodward - Amended CIS and Amended Preliminary Site Plan
● Fred Lavery Porsche SLUP
● Two small solar panel items

d. Other Business – Discuss amending Rules of Procedure for January 22,
2020 meeting

Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Share to amend the Rules of Procedure for the Planning Board’s 
January 22, 2020 meeting to allow for the review of the above items as described by 
Planning Director Ecker. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Share, Emerine, Clein, Jeffares, Ramin, Koseck 
Nays: None  
Abstain: Emerine, Ramin 



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
November 13, 2019 

4 

Planning Director Ecker told Mr. Arpin that the D5 study is available to the public in previous 
Planning Board agendas posted on the City’s website.  

In reply to a request by Mr. Arpin, Chairman Clein asked that the City Manager and City 
Commission consider whether it might be useful to provide the D5 study on 
thebirminghamplan.com website as well. 

Mr. Arpin shared his gratitude for the Board’s thoroughness when discussing a CIS, and expressed 
concern that, in his opinion, the Board was not proceeding as thoroughly when discussing 
potential zoning changes that would impact a three or four block area of the City. 

Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Arpin for his comments. 

Patrick Howe, attorney representing the Birmingham Place Condo Association, spoke. He 
reviewed the minutes from the February 13, 2017 City Commission meeting minutes in order to 
highlight the original intent of the D5 ordinance. Mr. Howe argued that the only piece of property 
that was both abutting and adjacent was the south strip next to the 555 Building.  He noted that 
the entire transcript of the D5 portion of the February 13, 2017 City Commission meeting was 18 
minutes long, and echoed Mr. Arpin’s assertion that more discussion is merited before an 
amendment to the D5 ordinance is considered.  

Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to set a public hearing for December 11, 2019 for the two 
proposed ordinance amendments to Article 3, section 3.04 (A) and Article 9, 
Definitions, Section 9.02 as presented on pages 132 and 133 of the Board’s November 
13, 2019 agenda.  

Duraid Markus, owner of 469-479 S. Old Woodward, asked whether an adjacent building’s height 
would be calculated from the height of the closest point of a building, which could be five stories, 
for example, or from the highest part of a building as a whole, which could extend to nine stories 
on the far side of a building. 

Planning Director Ecker confirmed for Mr. Markus and for Michele Prentiss that a building’s height 
is calculated based off of a building’s overall height, and not just the height of the closest part of 
the building.  

Motion carried, 7-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares, Koseck 
Nays: None 

2. Glazing Standards

City Planner Dupuis presented the item. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
November 13, 2019 

5 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce confirmed based on her research that the 80% VLT glass required in the City’s 
ordinance causes much more heat loss and gain depending on the seasons, increases the cost of 
heating and cooling the building, could change the capacity of the HVAC to make up for that gain 
and loss, and that those facts will remain true as long as 80% VLT is required. She said that 
people in the industry she spoke with advised that if the VLT requirement is lowered to 68% 
those issues could be mitigated. She said determining how to accommodate low-e glass will have 
environmental benefits in addition to the benefits it would bring developers and builders.  

Mr. Share and Ms. Whipple-Boyce both wondered about possible differences between one 
manufacturer’s 68% VLT glass and another’s.  

City Planner Dupuis and Planning Director Ecker said they would return with more information on 
the topic for the Board’s next meeting. 

In reply to Mr. Boyle, City Planner Dupuis explained glass professionals advised staff that only 
the VLT and the reflectivity affect the transparency of glass, which is why the recommended 
wording only mentions those two criteria. 

In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he could do further research on what other 
Michigan cities require for VLT since the table with VLT figures included in this item was produced 
sometime in 2017. 

In reply to Chairman Clein, Planning Director Ecker said she would try to find someone who could 
provide the City with more insight into the various considerations at play in this discussion.  

Ms. Whipple-Boyce stressed the environmental impact of this decision and said the decision 
should move towards the highest VLT glass that does not lead to negative environmental results. 

3. Master Plan Review

Planning Director Ecker presented the item. 

Chairman Clein thanked Planning Director for putting together the proposed schedule. 

Subsequent to discussion, Board consensus was that they would schedule the master plan 
discussions for regular study session meetings beginning in January 2020 and running through 
May 2020. Notes would be provided to DPZ after each study session. The Board agreed to start 
those study session meetings at 7 p.m. instead of 7:30 p.m. 

Planning Director Ecker noted that a member of the public could always provide their feedback 
on a previous meeting’s topic as well.  

Ms. Whipple-Boyce recommended creating an insert with the schedule of these meetings to mail 
out to all Birmingham residents in the City’s 2020 calendar. She advocated for allowing staff to 
determine the most appropriate division of the master plan topics over the four or five study 
sessions. 



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: July 26th, 2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

APPROVED: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearings for Zoning Amendments to Sections 4.09 and 4.88 of 
Chapter 126, Zoning – Solar Electric Systems 

INTRODUCTION: 
In 2009, the City Commission adopted ordinance language permitting solar panels on structure 
roofs in all zoning districts throughout the City. Since its adoption, there have been many solar 
panels installed across the City, and several in the process of being approved by the Planning 
Board and/or Planning Division. 

BACKGROUND: 
On May 22nd, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the evolution of solar panels and their 
perception that aesthetics are no longer an issue that should require a full Design Review by the 
Planning Board. The Board members also revisited a suggestion that was discussed in 2009, 
which was to waive fees for solar panel applications to encourage alternative energy use and 
sustainability. 

On June 17th, 2019, the Planning Board and City Commission discussed the potential for ordinance 
amendments to simplify the review process for solar panels. During the meeting, a consensus 
was reached that the City’s solar ordinance was in need of an update. 

On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed revised ordinance language and directed staff 
to make a few minor revisions and clarifications which involved the removal of ground mounted 
solar facility standards and adding language for anti-reflective coatings. 

On July 15th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the revised language a second time and made 
a request to learn more about ancillary equipment and what types of such may be placed on a 
home, and where it may be commonly placed. 

On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the alternative energy ordinance, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-
Fitr. The Planning Board also requested that language be added to preclude wall of façade-
mounted solar panels due to the potential issues with aesthetics and neighboring properties. 

7D



On June 9th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to recommend approval to the City Commission 
amendments to Section 4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric 
systems from that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy requirements 
without changing them. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the documentation and has no concerns. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The proposed amendments do not have any direct fiscal impacts to the City. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
As required for proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments, a legal ad was placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the proposed amendments to the Zoning Ordinance in advance of 
the June 9th, 2021 Planning Board meeting.  A second legal ad was also be placed in a newspaper 
of local circulation to advertise the public hearings at the City Commission. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Board recommends that the City Commission consider ordinance amendments to 
Article 4 to amend the Roof Mounted Solar Electric System standards.   

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Draft Ordinance language
• Planning Board Staff Reports
• Relevant Minutes

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To approve the following amendments to Chapter 126, Zoning: 

1. Article 4, Section 4.09 (Essential Services) to remove Roof Mounted Solar Electric Systems;
and

2. Article 4, Section 4.88 (Alternative Energy) to add amended Roof Mounted Solar Electric
Systems language.



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4.09, ESSENTIAL SERVICES, TO REMOVE ROOF-MOUNTED 
SOLAR ELECTRIC SYSTEMS 

4.09 ES-01 

This Essential Services Standards section applies to the following districts: 

B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P PP R1 R1A R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 TZ1 TZ2 TZ3 

The following essential services standard applies: 

A. Essential Services: Essential services shall be permitted as authorized and regulated by
law and other ordinances of the city and are exempt from the application of the Zoning
Ordinance.

B. Roof-Mounted Solar Electric Systems:
1. Roof-mounted solar panels are permitted on buildings and structures in all zoning

districts and may include integrated solar panels as the surface layer of the roof
structure with no additional apparent change in relief or projection, or separate
flush mounted solar panels attached to the roof;

2. Separate, non-integrated flush-mounted solar panels shall be located on a rear- or
side-facing roof, which do not front any street, unless such installation is proven
to be ineffective or impractical. If installation is not practical on a rear- or side-
facing roof, any other placement in all zoning districts shall be subject to a Design
Review by either the Planning Board (non-historic properties) or the Historic
District Com- mission (historic properties);

3. Separate flush-mounted solar panels installed on a building or structure with a
sloped roof surface shall not project vertically above the peak of the roof to which
it is attached, or project vertically more than five (5) feet above a flat roof
installation; and

4. No solar panels shall ever project higher than the permitted building height in any
zoning district.

ORDAINED this ________ day of ____________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 



_________________________________ 

Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

_________________________________ 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

ORDINANCE NO. _________ 

THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 4, SECTION 4.88, ALTERNATIVE ENERGY, TO ADD AMENDED SOLAR 
ENERGY SYSTEMS REQUIREMENTS 

4.88 UT-01: Alternative Energy 

This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 

B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P TZ3 

The following utility standards applies: 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need for clean
and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the public health, safety
and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the integrity, character, property values,
and aesthetic quality of the community at large. The city shall allow as an accessory use,
with review by the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission, the construction
and operation of wind energy facilities and to provide standards for the placement, design,
construction, monitoring, modification and removal of wind facilities that address public
safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic resources without significantly
increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency of such systems.

B. Applicability: This section applies to all on-site wind energy facilities. Any physical
modification to existing wind energy facilities that materially alters the type, increases the
size, or increases the adverse impact on surrounding properties, shall require a review by
the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission.

C. Planning Approval Required:

1. Wind energy facilities shall be limited to the average needs of the structure on the
same parcel and shall be a permitted accessory use; subject to the required
standards of this section provided they are incidental and secondary to a permitted
principal use on the same parcel. The rated capacity of wind energy facilities must
correlate with consumption.

2. Wind energy facilities may be connected to the electrical grid when a parcel on
which the system is installed also receives electrical power supplied by a utility



company. If a parcel on which a system is installed also receives electrical power 
supplied by a utility company, excess electrical power generated and not presently 
needed for on-site use may be used by the utility company in accordance with 
applicable state and federal law. 

3. Wind monitoring (anemometer) towers are permitted in all non-residential zoning
districts subject to the issuance of a temporary use permit and a building permit.
Permanent anemometer towers shall be subject to review and approval in
conjunction with wind energy facility.

4. No wind energy facility shall be erected, constructed, installed or modified as
provided in this section without first obtaining approval from the Planning Board
and/or Historic District Commission. The construction of a wind energy facility shall
be permitted in non-residential zoning districts as an accessory use subject to the
approval of the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission and provided
that the use complies with all requirements set forth in this section.

The Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission have the discretion to
deny plans based on aesthetics of the wind energy system. All such wind energy
facilities shall be constructed and operated in a manner that minimizes any adverse
visual, safety, and environmental impacts. No approval of any board or commission
shall be granted unless it is found that:

a. The specific site is an appropriate location for such use;
b. The use is not expected to adversely affect the area;
c. There is not expected to be any serious hazard to people, property or

animals from the use;
d. No nuisance is expected to be created by the use; and
e. Adequate and appropriate facilities will be provided for the proper

operation of the use.

5. Approvals may also impose reasonable conditions, safeguards and limitations and
require the applicant to implement all reasonable measures to mitigate unforeseen
adverse impacts of the wind energy facility, should they occur.

6. Multiple wind energy facilities may be permitted provided they meet all
requirements specified in the Zoning Ordinance and their number and placement
is appropriate for the site and is architecturally and visually compatible with the
surrounding area.

D. General Site Standards:

1. Height: No wind energy facility may exceed the maximum permitted or actual legal
non-conforming building height by more than 20 ft. in any district



2. Noise: Except during short-term events including utility outages and severe wind
storms, wind energy facilities shall be designed, installed and operated so that
noise generated by the system shall be the lesser of 60 dB as measured at any
closest inhabited dwelling or 55 dB at the boundary of any adjacent property line.

3. Location:

a. The center of a wind energy facility turbine tower shall be set back no less
than 5 feet from all lot lines and rights-of-way or no less than one-half the
diameter of the rotor and blades, whichever is greater.

b. The swept area of wind energy facilities must be set back at least 3 feet
from any lot line.

c. Wind energy facilities may not be located between the front lot line and
the front wall of the principal use.

d. No portion of any wind energy facility’s exposed moving parts shall extend
to within 20 feet of the ground, or to within 10 feet of any overhead utility
lines, or as determined by a utility company.

4. Screening: Screening of ground mounted mechanical equipment is required in
accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 SC-01 Screening of the Zoning Ordinance,
in order to mitigate aesthetic impacts upon the neighborhood.

5. Shadow Flicker: Wind energy facilities shall be sited in a manner that minimizes
shadowing or flicker on adjacent properties. The applicant has the burden of
proving that this effect does not have significant adverse impacts on neighboring
or adjacent uses through siting or mitigation.

6. Access and Safety:

a. Wind energy facilities shall be designed and installed so as to prevent
unauthorized access to electrical and mechanical components and shall be
secured or locked at all times when service personnel are not present.

b. Climbing apparatus shall be located in a place that is in accordance with
MIOSHA standards as to prevent climbing.

7. Removal: Any wind energy facility that has not been used in 180 days, or has
otherwise been deter- mined abandoned, shall be removed by the owner and/or
operator of the facility. If a wind energy facility has not been removed within 30
days a deadline specified by the City, the City of Birmingham may remove or secure
the removal of the facility at the owner/operator’s sole expense. All equipment
associated with the facility shall be removed at the same time.

E. Design Standards:



1. Color and Finish: The Planning Board shall have discretion over the turbine color,
although a neutral, non-reflective exterior color designed to blend with the
surrounding environment is encouraged. If the site is located within a historic
district , the Historic District Commission will have discretion over the turbine color.

2. Lighting: Wind Energy Facilities may be lighted only if required by the Federal
Aviation Administration. Lighting of other parts of the wind energy facility, or
related structures, shall be limited to that required for safety and operational
purposes, and shall be reasonably shielded from abutting properties. If lighting is
necessary a photometric plan is required.

3. Signage: Signs on the wind energy facility shall comply with the requirements of
the City of Birmingham’s Sign Ordinance, and shall be limited to:

Wind energy facilities shall not be used for displaying any advertising except for
reasonable identification of the manufacturer or operator of the wind energy
facility.

a. Those necessary to identify the owner, provide a 24-hour emergency
contact phone number, and warn of any danger; and

b. Educational signs providing information about the facility and the benefits
of renewable energy

4. Utility Connections: All utility connections for and from the wind energy facility
shall be located under- ground. Electrical transformers for utility interconnections
may be above ground if required by utility provider but must be screened according
to the Zoning Ordinance.

5. Related Structures: All related structures to wind energy facilities shall be subject
to regulations concerning bulk and height of accessory structures as well as all
other development standards. All related structures, including but not limited to,
equipment shelters, storage facilities, transformers, and substations, shall be
architecturally compatible with each other and adjacent buildings and shall be
contained within the turbine tower whenever technically feasible. Structures shall
only be used for housing equipment for this particular site.

F. Submittal Requirements:

1. Wind energy facilities are subject to Site Plan Review or Design Review by the
Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission.

2. All wind energy facilities shall obtain a building permit, along with any other
permits required by federal, state and local agencies, prior to erecting a system.



3. Proof of Liability Insurance: The applicant shall be required to provide evidence of
liability insurance in an amount and for a duration sufficient to cover loss or
damage to persons and structures should there be a failure of the wind energy
facility.

4. Site Control: At the time of application for a Site Plan Review, the applicant shall
submit documentation of actual or prospective control of the project site sufficient
to allow for installation and use of the pro- posed facility. Documentation shall also
include proof of control over setback areas and access roads, if required. Control
shall mean legal authority to prevent the use or construction of any structure for
human habitation within the setback areas.

5. Site Plan:

a. A site plan signed and sealed by a licensed engineer, of the subject
property and all properties within 200 feet showing existing buildings and
structures, utility lines and poles, landscaping and all other items which
may effect the placement of the wind energy facility.

b. An elevation drawing of the proposed location of the wind energy facility.

c. Color photographs and an elevation drawing with the wind energy facility
and all necessary equipment superimposed in the proposed location.

d. Specification sheets for all equipment, identifying all parts of the system,
including, but not limited to, the manufacturer and model, turbine, tower
height and type, rotor diameter, foundation, any accessory equipment,
and the manufacturers electrical plans and specifications.

e. Any other information or evidence required by City Officials.

4.88 AE-01: Alternative Energy 

This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 

R1 R1A R2 R3 R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P TZ1 TZ2 TZ3 

The following utility standards applies: 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need
for clean and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the
public health, safety and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the integrity,
character, property values, and aesthetic quality of the community at large.



B. Solar Energy Facilities: The city shall allow the construction and operation of
solar energy facilities and shall provide standards for the placement, design,
construction, modification and removal of solar energy facilities that address
public safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic resources
without significantly increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency of such
systems.

1. Roof-Mounted Solar Electric Systems:

a. Roof-mounted solar panels are permitted on buildings and
structures in all zoning districts and may include integrated solar
panels as the surface layer of the roof structure with no
additional apparent change in relief or projection, separate flush
mounted solar panels attached to the roof, associated electrical
equipment such as meters, charge controllers, inverters, storage
batteries, or similar ancillary equipment, or solar photovoltaic
shingles;

b. Separate, non-integrated flush-mounted solar panels shall be
located on a rear- or side-facing roof, which do not front any
street, unless such installation is proven to be ineffective or
impractical. If installation is not practical on a rear- or side-
facing roof, any other placement in all zoning districts shall be
subject to review by the Planning Division. Wall or façade-
mounted solar panels are not permitted;

c. Any roof-mounted solar electric systems proposed on a historic
building, or on a building or structure in an established historic
district are subject to a Design Review by the Historic District
Commission;

d. Separate flush-mounted solar panels installed on a building or
structure with a sloped roof surface shall not project vertically
above the peak of the roof to which it is attached, or project
vertically more than five (5) feet above a flat roof installation;

e. No solar panels shall ever project higher than the permitted
building height in any Zoning District;

f. All solar electric systems proposed on the roof of a building shall
be uniform in color and match or complement the color of the
roof material. All frames (internal and external) shall match the
color of the collector surface and all solar panels must have anti-
reflective coatings to prevent glare; and



g. All ancillary equipment installed in conjunction with roof-
mounted solar electric systems is permitted on the side or rear
building facades only. Storage batteries shall be installed in the
interior of the building only.

2. Ground-Mounted Solar Electric Systems:

a. Ground-mounted solar electric systems, including standard and
pole mounted arrays, are not permitted.

4.88 AE-02: Alternative Energy 

This Utility Standards section applies to the following districts: 

R4 R5 R6 R7 R8 B1 B2 B2B B2C B3 B4 MX 01 02 P PP TZ2 TZ3 

A. Purpose and Intent: The purpose and intent of the city is to balance the need
for clean and renewable energy resources with the necessity to protect the
public health, safety and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the
integrity, character, property values, and aesthetic quality of the community
at large.

B. Wind Energy Facilities: The city shall allow as an accessory use, with review by
the Planning Board and/or Historic District Commission, the construction and
operation of wind energy facilities and to provide standards for the placement,
design, construction, monitoring, modification and removal of wind facilities
that address public safety, minimize impacts on scenic, natural and historic
resources without significantly increasing the cost or decreasing the efficiency
of such systems.

1. Applicability: This section applies to all on-site wind energy facilities.
Any physical modification to existing wind energy facilities that
materially alters the type, increases the size, or increases the adverse
impact on surrounding properties, shall require a review by the Planning
Board and/or Historic District Commission.

2. Planning Approval Required:

a. Wind energy facilities shall be limited to the average needs of
the structure on the same parcel and shall be a permitted
accessory use; subject to the required standards of this section
provided they are incidental and secondary to a permitted
principal use on the same parcel. The rated capacity of wind
energy facilities must correlate with consumption.



b. Wind energy facilities may be connected to the electrical grid
when a parcel on which the system is installed also receives
electrical power supplied by a utility company. If a parcel on
which a system is installed also receives electrical power
supplied by a utility company, excess electrical power generated
and not presently needed for on-site use may be used by the
utility company in accordance with applicable state and federal
law.

c. Wind monitoring (anemometer) towers are permitted in all non-
residential zoning districts subject to the issuance of a
temporary use permit and a building permit. Permanent
anemometer towers shall be subject to review and approval in
conjunction with wind energy facility.

d. No wind energy facility shall be erected, constructed, installed
or modified as provided in this section without first obtaining
approval from the Planning Board and/or Historic District
Commission. The construction of a wind energy facility shall be
permitted in non-residential zoning districts as an accessory use
subject to the approval of the Planning Board and/or Historic
District Commission and provided that the use complies with all
requirements set forth in this section.

The Planning Board and/or the Historic District Commission
have the discretion to deny plans based on aesthetics of the wind
energy system.

All such wind energy facilities shall be constructed and operated
in a manner that minimizes any adverse visual, safety, and
environmental impacts. No approval of any board or commission
shall be granted unless it is found that:

i. The specific site is an appropriate location for such use;
ii. The use is not expected to adversely affect the area;

iii. There is not expected to be any serious hazard to people,
property or   animals from the use;

iv. No nuisance is expected to be created by the use; and
v. Adequate and appropriate facilities will be provided for the

proper operation of the use.

e. Approvals may also impose reasonable conditions, safeguards
and limitations and require the applicant to implement all
reasonable measures to mitigate unforeseen adverse impacts of
the wind energy facility, should they occur.



f. Multiple wind energy facilities may be permitted provided they
meet all requirements specified in the Zoning Ordinance and
their number and placement is appropriate for the site and is
architecturally and visually compatible with the surrounding
area.

3. General Site Standards:

a. Height: No wind energy facility may exceed the maximum
permitted or actual legal non-conforming building height by
more than 20 ft. in any district

b. Noise: Except during short-term events including utility outages
and severe wind storms, wind energy facilities shall be designed,
installed and operated so that noise generated by the system
shall be the lesser of 60 dB as measured at any closest inhabited
dwelling or 55 dB at the boundary of any adjacent property line.

c. Location:
i. The center of a wind energy facility turbine tower shall be

set back no less than 5 feet from all lot lines and rights-of-
way or no less than one-half the diameter of the rotor and
blades, whichever is greater.

ii. The swept area of wind energy facilities must be set back
at least 3 feet from any lot line.

iii. Wind energy facilities may not be located between the
front lot line and the front wall of the principal use.

iv. No portion of any wind energy facility’s exposed moving
parts shall extend to within 20 feet of the ground, or to
within 10 feet of any overhead utility lines, or as
determined by a utility company.

d. Screening: Screening of ground mounted mechanical equipment
is required in accordance with Article 4, Section 4.54 SC-01
Screening of the Zoning Ordinance, in order to mitigate aesthetic
impacts upon the neighborhood.

e. Shadow Flicker: Wind energy facilities shall be sited in a manner
that minimizes shadowing or flicker on adjacent properties. The
applicant has the burden of proving that this effect does not
have significant adverse impacts on neighboring or adjacent
uses through siting or mitigation.

f. Access and Safety:



i. Wind energy facilities shall be designed and installed so as
to prevent unauthorized access to electrical and
mechanical components and shall be secured or locked at
all times when service personnel are not present.

ii. Climbing apparatus shall be located in a place that is in
accordance with MIOSHA standards as to prevent climbing.

g. Removal: Any wind energy facility that has not been used in 180
days, or has otherwise been deter- mined abandoned, shall be
removed by the owner and/or operator of the facility. If a wind
energy facility has not been removed within 30 days of a
deadline specified by the City, the City of Birmingham may
remove or secure the removal of the facility at the
owner/operator’s sole expense. All equipment associated with
the facility shall be removed at the same time.

4. Design Standards:

a. Color and Finish: The Planning Board shall have discretion over
the turbine color, although a neutral, non-reflective exterior
color designed to blend with the surrounding environment is
encouraged. If the site is located within a historic district , the
Historic District Commission will have discretion over the
turbine color.

b. Lighting: Wind Energy Facilities may be lighted only if required
by the Federal Aviation Administration. Lighting of other parts
of the wind energy facility, or related structures, shall be limited
to that required for safety and operational purposes, and shall
be reasonably shielded from abutting properties. If lighting is
necessary a photometric plan is required.

c. Signage: Signs on the wind energy facility shall comply with the
requirements of the City of Birmingham’s Sign Ordinance, and
shall be limited to:

i. Wind energy facilities shall not be used for displaying any
advertising except for reasonable identification of the
manufacturer or operator of the wind energy facility.

ii. Those necessary to identify the owner, provide a 24-hour
emergency contact phone number, and warn of any
danger; and

iii. Educational signs providing information about the facility
and the benefits of renewable energy



d. Utility Connections: All utility connections for and from the wind
energy facility shall be located under- ground. Electrical
transformers for utility interconnections may be above ground if
required by utility provider but must be screened according to
the Zoning Ordinance.

e. Related Structures: All related structures to wind energy
facilities shall be subject to regulations concerning bulk and
height of accessory structures as well as all other development
standards. All related structures, including but not limited to,
equipment shelters, storage facilities, transformers, and
substations, shall be architecturally compatible with each other
and adjacent buildings and shall be contained within the turbine
tower whenever technically feasible. Structures shall only be
used for housing equipment for this particular site.

5. Submittal Requirements:

a. Wind energy facilities are subject to Site Plan Review or Design
Review by the Planning Board and/or the Historic District
Commission.

b. All wind energy facilities shall obtain a building permit, along
with any other permits required by federal, state and local
agencies, prior to erecting a system.

c. Proof of Liability Insurance: The applicant shall be required to
provide evidence of liability insurance in an amount and for a
duration sufficient to cover loss or damage to persons and
structures should there be a failure of the wind energy facility.

d. Site Control: At the time of application for a Site Plan Review,
the applicant shall submit documentation of actual or
prospective control of the project site sufficient to allow for
installation and use of the pro- posed facility. Documentation
shall also include proof of control over setback areas and access
roads, if required. Control shall mean legal authority to prevent
the use or construction of any structure for human habitation
within the setback areas.

e. Site Plan:
i. A site plan signed and sealed by a licensed engineer, of the

subject property and all properties within 200 feet showing
existing buildings and structures, utility lines and poles,



landscaping and all other items which may effect the 
placement of the wind energy facility. 

ii. An elevation drawing of the proposed location of the wind
energy facility.

iii. Color photographs and an elevation drawing with the wind
energy facility and all necessary equipment superimposed
in the proposed location.

iv. Specification sheets for all equipment, identifying all parts
of the system, including, but not limited to, the
manufacturer and model, turbine, tower height and type,
rotor diameter, foundation, any accessory equipment, and
the manufacturers electrical plans and specifications.

v. Any other information or evidence required by City
Officials.

ORDAINED this ________ day of ____________, 2021 to become effective upon publication. 

_________________________________ 

Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

_________________________________ 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: June 9th, 2021 

TO: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

FROM: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

SUBJECT: Solar Panel Requirements – Public Hearing 

In 2009, the City Commission adopted ordinance language permitting solar panels on structure 
roofs in all zoning districts throughout the City. Since its adoption, there have been many solar 
panels installed across the City, and several in the process of being approved by the Planning 
Board and/or Planning Division.  

On May 22nd, 2019, the Planning Board discussed the evolution of solar panels and their 
perception that aesthetics are no longer an issue that should require a full Design Review by the 
Planning Board. The Board members also revisited a suggestion that was discussed in 2009, 
which was to waive fees for solar panel applications to encourage alternative energy use and 
sustainability. 

On June 17th, 2019, the Planning Board and City Commission discussed the potential for ordinance 
amendments to simplify the review process for solar panels. During the meeting, a consensus 
was reached that the City’s solar ordinance was in need of an update. 

On January 8th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed revised ordinance language and directed staff 
to make a few minor revisions and clarifications which involved the removal of ground mounted 
solar facility standards and adding language for anti-reflective coatings. 

On July 15th, 2020, the Planning Board reviewed the revised language a second time and made 
a request to learn more about ancillary equipment and what types of such may be placed on a 
home, and where it may be commonly placed. The Planning Division has reached out to several 
solar power companies, and has researched previous solar panel proposals to get a better sense 
of what ancillary equipment is commonly used, and general reasons why: 

Equipment Description 
Large Single-Unit Inverter Changes DC current from panel to usable AC current. Typically 

located near utility meter. 
Micro Inverter Changes DC current from panel to usable AC current. Micro 

Inverters are located on the rear of each panel, eliminating the 
need for one larger single-unit inverter. More common. 

Sub Panels Dedicated circuits to power specific household items (ex. fridge, 
laundry. etc.) Located inside adjacent to main panel. 



Storage Battery Stores excess energy collected for later use. Rated for 
indoor/outdoor placement, but most commonly placed inside. 

Battery Disconnects Functions as a disconnect and one-way circuit to prevent energy 
backflow out of storage battery. Usually located close to battery 
inside or outside. 

Disconnect Switches Switches that stop the flow of power. Could be more than one, 
and is required to be located no more than 5 ft. from the utility 
meter. 

Junction Box Serves as a monitoring system that detect production. Can be 
located inside or outside. Optional, not necessarily required. 

Metal Conduit Houses all wiring from solar panels, through ancillary 
equipment, and into the home. 

In reviewing several of the plans for solar installations in the last two years, the information 
provided above appears to be confirmed by the locations of ancillary equipment on the plans, 
which in general is always located on the side or rear of the house near the utility meter. 

On April 14th, 2021, the Planning Board motioned to set a public hearing on May 12th, 2021 to 
amend the alternative energy ordinance, which was rescheduled to June 9th, 2021 due to Eid al-
Fitr. The Planning Board also requested that language be added to preclude wall of façade-
mounted solar panels due to the potential issues with aesthetics and neighboring properties. 

As the Zoning Ordinance currently reads, roof-mounted solar electric systems are permitted in all 
Zoning Districts, with any proposals for front, street oriented systems required to come before 
the Planning Board or Historic District Commission for a Design Review. The attached language 
offers an update to this language based on the feedback of the Planning Board and City 
Commission eliminating the Design Review Requirement for non-historic homes only. In addition, 
it was important for City Staff (while the subject of solar panels is active) to address and update 
the entire section of ordinance to remove barriers to the use of alternative energy solutions and 
encourage viable sustainability efforts. The proposed updates add requirements for new and 
emerging technologies such as solar shingles and solar energy storage, as well as address 
different options and that were not included in the original language, such as ground-mounted 
solar electric systems.  

Note: The decision was made to move the language for solar panels from the Essential Services 
section to the Alternative Energy section of the ordinance, as it is a much better fit. In order to 
edit the ordinance properly, it was easiest to “delete” all of the existing ordinance language in 
Section 4.88 and create an entirely “new” Section 4.88. The language for wind energy facilities 
in the “new” Section 4.88 is EXACTLY the same, it is merely organized in a slightly different way. 
Please be advised, however, of the changes made in bold blue that apply to the wind energy 
facility language, which are changes to the Zoning Districts in which Section 4.88 apply. 



(1)

(2)

(3)

a.

b.

Sec. 82-204. - Solar energy systems.

Solar energy systems include solar collector surfaces and ancillary electrical equipment that are either

affixed to a permanent principal or accessory building, or as a freestanding structure. A solar energy system

collects, stores, and/or distributes solar energy for heating or cooling, generating electricity, or heating

water.

Solar energy systems are permitted in all districts as an accessory use subject to the following:

Ground mounted solar energy systems shall meet the location and setback

requirements applicable to detached accessory buildings (see section 82-193).

Roof mounted solar energy equipment shall be permitted on principal and accessory

buildings provided that the panels or solar collector surface does not increase the total

height of the structure above the maximum allowable height of the structure on which

it is located, in accordance with the applicable zoning regulations.

Solar energy collectors shall be designed to either:

Faithfully replicate the appearance of standard roofing materials, or

Minimize glare and be uniform in color. Frames (internal and external) shall be the

same color as the collector surface. All panels shall have an anti-reflective coating.

(Ord. of 7-14-2009, § 26-13.12; Ord. No. 428, § 1, 1-9-2018)

Pleasant Ridge, MI

https://library.municode.com/
NDupuis
Highlight



(1)

a.

b.

c.

1.

2.

3.

4.

d.

e.

f.

g.

h.

i.

j.

k.

l.

m.

(2)

Sec. 24-183. - Accessory buildings, structures and uses.

Accessory buildings and structures shall be constructed in accordance with the following section. A permit from the

community development department is required prior to construction.

Residential uses. Accessory buildings and structures within residential districts shall comply with the following

requirements:

Accessory buildings or structures shall not be built upon a lot or parcel unless and until a principal

building is erected.

Where a garage or carport is structurally attached to the principal building, it shall be built only in the

rear or side yard and shall be considered part of the principal building for purposes of all setback

regulations and building codes applicable to principal buildings.

Front facade attached garages shall be allowed if all of the following conditions are met:

Any front facade garage will be set back a minimum of five feet from the building facade.

Any single garage door will not exceed eight feet in width or eight feet in height.

Any two garage doors will be separated by a minimum two-foot solid jamb.

The garage opening on the building facade shall not exceed 50 percent of the total linear building

frontage.

Detached accessory buildings or structures shall not be constructed within ten feet of any principal

building located on the same lot or parcel.

One accessory building shall be permitted per lot unless the lot is of such dimension that a second

structure can be built at least 25 feet from any other building or structure located on the same lot and a

minimum of five feet from any property line or edge of an easement, or three feet in the side yard

setback, if construction is fire-resistance rated according to the current Michigan Residential Code.

Detached accessory buildings and structures shall be located a minimum of five feet from any adjoining

lot line or easement, or three feet in the side yard setback, if construction is fire-resistance rated

according to the current Michigan Residential Code. On corner lots and alleys, detached accessory

buildings and structures shall be located at least ten feet from the lot line adjacent to the side street or

alley.

All accessory buildings and structures shall be located in the side or rear yard.

Accessory buildings and structures shall be included in lot coverage limitations.

The building height of an accessory building or structure shall not exceed 16 feet.

Detached carports shall not be constructed closer to the side or rear lot line than the permitted distance

for a residential garage. Portions of the carport shall not extend into the required front yard area.

Detached carport structures for multiple family residential dwellings shall be screened in accordance

with applicable city ordinances.

Accessory buildings located on double frontage (through) lots shall observe front yard setback

requirements on both streets.

Play structures for children shall not be considered accessory buildings, but shall comply with the

provisions of subsections (1)a, d., f. and g., above.

Detached accessory buildings or structures shall not have a greater square footage than the principal

building on the same lot.

Non-residential uses. Accessory buildings and structures within all other districts shall comply with the

following requirements:

Ferndale, MI



a.

b.

c.

(3)

a.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

b.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

Accessory buildings or structures shall not be built upon a lot or parcel unless and until a principal building 

Accessory buildings and structures shall be subject to all of the same requirements as principal buildings

in the district in which they are located.

Accessory buildings located on double frontage (through) lots shall observe front yard setback

requirements on both streets.

Energy uses.

Wind energy conversion systems (WECS). WECS designed to service the energy needs of the property

where the structure is located shall be allowed as an accessory structure in all districts, subject to the

following requirements:

Only one WECS shall be permitted per lot.

The height of the overall WECS with the blade in the vertical position shall not exceed 80 feet above

ground level.

All towers shall be set back a distance at least equal to the height of the overall WECS from all lot

lines. The height shall be measured to the top of the blade at its highest point.

Blade arcs created by a WECS shall not interfere with any structure, utilities or vegetation. The

minimum blade or rotor clearance above ground level shall be at least 20 feet.

All towers used to support the wind generating equipment shall be adequately anchored.

The WECS shall be equipped with both a manual and automatic braking device capable of stopping

the WECS operation in high winds within 80 percent of design limits of the rotor.

Noise emissions from the operation of a WECS shall not exceed 45 decibels on the DBA scale as

measured at the nearest lot line or road.

To prevent unauthorized climbing, the WECS must include an anti-climb device.

Any WECS not used for one year or longer shall be deemed to be abandoned and shall be promptly

dismantled and removed from the property by the owner of the WECS.

Solar energy systems. Solar energy systems designed to service the energy needs of the property where

the structure is located shall be allowed as an accessory structure in all districts, subject to the following

requirements:

Solar energy systems shall meet the requirements of this section and all other applicable

construction codes.

The design of the solar energy system shall conform to applicable industry standards.

Solar energy systems shall be screened per the discretion of the community development

department.

Solar energy systems shall meet height and setback requirements of the zoning district in which

they are located.

Solar energy systems shall be securely anchored to the ground or a permanent structure.

A ground-mounted solar energy system shall comply with the accessory structure restrictions

contained in the zoning district where it is located.

All exterior electrical and/or plumbing lines must be buried below the surface of the ground in

compliance with current code.

Any solar energy system not used for one year or longer shall be deemed to be abandoned and

shall be promptly dismantled and removed from the property by the owner of the solar energy

system.

Waiver. Upon request, the planning commission may grant waivers of the setback or height

NDupuis
Highlight

NDupuis
Highlight



(4)

a.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

b.

1.

2.

3.

c.

1.

2.

3.

(5)

a.

b.

c.

requirements, provided that the waiver will not present any undue hardships on adjoining

properties. The planning commission shall take into consideration the support or opposition of

adjacent property owners in granting waivers of setback or height requirements.

Outdoor display, sales and storage. Outdoor display, sales, or storage accessory to an approved principal use

may be approved by the planning commission if deemed compatible with surrounding land uses and found to

be compatible with the character of the area in accordance with the following:

In general.

Goods and materials shall not be piled or stacked higher than the height of the screening wall.

Vehicles, truck trailers, implements, and recreational vehicles may exceed the height of the

screening wall provided that they are set back from the screening wall a distance equal to their

height.

The outdoor display, sales and storage of fertilizers, pesticides, and other hazardous materials is

prohibited.

Soil, sand, mulch, and similar loosely packaged materials shall be contained and covered to prevent

it from blowing into adjacent properties.

All areas shall be paved with a permanent, durable, and dustless surface and shall be graded and

drained to dispose of all surface water.

The applicant shall demonstrate there will be adequate parking for the existing uses as well as the

proposed outdoor sales, display or storage.

The location shall not interfere with public passage or the otherwise normal flow of pedestrian or

vehicular traffic.

Lighting for security purposes may be required as determined by the planning commission.

Temporary uses that occur for less than two weeks in any calendar year are exempt from these

regulations.

Display or sales.

Outdoor display or sales is permitted in all mixed-use, commercial, and office districts.

Outdoor display or sales areas may occupy up to 15 percent of each front, side, and rear yard

respectively, provided all setbacks are met.

Outdoor display or sales areas shall be screened from view by a masonry wall where the display area

abuts a residential district.

Storage.

Outdoor storage is permitted in all industrial districts.

Screening of outdoor storage areas shall consist of any combination of fences, walls, berms and

landscaping that are at least eight feet in height that in the opinion of the city provides a

permanent, opaque, year-round screening around the entire perimeter of the outdoor storage area.

Outdoor storage shall not be located in the front yard.

Temporary construction uses.

Temporary buildings and structures may only be used for the storage of construction materials, tools,

supplies and equipment, for construction management and supervision offices, and for temporary on-

site sanitation, solid waste, or fuel facilities, related to construction activity on the same lot.

The building or structure shall not be used for dwelling purposes.

Temporary buildings and structures shall be removed from the lot within 30 days after an occupancy

permit is issued by the community development department for the permanent structure on such lot, or



(6)

a.

b.

c.

(7)

a.

b.

within 30 days after the expiration of a building permit issued for construction on such lot.

Portable moving and storage containers. A single portable moving and storage container may be placed on an

occupied lot for the purpose of loading or unloading items to be transported to another location, subject to

the following restrictions:

The portable moving and storage container may be placed on an occupied lot for up to 30 days.

The container shall be located on a paved surface on the lot and shall not be located in the public right-

of-way or a private road easement.

This section shall not apply to freight containers or truck trailers located in an industrial district in

accordance with D above.

Donation boxes and vending machines.

Outdoor donation boxes shall be permitted in the C-3, OS, M-1, M-2, and P-1 districts. They shall not be

permitted in the front yard, or any landscape greenbelt and shall not be permitted in a location that

would block parking spaces, or loading areas and shall not obstruct vehicular and pedestrian circulation,

fire lanes, or sidewalks.

Outdoor vending machines shall be prohibited. This provision shall not apply to racks.

(Ord. No. 1087, § 9.03, 3-8-10; Ord. No. 1203 , Pt. I, 1-8-18)

https://library.municode.com/


§ 770-54. Wind and solar energy systems. [Added 6-15-2009
by Ord. No. 2009-06]

A. Purpose and intent. It is the general purpose and intent of the
City to balance the need for clean, renewable and abundant
energy resources that may reduce dependence upon scarce and
nonrenewable fossil fuels, with the necessity to protect the public
health, safety and welfare of the city, as well as to preserve the
integrity, character, property values, and aesthetic quality of the
community at large. The City therefore finds these regulations
are necessary in order to facilitate adequate provision of sites for
wind and solar energy systems and ensure they are situated in
appropriate locations and relationships to other land uses,
structures and buildings, without significantly increasing the cost
or decreasing the efficiency of such systems.

B. Authorization.

(1) Wind energy systems with a rated capacity of up to 20
kilowatts (20 kw) and solar energy systems shall be allowed
as an accessory use in any zoning district, subject to the
required standards of this section, provided that they are to
be incidental and subordinate to a use on the same parcel and
shall supply electrical power exclusively for on-site
consumption, except as otherwise provided by this chapter.

(2) Wind and solar energy systems may be connected to the
electrical grid when a parcel on which the system is installed
also receives electrical power supplied by a utility company. If
a parcel on which a system is installed also receives electrical
power supplied by a utility company, excess electrical power
generated and not presently needed for on-site use may be
used by the utility company in accordance with applicable
state and federal law.

(3) Solar energy systems and wind energy systems with a rated
capacity of more than 20 kilowatts (20 kw) that are intended
to produce electricity for sale to a utility and/or other
customers for off-site consumption shall be prohibited, except
as a special land use in the General Industrial Zoning District
under § 770-44 General Industrial, Subsection C, Special land
uses, Subsection (2)(b), Electrical power manufacture. Wind
or solar energy systems developed as a special land use in the
General Industrial Zoning District shall be subject to the
required standards of this section.

C. Standards specific to wind energy systems.

:1

Royal Oak, MI

NDupuis
Highlight



(1) Number of systems per lot. No more than one ground-
mounted or freestanding wind energy system may be placed
on any lot of record. Arrays of multiple-turbine roof-mounted
wind energy systems may be allowed, provided that they are
architecturally integrated with the building upon which they
are attached as determined by the Zoning Administrator, and
otherwise comply with the required standards of this section.

(2) Height.

(a) The total system height of a ground-mounted or
freestanding wind energy system shall not exceed twice
the maximum permitted height for principal structures on
a site within or adjacent to any residential or mixed-use
zoning districts, or 100 feet on any other site that is not
adjacent to any residential or mixed-use zoning district.
The total system height shall include the height above
grade of the fixed portion of the tower to the center of the
rotor hub, including the turbine and the highest vertical
extension of any blades and rotors.

(b) The height of roof-mounted wind energy systems are
subject to the required standards in § 770-21, Application
of Zoning District Regulations, Subsection D, Application
of height regulations, Subsection (3), Exceptions.

(3) Location and setbacks.

(a) Ground-mounted or freestanding wind energy systems
shall not be located within a front yard in any residential
or mixed-use zoning district and shall be set back from all
lot lines and rights-of-way to the center of the tower base
no less than a distance equal to 1/2 the diameter of the
rotor and blades, or the minimum required front, side and
rear yard setbacks for principal structures within a site's
given zoning district, whichever is greater.

(b) No portion of any wind energy system's blades, rotor, or
other exposed moving parts shall extend to within 20 feet
of the ground, or to within 10 feet of any overhead utility
lines.

(c) Roof-mounted wind energy systems shall be setback from
the building edge a distance equal to 1/2 the diameter of
its rotor and blades, or a distance as determined
necessary by the Zoning Administrator. No portion of any
roof-mounted wind energy system's blades, rotor or other

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:2



exposed moving part shall extend beyond the edge of
the building to which it is attached, or to within 20 feet
of any outdoor surfaces that are located directly below
the system and intended for human occupancy, such as
balconies or rooftop patios.

D. Standards specific to solar energy systems.

(1) Number of systems per lot. No more than one ground-
mounted or freestanding solar energy system may be placed
on any lot of record, and its solar collector shall not exceed
800 square feet of surface area. Solar collectors shall not be
counted towards lot coverage, but the area covered or
enclosed by solar collectors may be counted as required open
space. Arrays of multiple-collector roof-mounted, building-
mounted, or facade-mounted solar energy systems may be
allowed, provided that they are architecturally integrated
with the building upon which they are attached as determined
by the Zoning Administrator, and otherwise comply with the
required standards of this section.

(2) Height. Ground-mounted or freestanding solar collectors and
any mounts shall not exceed a height of 20 feet when oriented
at maximum tilt. Building-mounted or facade-mounted solar
collectors shall not exceed the height of the building to which
they are attached. Roof-mounted solar collectors and any
mounts are subject to the standards in § 770-21, Application
of zoning district regulations, Subsection D Application of
height regulations, Subsection (3) Exceptions.

(3) Location and setbacks.

(a) Ground-mounted or freestanding solar energy systems
shall not be located within a front yard in any residential
or mixed-use zoning district, and shall be set back from
all lot lines and rights-of-way to any part of the system no
less than the minimum required front, side and rear yard
setbacks for accessory structures within a site's given
zoning district.

(b) Roof-mounted solar energy systems shall be setback from
the building edge a distance equal to its height or a
distance as determined necessary by the Zoning
Administrator.

(c) Building-mounted or facade-mounted solar energy
systems shall not be attached to any front building facade

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:3

NDupuis
Highlight



that directly faces and is visible from any right-of-way.
Such systems may be located on any side or rear building
facade, provided that they do not directly face and are not
visible from any right-of-way, and provided that they are
architecturally integrated with the building upon which
they are attached, as determined by the Zoning
Administrator.

(d) Solar collectors shall be placed so as not to shade any
existing solar collector or adjacent property to the north
between the hours of 9:30 a.m. and 2:30 p.m. Eastern
Standard Time on December 21 of each year any more
than would a structure built to the maximum permitted
bulk and area standards for a site's given zoning district.

(4) Solar storage batteries. When solar storage batteries are
included as part of the solar energy system, they must be
placed in a secure container or enclosure meeting the
requirements of the City's building and electrical codes when
in use and, when no longer used, shall be disposed of in
accordance with all applicable City, state and federal laws
and regulations.

E. General standards.

(1) Screening. Landscape screening in accordance with § 770-90,
Landscaping, greenbelts, buffers and screening, Subsection
D, Screening between land uses, shall be provided along all
property lines to mitigate aesthetic impacts upon the
neighborhood if a ground-mounted or freestanding wind or
solar energy system is located within or adjacent to any
residential or mixed-use zoning districts, except when a
principal structure is placed between the system and a
property line. Roof-mounted wind or solar energy systems
shall be effectively screened as determined necessary by the
Zoning Administrator.

(2) Access and safety. All wind or solar energy systems shall be
designed and installed so as to prevent unauthorized access
to electrical and mechanical components and shall be secured
or locked at all times when service personnel are not present.
All ground-mounted or freestanding wind or solar energy
systems shall be adequately enclosed by a six-foot fence, or
placed within a yard that is entirely enclosed by a six-foot
fence, in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 323,
Fences. All climbing apparatus shall be located at least 12

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:4



feet above ground, and any tower must be designed to
prevent climbing within the first 12 feet.

(3) Lighting. Exterior lighting from a direct source upon a wind
or solar energy system shall be prohibited. No lights shall be
installed on a tower or any other part of a wind or solar
energy system, unless required to meet federal aviation
regulations.

(4) Controls. All wind energy systems shall be equipped with
manual and automatic override brakes in order to limit the
blade rotation speed to within its design limits, to prevent
uncontrolled rotation and excessive pressure on the tower,
rotors, blades and other components, and to shut down
turbines in the event of an electrical outage.

(5) Underground wiring. All wiring connected with a wind or
solar energy system shall be underground, except for wiring
that runs from the turbine to the base of the wind energy
systems, and all wiring associated with roof-mounted wind
energy systems, and roof-mounted, building-mounted, or
facade-mounted solar energy systems.

(6) Noise and electrical disturbance. All wind energy and solar
systems shall comply with the required standards of § 770-94,
Noise and vibrations, and § 770-95, Electrical disturbance,
electromagnetic or radio frequency interference.

(7) Signs. All signs on a wind or solar energy system visible from
any right-of-way or adjacent property shall be prohibited,
except for the manufacturer's or installer's identification on
the nacelle or solar collector, appropriate warning signs, or
the owner and/or operator's identification.

F. Access easements.

(1) The enactment of this section does not constitute the granting
of an easement by the City for access to wind or solar
radiation. The owner and/or operator shall provide covenants,
easements, or similar documentation to assure sufficient wind
or solar radiation to operate a wind or solar energy system
unless adequate accessibility to the wind or solar radiation is
provided by the site.

(2) Nothing within this section shall prevent any owner, occupant
or other person in control of property from legally placing or
planting any vegetation or trees, or legally constructing any
structure that may cast a shadow on a solar energy system or

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:5



block wind from a wind energy system, provided that such
vegetation, trees, or structures comply with the required
standards of this chapter and all other applicable laws, codes
and ordinances.

G. Removal.

(1) An owner and/or operator shall remove any ground-mounted
or freestanding wind or solar energy system when it has not
been used for a period of 180 days or more or has otherwise
been abandoned. For purposes of this section, the removal of
rotors, blades, turbines, solar collectors, solar batteries, or
other equipment from a wind or solar energy system, or the
cessation of electrical power generation, shall be considered
as the beginning of a period of nonuse or abandonment.
Nonuse or abandonment may also be proven by reports from
an interconnected utility.

(2) Once a ground-mounted or freestanding wind or solar energy
system has not been used for a period of 180 days or more or
has otherwise been determined to be abandoned, the owner
and/or operator shall immediately apply or secure the
application for any required demolition or removal permits,
and immediately proceed with and complete the demolition
and removal, restoring the premises to an acceptable
condition as reasonably determined by the Building Official
and/or Zoning Administrator.

(3) If the required removal of a wind or solar energy system has
not been lawfully completed within 60 days of the applicable
deadline, and after at least 30 days' written notice by the City
Attorney, Building Official, and/or Zoning Administrator, the
City may pursue legal action to remove or secure the removal
of the system at the owner's and/or operator's sole expense.

(4) The Zoning Administrator and/or Building Official may
require that an application for a ground-mounted or
freestanding wind or solar energy system include a security
to be posted at the time of receiving a building permit to
ensure its removal when it has been abandoned or is no
longer in use, as provided in this section. The security may, at
the election of the owner and/or operator, be in the form of
cash; surety bond; letter of credit; or an agreement in a form
approved by the City Attorney and recordable at the office of
the Register of Deeds, establishing a promise of the owner
and/or operator to timely remove the wind or solar energy

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:6



system as required under this section, with the further
provision that the owner and/or operator shall be responsible
for the payment of any costs and attorney's fees incurred
by the City in securing removal. The City's actual costs and
reasonable administrative charges to remove or secure the
removal of a wind or solar energy system may be drawn or
collected from such security.

H. Applications and permits. The owner and/or operator of any wind
or solar energy system shall obtain a building permit, along with
any other permits required by federal, state and local agencies,
prior to erecting a system. Wind or solar energy systems shall
comply with all applicable state and City construction and
electrical codes and City building permit requirements, and also
all requirements of the Federal Aviation Administration, the
Michigan Airport Zoning Act (Public Act 23 of 1950, MCLA
§ 259.431 et seq.), the Michigan Tall Structures Act (Public Act
259 of 1959, MCLA § 259.481 et seq.), and all other applicable
state and federal regulations.

(1) Wind energy systems. Applications for permits to install a
wind energy system shall include a site plan prepared in
accordance with § 770-12, Site plan review, along with the
following additional information:

(a) The location of all buildings within 200 feet of the
property including exterior dimensions, height and uses.

(b) The location and dimensions of any other natural or man-
made features within 200 feet of the property, such as
trees, overhead utility lines, utility poles and towers,
streets and rights-of-way, wireless community devices,
etc.

(c) The plans and specifications identifying all parts of the
system, including, but not limited to, the manufacturer
and model, turbine, tower height and type, rotor
diameter, foundation, any accessory equipment, and the
manufacturer's electrical plans and specifications.

(d) Certification from a licensed engineer or qualified
professional that the manual and automatic override
brakes have been designed for the proposed system.

(e) Evidence that the applicant has notified the affected
utility of the intent to install an interconnected customer-
owned generator, and that the generator meets the

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:7



minimum requirements established by the affected utility,
the Michigan Public Service Commission, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission, and all other applicable
state and federal standards. Off-grid systems shall be
exempt from this requirement.

(f) Evidence from a qualified professional that the site is
feasible for a wind energy system, or that covenants,
easements and other assurances to document sufficient
wind to operate the wind energy system have been
obtained.

(g) Evidence that the proposed wind energy system will
comply with applicable federal aviation regulations,
including any necessary approvals from the Federal
Aviation Administration.

(h) A visual simulation that includes views from all rights-of-
way within 500 feet.

(i) Any other evidence or information as required by the
Zoning Administrator and/or Building Official.

(2) Solar energy systems. Applications for permits to install a
solar energy system shall include a site plan prepared in
accordance with § 770-12, Site plan review, along with the
following additional information:

(a) The plans and specifications identifying all parts of the
system, including, but not limited to, the manufacturer
and model, solar collector or generator, mount height and
type, foundation, solar batteries, any accessory
equipment, and the manufacturer's electrical plans and
specifications.

(b) Evidence that the applicant has notified the affected
utility of the intent to install an interconnected customer-
owned solar collector, and that the collector meets the
minimum requirements established by the affected utility,
the Michigan Public Service Commission, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission, and all other applicable
state and federal standards. Off-grid systems shall be
exempt from this requirement.

(c) Evidence from a qualified professional that the site is
feasible for a solar energy system, including between the
hours of 9:30 a.m. and 2:30 p.m. Eastern Standard Time
on December 21 of each year, or that covenants,

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:8



easements and other assurances to document sufficient
solar radiation to operate the solar energy system have
been obtained.

(d) Evidence that the proposed solar energy system will
comply with applicable state and federal regulations.

(e) Any other evidence or information as required by the
Zoning Administrator and/or Building Official.

I. Additional and accessory uses.

(1) The applicable standards and requirements of this section
shall also apply to anemometer towers used to conduct wind
site assessments for possible installation of wind energy
systems.

(2) Co-location of wireless communication facilities on any wind
or solar energy system shall be subject to the requirements of
§ 770-88, Wireless communication devices. Co-location of any
equipment or facilities other than wireless communication
facilities that are not used for wind or solar power purposes
shall only be permitted if allowed elsewhere within this
chapter.

§ 770-54 § 770-54

:9



Zoning Ordinance 

Adoption Date: April 20, 2009 

Revised Through: December 9, 2019 

Rochester Hills, MI



1 
Adm

inistration 
&

 Enforcem
ent 

2 
Adm

in. O
rg. 

&
 Procedures 

3 
N

onconform
ities 

4 
Zoning Dist. &

  
Perm

itted Uses 
5 

Schedule of 
Regulations 

6 
Supplem

ental 
Dist. Standards 

7 
Planned Unit 
Developm

ent 
8 

Flex Business 
O

verlay Districts 
9 

N
atural Features 

10 
G

eneral 
Provisions 

11 
Parking &

 
Loading 

12 
Landscaping &

 
Screening 

13 Definitions 

 

Article 10  General Provisions 
Section 138-10.401 Solar Energy Systems 

10-22 City of Rochester Hills 

d. Anticipated manner in which the project will be decommissioned and the site restored.

J. Complaint Resolution. The applicant shall develop a process to resolve any potential complaints from nearby 
residents concerning the construction and operation of the project. The process may use an independent 
mediator or arbitrator and shall include a time limit for acting upon a complaint. The process shall not 
preclude any governmental body from acting on a complaint. The applicant shall maintain and make available 
to nearby residents a telephone number where a project representative can be reached during normal 
business hours. 

Section 138-10.401 Solar Energy Systems 

A. Definitions 

1. Solar Energy System. A solar photovoltaic cell, panel, or array that converts solar energy to usable
thermal, mechanical, chemical, or electrical energy.

2. Solar Storage Battery. A device that stores energy from the sun and makes it available in an electrical
form. 

B. Rooftop Solar Energy Systems. Rooftop and building mounted solar energy systems are permitted in all zoning 
districts, subject to the following regulations: 

1. Roof mounted systems shall not extend more than 4 feet above the surface to which it is affixed.

2. No solar energy system may protrude beyond the edge of the roof.

3. A building permit shall be required for installation of rooftop and building mounted systems.

C. Ground Mounted Solar Energy Systems. Ground mounted and freestanding solar energy systems are 
permitted in all zoning districts, subject to the following regulations: 

1. Location. The solar energy system shall meet the required front yard setback requirement for the district
in which it is located, and be set back a minimum of 5 feet from any side or rear property line.

2. Height

a. The height of the solar energy system and any mounts shall not exceed 10 feet when oriented at
maximum tilt.

b. If the solar energy system is located in the front yard between the required front setback line and
front building wall of the principal building, the maximum height for the system shall be 42 inches
(3.5 feet). Evergreen landscaping that is sufficient to buffer the equipment from view from nearby
dwelling units or streets but that will not obstruct the energy collecting surface from solar energy shall
be provided.

3. Building Permit. A building permit shall be required for any ground mounted solar energy system.

4. Area. No more than 20% of the total lot area may be covered by a ground mounted solar energy system.

D. Batteries. When solar storage batteries are included as part of the solar collector system, they must be placed 
in a secure container or enclosure when in use, and when no longer used shall be disposed of in accordance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

E. Removal. If a solar energy system ceases to perform its intended function for more than 12 consecutive 
months, the property owner shall remove the collector, mount, and associated equipment and facilities no 
later than 90 days after the end of the 12 month period. 

NDupuis
Highlight



CHAPTER  #45 

CITY  OF  SOUTHFIELD  ZONING  CHAPTER 

  MAYOR

Kenson J. Siver  

COUNCIL

Lloyd Crews, Council President 
Linnie Taylor, Council President Pro Tem 

Daniel Brightwell 
Donald F. Fracassi 

Myron Frasier 
Michael A. Mandelbaum 

Tawnya Morris 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

Donald Culpepper, Chairman 
Steve Huntington, Vice Chairman 

Latina Denson 
Jeremy Griffis 

Anthony Martin 
Jacquetta Miah 
Robert L. Willis 

City of Southfield Zoning Ordinance 5/30/19

City of Southfield, MI



Section 5.60-B SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (Amended – Ordinance No. 
1590 – 4/23/12) 

A. Purpose and Intent

The purpose of this Section is to establish guidelines for the siting of Solar Energy 
Systems. It is the further purpose and intent of this  Section to: 

1. To promote the safe, effective and efficient use of Solar Energy Systems in
order to reduce the consumption of fossil fuels in producing electricity and
decrease the air and water pollution that results from the use of conventional
energy sources.

2. Preserve and protect public health, safety, welfare and quality of life by
minimizing the potential adverse effects of Solar Energy Systems, including
aesthetic impacts and risks to the property values of adjoining properties.

3. To establish standards and procedures by which the siting, design,
engineering, installation, operation and maintenance of Solar Energy Systems
shall be governed.

B. Definitions. The following definitions shall apply in this Section: 

Solar Energy System:  shall mean a solar photovoltaic cell, panel, or array that 
converts solar energy to useable thermal, mechanical, chemical, or electrical energy. 

Solar Storage Battery: shall mean a device that stores energy from the sun and 
makes it available in an electrical form. 

C. Applicability. This Section shall apply to all Solar Energy Systems proposed to be 
constructed after the effective date of this ordinance. All Solar Energy Systems 
constructed prior to the effective date of this ordinance shall not be required to meet 
the requirements of this ordinance; however, any physical modification to an existing 
Solar Energy System that alters the size, type, equipment or location shall require a 
permit under this ordinance.  

D. Roof-mounted Solar Energy Systems:  Roof-mounted and building solar energy 
systems are permitted uses in all zoning districts, subject to the following regulations: 

1. Siting and design requirements

(a.) Roof mounted systems shall not extend more than four (4’) feet above
the surface to which it is affixed. 

(b.) No solar energy system may protrude beyond the edge of the roof. 

Article 4 - General Provisions

City of Southfield Zoning Ordinance 191 5/30/19

NDupuis
Highlight



(c.) A building permit and electrical permit shall be required for 
installation of roof-mounted or building-mounted systems. 

E. Ground- Mounted Solar Energy Systems:  Ground-mounted and freestanding solar 
energy systems are permitted uses in all zoning districts subject to the follow 
regulations:

 1. Siting and design requirements: 

  (a.) Location:  

(i.) The solar energy system shall not be allowed in the front yard 
between the property line and the front building wall. The solar 
energy system may be located in the side or rear yards and be 
set back a minimum of five (5’) feet from any side or rear 
property line. 

  (b.) Height:  

   (i.) The height of the solar energy system and any mounts shall not 
    exceed ten (10’) feet when oriented at maximum tilt. 

(ii.) If the solar energy system is located in a side yard, the 
maximum height for the system shall be forty-two (42”) inches 
or three and one half (3 ½’) feet. Evergreen landscaping that is 
sufficient to buffer the equipment from view from near-by 
dwelling units or streets but that will not obstruct the energy 
collecting surface from solar energy shall be provided. 

  (c.) Building Permit: 

(i.) A building permit and electrical permit shall be required for 
any ground-mounted solar energy system. 

  (d.) Area: 

   (i.) No more than twenty (20%) percent of the total lot area may be 
    covered by a ground-mounted solar energy system. 

Article 4 - General Provisions

City of Southfield Zoning Ordinance 192 5/30/19



F. Batteries:  When batteries are included as part of the solar collector system, the must 
be placed in a secure container or enclosure when in use, and when no longer used 
shall be disposed of in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

G. Removal:  If a solar energy system ceases to perform its intended function for more 
than twelve (12) consecutive months, the property owner shall remove the collector, 
mount, and associated equipment and facilities no later than ninety (90) days after the 
end of the twelve (12) month period. 

Section 5.60-C  RESERVED FOR GEO-THERMAL ENERGY SYSTEMS 

SECTION 5.60-D  RESERVED FOR RAINWATER HARVESTING SYSTEMS 
(Amended – Ordinance 1678 – 7/6/17) 

A. Identify opportunities where water can be reused for irrigation or used for indoor 
greywater reuse. From this, calculate the water need for the intended uses. For 
example, if a 2,000 sf landscaped area requires irrigation for 4 months in the summer 
at a rate of 1” per week; the designer must determine how much water will be needed 
to achieve this goal, and how often the storage unit will be refilled via precipitation. 
The usage requirements and the expected rainfall volume and frequency must be 
determined. 

B. Rain barrels and cisterns should be positioned to receive rooftop runoff. 
C. Provide for the use or release of stored water between storm events in order for the 

necessary stormwater storage volume to be available. 
D. If cisterns are used to supplement greywater needs, a parallel conveyance system 

must be installed to separate reused stormwater or greywater from other potable water 
piping systems. Do not connect to domestic or commercial potable water systems.  

E. Household water demands must be considered when sizing a system to supplement 
residential greywater. 

F. Pipes or storage units must be clearly marked “Caution: reclaimed water, do not 
drink”.

G. Screens must be used to filter debris from storage units. 
H. Protect storage elements from direct sunlight by positioning and landscaping. Limit 

light into devices to minimize algae growth. 
I. The proximity to building foundations must be considered from overflow conditions. 

Overflow discharge must be a minimum of 10’ from building foundation. 
J. Climate is an important consideration. Capture/reuse systems must be disconnected 

and emptied during winter to prevent freezing. 
K. Cisterns must be watertight (joints sealed with nontoxic waterproof material) with a 

smooth interior surface, and capable of receiving water from rainwater harvesting 
system. 

L. Covers and lids must have a tight fit to keep out surface water, animals, dust and 
light.

Article 4 - General Provisions

City of Southfield Zoning Ordinance 193 5/30/19



M. Positive outlet for overflow must be provided a few inches from the top of the cistern.  
N. Observation risers must be at least 6” above grade for buried cisterns. 
O. Reuse may require pressurization. To add pressure, a pump, pressure tank and fine 

mesh filter can be used which adds to the cost of the system, but creates a more 
usable system. 

P. Rain barrels require a release mechanism in order to drain empty between storm 
events. Connect a soaker hose to slowly release stored water to a landscaped area. 

Article 4 - General Provisions

City of Southfield Zoning Ordinance 194 5/30/19



A
ut

ho
rit

y 
an

d
 

A
d

m
in

ist
ra

tio
n

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

Pr
oc

es
se

s a
nd

 
Pr

oc
ed

ur
es

Su
pp

le
m

en
ta

l D
es

ig
n 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
N

on
co

nf
or

m
ity

, 
A

pp
ea

ls,
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

270

ZONING
ORDINANCE

Article 12
Sustainable Design and 
Environmental Standards

DefinitionsZoning MapTable of Contents Figures & Maps Tables

to installation, to the extent reasonably feasible.

b. The demolition, removal and restoration of the WECS shall be completed within
sixty (60) days after the end of the Non-Use Period.

SECTION 12.05 SOLAR STRUCTURES AND EASEMENTS

A. Permitted.  Active and passive solar energy devices, systems or structures shall be 
permitted in all zoning classifications by right, subject to administrative approval, 
except when such solar devices or architectural features project into required front 
or side yards, or are free-standing elements in a required front or side yard, in which 
case they are subject to site plan review in accordance with Article 8.  

B. Maximum Height of Structures.  Passive solar energy structures, such as flat plate 
collectors, photovoltaic cells, etc., which are roof-mounted or integrated otherwise 
into the roof structure shall not be included in the calculation of maximum height.  
Active solar energy structures, when mounted on either freestanding structural 
elements or integrated architecturally with a principal or accessory building shall not 
exceed a height of forty (40) feet.

C. Easements.  A landowner may enter into an easement, covenant, condition or other 
property interest in any deed or other instrument, to protect the solar skyspace of 
an actual, proposed or designated solar energy structure at a described location 
by forbidding or limiting activities, land uses, structures and/or trees that interfere 
with access to solar energy.  The solar skyspace must be described as the three (3) 
dimensional space in which obstruction is prohibited or limited.  Any property owner 
may give or sell his right to access to sunlight.  Such Solar Access Easements shall be 
recorded and copies shall be kept on file with the Troy Building Department.

SECTION 12.06 ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

A. Intent.  No use, unless otherwise allowed, shall be permitted within any district which 
does not conform to the following minimum requirements of use, occupancy, and 
operation.

B. Airborne Emissions.

1. Air Contaminants.  All airborne emissions shall, at a minimum, comply with the
applicable Federal and State standards.

2. Smoke.

a. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm, or corporation to permit the emission of

BACK FORWARD

City of Troy, MI

NDupuis
Highlight

























M

S
P

U
M

B
L
P

A
C

D

C
B

B
A

T

IN
V

-
1

IN
V

-2

1
4
5
'-
0
"

8
7
'
-
5
"

1
4
5
'-
1
"

8
7
'
-
5
"

2
9
'-
7
"

6
'
-
9
"

5
1
'-
0
"

1
5
'
-
1
"

REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-1

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

1

2

3

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

SHEET INDEX

PV-1 PLOT PLAN & VICINITY MAP

PV-2 ROOF PLAN & MODULES

PV-2A STRING LAYOUT

PV-3 to 3A ATTACHMENT DETAIL

PV-4 ELECTRICAL LINE DIAGRAM

PV-5 WIRING CALCULATIONS

PV-5A WIRING CALCULATIONS

PV-6 to 12A EQUIPMENT SPECIFICATIONS

PLOT PLAN & VICINITY MAP

HOUSE PHOTO

VICINITY MAP

SCALE: 1"=20'-0"PV-1

SCALE: NTSPV-1

PV-1 SCALE: NTS

PROJECT SITE

PLOT PLAN & 

VICINITY MAP

EQUIPMENT SUMMARY

64 SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

10 GENERAC PV LINK S2502 POWER OPTIMIZERS

02 GENERAC PWRCELL X7602 INVERTERS

AUTHORITIES HAVING JURISDICTION

BUILDING : OAKLAND COUNTY

ZONING : OAKLAND COUNTY

UTILITY : DTE ENERGY

PROJECT SITE

DESIGN SPECIFICATIONS

OCCUPANCY : II

CONSTRUCTION : SINGLE-FAMILY

ZONING : RESIDENTIAL

GROUND SNOW LOAD : SEE STRUCTURAL LETTER

WIND EXPOSURE : SEE STRUCTURAL LETTER

WIND SPEED : SEE STRUCTURAL LETTER

64 X 330 SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF MOUNTED SOLAR PHOTOVOLTAIC MODULES

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#2 - 237.90 SQ FT

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#2 - 237.90 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#3 - 146.40 SQ FT

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#2 - 237.90 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#3 - 146.40 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#4 - 146.40 SQ FT

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#2 - 237.90 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#3 - 146.40 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#4 - 146.40 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#5 - 109.80 SQ FT

SYSTEM SIZE:21.12 kW DC STC

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#1 - 384.30 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#2 - 237.90 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#3 - 146.40 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#4 - 146.40 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#5 - 109.80 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#6 - 73.20 SQ FT

ARRAY AREA: ROOF#7 - 73.20 SQ FT

APPLICABLE CODES & STANDARDS

MICHIGAN RESIDENTIAL CODE 2015

NEC 2017

ROOF #1

(21) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #2

(13) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #3

(8) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #4

(8) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #5

(6) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

(E) MAIN SERVICE PANEL

1-STORY HOUSE

(E) DRIVEWAY

P
R

O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

IN
E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

LARC
H
LEA D

R.

(E) FENCE

ROOF #7

(4) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #6

(4) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES



S
D

M

S
P

U
M

B
L
P

A
C

D

C
B

B
A

T

IN
V

-1
IN

V
-2

S
D

S
D

S
D

1
5
'-
6
"

3
'-
0
"

4
'
-
0
"

1
5
'
-
5
"

5
'-
0
"

2
3
'-
8
"

1
9
'
-
1
1
"

7
'
-
1
0
"

1
1
'-
9
"

S
D

S
D

S
D

S
D

1
2
'-
5
"

9
'-
1
1
"

1
3
'-
3
"

3
'-
0
"

4
'
-
0
"

1
5
'
-
5
"

1
4
'
-
1
1
"

9
'
-
1
1
"

5
'
-
2
"

3
'-
0
"

2
0
'-
2
"

1

0

"

1

'

-

6

"

2
3
'
-
0
"

4
'
-
6
"

5
'
-
7
"

5
'
-
7
"

1
0
"

3
'-
0
"

2
3
'-
8
"

2
1
'
-
7
"

6
'
-
7
"

2

'
-
6

"

2

'

-

3

"

1

'
-

1

"

1

'
-
6

"

2

'

-

8

"

2

'
-

9

"

1
6
'
-
7
"

7
'
-
8
"

6
'-
1
1
"

1
7
'-
1
1
"

9

"

2

'

-

1

"

5
'-
5
"

1

'

-

8

"

1

'

-

8

"

S
D

1
3
'
-
3
"

6
'
-
5
"

5
'-
1
1
"

1
2
'-
0
"

REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-2

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

MODULE TYPE, DIMENSIONS & WEIGHT

1 ROOF PLAN & MODULES

PV-2

ROOF PLAN &

MODULES

SCALE: 3/32" = 1'-0"

ROOF DESCRIPTION

ROOF TYPE

COMPOSITION

SHINGLE

ROOF

ROOF

TILT

AZIMUTH

FRAMING

SIZE

FRAMING

SPACING

#1 49.40° 174°

SEE STRUCTURAL

LETTER

#2 14.04° 85°

#3 14.04° 85°

#4 4.76° 85°

#5 14.04° 266°

#6 4.76° 85°

#7 14.04° 266°

LEGEND

- SOLADECKSD

INV

MSP

- INVERTER

- MAIN SERVICE PANEL

- VENT, ATTIC FAN (ROOF OBSTRUCTION)

- ROOF ATTACHMENT

- RAFTERS

- CONDUIT

ACD

- AC DISCONNECT

- BACKUP LOAD PANEL
BLP

- BATTERY
BAT

OP

- PV LINK OPTIMIZER

- RAPID SHUTDOWN

ARRAY AREA & ROOF AREA CALC'S

ROOF

# OF

MODULES

ARRAY

AREA

(Sq. Ft.)

ROOF

AREA

(Sq. Ft.)

ROOF

AREA

COVERED

BY ARRAY

(%)

#1 21 384.30 684.31 56

#2 13 237.90 733.02 32

#3 8 146.40 283.44 52

#4 8 146.40 295.19 50

#5 6 109.80 246.05 45

#6 4 73.20 246.05 30

#7 4 73.20 342.65 21

- COMBINER BOXCB

NUMBER OF MODULES = 64 MODULES

MODULE TYPE = SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

MODULE WEIGHT = 41.00 LBS / 18.6 KG.

MODULE DIMENSIONS = 66.93"x 39.37" = 18.30 SF

UNIT WEIGHT OF ARRAY = 2.24 PSF

6
6

.
9

3
"

39.37"

SILFAB SOLAR

SIL-330 HL

(330 WATT)

ON- SITE CUSTOMER APPROVAL: ___________________________________

ROOF #1

(21) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

(N) SOLADECK

(N) 3/4" EMT CONDUIT

(N) GENERAC PWRCELL X7602

INVERTER-1

(N) FUSED AC DISCONNECT

(E) UTILITY METER

(E) MAIN SERVICE PANEL

(N) BACKUP LOAD PANEL

(N) GENERAC PWRCELL9 BATTERY

(N) GENERAC SNAP RS801 RS DEVICE

(N) GENERAC PWRCELL X7602

INVERTER-2

(N) COMBINER BOX

R
O

O
F

 #
1

T
IL

T
 -

 4
9
.4

0
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

1
7
4
°

R
O

O
F

 #
2

T
IL

T
 -

 1
4
.0

4
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

8
5
°

R
O

O
F

 #
3

T
IL

T
 -

 1
4
.0

4
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

8
5
°

R
O

O
F

 #
4

T
IL

T
 -

 4
.7

6
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

8
5
°

R
O

O
F

 #
5

T
IL

T
 -

 1
4
.0

4
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

2
6
6
°

(E) FRO
N
T O

F RES
ID

EN
C
E

LARC
H
LEA D

R.

(E) B
AC

K O
F RES

ID
EN

C
E

ROOF #2

(13) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

MODULES

ROOF #3

(8) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

MODULES

ROOF #4

(8) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

MODULES

ROOF #5

(6) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

MODULES

ROOF #7

(4) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

ROOF #6

(4) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

MODULES

R
O

O
F

 #
6

T
IL

T
 -

 4
.7

6
°

A
Z

IM
. 
- 

8
5
°

R
O

O
F

 #
7

T
IL

T
 -

 1
4
.0

4
°

A
Z

IM

. 
-
 2

6
6
°



S
D

M
S

P

U
M

B
L
P

A
C

D

C
B

B
A

T

IN
V

-1
IN

V
-2

S
D

O
P

O
P

O
P

S
D

O
P

S
D

O
P

O
P

S
D

O
P

O
P

S
D

O
P

S
D

O
P

S
D

S
D

REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-2A

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

1 ROOF PLAN WITH STRING LAYOUT

PV-2A SCALE:  3/32" = 1'-0"

STRING

LAYOUT

BILL OF MATERIALS

EQUIPMENT QTY DESCRIPTION

SOLAR PV MODULE 64 SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

OPTIMIZER 10 GENERAC PV LINK S2502 POWER OPTIMIZERS

GENERAC SNAP RS 64 GENERAC SNAPRS MODEL RS801

INVERTER 02 GENERAC PWRCELL X7602 INVERTERS

COMBINER BOX 1
100A COMBINER SUBPANEL, 240V

AC DISCONNECT 1

100A FUSED, (2) 80A FUSES, 240V, NEMA 3R, UL LISTED

SOLADECK 9
SOLADECKS 600 V, NEMA 3R, UL LISTED

BATTERY 1 GENERAC PWRCELL9 BATTERY

BACKUP PANEL 1
125A, BACKUP PANEL, 240V

RAILS 39 QRAIL LIGHT 14 FT. BLACK

SPLICE KIT 6 QSPLICE INTERNAL LIGHT

WEEB BMC 20 WEEB BMC MILL

MODULE CLAMPS 86 UNIVERSAL MID CLAMP

GROUNDING LUG 21 WEEB LUG W/ T-BOLT

END CLAMPS 84 UNIVERSAL END CLAMPS

ATTACHMENT

94

L-MOUNT ATTACHMENT (QUICKMOUNT)

74 E-MOUNT ATTACHMENT (QUICKMOUNT)

T-BOLT 168 T-BOLT W/ NUT M8 X 20MM

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 1

INVERTER 1

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 2

INVERTER 1

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 3

INVERTER 1

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 4

INVERTER 2

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 8

INVERTER 1

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 10

INVERTER 2

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER -5

INVERTER 2

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 6

INVERTER 1

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 7

INVERTER 2

(N) PV LINK OPTIMIZER - 9

INVERTER 2

LARC
H
LEA D

R.
(E) FRO

N
T O

F RES
ID

EN
C
E

(E) B
AC

K O
F RES

ID
EN

C
E



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-3

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

ATTACHMENT

DETAIL

2 ATTACHMENT DETAIL (enlarged view)

PV-3 SCALE: NTS

1 ATTACHMENT DETAIL

PV-3 SCALE: 1" = 1'-0"

PV MODULE

(E) COMPOSITE

SHINGLE ROOF

SEE (2/PV-3)

FOR ENLARGED

VIEW

HEX HEAD

5/16" X 4", 18-8 SS

LAG SCREW

9"X12" QUICK MOUNT

L-MOUNT FLASHING

QUICK-MOUNT Q-RAILS

QMR-RL14 (LIGHT)

PV MODULE

UNIVERSAL END/MID CLAMP

(E) COMPOSITE

SHINGLE ROOF

OFFSET L-FEET

SEE STRUCTURAL LETTER

S

E

E

 

S

T

R

U

C

T

U

R

A

L

 

L

E

T

T

E

R



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-3A

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

ATTACHMENT

DETAIL

2 ATTACHMENT DETAIL (enlarged view)

PV-3A SCALE: NTS

1 ATTACHMENT DETAIL

PV-3A SCALE: 1" = 1'-0"

PV MODULE

(E) COMPOSITE

SHINGLE ROOF

SEE (2/PV-3)

FOR ENLARGED

VIEW

HEX HEAD

5/16" X 4", 18-8 SS

LAG SCREW

9"X12" QUICK MOUNT

L-MOUNT FLASHING

QUICK-MOUNT Q-RAILS

QMR-RL14 (LIGHT)

PV MODULE

UNIVERSAL END/MID CLAMP

(E) COMPOSITE

SHINGLE ROOF

OFFSET L-FEET

SEE STRUCTURAL LETTER

S

E

E

 

S

T

R

U

C

T

U

R

A

L

 

L

E

T

T

E

R



GENERAC

POWER

CORE

50A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

(E) EXISTING

COMMUNICATION

ROUTER

GENERAC PWRCELL X7602 7600W

INVERTER (240V)

OUTPUT: 240V, 32A

96.5% CEC WEIGHTED EFFICIENCY

NEMA 3R RATED, UL 1741 LISTED,

INTERNAL GFDI WITH INTEGRATED DC

DISCONNECT

2a

JUNCTION BOX

600 V, NEMA 3

UL LISTED

G

N

GEC

100A COMBINER

SUBPANEL

1-PHASE, 3 WIRE

(N) 40A/ 2P

5a

5b

INVERTER 2

SNAP RS (RS801)

MAX INPUT CURRENT - 13 A

UL 1741 LISTED

MODULE LEVEL RAPID SHUTDOWN

(PVRSS) COMPLIANT

NEMA 6P RATED

6

PVLINK SUBSTRING OPTIMIZER (S2502)

RATED POWER : 2500W

MPPT VOLTAGE RANGE: 60 TO 360 V

MAX OUTPUT VOLTAGE: 420A

MAX OUTPUT CURRENT: 8A

RAPID SHUTDOWN COMPLIANT

GROUND-FAULT PROTECTION COMPLIANT

=

=

=

=

=

=

- +

+

2

- +

1

+- - +-+

4

3

=

=

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

PWRcell MODEL 9 BATTERY

8.6 kWh, 5.0 kW

=

=

=

=

50A/2-P

2b

3

4

GENERAC

POWER

CORE

50A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

30A/2-P

(E) EXISTING

COMMUNICATION

ROUTER

GENERAC PWRCELL X7602 7600W

INVERTER (240V)

OUTPUT: 240V, 32A

96.5% CEC WEIGHTED EFFICIENCY

NEMA 3R RATED, UL 1741 LISTED,

INTERNAL GFDI WITH INTEGRATED DC

DISCONNECT

G

N

AC LOAD CENTER,  125 A

RATED, 240/120, 1-PHASE

(25A/2-P MB)

BACK UP

LOADS UP TO

40A CIRCUIT

+- +- +-+- +-

+ -

+- +- +-+- +-

+

=

=

SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

=

=

INVERTER 1

JUNCTION BOX

600 V, NEMA 3

UL LISTED

7

6

7

6

=

=

1b

NL2L1

M

LOAD

LINE

G

G

N

SUPPLY SIDE TAP

REF NEC 230.82(6),

705.12(A) FOR

SUPPLY SIDE TAP

EXISTING GROUNDING

ELECTRODE SYSTEM

TO EARTH

REF. NEC 250.52,

250.53(A)

GEC

AC DISCONNECT:

100 A FUSED,

(2) 80A FUSES, 240V

NEMA 3R, UL LISTED

(E) MAIN SERVICE

PANEL,SIEMENS

200A RATED, 240V

7

(E) MAIN BREAKER TO

HOUSE 240 V, 200A/2P

(TOP FED)

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+- +-

+ -

8

7

=

=

1a

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+- +-

+

8

7

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+- +-

7

6

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+- +-

6

5

+ -

LABEL 2

AT INVERTER

LABEL 3

AT INVERTER

PHOTOVOLTAIC

DC DISCONNECT

! CAUTION !

SOLAR ELECTRIC

SYSTEM CONNECTED

AND ENERGIZED

SOLAR PV SYSTEM EQUIPPED

WITH RAPID SHUTDOWN

TURN RAPID SHUTDOWN

SWITCH TO THE

"OFF" POSITION TO

SHUT DOWN PV SYSTEM

AND REDUCE

SHOCK HAZARD

IN THE ARRAY

SOLAR ELECTRIC

PV PANELS

LABEL 4

AT DC DISCONNECT

WARNING:

PHOTOVOLTAIC

POWER SOURCE

LABEL 1

ON ALL CONDUITS SPACED AT MAX 10FT

ELECTRIC SHOCK HAZARD

DO NOT TOUCH TERMINALS.

DUAL POWER SOURCES

SECOND SOURCE IS PV SYSTEM

TERMINALS ON BOTH LINE AND LOAD SIDES

MAY BE ENERGIZED IN THE OPEN POSITION

LABEL 5

AT EACH AC DISCONNECT

LABEL 7

AT MEP

LABEL 9

AT UTILITY METER

LABEL 8

AT MEP

! WARNING !

! WARNING !

! CAUTION !

SOLAR POINT OF

INTERCONNECTION

PHOTOVOLTAIC

AC

DISCONNECT

! WARNING !

SOLAR SYSTEM

CONNECTED

AND ENERGIZED

LABEL 10

AT UTILITY METER

! WARNING !

THE SERVICE METER IS ALSO SERVED

BY A PHOTOVOLTAIC SYSTEM

LABEL 6

AT EACH AC DISCONNECT

- +

+

2

- +

1

+- - +-+

4

3

+ -

+ -

+ -

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+- +-

+

7

6

-

-

- + - +

+

2

- +

1 3

+- +- +-+-

6

5

- +

4

+

+ -

-

REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-4

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

ELECTRICAL LINE

DIAGRAM

1 ELECTRICAL LINE DIAGRAM

PV-4 SCALE: NTS

SERVICE INFO

UTILITY PROVIDER:

MAIN SERVICE VOLTAGE:

MAIN PANEL BRAND:

MAIN SERVICE PANEL:

MAIN CIRCUIT BREAKER RATING:

MAIN SERVICE LOCATION:

SERVICE FEED SOURCE:

240V

200A

200A

NORTH-WEST

UNDERGROUND

DTE ENERGY

SIEMENS

PV ARRAY +VE CONDUCTOR AND L1

PV ARRAY -VE CONDUCTOR AND L2

NEUTRAL CONDUCTOR

EGC AND GEC

SINGLE TWISTED PAIR, CAT 5 WIRE

WIRE LEGEND

(64) SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL MODULES

INVERTER 1- (1) PV LINK OF 8 MODULES &

                       (3) PV LINKS OF 7 MODULES &

                       (1) PV LINK OF 6 MODULES CONNECTED IN SERIES

INVERTER 2- (1) PV LINK OF 8 MODULES &

                       (1) PV LINK OF 7 MODULES &

                       (1) PV LINK OF 6 MODULES &

                       (2) PV LINKS OF 4 MODULES CONNECTED IN SERIES

QTY CONDUCTOR INFORMATION CONDUIT TYPE CONDUIT SIZE

(10)

#10AWG - PV WIRE/USE-2

N/A N/A

(1)

#6AWG - BARE COPPER IN FREE AIR

(10)

#10AWG - PV WIRE/USE-2

N/A N/A

(1)

#6AWG - BARE COPPER IN FREE AIR

(6)

#10AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX IN

ATTIC

3/4"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(6)

#10AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX IN

ATTIC

3/4"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(2)

#10AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 3/4"

(1)

#10AWG - THWN-2 GND

(3)

#6AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 3/4"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(3)

#6AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 3/4"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(3)

#6AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 3/4"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(2)

#4AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 1"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 NEUTRAL

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 GND

(2)

#4AWG - THWN-2

EMT OR FLEX 1"

(1)

#6AWG - THWN-2 NEUTRAL

1a

1b

2b

3

4

5a

5b

6

2a

7

AC DISCONNECT TO

BE PLACED WITHIN 5

FEET OF THE METER

AS PER DTE ENERGY

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
+



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-5

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

WIRING

CALCULATIONS

2

INVERTER SPECIFICATIONS

  MANUFACTURER / MODEL # GENERAC PWRCELL X7602

  AC POWER OUTPUT (LOADS/GRID)

7600VA

  AC POWER OUTPUT (BACKUP)

8000VA

  NOMINAL OUTPUT VOLTAGE 240 VAC

  MAX OUTPUT CURRENT @240V (LOADS/GRID)

32A

  MAX OUTPUT CURRENT @240V (BACKUP)

50A

  NOMINAL DC INPUT VOLTAGE 380Vdc

  MAX DC INPUT VOLTAGE 420Vdc

  CEC WEIGHTED EFFICIENCY 96.5%

  MAX DC POWER (PV)

10000W

  MAX INPUT CURRENT (PV)

20Adc

  CONT. PEAK POWER (BATTERY)

8000W

SERIES SUB STRING OPTIMIZER SPECIFICATIONS

  MANUFACTURER / MODEL # PV LINK S2502

  RATED POWER 2500W

  MPPT VOLTAGE RANGE

60-360 Vmp

  MAXIMUM INPUT VOLTAGE 420Voc

  MAXIMUM OUTPUT 420 Adc

  NOMINAL OUTPUT 380 Vdc

  MAXIMUM OUTPUT CURRENT 8 A

  MAXIMUM SHORT CIRCUIT CURRENT 18 A

AMBIENT TEMPERATURE SPECS

   RECORD LOW TEMP -12°

   AMBIENT TEMP (HIGH TEMP 2%)

34°

   CONDUIT HEIGHT 0.5"

   ROOF TOP TEMP 56°

DC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

ARRAY TO PV LINK OPTIMIZER:

FROM PV LINK OPTIMIZER TO INVERTER - 1:

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

0.5

10 AWG

10

56°

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a)

0.71

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

40A

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X Isc

10A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

14.2A

Result should be greater than (10A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

0.8

10 AWG

6

56

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a)

0.71

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

40A

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X Isc X # of PV LINKS

20A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

22.72A

Result should be greater than (20A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

No. OF INVERTER

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

1

6 AWG

3

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(2)(a)

0.96

75A

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

34

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X MAX INVERTER OUTPUT CURRENT (LOADS/ GRID)

40A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

72A

Result should be greater than (40A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

AC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

FROM INVERTER - 1 TO COMBINER PANEL:

1

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

 CALCULATIONS FOR INVERTER 1

DC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

ARRAY TO PV LINK OPTIMIZER:

FROM PV LINK OPTIMIZER TO INVERTER - 2:

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

0.5

10 AWG

10

56

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a)

0.71

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

40A

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X Isc

10A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

14.2A

Result should be greater than (10A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

0.8

10 AWG

6

56

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a)

0.71

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

40A

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X Isc X # of PV LINKS

20A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

22.72A

Result should be greater than (20A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

No. OF INVERTER

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

1

6 AWG

3

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(2)(a)

0.96

75A

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

34

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X MAX INVERTER OUTPUT CURRENT (LOADS/ GRID)

40A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

72A

Result should be greater than (40A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

AC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

FROM INVERTER - 2 TO COMBINER PANEL:

1

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

 CALCULATIONS FOR INVERTER 2

SOLAR MODULE SPECIFICATIONS

   MANUFACTURER / MODEL # SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

   VMP 33.70V

   IMP 9.80A

   VOC 40.10V

   ISC 10.40A

   TEMP. COEFF. VOC -0.28%/°C

   PTC RATING 307.56W

   MODULE DIMENSION

66.93"L x 39.37"W x 1.50"D (In Inch)

BATTERY SPECIFICATIONS

  MANUFACTURER / MODEL # GENERAC PWRCELL9 BATTERY

  USABLE ENERGY 8.6kWH

  RATED CONTINUOUS POWER 3.4kW

  POWER: 60 MINUTES 4.2kW

  POWER: 2 MINUTES 5.0kW

  REBUS VOLTAGE: INPUT/ OUTPUT 360-420Vdc

  MODULE VOLTAGE 46.8Vdc

  ROUND-TRIP EFFICIENCY 96.5%

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-5A

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

WIRING

CALCULATIONS

INVERTER SPECIFICATIONS

  MANUFACTURER / MODEL # GENERAC PWRCELL X7602

  AC POWER OUTPUT (LOADS/GRID)

7600VA

  AC POWER OUTPUT (BACKUP)

8000VA

  NOMINAL OUTPUT VOLTAGE 240 VAC

  MAX OUTPUT CURRENT @240V (LOADS/GRID)

32A

  MAX OUTPUT CURRENT @240V (BACKUP)

50A

  NOMINAL DC INPUT VOLTAGE 380Vdc

  MAX DC INPUT VOLTAGE 420Vdc

  CEC WEIGHTED EFFICIENCY 96.5%

  MAX DC POWER (PV)

10000W

  MAX INPUT CURRENT (PV)

20Adc

  CONT. PEAK POWER (BATTERY)

8000W

SERIES SUB STRING OPTIMIZER SPECIFICATIONS

  MANUFACTURER / MODEL # PV LINK S2502

  RATED POWER 2500W

  MPPT VOLTAGE RANGE

60-360 Vmp

  MAXIMUM INPUT VOLTAGE 420Voc

  MAXIMUM OUTPUT 420 Adc

  NOMINAL OUTPUT 380 Vdc

  MAXIMUM OUTPUT CURRENT 8 A

  MAXIMUM SHORT CIRCUIT CURRENT 18 A

ELECTRICAL NOTES

1.) ALL EQUIPMENT TO BE LISTED BY UL OR OTHER NRTL, AND LABELED FOR ITS APPLICATION.

2.) ALL CONDUCTORS SHALL BE COPPER, RATED FOR 600 V AND 90 DEGREE C WET ENVIRONMENT.

3.) WIRING, CONDUIT, AND RACEWAYS MOUNTED ON ROOFTOPS SHALL BE ROUTED DIRECTLY TO, AND LOCATED AS CLOSE AS

POSSIBLE TO THE NEAREST RIDGE, HIP, OR VALLEY.

4.) WORKING CLEARANCES AROUND ALL NEW AND EXISTING ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT SHALL COMPLY WITH NEC 110.26.

5.) DRAWINGS INDICATE THE GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OF SYSTEMS. CONTRACTOR SHALL FURNISH ALL NECESSARY OUTLETS,

SUPPORTS, FITTINGS AND ACESSORIES TO FULFILL APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS.

6.) WHERE SIZES OF JUNCTION BOXES, RACEWAYS, AND CONDUITS ARE NOT SPECIFIED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SIZE THEM

ACCORDINGLY.

7.) ALL WIRE TERMINATIONS SHALL BE APPROPRIATELY LABELED AND READILY VISIBLE.

8.) MODULE GROUNDING CLIPS TO BE INSTALLED BETWEEN MODULE FRAME AND MODULE SUPPORT RAIL, PER THE

GROUNDING CLIP MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTION.

9.) MODULE SUPPORT RAIL TO BE BONDED TO CONTINUOUS COPPER G.E.C. VIA WEEB LUG OR ILSCO GBL-4DBT LAY-IN LUG.

10.) THE POLARITY OF THE GROUNDED CONDUCTORS IS NEGATIVE

No. OF INVERTER

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

1

6 AWG

3

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(2)(a)

0.96

75 A

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

34

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X INVERTER OUTPUT CURRENT (BACKUP POWER)

40 A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

72A

Result should be greater than (40A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

AC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

FROM INVERTER - 1 TO BACK-UP PANEL:

FROM BATTERY TO INVERTER - 1:

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

1

10 AWG

2

34

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a)

0.96

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE310.15(B)(16)

40A

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X Imax

26.25A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

38.40A

Result should be greater than (26.25A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size

and ampacity

1

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

AMBIENT TEMPERATURE SPECS

   RECORD LOW TEMP -12°

   AMBIENT TEMP (HIGH TEMP 2%)

34°

   CONDUIT HEIGHT 0.5"

   ROOF TOP TEMP 56°

AC CONDUCTOR AMPACITY CALCULATIONS:

FROM COMBINER TO POI:

No. OF INVERTER

NO. OF CURRENT CARRYING CONDUCTORS

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(3)(a)

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR SIZE

1

4 AWG

3

TEMP. CORRECTION PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(2)(a)

0.96

95A

EXPECTED WIRE TEMP (In Celsius)

34

REQUIRED CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC 690.8(A&B)

1.25 X MAX INVERTER OUTPUT CURRENT (LOADS/GRID)

91.2A

DERATED AMPACITY OF CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR

80A

Result should be greater than (80A) otherwise less the entry for circuit conductor size and

ampacity

2

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY PER NEC TABLE 310.15(B)(16)

TEMP. CORRECTION PER TABLE 310.15 (B)(2)(a) X

CONDUIT FILL CORRECTION PER NEC 310.15(B)(3)(a) X

CIRCUIT CONDUCTOR AMPACITY 310.15 (B)(16)

SOLAR MODULE SPECIFICATIONS

   MANUFACTURER / MODEL # SILFAB SOLAR SIL-330 HL

   VMP 33.70V

   IMP 9.80A

   VOC 40.10V

   ISC 10.40A

   TEMP. COEFF. VOC -0.28%/°C

   PTC RATING 307.56W

   MODULE DIMENSION

66.93"L x 39.37"W x 1.50"D (In Inch)

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°

AutoCAD SHX Text
°



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-6

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-7

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-8

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-9

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-10

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-11

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-11A

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-11B

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-11C

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-12

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION



REV

SHEET NAME

SHEET SIZE

SHEET NUMBER

L
A

U
R

I
E

 
M

 
V

A
N

C
E

R
E

S
I
D

E
N

C
E

9
3
9

 
L
A

R
C

H
L
E

A
 
D

R
.
,

 
B

I
R

M
I
N

G
H

A
M

,
 
M

I
 
4
8
0
0
9

ANSI B

11" X 17"

DATEDESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

Signature with Seal

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS

PV-12A

P
O

W
E

R
 
H

O
M

E
 
S

O
L
A

R
,
 
L
L
C

"
P

O
W

E
R

 
Y

O
U

R
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
"

9
1
9
 
N

.
 
M

A
I
N

 
S

T
.

M
O

O
R

E
S

V
I
L
L
E

,
 
N

C
 
2
8
1
1
5

P
h
o
n
e
:
 
7
0
4
-
8
0
0
-
6
5
9
1
 
(
O

F
F

I
C

E
)

E
m

a
i
l
:
 
i
n
f
o
@

p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

W
e
b
:
 
w

w
w

.
p
o
w

e
r
h
o
m

e
.
c
o
m

DATE: 1/25/2021

EQUIPMENT

SPECIFICATION































Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
June 9, 2021 

4 

Public Comment 

Mr. Schmier asked that the public comments provided during the item’s discussion be included in 
the documentation sent to the Commission to demonstrate the shared concerns of both Eton One 
and Eton Two. 

Chair Clein confirmed that would occur. 

Motion carried, 6-1. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares  

Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Mr. Emerine to recommend approval to the City Commission of the 
Special Land Use Permit for 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – subject to the conditions of 
Final Site Plan & Design Review approval. 

Motion carried, 6-1. 

ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Clein, Share, Koseck 
Nays: Jeffares 

06-078-21

F. Study Session Items
1. Public Hearing – Solar Panel Regulations

PD Ecker reviewed the item. 

Mr. Koseck said he was uncomfortable moving the ordinance language forward given that they 
had not spoken with a third-party expert like they had done for glazing.  

Chair Clein noted that in formulating the recommended changes staff had reviewed solar panel 
ordinances from municipalities across the country. He expressed support for the recommended 
changes. 

Motion by Mr. Williams  
Seconded by Mr. Share to recommend to the City Commission amendments to Section 
4.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to remove roof-mounted solar electric systems from 
that section and to also amend Section 4.88, regarding alternative energy, to add 
amended solar energy system requirements and to reorganize the wind energy 
requirements without changing them. 

Motion carried, 7-0. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

3 
 

Seconded by Mr. Koseck to recommend denial to the City Commission the Special 
Land Use Permit for 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Bistro – because the proposal 
fails to satisfy the spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance as required in Section 
7.26 and 7.27, specifically the outdoor enclosure issue of 3.04(c)(10)(h), and the ‘no 
permanent structure requirement’ of Section 3.04(c)(10)(i), as well as floodplain, 
dumpster, pedestrian interaction and storefront issues.  
 
Mr. Koseck said the seating limits in the bistro ordinance were a key part of its appeal 
and efficacy. He noted that the area in the rear of 720 N. Old Woodward would be 
difficult to police. He also noted that even if the Planning Board did endorse the 
proposed plans the applicant would still have to appear before the Board of Zoning 
Appeals for a number of variance requests. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Koseck, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Boyle  
Nays: None  
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Koseck to recommend denial to the City Commission the final site 
plan and design review for 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Bistro – because the 
proposal fails to satisfy the spirit and intent of the Zoning Ordinance as required in 
Section 7.26 and 7.27, specifically the outdoor enclosure issue of 3.04(c)(10)(h), and 
the ‘no permanent structure requirement’ of Section 3.04(c)(10)(i), as well as 
floodplain, dumpster, pedestrian interaction and storefront issues.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Koseck, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Boyle  
Nays: None  
 

04-052-21 
 
 
F. Study Session Items 
 

1. Solar Panel Regulations  
 

CP Dupuis summarized the item. 
 
Mr. Jeffares recommended the City enlist an expert in solar panels to review the ordinance 
proposal in order to avoid potentially having to re-do or update the ordinance earlier than 
necessary. Mr. Jeffares also recommended that the ordinance language specifically preclude 
wall- or facade-mounted solar panels, stating that it is aesthetically unpleasing and could cause 
issues with neighboring properties.  

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 14, 2021 

 

4 
 

 
Chair Clein concurred with Mr. Jeffares’ recommendation regarding wall- or facade-mounted 
solar panels. 
 
Mr. Boyle asked if there was any near-future technology the ordinance should address. 
 
Chair Clein said that strips of solar panels being used to line bicycle paths was being tried in 
Europe, but that wide-spread implementation would not be in the near future. 
 
In reply to Mr. Share, CP Dupuis said he did not recommend screening for ancillary equipment 
because it would increase the difficulty of installation and maintenance. CP Dupuis noted this 
ordinance review was being conducted with an aim towards reducing the impediments to using 
solar panels in the City. He added that users of solar panels also needed quick access to 
disconnect features.  
 
Mr. Share recommended that the ordinance states that users of solar panels are not exempt 
from screening otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
CP Dupuis said he could update the recommended ordinance language with the Board’s 
comments and have it ready for a public hearing on May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion by Mr. Boyle 
Seconded by Mr. Jeffares to set a public hearing on solar panel regulations ordinance 
language for the regular Planning Board meeting of May 12, 2021. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein, Ramin, Share, Koseck 
Nays: None  
 

2. Glazing Standards 
 
CP Dupuis summarized the item. 
 
Mr. Share said he had recent occasion to purchase some low-iron glass, and that it added about 
15% to the cost. He stated that he found the difference between low-iron and regular glass to 
be visually immaterial. He suggested that the low-iron requirement be removed from the 
recommended language, saying he thought it inappropriate to burden owners and developers 
with the extra cost.  
 
Mr. Koseck and Ms. Whipple-Boyce, two other members of the Board familiar with glazing 
standards from their professions, did not dispute Mr. Share’s recommendation when asked. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

3 
 

 
Mr. Share said he was in favor of moving the topic to a public hearing and not in favor 
of mandating low iron glass. 
 
Motion carried, 6-1. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Koseck, Williams, Boyle, Clein, Jeffares  
Nays: Share 
 
Mr. Boyle echoed Ms. Whipple-Boyce’s previous statement that the Board should have 
comparative costs for low iron and clear glass to review. He said the Board should be aware how 
a low iron requirement might be layering on costs to development in the City. 
 
Chairman Clein thanked Mr. Hatfield for sharing his expertise with the Board. 
 

2. Solar Panel Review Process 
 

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item.  
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she recently encountered a large solar battery in some work she was 
doing in another community, and cautioned that the Board might not want to allow any and all 
ancillary equipment for solar panels to be outside the home given the potential range of sizes.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was fine with solar panels but might be less fine with ancillary equipment on 
the side of a home given that it might be more prominent in a neighbor’s view. 
 
City Planner Dupuis asked if Mr. Williams would prefer the ancillary equipment to be mounted 
only to the rear of the home, or to possibly be screened in some way.  
 
Mr. Williams said he was not sure what the best approach would be. He said he thought it would 
depend on the house, the location of the neighboring properties, and the type of equipment. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said that moving the equipment to the rear of a home would have the 
benefit of being further from a neighbor’s yard because of the greater required setback. She 
noted that, in contrast, equipment on the side of a home might be only five feet from the property 
line. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce agreed that placement would depend on the size of the equipment. She said 
that a small electric meter or connection into the house to the battery need not be limited to the 
rear or interior of a home, whereas larger equipment should be. She said that the Board could 
likely specify appropriate locations with more information on the most commonly used kinds of 
equipment. 
 
City Planner Dupuis said he could find pictures of the City’s most recent solar panel approvals to 
provide the Board with a better sense of the size of the ancillary equipment. 
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
July 22, 2020 

 

4 
 

Mr. Jeffares noted how helpful it was to have Mr. Hatfield consulting the Board during their glazing 
discussion, and said it would be equally helpful to find someone as well-versed in solar power 
technologies. He observed that the Board was doing some guesswork in the current discussion 
and thought it would be better to get more specific answers. He said that consulting with someone 
knowledgeable in the field would have the additional benefit of informing the Board on how the 
technology is trending, so they could factor those considerations into the ordinance language as 
well. 
 
Mr. Williams agreed with Mr. Jeffares. He said that the proposed language regarding ancillary 
equipment was likely too vague and should be clarified before being advanced to a public hearing. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said she could email City Planner Dupuis some contact information for 
someone who might know more about solar power technology.  
 

07-90-20 
 

F. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  
 
a. Communications  
 
b. Administrative Approval Correspondence  
 

City Planner Dupuis explained that the owners of 266 Elm Street wanted to remove the patio in 
the rear of their building, to replace it with exposed aggregate, to add eight planters, and to 
replace the rear fence. He noted that the exposed aggregate would go all the way to the rear 
fence which would result in the removal of some amount of landscaped area.  
 
Consensus of the Board was to grant administrative approval for the plans. 
 

c. Draft Agenda for the next Regular Planning Board Meeting (August 12,  
2020)  

● Master Plan Draft Review 
 
d. Other Business  

 
07-91-20 

 
H. Planning Division Action Items  

 
a. Staff Report on Previous Requests 
 
b. Additional Items from tonight's meeting 

 
07-92-20 

 
I. Adjournment 
 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

4 
 

2. Master Plan Review Process Update 
 

Planning Director Ecker presented the item. She explained that the City Commission approved 
the proposal as submitted with the exception that the schedule would start in February 2020, and 
not January 2020. She stated that in December 2019 the City Commission approved the 
expenditure of up to $28,600 for additional public engagement activities. That figure included the 
potential for two different round-table discussions, a drop-in clinic, and two additional short 
surveys. Should the Board want to pursue any of those options, they would make a 
recommendation to the City Manager who would disburse the requisite funds should he approve 
of the recommendation. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said the scheduled Planning Board master plan discussions would be 
publicized on the City’s website, the Master Plan website, and all City social media channels. Sarah 
Traxler, one of the local members of the Master Plan team, would likely be attending each meeting 
and giving a presentation of the evening’s master planning topic. Those presentations would also 
be included in the Planning Board’s agenda packets the Friday before their Wednesday meetings 
in order to afford both the public and the Board members time to review the topic. Robert Gibbs, 
another local member of the Master Plan team, would likely also be present at the meetings. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said that between sessions she would collect any master plan comments 
submitted to the Planning Department and include them in the agenda packet for the next 
scheduled master plan meeting so that the Board would have an opportunity to review those as 
well.  
 

3. Solar Panel Review Process 
 

City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Mr. Emerine noted that on page 620 of the Planning Board’s agenda packet, 4.88 B said ‘wind’ 
when it should read ‘solar’. 
 
City Planner Dupuis agreed and said he would make the change. He further explained: 

● Ancillary solar panel equipment is very small and would be mounted to the wall of 
whatever building is using it. He said it would be visually unobtrusive and that he had not 
come across any information on undue noise production by the equipment. He said he 
would bring the spec sheets for the ancillary equipment to a public hearing once scheduled 
which would provide both the Board and the public with more information on the items. 

● He would clarify the suggested language to explain that the 40 square foot limit on a solar 
panel system counts all connected panels as part of one system. Since the average solar 
panel is three-and-a-half feet by five feet, he recommended the 40 square foot limit in 
order to allow two average-sized solar panels. City Planner Dupuis said he provided the 
40 square feet to begin the conversation, and also proposed the number because he was 
unsure whether it would be appropriate in a residential setting to have more than 40 
square feet of solar panels. He noted that some other cities restrict solar panels to 
occupying no more than a certain percentage of a given lot. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
January 8, 2020 

 

5 
 

● Ground mounted solar panels could enable residents who do not want to mount panels 
on their roof to still have access to some solar power. Ground mounted solar panels would 
also allow businesses to use solar-powered trash compactors.  

 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce said that she did not yet know enough about ground-mounted solar panels, 
but that if the City proceeded toward allowing them she would prefer that their allowable yard 
coverage be calculated by percentage and not by a set amount. She also told City Planner Dupuis 
that there had been a conversation regarding wind energy facilities about ten years hence, and 
that if he could find the minutes from that conversation it might help provide some useful 
information on the topic.  
 
Mr. Koseck said the Board might want to consider not allowing solar panels at grade because it 
could encourage residents to do away with any greenery that could get in the way of the panels. 
He also said that 40 square feet of solar panels on the ground might not be enough to generate 
a worthwhile amount of energy. Mr. Koseck added that solar panels are impervious which would 
also raise ordinance issues in terms of ground cover. Since most people would likely rather not 
install solar panels at grade anyways, Mr. Koseck said he would just as soon prohibit it to avoid 
these issues since the potential environmental gain would likely not be significant in those cases. 
 
Mr. Jeffares echoed Mr. Koseck’s concerns about ground mounted solar panels and said he would 
prefer to continue studying that possibility and whether it would be worthwhile. 
 
Ms. Ramin noted that on page 625, in section G, the phrase “If a wind energy facility has not 
been removed within 30 days a deadline specified by the City” would need to be clarified. 
 
Mr. Share noted that on page 621, Item F, the word should be ‘complemented’, not 
‘complimented’. He agreed with Mr. Koseck and Mr. Jeffares that ground mounted solar panels 
were likely not necessary to pursue at this time.  
 
Chairman Clein expressed agreement with Mr. Koseck, Mr. Jeffares, and Mr. Share regarding 
ground mounted solar panels.  
 
In reply to Chairman Clein, City Planner Dupuis said he would do more research on the benefits 
and drawbacks of the anti-reflective coating some other cities’ ordinances require for solar panels.  
 

4. Glazing Standards  
 

City Planner Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Mr. Koseck said he had a list of two or three people he would be reaching out to soon who might 
be able to contribute meaningfully to the glazing standards conversation. He said that once he 
had done that he would loop City Planner Dupuis in as appropriate. 
 
Chairman Clein explained that in February 2020 and April 2020 there will only be one Planning 
Board meeting per each month and that both of those meetings are dedicated to master plan 
discussion. He suggested that Board members look at their calendars to see if a special meeting 
could be scheduled to wrap up some of these other study session topics. He added that even if 



1 June 17, 2019 Joint City Commission/ Planning Board 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION / 
PLANNING BOARD JOINT WORKSHOP SESSION 

JUNE 17, 2019 
DPS FACILITY, 851 SOUTH ETON 

7:30 P.M. 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Mayor Patty Bordman called the meeting to order at 7:30 PM. 

II. ROLL CALL
Commission 
ROLL CALL: Present: Mayor Bordman  

Commissioner DeWeese 
Commissioner Harris 
Commissioner Hoff 
Commissioner Nickita  
Commissioner Sherman  

Absent: Mayor Pro Tem Boutros 

Planning Board 
ROLL CALL:  Present: Chairman Scott Clein  

Robin Boyle 
Stuart Jeffares 
Nasseem Ramin, alternate 
Daniel Share 
Janelle Whipple-Boyce 
J. Bryan Williams 

Absent: Jason Emerine, alternate 
Bert Koseck 
Sophia Trimble, student representative 
John Utley, student representative 

Administration: City Manager Valentine, Deputy City Clerk Arft, Planning Director Ecker, Building 
Official Johnson, City Planner Cowan 

III. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION
City Manager Valentine said the objective tonight was to provide discussion items in order to 
clarify how the City should move forward on the following issues.   

A. Current Issues: 
1. Discussion on solar panel regulations
Planning Director Ecker reviewed the item. She emphasized that solar panel can now be 
integrated, so that aesthetics are not as big an issue. In reply to Commissioner Hoff, Planning 
Director Ecker stated that in the past six months there have been eight requests for solar panels. 
Residents have been paying a fee of $400 for design review plus a sign bond of $100 if the solar 

4A

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



2 June 17, 2019 Joint City Commission/ Planning Board 

panels are going to be installed on the front of their homes, and have been paying $100 for an 
administrative review if the solar panels are to be installed on the back of their homes. 

Planning Director Ecker confirmed for Commissioner DeWeese that comments from the public 
have been positive. 

Commissioner Nickita stated his only concern would be obtrusive-looking solar panels, which he 
said would be caught by staff during administrative review. He suggested that those examples 
could be brought to the Planning Board for review, while the more subtle installations could be 
administratively approved.  

Mr. Jeffares said solar panels are part of the future of ecologically-sustainable building, and that 
Birmingham should be doing whatever it can within reason to encourage their use. He also 
mentioned that currently the shingle model of solar panels are twice as expensive as the panel 
models and are one-third less effective. He said he anticipates the shingle model of solar panels 
will become more efficient over time.  

Seeing no public comment, Mayor Bordman acknowledged consensus that the Planning Board 
should re-study the issue.  

Chairman Clein asked whether the Planning Board should be studying the application process for 
solar panels or the design standards. 

City Manager Valentine said the Commission would be formally amending the Planning Board 
action list in the near future to provide specific direction on any recommended study items from 
this meeting. 

Mayor Bordman expressed appreciation for Chairman Clein’s clarifying question, and said she 
would personally like to see both topics studied though the final study direction would come from 
the Commission as a whole. 

2. Discussion on enclosing balconies, patios and terraces
Planning Director Ecker presented the item. She clarified for Commissioner Hoff that some of 
these situations are being enclosed as three-season rooms and some are not. 

Commissioner Hoff observed that the changes being made to these buildings were reasonably 
significant as they resulted in a change of the building footprint.  

In reply to Commissioner Harris, Planning Director Ecker stated the President of the Crosswinds 
association has called the Planning Department multiple times to express his displeasure with 
these enclosures. She noted that despite the President’s displeasure the same association did 
vote to allow these enclosures on their building. She stated this has been the only contact the 
City has received from the public on the matter. 

Commissioner Nickita said while these examples happen to be high-quality, if the City allows 
enclosures in general the results could also be of lower quality. He said the City must create 
appropriate design standards for these enclosures, must consider the footprint expansion these 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
May 22, 2019 

 

8 
 

any proposed signage; 7) Applicant comply with the requests of all City Departments; 
8) Applicant obtain approval of a lease agreement by the City Commission for all 
projections and /or encroachments on City property; 9) Applicant revise plan sheets 
as necessary to ensure all sheets are consistent and show the required property lines 
and clearly note all projections / encroachments across property lines; and 10) At 
Final Site Plan Review, the applicant must provide the Special Event Operations Plan 
for the said hotel. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Boyle, Koseck, Williams, Share, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Clein 
Nays: None  
 

05-077-19 
 

F.  Request for Design Review  
 

1. 1986 Northlawn – Private Residence – Request for design review and  
approval of the installation of eight solar panels on the front (street) facing  
portion of the roof of a private single family residence.  

 
City Planner Dupuis presented the item. 
 
Mr. Williams asked why the ordinance did not allow solar panels on the front of homes without 
Planning Board approval. 
 
Planning Director Ecker said she was unsure as to the exact reason, but it is likely aesthetics. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said that traditional solar panels can be aesthetically obtrusive, and noted that several 
manufacturers have recently started producing solar panels which resemble roofing shingles. 
While he stated that he was unsure if there were other reasons that the smaller solar panels could 
not be used, for instance cost or output, he said they are generally nicer to look at than traditional 
solar panels. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce reminded the PB that they granted a similar front-of-roof solar panel 
installation for a home on Lincoln a few years prior, and that it yielded a fine result. 
 
Mr. Boyle asked how much the City charged for this review. 
 
City Planner Dupuis said it was $500 total. 
 
Mr. Boyle said granting this resident request would be the easiest thing in the world to do to 
encourage ecological sustainability. He suggested that residents adding solar panels to their 
houses should incur no design review fee and a simple approval process.  
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
May 22, 2019 

 

9 
 

Planning Director Ecker stated that the Planning Department could allow solar panel installations 
through administrative approval for $100 if the Planning Board no longer wants to review the 
majority of such requests.  
 
Chairman Clein said the Planning Board could ask the City Manager for permission to further 
consider the benefits of Mr. Boyle’s proposal. 
 
Ms. Whipple-Boyce assented to that idea. 
 
Motion by Mr. Williams 
Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to move to approve the design plan for 1986 
Northlawn.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Williams, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Koseck, Share, Jeffares, Clein 
Nays: None  
 

05-078-19 
 
G. Miscellaneous Business and Communications:  

a. Communications  
 
Planning Director Ecker stated that the City Commission stated a public hearing date in June 2019 
for Rojo/Sidecar, trash enclosures, screening, and railings. 
 
The Bates Street development is on the meeting agenda for the second meeting in June 2019. 
City Manager Valentine will provide the Board with more specific direction on its obligations.  
 
Mr. Williams reiterated his request for an opinion from City Attorney Currier on the Board’s 
obligations vis-a-vis the Bates Street development as well. 
 
Pernoi will be back to the PB on June 12, 2019 for bistro consideration. Brooklyn Pizza has not 
yet submitted. 
 
The Board decided to continue discussion of aging in place, with staff providing information on 
what other urban communities have done in order to inform the conversation. 
 

b. Administrative Approval Correspondence  
 
City Planner Dupuis explained that the Old Woodward reconstruction removed the outdoor dining 
space for Mad Hatter Bistro, which is required by ordinance to retain its bistro license. Randy 
Dickow of Mad Hatter Bistro has negotiated with the next door property owner to use 50% of his 
frontage, which is permitted by ordinance as long as the next door property is vacant. The 
remaining issue is that the proposed location of the outdoor dining would cause it to abut a City-



1 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: July 20, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Designation of Voting Delegate(s) for the Michigan Municipal 
League Annual Meeting 

The City of Birmingham is a member of the Michigan Municipal League (MML). The MML 
is holding its annual meeting in Grand Rapids, MI on from September 22, 2021. On the 
agenda for the meeting is the election of six members to the MML Board of Trustees 
and a vote on the Core Legislative Principles document. 

A resolution by the City Commission is required to designate a voting delegate and 
alternate voting delegate to vote on behalf of the City. The deadline to submit delegate 
information to the MML is August 20, 2021. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 Letter from MML dated July 2, 2021

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 

To appoint ______ as the Birmingham City Commission’s official voting delegate, and 
______ as the alternate voting delegate, at the Michigan Municipal League Annual 
Meeting to be held in Grand Rapids, Michigan on September 22, 2021. 

7E









10E1





CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

July 2021 

Baldwin Public Library 

The Library is open for visits of any length, seven days a week and the Library has a variety of 

lounge and study seating available throughout the building. Curbside pickup is also available. 

Room rentals have now resumed and you can find out more information and make reservations 

at www.baldwinlib.org/rent. Baldwin's annual summer reading program is running now through 

August 8. At the Library Board meeting on August 16, the Library Board will vote to select the 

architectural firm to design Phase 3 of the Library's Building project. Three firms attended the 

pre-bid meeting on June 30 and bids were due on July 20. The family and friends of Miranda S. 

Burnett have donated money to the Library in her memory and purchased naming rights for the 

Miranda S. Burnett Youth Reference Desk.   

The Birmingham Museum 

The Birmingham Museum recently earned recognition from Twitter by becoming “verified.” The 

checkmark symbol next to our account main page tells visitors and followers that we have met 

Twitter’s standards for authenticity. This designation is rare for small museums, since it is 

largely dependent on a high degree of public interest and activity, which is usually only the case 

in much larger institutions. Like all of the museum’s social media platforms, its Twitter account 

has grown steadily, currently with 1035 followers.  

Birmingham Shopping District 

Attracting New Businesses 
A vibrant, prosperous, and walkable downtown strengthens neighborhoods, serves as 
the heart of the community, and drives the local economy. To that end, the BSD 
recognizes the importance of continually working to attract new businesses. The BSD 
looks forward to making some exciting announcements in the near future regarding 
business attraction.   

South Old Woodward Reconstruction 
The BSD stands ready with plans to communicate with and help support businesses that 
may be affected by the upcoming road construction on S. Old Woodward next year. The 
BSD held a Merchant Meeting on Tuesday, July 13th where the city’s engineering 
consultant, MKSK, presented information about the upcoming project to business and 

10E2

http://www.baldwinlib.org/rent


property owners. The meeting was held at Phoenicia, where owner and BSD board 
member Samy Eid generously let the BSD use the space. Business owners voiced the 
importance of ongoing communication with the city about the project, prompting the 
BSD to look into innovative tools like text updates and regular door-to-door check-ins 
with those who may be affected by the construction. Additional programs are being 
developed to help with access and promotions for these businesses. 

Community Events 
The BSD recognizes that community events strengthen the bonds between residents 
and their downtown. Movie Night took place on Saturday, July 17th after unfortunate 
weather caused the event to move to its rain date. The event theme was Christmas in 
July, featuring the movie Elf. 

Day on the Town is scheduled for July 31st. More than 71 retailers have registered, 
approaching record-setting participation. BSD staff has been working to ensure the 
success of the event. For many, this event is a significant revenue generator and serves 
to strengthen our downtown retail businesses.   

Preparation for the Birmingham Cruise event is proceeding. Due to the reduced footprint 
of the event, BSD staff conducted a lottery to fairly select the cars that will be able to 
participate in the car show. 

 

Building Department 

 

Monthly Report 

The Building Department’s monthly report provides an update on the following 

construction activity: building permits issued, building inspections conducted, trades 

permits issued and trades inspections conducted. 

Short-Term Rentals 

The Building Department is working on developing a procedure for identifying short-

term rentals, such as Air BNBs, and contacting the property owners to inform them of 

the City’s rental licensing policy.  We have identified almost 30 short-term rentals so far 

and have started the registration process on several properties. 

 

Sidewalks and Walkways 

We are also developing a procedure to proactively enforce the maintenance and 

violation abatement of trees and shrubs that encroach on sidewalks and walkways to 

maintain and uphold the beautification and walkability of the City. 

 

Online Permit Applications 

In May we processed 363 online permit applications, bringing our total to 2,156 online 

permits for 2021. 

 

 

 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/CONSTRUCTION%20ACTIVITY.pdf


City Clerk’s Office 

Elections 
The Clerk's office has begun preparing for the general election on November 2, 2021. 
The Clerk’s office will send confirmation letters to past election inspectors in August, 
recruit additional workers in September, and train all election inspectors in October in 
preparation for the election.  
 
Now is a great time to confirm your voter registration at mi.gov/vote. Voters wishing to 
vote absentee should make sure they are on the permanent absentee voter list and that 
your correct mailing address is on file. When returning applications be sure to include 
phone and email contact information so that if any issue pops up we can reach you 
quickly to resolve it. The initial mailing of absentee ballot applications for the November 
election is planned to go out late August.  
 
For more updates and information on the November 2, 2021 election visit 
bhamgov.org/voting.  
 

Greenwood Cemetery  
Future Agenda Topics for Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
August 6 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 

 Selection of chair and co-chair 
 Draft annual report for Greenwood Cemetery 
 Continued discussion on updating the rules and regulations for Greenwood 

Cemetery 
 Continued discussion on planning to conduct a grave stone inventory 

September 3 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 
 Continued discussion on updating the rules and regulations for Greenwood 

Cemetery 
 Continued discussion on planning to conduct a grave stone inventory 

 
Upcoming Board Appointments  
As terms expire notice will be given for existing members to reapply or for new 
applicants to apply to the following boards in August and September: 
-Advisory Parking Committee 
-Design Review Board 
-Historic District Commission 
 
Board Vacancies 
The following boards have open positions that were noticed and have not yet been 
filled: 
-Advisory Parking Committee 
-Martha Baldwin Park Board 
-Multi Modal Transportation Board 
-Storm Water Utility Appeals Board 
-Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority 
 

For more information visit bhamgov.org/boardopportunities.   

https://mvic.sos.state.mi.us/Voter/Index
https://www.bhamgov.org/government/departments/clerk/voting_information/index.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/government/boards/board_opportunities.php


City Manager’s Office 

Communications 

Engage Birmingham 
The Engage Birmingham site recently saw a flurry of activity due to the Year-Round 
Enclosed Outdoor Dining project. Within six days of launching the project, 240 people 
completed the survey and more than 500 people visited the site. Several new projects 
will launch soon, such as the Food Truck project and a Public Notice Redesign project. 
 
Ordinance Reminders 
The communications team continues to publish reminders regarding the city’s 
ordinances pertaining to pet etiquette and safety, long grass and weeds, and other 
poisonous growths. Information about the ordinance pertaining to trees and shrubs that 
encroach on sidewalks was posted via social media this month, and an article will be 
included in the August Around Town e-Newsletter. 

 
Miscellaneous 

 
Request for Qualifications for Strategic Planning 
A Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for the development of a Strategic Plan will be issued 
in September. Strategic planning determines where an organization is going and how it 
is going to get there. The Strategic Plan is intended to help the City direct its efforts and 
resources toward a clearly defined vision for its future. Commissioners are encouraged 
to download a draft of the RFQ here and provide feedback to the City Manager by 
August 15, 2021. 
 

Melissa Fairbairn Accepted into Municipal Leadership Program 
Melissa Fairbairn was recently accepted into the 16/50 Project’s Women’s Municipal 
Leadership Program (WMLP). As a participant in this program, she will join a dynamic 
community of women all on the path to becoming strong local government managers. 
The WMLP offers an exclusive setting to dive in on key topics instructed by municipal 
experts, build executive leadership expertise, and gain insight on the application of new 
skills from current municipal managers. Congratulations, Melissa! 
 
Shared Parking Spaces 
An article by the Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC) titled “Parking Spaces 
Serving Multiple Masters” delves into the benefits of facilities with shared parking spaces 
serving multiple destinations. Follow this link to read the article. 
 
Potential Changes to the Open Meetings Act 
Earlier this month, Tom Markus sent a letter to Representative Manoogian and Senator 
McMorrow in support of allowing officials to continue participating remotely in public 
meetings. Follow this link to read the response letter from Senator McMorrow.  
 
 
Relationship between Commercial and Residential Property 
Earlier this year, Tom Markus sent an email to City Commissioners regarding the 
relationship between commercial and residential properties. The information provided 

https://engage.bhamgov.org/year-round-enclosed-outdoor-dining
https://engage.bhamgov.org/year-round-enclosed-outdoor-dining
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/RFQ%20Strategic%20plan.pdf
https://www.mapc.org/resource-library/shared-parking/
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/Rep.%20Manoogian%20OMA%20Changes.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/Rep.%20Manoogian%20OMA%20Changes.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/OMA%20Letter%20of%20Support.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/Letter%20to%20Commissioners%20re%20relationship%20bet%20commercial%20and%20residential%20property.pdf


demonstrates the mutually beneficial relationship between the two, and suggests that in 
Birmingham (and in most communities) it is likely that commercial properties financially 
support services in the residential community more than residential properties support 
the commercial properties in the City. Our focus should be on the services we should 
expect from our county, state and federal governments to ensure we are getting the 
service and support we need from those entities. Learn more about this topic in a report 
by Public Sector Consultants titled ”Creating 21st Century Communities - Making the 
Economic Case for Place”. We have and continue to develop our sense of place, which 
our residential and commercial uses continue to contribute to.  
 

Department of Public Services 

 

Wedding Ceremony Agreement 

The Administration (DPS) advanced the update to the Wedding Park Rental Agreement 

(Ceremony Only) to the Parks and Recreation Board on July 13, 2021 to eliminate the use 

of Shain Park for wedding ceremonies.  The Parks and Recreation Board endorses this 

change.  In addition, we updated the facility use fees (for use of a city park) as part of 

the revised Agreement.  The City Commission adopted the original Wedding Agreement 

on June 27, 2011. 

 

We are no longer accepting wedding ceremony applications for Shain Park during 2021.  

September is the last month for this year for which a wedding ceremony is scheduled. 

The effective date for this revised Wedding Rental Agreement will be January 1, 2022.  At 

such time this goes before the City Commission for approval, the City of Birmingham Fee 

Schedule will need to be updated to reflect the price increase.  The coordination for this 

report with the fee update will be addressed prior to returning to the City Commission. 

 

Adams Park Concept Plan Update 

Since engaging Michael J. Dul & Associates earlier this year, we continue to meet with the 

relevant neighborhood groups to tweak the Adams Park concept plan created and 

accepted during 2015-2016.  As part of the work schedule, July and August includes 

developing the updated plan, sharing the minor revisions of creating more park and play 

area with the stakeholders (Community members and Roeper School), preparing 

preliminary cost estimates, and holding meetings to update the Parks and Recreation 

Board and City Commission. 

 

We expect a proposal from Michael J. Dul & Associates to prepare construction drawings 

and bid specifications along with the revised concept plan to present to the City 

Commission in either September or October. 

 

Ice Arena Project Schedule Status for July and August 
July  
• Electrical primary installation • Combo sewer installation • Dehumidification unit concrete 
pad installation • Cold slab tubing installation • Cold slab concrete pour • Addition 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/Creating%2021st%20Century%20Communities%20-%20Making%20the%20Case%20for%20Place.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/Creating%2021st%20Century%20Communities%20-%20Making%20the%20Case%20for%20Place.pdf


foundation pour, block walls, roof framing • Infrared heating system installation • Interior 
wall painting • Start bleacher installation • Start main rink HVAC system installation 
 
August 
• Install addition roofing • Install underground plumbing • Install addition brick veneer • 
Finish interior painting • Elect./Plumbing/HVAC/Fire Suppression installations • Ceramic 
tile showers • Acoustical tile ceiling grid and pads • Refrigeration equipment installations 
 
Visit Engage Birmingham for additional updates and progress photos.  
 
Pickleball Court Update 
City administration is working with a consultant on feasibility design for each of the five 
potential locations:  NE Corner of S. Eton and Lincoln (Kenning Park), St. James, 
Crestview, W. Lincoln Well, and Poppleton.  This includes site evaluations and complete 
review of proposed sites.  This information, when available, will be shared with the Parks 
and Recreation Board and on Engage Birmingham - as Pickleball 2.0! 

 
Engineering Department 

S. Old Woodward Reconstruction Phase 3 Update 
Phase 3 of the Downtown infrastructure improvements includes S. Old Woodward, between E. 
Brown and Landon, and is a continuation of the work completed in 2018 on S. Old 
Woodward and in 2020 on Maple.  City Staff and consultants are working on the conceptual 
plans, considering the same project goals and employing the "template" used in Phase 1 and 2 
within the Phase 3 project limits.  Even though the basic design elements are planned to be the 
same, the Phase 3 project area has some unique differences from the previous phases, which 
will impact how the project is designed.   
 
The most notable difference is the number of "tee" intersections at Daines, Hazel, E Frank, 
Bowers, Haynes and George, and how they interact with street parking.  In previous phases, 
this situation occurred, but with less frequency (Merrill & S. Old Woodward for example).  At 
these intersections, bump-outs were incorporated to improve crosswalk conditions, and thereby 
eliminating some parking spaces that were located opposite of the street approach, which also 
improved driver safety.  This same strategy is being proposed for Phase 3, but because of the 
number of these intersections, and compounded by the relative close proximity of them at 
Hazel/E. Frank and Haynes/George, there is more of an impact to street parking than previous 
phases. 
 
Parking meter data was reviewed to see the current utilization of the parking spaces in the 
project area.  There are 154 current parking spaces in the project area, with an average 
utilization of 36% (approximately 55 vehicles occupying spaces).  Based on the concept plan 
being developed, 94 parking spaces are proposed (net reduction of 60 spaces).  Using the 
current parking meter data, the proposed parking utilization would be 60% for the conceptual 
configuration.  Our goal for parking space utilization is typically 85% occupancy, so even with 
the reduced spaces in the proposed concept, the overall utilization shows some excess parking 
capacity will remain.  Other factors that contributed to reduction in parking spaces included ADA 
accessibility improvements and moving the bus stop for northbound Old Woodward from its 
current location on Bowers (under the elevated parking deck for the 555 building), to a safer 
location on S. Old Woodward, north of Bowers. 

https://engage.bhamgov.org/ice-arena-renovation


 
Initial concepts have been presented to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board and the Advisory 
Parking Committee at their recent meetings, and they provided important feedback that was 
considered by the design team.  The concept plan was presented to the business community at 
their Merchant's Meeting last week, where additional feedback was received.  Upcoming events 
include an "open-house" to present the concept plans to the public that is scheduled for 8/3, 
and will be hosted at the Baldwin Public Library from 4 to 7pm.  The concept plans will be 
presented at the Principle Shopping District meeting on 8/5.   
 
After receipt of the feedback from these presentations, as well as considering the results of the 
public survey currently on Engage Birmingham polling residents on their experiences as a 
pedestrian and driver on the previous phases of the project, the design team will refine the 
concept plan, complete illustrative renderings, and prepare a formal presentation of the 
recommended concept.  Our goal is to present the recommended concept plan to the City 
Commission at the August 23 or September 13 regular meeting. 
 

Information Technology 

Upcoming Projects 

As part of the upcoming phone system upgrade, the IT department is working to finalize 

the E911 configuration for the City.  We are also working to finish the implementation of 

the Mitel Mass Notification system. 

The IT department is currently getting quotes to replace the server at the museum as it 
is running out of space. 
  
Staffing Update 
Jamil Alawadi has been moved to a full time position – splitting his time between the IT 
department and Communications. 

 

Planning Department 

Update on Oakland County’s Participation in the Triangle District CIA 

The Triangle District is located between Adams Road and Woodward Avenue, south of 

Maple Road.  Land uses in the district include a mix of commercial, office uses, and some 

residential uses.  The district is adjacent to a single-family neighborhood that is not 

included in the proposed TIF District.  Most of the higher intensity uses are located along 

Woodward, with other fine stores and offices found throughout the district.   

As reported in May, the City recently commenced discussion with Oakland County to 

attempt to resolve the previous stalemate on the contract negotiation and have Oakland 

County participate in the TIF Plan for the Triangle District as previously approved in 2015.  

Oakland County advised that the City will be required to completely restart the county TIF 

review process despite the previous approval of the TIF Plan.   

Accordingly, City staff attempted to schedule a meeting of the Corridor Improvement 

Authority to discuss our options.  There were only four appointed members of the 



Authority, and one member advised they no longer qualified for membership, thus leaving 

the Authority without a quorum to conduct a meeting.  The City is currently soliciting 

volunteers to apply for appointment to the Triangle District Corridor Improvement 

Authority. 

MDOT Proposal for Interstate Signage on Woodward 

The Michigan Department of Transportation has advised cities along the Woodward 

Corridor of their intent to install an Intelligent Transportation System (“ITS”) for the 

purpose of “traffic monitoring, incident management and advance notification” along 

Woodward.  This system is proposed to include connected vehicle technology, traffic signal 

controller and cabinet upgrades at several intersections, and related equipment.  Based 

on the proposal submitted by MDOT, “related equipment” includes new 85’ monopoles, 

large dynamic digital message signs, cameras, bracket arms and utility cabinets along 

Woodward Avenue that are commonly used on high speed freeways separated from the 

local street network.   

 

The City of Birmingham has significant concern about the necessity for the ITS project 

itself, and in particular the design and placement of the ITS equipment proposed, and 

requested that MDOT representatives conduct an informational presentation before the 

Birmingham City Commission to educate City officials on the proposed ITS project, and 

obtain the input of the elected officials.  The City also requested that MDOT set up a 

meeting with MDOT project management and local community stakeholders within the 

ITS project area to further discuss the need and scope of the ITS project, evaluate the 

aesthetic compatibility of the proposed equipment, and to engage the public. Please see 

the letter previously submitted to MDOT on June 17, 2021. 

 

MDOT conducted a virtual meeting on Tuesday, July 20, 2021 to outline the parameters 

of the proposed ITS project with representatives from various communities along the 

Woodward Corridor, and to obtain input from the stakeholders.  Birmingham, as well as 

several other communities along the corridor were vocal in their opposition to the use of 

obtrusive freeway technology along Woodward given the cultural, historic, scenic and 

recreational assets located along the designated All American Road and Pure Michigan 

Byway. MDOT did not make any formal commitment to fulfilling our request for 

presentation and discussion at a Birmingham City Commission meeting or future public 

hearings to engage the general public and residents along the corridor.  MDOT did commit 

to sharing the presentation slides and minutes from the virtual meeting on July 20, 2021.  

Upon receipt, these will be shared with the City Commission.  

 

 

 

 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/MDOT%20ITS%20letter.pdf


Police Department 

 
Co-Response Mental Health Response Team Grant Request Approved 
The police department received confirmation that the Community Foundation of 
Southeast Michigan approved the department's grant request of $75,000 for the Co-
Response Mental Health Response Team (CoRe Team). The police department also 
received confirmation from Congresswoman Hailey Stevens' Office that the second 
federal grant the department applied for was approved by the Appropriations Committee 
and will now move to the U.S. Congress/President for final approval for fiscal year 
2022.  
 
Sgt. Kate Long Retirement 
Sgt. Kate Long retired from the department after 25 years of service.  We all wish her 
and her husband, Steve, a long and prosperous retirement.  

 
Future Agenda Items 
Download a summary of future agenda items. 
  
Future Workshop Items 
Download a summary of future workshop items. 

https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/Future%20Agenda%20Items%20July%202021.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/document_center/City%20Manager%20Office/Manager%20Reports/July%202021/Future%20Workshop%20Items%20July%202021.pdf


INFORMATION ONLY



INFORMATION ONLY





7/22/2021 City of Birmingham MI Mail - Fwd:

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f%3A1706005461108095164&simpl=msg-f%3A170600546110… 1/2

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Fwd:
3 messages

Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Thu, Jul 22, 2021 at 1:07 PM
To: Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Add to Info Only and note that it is the ADA requirement for Pedestrian walkways.

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: thomas markus <tmsquared20@gmail.com>
Date: Thu, Jul 22, 2021 at 1:05 PM
Subject: 
To: <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>

Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Thu, Jul 22, 2021 at 1:07 PM
To: DepartmentHeads <departmentheads@bhamgov.org>

FYI
[Quoted text hidden]

-- 
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "DepartmentHeads" group.
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to departmentheads+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org.
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/departmentheads/
CALPLqCiMz6DPENm2%2B4Rrm%3DO%2BFG8BgJ0d%2BeL8pP4d1zAEPM7%2BPA%40mail.gmail.com.

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org> Thu, Jul 22, 2021 at 1:45 PM
To: Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org>

mailto:tmsquared20@gmail.com
mailto:tmarkus@bhamgov.org
mailto:departmentheads+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/departmentheads/CALPLqCiMz6DPENm2%2B4Rrm%3DO%2BFG8BgJ0d%2BeL8pP4d1zAEPM7%2BPA%40mail.gmail.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer

	3A 20210726 GCAB APPOINTMENTS
	20210726 NOTICE OF INTENTION - APPT pdf
	Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board - ROSTER
	GCAB ATTENDANCE 2019-2021
	Linda Peterson Application PDF
	Greenwood - Schreiner - 0-APPLICATION FORM 2021-FILLABLE 0621
	Stern George application

	3B 20210726 MUSEUM BOARD APPOINTMENTS
	20210726 NOTICE OF INTENTION
	MUSEUM BOARD ROSTER
	ATTENDANCE 20-21-Museum Board PDF
	Harris Alexandra application 20210625
	Erickson Bev Application

	5A 7_12_21 Minutes
	5B 20210714 Warrant list & ACH
	5C 20210721 Warrant list & ACH
	5D 20210726 Uniform Purchases
	5E 20210726 Golf Course Fertilizer Purchase
	Chem use v4.pdf
	Sheet1


	5F 20210726 Vehicle 501 Replacment
	5G 20210726 Vehicle 505 Replacement
	5H 20210726 Vehicle 564 Replacement
	5I 20210726 G-Suite License Renewal
	2021 Newmind G-Mail Renewal.pdf
	Invoice-2997316.pdf

	5J 20210726 Outside Agency Agreements - Police 2021-22 Fiscal Year
	5K 20210726 Pavement Marking Agreement Extensions 2021-22 Fiscal Year
	To approve the addendum to extend the contract for 2021-22 handwork pavement markings with Hart Pavement Striping Corporation in the amount of $107,000.00 for combined fall 2021 and spring 2022 applications; further to approve the addendum to extend t...
	STREET PAINTING CONTRACTS TO CITY COMMISSION 2021-22 JUNE 15 2021.pdf
	PAVEMENT MARKING CONTRACTS TO CITY COMMISSION 2019-20.pdf
	CONTRACT LANE PAINTING ITB 2019-20.pdf
	INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS
	TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
	CITY RESPONSIBILITY
	SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES
	INSURANCE
	CONTINUATION OF COVERAGE
	EXECUTION OF CONTRACT
	INDEMNIFICATION
	CONFLICT OF INTEREST
	EXAMINATION OF BID MATERIALS
	PROJECT TIMELINE

	CONTRACT LANE PAINTING ITB 2019-20.pdf
	BIDDER TO COMPLETE ALL BLANKS IN THIS DOCUMENT
	BIDDER TO COMPLETE ALL BLANKS IN THIS DOCUMENT
	ATTACHMENT D - IRAN SANCTIONS ACT VENDOR CERTIFICATION FORM





	5L 20210726 2022 City Commission Proposed Meeting Schedule
	20200914 2021 CC meetings schedule
	DATE: September 9, 2020


	5M 20210726 SE Veterans Day Wreath Laying
	estimated costs.pdf
	DEPARTMENT

	Notification letter front.pdf
	DATE:  July 9, 2021
	Event Information
	NAME OF EVENT: Veterans Day Wreath Laying



	7A 20210726 SAD Water Sewer Townsend and Peabody.package
	SAD Water Sewer Laterals CC_memo.package
	Combined Attachments
	PH notice - NECESSITY - publish July 11
	20210624_SAD_SewWatServ_memo_setPH
	SAD set PH notice water sewer TOWNSEND-letter
	Townsend_map
	Peabody_map
	Townsend & Peabody notify - Table Est


	7B 20210720 PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210726 PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - MEMO - 7-20-2021
	20210720 PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop FULL - 7-20-21
	20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21
	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP & FSP REPORT - 6-9-21
	SUBJECT: 501 S. Eton – Whistle Stop – Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review

	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - ZONING SUMMARY - 6-9-21


	AS100
	A200
	20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21
	A201
	Sheets and Views
	A201
	OLE1





	WHISTLE STOP-CIVIL
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21.pdf
	501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR APPLICATION - 6-9-21

	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21


	Whistle Stop - CONTRACT FOR A PRINCIPAL SHOPPING DISTRICT LIQUOR LICENSE
	20210720 PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop FULL - 7-20-21
	20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21.pdf
	Whistle Stop Survey Contract



	Whistle Stop PPG Monolithic Glass Comparisons
	20210720 PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop FULL - 7-20-21
	20210628 SET PH - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - FULL - 6-23-2021 - FINAL
	3 - 501 S. Eton - Whistle Stop - SLUP, FSP & DR FULL - 6-9-21
	Whistle Stop Spec Sheets
	darwin_chair with arms
	darwin_chair
	darwin_table-24
	darwin_table-32
	ocean master - plantation MAX classic

	Whistle Stop Bistro Selection




	7C 20210726 PH - Glazing FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210726 PH - Glazing FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210726 PH - Glazing MEMO - 7-20-21
	20210628 SET PH - Glazing - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	Window Standards - Public Hearing- 6-9-21
	Study Session - Window Glazing Standards - 11-7-19
	MEMORANDUM  Planning Division



	Window Glazing Study Attachments
	2412_001
	2415_001
	Michigan EXISTING
	Michigan NEW CONSTRUCTION
	Vitro_USGlass_Guide-to-Glass-Codes

	20210726 PH - Glazing FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210628 SET PH - Glazing - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	2 - June 9, 2021 PB Mins
	PB Minutes 4-14-21
	PB Minutes 7-22-20
	PB Minutes 1-8-20
	PB Minutes 11-13-19



	7D 20210726 PH - Solar Panels FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210726 PH - Solar Panels FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210726 PH - Solar Panels - MEMO - 7-20-21
	20210628 SET PH - Solar Panels - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21.pdf
	Solar Panel Ordinance Amendment - Public Hearing - 6-9-21
	ORDINANCE NO. _________
	THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM:
	ORDINANCE NO. _________
	THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE SIGN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM:


	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21.pdf
	Solar Panel Ordinance Amendment - Public Hearing - 6-9-21

	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21


	Solar Ordinance Update - Attachments - 1-3-20
	Solar Ordinance Update - Attachments - 1-3-20
	Pleasant Ridge, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20
	Ferndale, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20
	Royal Oak, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20
	§ 770-54 Wind and solar energy systems.

	Rochester Hills, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20
	Southfield, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20
	Troy, MI Solar Ordinance 1-3-20


	651 W. Frank Solar Panel Example
	850 Forest Solar Panel Example
	939 Larchlea Solar Panel Example
	Sheets and Views
	Hall, David-PV-1
	Hall, David-PV-2
	Hall, David-PV-2A
	Hall, David-PV-3
	Hall, David-PV-3A
	Hall, David-PV-4
	Hall, David-PV-5
	Hall, David-PV-5A
	Hall, David-PV-6
	Hall, David-PV-7
	Hall, David-PV-8
	Hall, David-PV-9
	Hall, David-PV-10
	Hall, David-PV-11
	Hall, David-PV-11A
	Hall, David-PV-11B
	Hall, David-PV-11C
	Hall, David-PV-12
	Hall, David-PV-12A


	1047 Pilgrim Solar Panel Example
	20210726 PH - Solar Panels FULL - 7-21-21 - FINAL
	20210628 SET PH - Solar Panels - 6-23-21 - FINAL
	4 - Solar Panels - Public Hearing - 6-9-21
	PB Minutes 4-14-21
	PB Minutes 7-22-20
	PB Minutes 1-8-20
	CC Minutes 6-17-19
	PB Minutes 5-22-19




	7E 20210726 MML
	10E1 20210726 CIA
	10E2 20210726 Manager Report
	20210726 IO DTE notice of hearing
	20210726 IO-Consumers Energy Notice of Hearing

	Name of Organization: Common Ground
	Funding Request: $1500
	Amount of funding received from City in current fiscal year: 1500
	Organizations Purpose or Mission 2: Helping people move from crisis to hope.
	Description of Services to be provided Scope of Work 2: Common Ground provides a variety of programs to respond to crisis.  The Resource and Crisis Helpline allows individuals to seek immediate access to help and resources.  Trained crisis interventionists are available to receive calls, chats, and text 24/7.  The Oakland Assessment and Crisis Intervention Service (OACIS) provides recovery-oriented, face-to-face emergency assessment, crisis intervention, psychiatric evaluation, peer support, and stabilization services for all Oakland County residents including children 24/7.  The Oakland Crisis Intervention and Recovery Team (OCIRT) provides recovery oriented trauma informed crisis intervention to those who desire additional supports between  a crisis and the onset of treatment.  Other services include: Legal Clinic, Victim Assistance Program, the Sanctuary for Runaway and Homeless Youth, Outpatient Counseling and various support groups.
	Explain the value of the services to the City of Birmingham 2: Common Ground is available o anyone experiencing a crisis and last year 26    Birmingham residents were served at a cost of $17,420 which does not include charges for the Resource and Crisis Helpline.
	Provide a list of the other funding sources  List below Attach additional sheet if necessary 1: Major sources of funding for the programs that serve Birmingham residents include: Oakland Community Health Network - $9.33M and Public Support - $600,000.
	Name of Organization_2: Common Ground
	Submitted by: Jeff Kapuscinski
	Title: Chief External Relations Officer
	day of: 
	20: 
	by and between: 
	undefined: 
	undefined_2: 
	Its: 
	Date: June 30, 2021
	Date_2: 
	Date_3: 


